

A Nutrigenetic approach to investigate the effect of genetic and lifestyle factors on cardiometabolic-disease related traits in ethnically diverse populations.

Submitted for the fulfilment of the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Prepared at the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition,

Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences

University of Reading, UK

Submitted by

Sooad Alsulami

Supervisors:

Prof Vimal Karani S and Prof Julie A Lovegrove

November 2021

DECLARATION OF AUTHORSHIP

I confirm that this is my own work and the use of all materials from other sources has been properly and fully acknowledged.

Sooad Alsulami

ABSTRACT

Cardiometabolic diseases such as cardiovascular diseases (CVD), obesity, hypertension and type 2 diabetes are a major cause of morbidity, mortality, and healthcare spending worldwide, especially in lower-middle-income countries. While cardiometabolic diseases are strongly affected by changes in environmental factors (such as unhealthy diet, sedentary lifestyle, and urbanization), they also have strong genetic determinants. Thus, understandings the role of gene-lifestyle interactions on cardiometabolic diseases and related traits can improve our understanding of disease pathophysiology and contribute to precision nutrition aiming to prevent and treat these diseases. Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) and candidate gene studies have revealed thousands of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that have shown to be associated with cardiometabolic traits. However, these studies have been extensively performed in European populations, inadequately representing other ethnic groups. Genetic association studies of cardiometabolic diseases have great potential in terms of informing personalised and prevention medicine. This potential benefit, however, will only be understood by including populations of diverse ancestral backgrounds in these genetic studies. Hence, the main aims of this PhD work were to investigate the individual and joint effect of several SNPs on cardiometabolic disease-related traits in ethnically diverse populations. The interaction of these SNPs with lifestyle factors such as physical activity and dietary macronutrient intake on cardiometabolic disease-related traits was also assessed. This thesis included five different studies: three cross-sectional cohort studies [The Minangkabau Indonesia Study on Nutrition and Genetics (MINANG study; Indonesian women; n=110), The Genetics of Obesity and Nutrition in Ghana (GONG study; Ghanaian adults; n= 302) and The Obesity, Lifestyle and Diabetes in Brazil (BOLD study; Brazilian young adults; n= 200)] and two case-control studies [study in Turkish adults (n= 400) and Chennai Urban Rural Study (CURES; Asian Indian, n=1062)]. Statistical analysis was performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences

(SPSS) software (version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). We found significant gene-protein interactions on central obesity risk (Pinteraction=0.044) in the Turkish population, on triglyceride levels and waist circumference (WC) (Pinteraction=0.003 and 0.002, respectively) in the Indonesian population, and on fasting blood glucose and glycated haemoglobin (Pinteraction=0.01 and 0.007, respectively) in the Indian population. Furthermore, there were GRS-fat intake interactions on WC in the Ghanaian population and on fasting insulin level (Pinteraction=0.017), insulin-glucose ratio (Pinteraction=0.010), homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion (HOMA-B) (Pinteraction=0.002) and homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) (Pinteraction=0.051) in the Brazilian population. Also, a significant interaction between the fat mass and obesity-associated (FTO) SNP rs9939609 and physical activity on adiponectin concentrations was found in the Turkish population. In summary, the findings from this thesis contribute to the science of nutrigenetics by demonstrating the existence of genetic heterogeneity in gene-diet interactions on cardiometabolic disease-related traits across different ethnic groups. However, these findings need to be replicated using larger cohort and dietary intervention studies before they would be considered for personalised dietary recommendations, which are an innovative and promising approach for the prevention and treatment of cardiometabolic diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All praise and glory to Almighty Allah (Subhanahu Wa Taalaa) for giving me the strength and blessing to complete my PhD journey. "An abundance of praise is due to Allah, Allah is the Greatest." "Praise be to Allah as many as the number of what He has created in Heaven, Praise be to Allah as many as the number of what He has created on Earth, Praise be to Allah as many times as the number of what He has created between them, Praise be to Allah as many times as the number of that which He is creating". Peace and blessing of Allah be upon last Prophet Muhammad (Peace Be Upon Him).

I would like to express my sincere thanks and gratitude to my supervisors, Prof Vimal Karani S and Prof Julie A Lovegrove, for their time, patience, generous guidance and encouragement throughout my PhD.

The greatest gratitude and appreciation to my mother for her continuous support and prayers. Also deep thanks to my father, sisters, brothers, especially Ahmad, and friends for being on my side during the entire journey.

I would also like to thank all the members of the following research teams: the Turkish, MINANG, GONG, BOLD and CURES.

Table of Contents

Chapte	r 1 Ir	ntroduction to the thesis	12	
1.1	1.1 Introduction			
1.2	An	overview of cardiometabolic diseases	12	
1.	2.1	Type 2 diabetes	13	
1.	2.2	CVDs	14	
1.3	Car	diometabolic risk	14	
1.	3.1	Obesity	16	
1.	3.2	Central Obesity	17	
1.	3.3	Insulin resistance	18	
1.	3.4	Dyslipidaemia	19	
1.4	Ger	netic factors	20	
1.4	4.1	Genetic association studies	20	
1.	4.2	Gene discovery methods	21	
1.	4.3	Cardiometabolic-disease related genes investigated in this thesis	24	
1.	4.4	Single SNP vs. genetic risk score (GRS)	28	
1.5	Env	vironmental factors	28	
1.	5.1	Dietary intake	30	
1.	5.2	Physical activity	31	
1.6	Nu	trigenetic approach	32	
1.	6.1	Genetic variations and the role of ethnicity in cardiometabolic risk	32	
1.	6.2	Rationale for investigating gene-diet interactions	33	
1.	6.3	Importance of investigating gene-diet interactions in ethnically diverse		
po	opula	tions	34	
1.	6.4	Study designs and their role in identifying gene-diet interactions	34	
1.	6.5	GeNuIne Collaboration	36	
1.	6.6	From Nutrigenetics to Personalised nutrition	37	
1.7	Hy	pothesises, aims and outline of the thesis	39	
Chapter obesity	r 2 <i>F</i> in a '	<i>TO</i> gene–lifestyle interactions on serum adiponectin concentrations and centrations for the set of	1tral 42	
2.1	Ab	stract	43	
2.2	Inti	oduction	44	
2.3	Ma	terials and Methods	46	
2.	3.1	Study population	46	

2	.3.2	Study design	46
2	.3.3	Anthropometrical Measurements	47
2	.3.4	Biochemical and clinical measures	47
2	.3.5	Dietary assessment	48
2	.3.6	Other lifestyle factors	48
2	.3.7	SNPs selection and genotyping	48
2	.3.8	Statistical analysis	49
2.4	Res	sults	50
2	.4.1	Characteristics of the Participants	50
2	.4.2	Associations between FTO variants and obesity-related traits	51
2	.4.3	Interactions between FTO variants and dietary intake on obesity-related training	its 55
2	.4.4	Associations between GRS and obesity-related traits	57
2.5	Dis	cussion	58
2.6	Cor	nclusion	62
Chapte	er 3 Ir	nteraction between the genetic risk score and dietary protein intake on	
cardion	netab	olic traits in Southeast Asians.	64
3.1	Abs	stract	65
3.2	Intr	oduction	67
3.3	Me	thods	68
3	.3.1	Study participants	68
3	.3.2	Anthropometric Measures	70
3	.3.3	Biochemical and clinical measures	70
3	.3.4	Assessment of dietary intake and physical activity	70
3	.3.5	SNP selection and genotyping	71
3	.3.6	Statistical analysis	72
3.4	Res	sults	74
3	.4.1	Characteristics of the study participants according to the central obesity stat	tus
			74
3	.4.2	Associations between GRS and cardiometabolic traits	74
3	.4.3	Interactions between GRS and dietary intake on cardiometabolic traits	77
3	.4.4	Associations between individual SNPs and cardiometabolic traits	79
3.5	Dis	cussion	80
3.6	Cor	nclusion	83
S	upple	mentary Material	86
3.7	Sup	plementary Material	87

3.7. card	1 Supplementary Table 1: Associations between individual SNPs and liometabolic traits
Chapter 4	4 Interaction between Metabolic Genetic Risk Score and Dietary Fatty Acid Intake
on Centra	1 Obesity in a Ghanaian Population
4.1	Abstract
4.2	Introduction
4.3	Methods92
4.3.	1 Study Population
4.3.	2 Data Collection
4.3.	3 Anthropometric Measurements94
4.3.	4 Physical Activity and Dietary Assessments
4.3.	5 SNP Selection95
4.3.	6 Genotyping96
4.3.	7 Construction of the Metabolic GRSs
4.4	Results
4.4.	1 Characteristics of the Study Participants
4.4.	2 Effect of Metabolic GRSs on Obesity-Related Traits100
4.4.	3 GRS–Lifestyle Interactions on Obesity-Related Traits
4.5	Discussion106
4.6	Conclusions111
4.7 \$	Supplementary materials113
4.7. met	1 Table S1: Genotype distribution of the fifteen SNPs that were included in the abolic-GRS
4.7.	2 Table S2: Characteristics of the study participants stratified based on sex114
4.7.	Table S3: Associations of the12-SNP GRS with obesity-related traits115
4.7.	4 Table S4: Associations of the 8-SNP GRS with obesity-related traits116
4.7.	5 Table S5: Interactions between the 12-SNP GRS and lifestyle factors on
obe	sity-related traits
4.7. rela	6 Table S6: Interactions between the 8-SNP GRS and lifestyle factors on obesity- ted traits
4.7. [°] trait	7 Table S7: Interactions between the 4-SNP GRS and sex on obesity-related 117
Chapter 5 Brazilian	5 Effect of dietary fat intake and genetic risk on glucose and insulin-related traits in young adults
5.1	Abstract
5.2	Introduction
5.3	Methodology

5.3.1	Study population	121
5.3.2	Anthropometric and biochemical measurements	
5.3.3	Dietary Assessment	
5.3.4	Genotyping	124
5.3.5	SNP selection and GRS calculation	124
5.3.6	Statistical analysis	
5.4 Re	sults	
5.4.1	Characteristics of the study participants	
5.4.2	Associations between metabolic-GRS and metabolic traits	126
5.4.3	Interactions of metabolic-GRS with dietary factors on metabolic train	ts128
5.5 Di	scussion	133
5.6 Co	nclusion	137
Suppl	ementary Materials	139
5.7 Su	pplementary materials	140
5.7.1	Table S1. Genotype distribution of the twelve SNPs that were chosen	n for our
study.		140
5.7.2 HOM	Figure S1. Interaction between the metabolic-GRS and fat intake (% A-B after adjustment of HOMA-IR.) on 143
Chapter 6 I related trait	Lower dietary intake of plant protein is associated with genetic risk of or s in urban Asian Indian adults.	liabetes- 144
6.1 At	ostract	144
6.2 Int	roduction	146
6.3 M	ethods	147
6.3.1	Study participants	147
6.3.2	Anthropometric and biochemical measurements	148
6.3.3	Dietary assessments	149
6.3.4	SNP selection and GRS construction	149
6.3.5	Genotyping	
6.3.6	Statistical analysis	
6.4 Re	sults	151
6.4.1	Characteristics of study participants	151
6.4.2	Association between metabolic GRS and metabolic traits.	
6.4.3	Interaction of 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRSs with dietary factors on metab	olic traits.
		153
6.4.4	Sensitivity analyses	158

6.6	6 Conclusion16	4
6.7	7 Supplementary materials16	6
	6.7.1 Table S1. Genotype distribution of the seven SNPs that were chosen for our study (n= 1,062)	6
	6.7.2 Figure S1: Methodology of the Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study (CURES)	7
	6.7.3 Figure S2: Interaction between 3-SNP GRS and animal protein intake (%) on fasting plasma glucose and glycated haemoglobin after adjusting for antidiabetic medications	8
Chap	oter 7 Discussion and conclusion17	0
7.1	Discussion17	0
7.2 ob	2 <i>FTO</i> gene–lifestyle interactions on serum adiponectin concentrations and central esity in a Turkish population	1
7.3 ca	Interaction between the genetic risk score and dietary protein intake on rdiometabolic traits in Southeast Asians17	3
7.4 Ce	Interaction between Metabolic Genetic Risk Score and Dietary Fatty Acid Intake or entral Obesity in a Ghanaian Population17	1 5
7.5 Br	5 Effect of dietary fat intake and genetic risk on glucose and insulin-related traits in azilian young adults	7
7.6 tra	Low dietary intake of plant protein is associated with genetic risk of diabetes-related its in urban Asian Indian adults	d 9
7.7	7 General trends observed across various ethnic groups	1
7.8	3 Limitations and strengths	7
7.9	Future prospects	8
7.1	10 Conclusion	0
Refe	rences	4
Appe	endix23	0
9.1 co	Research analysis plan: <i>FTO</i> gene–lifestyle interactions on serum adiponectin ncentrations and central obesity in a Turkish population	0
9.2 pro	2 Research analysis plan: Interaction between the genetic risk score and dietary otein intake on cardiometabolic traits in Southeast Asians (Indonesian population)23	4
9.3 Di	Research analysis plan: Interaction between Metabolic Genetic Risk Score and etary Fatty Acid Intake on Central Obesity in a Ghanaian Population	8
9.4 Br	Effect of dietary fat intake and genetic risk on glucose and insulin-related traits in azilian young adults	2
9.5 Re	5 Lower Dietary Intake of Plant Protein Is Associated with Genetic Risk of Diabetes- elated Traits in Urban Asian Indian Adults	.5

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS (Published/ In Press/ Accepted/ Under review)

- 1- Sooad Alsulami, Dhanasekaran Bodhini, Nagarajan Lakshmipriya, Coimbatore Subramanian Shanthi Rani, Vasudevan Sudha, Rajendra Pradeepa, Ranjit Mohan Anjana, Julie A. Lovegrove, Viswanathan Mohan, Venkatesan Radha, Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran. Lower Dietary Intake of Plant Protein Is Associated with Genetic Risk of Diabetes-Related Traits in Urban Asian Indian Adults. Nutrients. 2021;13(9). 10.3390/nu13093064
- 2- Sooad Alsulami, Nathália Teixeira Cruvinel, Nara Rubia da Silva, Ana Carolina Antoneli, Julie A Lovegrove, Maria Aderuza Horst, and Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran. Effect of dietary fat intake and genetic risk on glucose and insulin-related traits in Brazilian young adults. Journal of Diabetes & Metabolic Disorders. 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40200-021-00863-7
- 3- Alsulami S.; Nyakotey, D. A.; Dudek, K.; Bawah, A. M.; Lovegrove, J. A.; Annan, R. A.; Ellahi, B.; Vimaleswaran, K. S. Interaction between Metabolic Genetic Risk Score and Dietary Fatty Acid Intake on Central Obesity in a Ghanaian Population. Nutrients. 2020;12(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12071906
- 4- Alsulami, S.; Aji, A. S.; Ariyasra, U.; Sari, S. R.; Tasrif, N.; Yani, F. F.; Lovegrove, J. A.; Sudji, I. R.; Lipoeto, N. I.; Vimaleswaran, K. S. Interaction between the genetic risk score and dietary protein intake on cardiometabolic traits in Southeast Asian. Genes & nutrition. 2020;15(1): 19. 10.1186/s12263-020-00678-w
- 5- Isgin-Atici K*, Alsulami S*, Turan-Demirci B, Surendran S, Sendur SN, Lay I, Karabulut E, Ellahi B, Lovegrove JA, Alikasifoglu M, Erbas T, Vimaleswaran KS and Buyuktuncer Z. *FTO* gene-lifestyle interactions on serum adiponectin concentrations and

central obesity in a Turkish population. International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition. **2020**;72(3):375-85. https://doi.org/10.1080/09637486.2020.1802580

* Equal contribution

6- Surendran, S.; Alsulami, S.; Lankeshwara, R.; Jayawardena, R.; Wetthasinghe, K.; Sarkar, S.; Ellahi, B.; Lovegrove, J.; Anthony, D.; Vimaleswaran, K. A genetic approach to examine the relationship between vitamin B12 status and metabolic traits in a South Asian population. International Journal of Diabetes in Developing Countries. 2019; 40:21–31. 10.1007/s13410-019-00749-8

List of tables:

6
2
4
4
5
6
7
1
2
3
7
8
9
2
4
5
6
3
)
5

List of figures:

Figure 1: Factors that contribute to cardiometabolic risk of CVD and diabetes15
Figure 2: Interactions of the FTO rs10163409 with tertiles of protein intake (g) on increased
WC55
Figure 3: Interactions between FTO rs993609 variant and physical activity levels on
adiponectin levels
Figure 4: Association between the genetic risk score of the FTO rs993609 and rs10163409
and anthropometric measures of obesity
Figure 5: Interaction between genetic risk score (GRS) and log protein intake (%) on waist
circumference (WC)78
Figure 6: Interaction between genetic risk score (GRS) and log protein intake (%) on log
triglyceride levels
Figure 7: Steps involved in the construction of the metabolic GRS
Figure 8: Interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and fat intake (g/day) on the log transformed
WC104
Figure 9: Flow chart showing the participant recruitment process in the BOLD study122
Figure 10: Interaction between the metabolic-GRS and fat intake (%) on fasting insulin levels
and insulin: glucose ratio
Figure 11: Interaction between the metabolic-GRS and fat intake (%) on HOMA-IR and
НОМА-В

Figure 12: Interaction between 3-SNP GRS and plant protein intake on fasting plasma	
glucose and glycated haemoglobin	157
Figure 13: The main findings of the thesis.	193

ABBREVIATIONS

MINANG	Minangkabau Indonesia Study on Nutrition and Genetics
CURES	Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study
GONG	Genetics of obesity and nutrition in Ghana
BOLD	Obesity, Lifestyle and Diabetes in Brazil
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
CVD	Cardiovascular diseases
MAF	Minor allele frequency
HWE	Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphisms
GRS	Genetic risk score
FTO	Fat mass and obesity-associated
MC4R	Melanocortin 4 Receptor
TCF7L2	Transcription factor 7-like 2
ADIPOQ	Adiponectin
KCNQ1	Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1
CDKN2A/2B	Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B
PPARG	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma
CAPN10	Calpain 10
BMI,	Body mass index
WC	Waist circumference
FMI	Fat mass index
HOMA-IR	Homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance
HOMA-B	Homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion
HbA1C	Glycated haemoglobin
HDL-C	High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
LDL-C	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol

SBP	Systolic blood pressure
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure
FPG	Fasting plasma glucose
SFA	Saturated fatty acids
MUFA	Monounsaturated fatty acids
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acids
MET	Metabolic equivalent of task
dpSNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism database
TEI	Total energy intake
WHO	World health organisation
GPAQ	Global physical activity questionnaire

Chapter 1 Introduction to the thesis

1.1 Introduction

A major epidemic of cardiometabolic diseases including diabetes and cardiovascular diseases (CVD) currently represents a significant public health issue worldwide. In 2016, the World Health Organization (WHO) estimated that approximately 1.6 million individuals died from diabetes and 17.9 million individuals died from CVD (1). Cardiometabolic risk refers to a condition of increased risk of developing CVD and diabetes. There are several risk factors, including insulin resistance (IR), obesity, dyslipidaemia and hypertension, playing major roles in the disease pathophysiology (2).

Evidence has shown strong associations of genetic factors with cardiometabolic diseases. Mapping genes associated with cardiometabolic diseases and related traits has been performed using two main approaches: candidate gene and genome-wide approaches (3). The substantial increase in the prevalence of these diseases in the urban society, characterised by unhealthy diet and sedentary behaviours, also indicates the significant contribution of our lifestyle and environment in disease risk. This highlights the importance of examining interactions between genetic and lifestyle factors (4).

The science of nutrigenetics investigates the effect of genetic factors on an individual's response to dietary interventions, with an ultimate aim of tailoring dietary recommendations based on the individual's genetic profile for preventing or treating cardiometabolic diseases (5).

This chapter will: (i) discuss the effect of genetic and environmental factors on cardiometabolic diseases; (ii) discuss the importance of investigating gene-lifestyle interactions and the implications of personalised nutrition in clinical practice.

1.2 An overview of cardiometabolic diseases

12

Cardiometabolic diseases including diabetes and CVD have been recognised as a global emergency (6, 7). Cardiometabolic diseases lead to medical impoverishment (8-11) and enforce economic burden especially on low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) (12). While cardiometabolic diseases remain most prevalent among wealthier groups, they are growing at faster rates among groups of poorer socioeconomic status (13). These diseases are strongly clustered amongst individuals of low socioeconomic status in high-income countries (HICs) (10, 11). Furthermore, the highest rates of death from cardiometabolic diseases are found in LMICs (11, 14). It is well-documented that the prevalence of cardiometabolic diseases and their main risk factors vary across populations. Over recent decades, the mortality rate caused by CVD has increased in LMICs (15). Furthermore, the prevalence of diabetes has increased globally but the rate was faster in LMICs (16). Moreover, in LMICs, mortality due to CVD usually occurs at an earlier age (15). The increasing prevalence of cardiometabolic diseases highlights the crucial need for major enhancements in both the timely diagnosis and management of these diseases (17).

1.2.1 Type 2 diabetes

Diabetes is defined as a chronic increase in the blood glucose concentrations caused by insufficient secretion of insulin from the pancreatic beta cells (termed "insulin deficiency") or limited ability to respond to insulin (termed "IR"). In clinical settings, prediabetes and diabetes are diagnosed by measuring fasting glucose (an overnight fast) and oral glucose tolerance tests (OGTT). For OGTT, individuals are asked for 8-12 hours of fasting before the test. The glucose level is then assessed before and after orally administering a 75g of glucose load for 2 hours. Diabetes is defined by the WHO/IDF as 2h-glucose of ≥ 11.1 mmol/L or fasting glucose concentration of ≥ 7.0 mmol/L, impaired glucose tolerance as 2h-glucose of 7.8-11.1 mmol/L and fasting glucose of <7.0 mmol/L, and impaired fasting glucose as 2h-glucose of <7.8 mmol/L and fasting plasma glucose of 6.1-6.9 mmol/L (18). It is commonly acknowledged that

the three types of diabetes are type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1D), type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2D) and gestational diabetes (GDM) (17). In T1D, the immune system of the body attacks and destroys the pancreatic beta-cells that produce insulin, wherein T2D, beta-cells cannot produce enough insulin, or the cells of the body do not react to the actions of insulin. In GDM, the levels of blood glucose increase in some women during pregnancy, and their body ability to produce enough insulin is limited (17).

1.2.2 CVDs

CVDs refers to disorders that affect the heart or blood vessels including stroke, peripheral artery disease and coronary heart disease (CHD). The process of atherosclerosis plays a critical role in the development of CVDs (19). In this process, plaque (fatty deposits) accumulates inside the wall of arteries, hardening and narrowing these arteries. As a result, the flow of blood and supply of oxygen to vital organs is restricted, and the risk of developing blood clots which ultimately could block the blood flow to the brain or heart is increased (19). CVDs are the largest contributor to worldwide mortality, accounting for global death of 17.9 million every year (20). Also, CVDs are the main cause of morbidity and mortality in diabetic individuals. The long-term exposure of blood vessels to a high concentration of blood glucose over a long period can be damaging, because of the glycation, release of oxygen free radicals, inactivation of vascular cells proteins, and stimulation of apoptosis of the endothelial cell (21-23).

1.3 Cardiometabolic risk

Cardiometabolic risk refers to risk factors that increase an individual's likelihood of developing a CVD or diabetes. The American Diabetes Association was the first to implement the term "cardiometabolic risk" (24), acknowledging that limiting focus on the clustering of risk factors termed as metabolic syndrome (MetS) was not an ideal approach to determine individual risk for CVD and diabetes (25). Cardiometabolic risk is similar to MetS but with a

much broader meaning. As shown in Figure 1 (26), traditional risk factors for T2D and CVD include obesity (particularly central), IR, hypertension and dyslipidaemia, which can occur as a cluster or in isolation. Obesity can contribute directly to disease risk and indirectly through IR syndrome which can lead to dyslipidaemia, hypertension or hyperglycaemia, however, these abnormalities can also occur independent of IR (26). Lipid abnormalities, including elevated triglycerides, low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), and increased low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), are also common findings in patients with cardiometabolic risk (2, 26). Family history, advancing age and lifestyle factors including physical inactivity, unhealthy diet and smoking have also shown to increase cardiometabolic risk. Other, newly emerged cardiometabolic risk factors include hypercoagulation and inflammation.



Figure 1: Factors that contribute to cardiometabolic risk of CVD and diabetes.

Abbreviations: BP, blood pressure; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; Apo B, apolipoprotein B; HDL, high-density lipoprotein. Ref. Kahn R. Metabolic syndrome: is it a syndrome? Does it matter? *Circulation*. 2007;115(13):1806-10.

1.3.1 Obesity

Obesity is a medical condition in which excess body fat (adipose tissue) accumulates in the body and may impair health. The management of obesity has been set as the top priority in relation to disease prevention in the WHO public health agenda (27). Fat distribution is more important in risk assessment than total fat where evidence suggests that visceral fat surrounding the intra-abdominal organs is more pathogenic than subcutaneous fat as it releases inflammatory agents, hormones and fatty acids and ultimately leading to higher blood pressure, blood glucose, triglycerides and LDL-C (28). Obesity can be assessed using several measurements including BMI, waist circumference (WC), waist: hip ratio (WHR) and skinfold thickness as well as technology-based methods such as dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA). BMI is the most frequently used adiposity measure in epidemiological studies and clinical practice as it is easy-to-perform and inexpensive (29). Table 1 shows the WHO classification of BMI for adults (30). The effect of obesogenic environments on disease risk differs across ethnic groups. For instance, diabetes has been shown to develop at a relatively low BMI among Asians (31). The increase of cardiometabolic diseases in LMICs has been closely linked to the increased prevalence of obesity. African data came from 321 populationbased surveys observed that BMI rose from 21.9 to 24.9 and from 21.0 to 23.0 in African women and men, respectively, with a positive association being detected between the prevalence of diabetes and BMI (32).

Table 1: The WHO classification of obesity according to BMI.

WHO Classification	BMI	Population description
Underweight	<18.5	Thin
Normal range	18.5-24.9	'Healthy', 'normal', 'acceptable'
Overweight	25.0-29.9	Pre-obese
Obesity class I	30.0-34.9	Moderate obese
Obesity class II	35.0-39.9	Severe obese
Obesity class III	\geq 40.0	Very severe obese

Note: Asians have different criteria. For individuals with the same BMI, sex and age, Asians usually have a higher body fat percentage and a higher risk of developing negative health consequence in comparison with Caucasians (33). The WHO expert committee later recommended new cut-off points for Asians; 23 kg/m2 for overweight and 27.5 kg/m2 for obesity (34).

1.3.2 Central Obesity

Evidence suggests a strong correlation between central obesity, rather than general obesity which is defined by BMI, and the risk of CVD and metabolic diseases (35). A previous study found that centrally obese individuals with normal BMI had the worst long-term survival than their overweight and obese counterparts (36). Furthermore, a study including 42,702 European individuals showed a significant association of central obesity with increased mortality risk even in those of normal weight (35). The most accurate measure for central obesity is computed tomography (CT), quantifying subcutaneous and visceral fat. However, the use of CT is limited due to the increased risk of exposure to radiation and high cost (37). BMI is a common measure of general obesity; however, it might not accurately reflect the degree of abdominal adiposity. Epidemiological and clinical and evidence indicate that WC and WHR are strong indicators of abdominal obesity, providing a better prediction of CVDs risk than BMI (37). Studies have reported that obesity-related outcomes, such as CVDs, can be

predicted using WC (38-40). WC is used as the primary clinical method for assessing central obesity as it is easy to measure and strongly correlated with visceral fat (41). In the Asian population, the prevalence of severe abdominal obesity is higher than in the Caucasian population with identical BMIs, highlighting the need for different diagnostic criteria according to each ethnic group. In 2009, abdominal obesity in Asians was defined as a WC of \geq 90 cm and \geq 80 cm for men and women, respectively, according to the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute and the International Association for the Study of Obesity and the American Heart Association (42).

1.3.3 Insulin resistance

The term IR refers to the impairment in the insulin-mediated disposal of glucose from the bloodstream into body cells. IR is a complex metabolic disorder and several mechanisms have been suggested to cause IR, with inflammation induced by obesity playing a critical role (43). In the early stages of IR, the pancreas compensates for attenuation in insulin effects by secreting more insulin and maintain normal levels of glucose (44). Eventually, however, this compensation reaches a point that, regardless of how much insulin is secreted, glucose in the blood remains consistently above the prediabetic threshold, potentially leading to diabetes development (45). Adipose IR has been identified as a significant factor of cardiometabolic risk, increasing the release of free fatty acids (FFAs) due to increased lipolysis (46, 47). The increased flux of FFAs in the liver leads to high production of triglycerides and glucose as well as the release of very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL). Associated abnormalities also include increased levels of LDL-C and decreased levels of HDL-C. Furthermore, FFAs decrease muscle insulin sensitivity and contribute to the enhanced pancreatic secretion of insulin, leading to hyperinsulinemia. Studies have shown that hyperinsulinemia (and probably increased levels of FFA) might cause increased activity of the sympathetic nervous system and sodium reabsorption, possibly contributing to hypertension development (46, 47)

Glucose is a major energy source for all body cells. The circulating blood glucose comes from three different sources including intestinal absorption of dietary glucose, glycogenolysis (breakdown of stored glycogen into glucose) and gluconeogenesis (glucose synthesis from precursors of noncarbohydrate) (48). Glucose homeostasis is mainly controlled by the liver and pancreas. The liver regulates several pathways related to utilising and endogenously producing glucose. The pancreatic beta cells secrete insulin in response to increased postprandial blood levels of glucose and amino acid. The disposal of glucose from the bloodstream into peripheral tissues is promoted when insulin binds to its receptors located on the membrane of many cells. Insulin is an anabolic hormone accelerating the synthesis of glycogen in the liver, adipose tissue, and muscle, as well as inhibiting the glucagon actions (48). The hormone glucagon is secreted by the pancreatic alpha cells to stimulate gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis in the liver, ultimately increasing blood glucose level. Insulin also plays a role in regulating the metabolism of protein and lipids, for instance, insulin decrease lipolysis (fat breakdown) in adipose tissue, raise triglycerides uptake by muscle and adipose tissue and rise the synthesis of VLDL in the liver. The pancreatic beta cells also secrete amylin acting complementary to insulin (48). IR occurs when the concentration of glucose increases in blood. The pancreatic beta cells secrete more insulin and hyperinsulinemia is developed in order to maintain normoglycemia. Over time, cells become less sensitive to insulin action (insulin resistant) and less glucose is absorbed. Eventually, the pancreatic beta cells become unable to maintain the secretion of more insulin to compensate IR, leading to higher levels of blood glucose.

1.3.4 Dyslipidaemia

Plasma lipids include total cholesterol, triglycerides, cholesterol esters and phospholipids. Cholesterol is predominantly transported and stored in the body in the form of cholesteryl esters (i.e.: cholesterol hydroxyl group linked to long-chain fatty acids by

ester bond). Triglycerides and cholesteryl esters bind to a different type of apolipoproteins, forming complex capsules of lipid and protein named lipoproteins that can freely move across blood and tissue fluid. Lipoproteins include very low-density lipoproteins (VLDLs), HDL-C, LDL-C (49). Dyslipidaemia is a disorder of lipoprotein metabolism characterised by raised blood levels of total cholesterol, LDL-C and/or triglycerides, and reduced HDL-C levels, increasing the risk of atherosclerosis (50). Dyslipidaemia plays a critical role in the development of atherosclerosis and it is a significant risk factor for CVD (51). A large body of evidence has shown a strong association between high LDL-C level and atherosclerosis (50), while HDL particles have been consistently established as cardioprotective in epidemiological studies (52). Although the mechanism by which triglycerides affect cardiovascular health is not completely clear, it is commonly agreed that a high blood triglyceride concentration leads to enrichment in HDL and LDL particles via the process of neutral lipid exchange (53). Triglyceride-enriching HDL and LDL particles undergo hydrolysis by hepatic lipase to produce small dense HDL and LDL particles, which are associated with functional loss and higher atherogenic potential, respectively (53).

1.4 Genetic factors

The estimated heritability (proportion of inter-individual variation attributable to genetic factors) for T2D is 30%–70% (54), for obesity is 40–70% (55), for plasma cholesterol and triglycerides are 56%-77% (56), and for blood pressure is 30%-60% (57).

1.4.1 Genetic association studies

Genetic association studies are performed to discover genome regions or candidate genes that contribute to the development of a specific disease by assessing for a correlation between genetic variation and disease status (58). The most common type of genetic variation among individuals is the single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), which is defined as a variation at a single position (nucleotide) in a DNA sequence (59). SNPs might locate within genes' coding or non-coding regions, or between genes (in the intergenic regions) (59). SNPs are the most examined markers in association studies. A higher frequency of a genotype or allele in a group of people affected with a specific disease refers to the fact that the examined variant increases the risk of that disease. The simplest and commonly used design in genetic association studies is the case-control study design, in which a group of individuals with the disease of interest (cases) are compared with control individuals free of the disease (58). The significant genetic association might be interpreted in three ways (1) direct association, where the investigated variant is the true causal SNP conferring the susceptibility of a disease of interest; (2) indirect association, where an association is tested with a SNP that is in linkage disequilibrium (LD) with the true causal SNP; or (3) a false-positive finding due to either systematic confounding, including population stratification, or chance (58).

1.4.2 Gene discovery methods

Several gene discovery methods have been used for mapping causal genes for cardiometabolic diseases and related traits including candidate gene and genome-wide approaches (3).

1.4.2.1 The candidate gene approach

A candidate gene study is a hypothesis-driven approach investigating the association between a pre-specified variant within or near a candidate gene and a phenotype of interest. Candidate genes are identified based on previous knowledge suggesting the involvement of these genes in the disease biology and pathophysiology (a biological candidate), or because of its location in a chromosomal region that has been associated with the disease (positional candidate) (60). The first important stage in performing candidate gene studies is the selection of an appropriate candidate gene that might plausibly have a relevant role in the disease or process under investigation (61). Once a candidate gene is selected, investigators determine the most useful genetic variants for examination based on previous knowledge of existing polymorphisms and decide which of those SNPs lead to proteins functionally altered that may impact the trait of interest (61). Once a candidate gene/ SNP is chosen, the role of the selected gene is commonly tested in a sample of individuals with the disease (i.e., cases) and those without the disease (i.e., controls) (62). The first update of the Human Obesity Gene Map in 2005 listed 127 genes as candidate genes of obesity traits (61). Also, an extensive search of the literature identified 547 candidate genes for obesity-susceptibility (63). Furthermore, more than 60 candidate genes for T2D have been examined in several populations (61, 64). A previous study identified 286 T2D candidate genes associated simultaneously with insulin signaling and mitochondrial genes and thus may possibly act as a molecular bridge between both systems (65). Large-scale candidate gene association studies have reported robust association of genes such as melanocortin 4 receptor (MC4R) with obesity and related traits. The most prominent discoveries of candidate association studies are the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARG) and potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily J member 11 (KCNJ11), both of which were associated with T2D (66-69).

1.4.2.2 The genome-wide approaches

Genome-wide scans include genome-wide linkage and genome-wide association studies (GWAS), and both are hypothesis-generating aiming to expand our knowledge in relation to disease pathophysiology. In these studies, the entire genome is scanned to identify associations of novel, unanticipated genetic variants with a disease or trait of interest (70, 71). The linkage studies are based on only populations of related participants, investigating whether certain chromosomal regions co-segregate with disease-related phenotypes across generations (70). The cysteine protease calpain 10 (*CAPN10*) gene was the first type 2 diabetes-associated gene discovered through linkage analysis (72), however, the replication of the observed finding in subsequent studies was limited. A robust linkage signal of chromosome 10p with T2D was shown in Icelanders and Mexican Americans (73). To find the causal region, data on microsatellite genotype was used to perform analysis of single-marker association and discovered transcription factor7-like 2 (*TCF7L2*) to be significantly associated with T2D (74). The association of the *TCF7L2* rs7903146 with T2D (relative risk of ~1.4) has been consistently replicated in several populations including European, African and Asian (75). Unlike linkage studies, GWAS can be performed using family members, as well as unrelated individuals using larger sample sizes which have been shown to improve statistical power. This approach screens the whole genome at higher resolution levels than genome-wide linkage studies, and hence it is able to narrow down the associated locus more accurately (71).

GWASs have been hugely involved in the detection of tens of thousands of SNPs associated with cardiometabolic diseases and their related traits. The Fat Mass and Obesity-associated gene (*FTO*) was the first and strongest GWAS-identified gene associated with obesity (76, 77). A large GWAS-metanalysis consisting of more than 339,000 European individuals had discovered 97 BMI-associated loci (78). Expression enrichment of genes located near these loci was found in the central nervous system (CNS), suggesting the involvement of hypothalamic control of energy intake in regulating BMI (78). Another large-scale meta-analysis of GWAS of 224,459 individuals of African-American, south and east Asian and European ancestry focusing on body fat distribution identified 49 loci for waist-to-hip ratio adjusted for BMI (79). Genes located near these loci presented expression enrichment in adipose tissue, suggesting that the distribution of fat is mainly controlled in local fat depots (79). A previous review summarised the GWAS-identified loci for obesity-related traits at the genome-wide significance level ($p < 5 \times 10^{-8}$) and grouped these loci into seven categories: body fat related (15 loci); BMI (141 loci); birthweight (8 loci); extreme obesity (23 loci); WHR or WC (26 loci); WHR or WC adjusted for BMI (97 loci) and visceral adiposity (2 loci) (80).

The first T2D-GWAS discovered four novel loci associated with T2D in a case-control study in French individuals (n=1,363) (81). Also, three following GWASs observed similar results (82-84). A second wave of GWAS led to the discovery of over 100 loci associated with quantitative glycemic traits, insulin metabolism or diabetes (85-88). To date, the largest GWAS-meta-analysis on T2D (comprising ~74,000 cases and ~824,000 controls from 32 European cohorts) identified 243 loci reaching genome-wide significance (89).

In 2008, the European Network for Genetic and Genomic Epidemiology (ENGAGE) consortium performed the first comprehensive GWAS on lipids (n=17,797 - 22,562 individuals), identifying 22 loci associated with total cholesterol, triglyceride, LDL-C, and HDL-C levels (90). In 2009, a GWAS including 19,840 European individuals and replication in up to European 20,623 individuals identified 30 loci to be associated with lipoprotein levels, 11 of which were novel (91). The Global Lipids Genetics Consortium (GLGC) carried out two large GWASs (n> 100,000 and 188,578 individuals, respectively), reporting 95 loci and 157 loci with independent effect on blood lipids, respectively (92, 93). Recently, a large GWAS based on electronic health records (n= 94,674 individuals) discovered 121 novel lipid-associated SNPs in an ancestrally diverse population (Latino, East and South Asian, Hispanic White and African American) (94).

1.4.3 Cardiometabolic-disease related genes investigated in this thesis

The *TCF7L2* gene is located on chromosome 10q25.2–q25.3, encoding for high mobility group (HMG) box-containing transcription factor which has a major role in the Wnt signaling pathway. The protein has been shown to be involved in the homeostasis of blood glucose (95). The *TCF7L2* expression showed positive associations with insulin gene expression in human pancreatic islets (96). The *TCF7L2* is critical for several processes including development of the pancreas, determination of the beta-cell mass, maintenance of

the beta-cell secretory function, and regulation of the production and processing of insulin (96, 97). Studies have confirmed the associations of *TCF7L2* genetic variants with the risk of T2D among various populations (98-101). A meta-analysis of data from 155 studies with 121,174 participants found significant associations of *TCF7L2* SNPs, rs7903146 [odds ratios (ORs) (95% confidence interval) of 1.39 (1.34–1.45)] and rs12255372 [1.33 (1.27–1.40)] with T2D (102).

The *FTO* gene is located on chromosome 16 and encodes for a 2-oxoglutarate (2-OG) Fe (II)-dependent AlkB family dioxygenase. The association of the *FTO* SNP rs9939609 with increased BMI (effect per allele= $0.30-0.39 \text{ kg/m}^2$) has been consistently reported in several genetic association studies (103-106). Studies reported that individuals with the risk allele 'A' of the *FTO* SNP rs9939609 had a high percentage of body fat (107, 108). Although the function and mechanism of the *FTO* gene is not completely known, possible functional alterations caused by the *FTO* gene have been found in the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis and the reward system in the brain (109, 110)

The *PPARG* is a protein-coding gene located on chromosome 3p25.2, encoding for the PPAR subfamily of nuclear receptors. The *PPARG* gene is recognised as a candidate gene for T2D and CVDs, and evidence shows that the genetic variants of *PPARG* play a key role in controlling the metabolism of glucose and lipid (111-113), with the SNP rs1801282 (also known as Pro12Ala) being extensively examined in epidemiologic studies. The SNP rs1801282 is a missense variant leading to a change of amino acid from Proline (P) to Alanine (A). A study including Finnish and Japanese-American individuals reported that the Pro/Pro genotype was associated with a 4.35-times higher T2D risk compared with Ala/Ala genotype (114). Also, a meta-analysis of 16 studies showed the association of the proline allele of the Pro12Ala SNP with T2D (66). Furthermore, evidence suggested significant associations of the *PPARG* SNPs and CVDs (115, 116).

The *MC4R* gene is a protein-coding gene localised on chromosome 18q22. The protein encoded by this gene is a membrane-bound receptor and member of the melanocortin receptor family. *MC4R* have a major role in regulating energy homeostasis and food intake (117). Genetic variants in the coding region of *MC4R* have been shown to be associated with common and severe types of human obesity (118). Furthermore, polymorphisms in the non-coding region were found to be associated with susceptibility to polygenic obesity. Meta-analyses of GWAS performed in Caucasians (80,957 cases and 220,223 controls) showed a strong associated with early-onset severe obesity (120, 121), and findings were replicated in various populations including adults, adolescents, and children (119, 122). The SNP rs17782313 also shown to be associated with T2D in numerous studies (123-125).

The potassium voltage-gated channel, KQT-like sub-family, member 1 (*KCNQ1*) gene is located on chromosome 11p15.5 and encodes the pore-forming α -subunit of the voltagegated K⁺ channel, playing a major role in controlling the process of ventricular repolarization (126). Although KCNQ1 is largely expressed in the cardiac cells or tissues, it is also expressed in other organs or tissues such as the pancreas (127). A meta-analysis including 114,140 T2D cases and 167,322 controls with different ethnicities suggested that *KCNQ1* SNPs, rs231362, rs2237892, rs2237897, rs2237895 and rs2283228, were associated with increased risk of T2D (128). Another recent meta-analysis also reported that genetic variants of the *KCNQ1* gene (rs2237892, rs2283228, rs2237895, rs151290, and rs2074196) may be a susceptible factor for T2D, especially in Asians (129).

The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor genes 2A/2B (*CDKN2A/B*) are tumour suppressor genes located at chromosome 9p21, and they are highly expressed in the pituitary, pancreas, and adipose tissues (130). *CDKN2A* and *CDKN2B* encode p16^{INK4a} and p15^{INK4b}, that act as inhibitors for cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (CDK4) and cyclin-dependent kinase 5

(CDK5), respectively. Both CDK4 and CDK5 have a critical role in beta-cell regeneration and function (130). Previous studies reported the *CDKN2A/B* SNPs, rs10811661 and rs564398, as T2D risk factors (83, 131, 132). SNP rs10811661 also confers risk for T2D in individuals of Framingham Offspring Study (133). A meta-analysis consisting of 24,407 T2D cases and 33,937 controls confirmed the association of the *CDKN2A/B* SNP rs10811661 with the risk of T2D (134).

The adiponectin gene (*ADIPOQ*) is located on chromosome 3q27 and encodes for the protein adiponectin that regulates the metabolism of lipid and glucose as well as insulin sensitivity (135-137). Adiponectin is adipokine that has been associated with obesity and MetS (138). The concentrations of adiponectin have been shown to be influenced by *ADIPOQ* SNPs (139, 140). Several studies have demonstrated the association of genetic variants in *ADIPOQ* with T2D (141) and CVDs (142-144). The three most investigated genetic variants of *ADIPOQ* sNPs rs2241766 and rs266729. Significant association of the *ADIPOQ* SNPs rs2241766 and rs266729 with increased risk of CVD was reported in a meta-analysis including 19,106 cases and 31,629 controls from ethnically diverse populations (145). Furthermore, evidence from the Finnish diabetes prevention study (n=507 individuals) suggested the contribution of the *ADIPOQ* SNPs to variation in serum adiponectin levels and body size (146).

The gene encoding *CAPN10* is a ubiquitously expressed member of the calpain cysteine protease family. *CAPN10* is expressed in several tissues, particularly those involved in the glucose homeostasis regulation, such as liver, pancreatic beta-cell, adipocytes and skeletal muscle (147, 148). *CAPN10* is located on chromosome 2q37.3, and comprises 15 exons spanning 31 kb, and encodes a 672 amino-acid intracellular protease. Significant associations of the *CAPN10* SNPs with IR and T2D have been demonstrated (147, 149-151). These include the extensively studied SNPs: SNP-43 G/A variant, SNP-19 2R (two 32-bp repeats)/3R (three 32-bp repeats), and SNP-63 C/T variant (148, 151).

1.4.4 Single SNP vs. genetic risk score (GRS)

GWASs have discovered thousands of genetic variants associated with cardiometabolic diseases, however, the individual SNPs explain only a small proportion of variation in the complex traits, with limited ability for predicting disease risk (152). Given that cardiometabolic diseases and their related traits are influenced by several genetic variants, with each having a small effect on these traits, combining the effect of several variants as a polygenic score can provide a better understanding of disease risk than single variant approaches (153). The idea of grouping individual SNPs into GRSs has been used to predict and quantify a discrete increment in the overall risk of cardiometabolic diseases, as well as capturing the overall variance in a trait (153). There are several approaches for generating a GRS such as weighted and unweighted methods. Fundamentally, a GRS is constructed by summarising genotype data across multiple genetic variants (154). The most commonly used method is summing the number of alleles that confer risk across all loci (0, 1, or 2) (154). Employing the GRS approach for predicting disease risk has advantages over analysing the effect of individuals SNPs as it decreases the drawback of multiple testing, maximises statistical power, and widens the scope of generalisability of genetic associations (155, 156). Previous studies have emphasised the potential of GRS for predicting the risk of cardiometabolic diseases (157-160). A 28-SNP GRS reported a significant association with high BMI in a Gambia population, whereas no association was detected with the individual SNP analysis (161, 162). A case-control study of 5,148 Indians reported a significant association between an 8-SNP GRS and T2D (159). Another case-control study of 3,357 Indian adults also observed that individuals with a higher 32-SNP GRS were at a higher risk of T2D in comparison to those with lower GRS (160).

1.5 Environmental factors

Epidemiological studies have underlined numerous potential environmental factors associated with the development of cardiometabolic diseases, with the combination of excess calorie intake and physical inactivity being major contributors. However, the effect of several other possible environmental factors has been found, including smoking, alcohol, endocrine disruptors, and sleep deprivation (4, 163-165). It has been shown that obesogenic environments play a significant role in the epidemic of obesity and cardiometabolic diseases in Norwegian individuals (n=118959) who were followed up for 45 years, suggesting that the environment can primarily determine the individuals' metabolic load (166). Evidence from two longitudinal dietary trials (2.8 and 3.2 years, respectively) recruiting ethnically diverse individuals (n= 3234 and 522, respectively) have found that reducing fat consumption is effective in decreasing the incidence of T2D by up to 58% (167, 168). Additionally, the recent epidemiological transition experienced in LMICs has significantly contributed to the increasing burden of cardiometabolic diseases (169). Growing urbanization, economic development, and liberalization of trade in LMICs have led to significant changes in the availability, promotion, composition, affordability and accessibility of foods (170). Importantly, there was evolvement in food prices in LMICs in recent years. The prices for packaged and ready-to-eat food products have been decreased by large-scale retails, making buying foods high in trans and saturated fatty acids, sodium and sugars, such as salty snacks or sugary sodas, cheaper than buying healthy foods such as dairy products, vegetables and fruits, although this association might differ based on the country and its economy (171). As a result, these food products have become available to, and promoted to, the groups of those belonging to lower socioeconomic status. The intake of ultra-processed foods is critically involved in the epidemic of cardiometabolic diseases that impose the biggest economic and health burden in LMICs (172). Thus, elements of the obesogenic environment generated by the epidemiological, urban, and nutritional transitions in LMICs should be targeted for preventing and treating cardiometabolic diseases (173).

1.5.1 Dietary intake

There are a variety of modifiable risk factors for cardiometabolic diseases, including dietary intake and physical activity. Dietary intake can be assessed using several methods including food consumption record, 24-hour dietary recall, dietary record, dietary history and food frequency questionnaire and duplicate diet approach, (174). Diet is a leading risk factor to morbidity and mortality globally and the influence of dietary intake on cardiometabolic traits such as BMI, blood lipids, glycaemia, and glucose-insulin homeostasis is relevant to the management and prevention of cardiometabolic diseases (175). Individual food is composed of a complex matrix of nutrients such as protein, carbohydrate quality, fatty acids and micronutrients that together influence cardiometabolic risk (176).

Although the high intake of protein has been one of the most popular weight-loss strategies for overweight and obesity management (177-179), studies reported inconsistent health effects of high-protein diets on T2D. High animal protein consumption, but not plant protein, was associated with increased risk of T2D in 38,094 European individuals (180), and in 37,309 women from the United States (US) (181). A longitudinal study (n=27,140 Swedish individuals) reported that the consumptions in the highest quintiles of eggs and processed meat were associated with higher T2D risk (182).

The Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology study (n=135 335 individuals) reported that a higher intake of carbohydrate (>60 % of total energy intake (TEI)) was associated with higher all-cause and cardiovascular mortality (183). However, recent meta-analyses investigating the association between the intake of carbohydrate and cardiovascular health have shown a U-shaped relationship of carbohydrate intake with all-cause mortality, particularly in individuals consuming a diet low in carbohydrate (<40% of TEI) but higher in fat and animal protein (184, 185). A previous systematic review and meta-analysis of 22 cohort studies observed that the higher intake of dietary fibre was associated with a lower risk of CVDs (186).

The right balance of dietary fat is a major determinant of cardiovascular health. Studies have also long been suggesting that the intake of trans fat and saturated fatty acids (SFA) has harmful effects on cardiovascular health (187, 188). A recent meta-analysis of randomised control trials (RCTs), however, reported that decreasing SFA intake did not significantly affect CVD mortality or total mortality, although it did significantly reduce combined cardiovascular events by 17% (189). Furthermore, greater reductions in CVD events were reported in studies that replaced SFA with polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) when compared to replacement with carbohydrate, monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) or protein (189). Furthermore, in a meta-analysis of randomised controlled feeding trials, PUFA intake (in place of SFA, MUFA or carbohydrate) has shown the most consistent favourable effects in relation to improved glycaemia, insulin resistance, and insulin secretion capacity (190). Another meta-analysis including 102 350 participants of European descent reported that the increase of PUFA intake in place of refined starch and sugars is associated with a lower T2D risk, whereas the increase of MUFA intake in place of carbohydrate is associated with a higher T2D risk (191). Therefore, decreasing the intake of SFA and replacing it with unsaturated fat seems to convey the highest cardiovascular benefit and lower the risk of T2D, rather than reducing SFA and replacing it with refined carbohydrates. The sources of SFA (dairy vs animal) can also modify these associations (188). A recent systematic review of RCTs (n=656 individuals) concluded that the intake of SFA from dairy product seems to have a protective impact on some cardiometabolic risk factors (decrease WC and total cholesterol and increase HDL-C) compared to other sources of SFA (188).

1.5.2 Physical activity
Physical inactivity is a key modifiable risk factor for cardiometabolic diseases and related traits. Common clinical approaches of assessing physical activity include questionnaires, heart rate monitoring, pedometers and accelerometers (192). Being physically inactive contributes significantly to obesity, high levels of cholesterol, blood glucose and blood pressure, all of which increase the risk of cardiometabolic diseases (34, 193-195). Studies have demonstrated that physical activity has a wide range of benefits, including decreasing mortality risk, preventing diabetes and CVD, lowering hypertension, improving levels of blood lipids and enhancing functional status (196-199). In both observational and interventional studies, physical activity has been reported to decrease the risk of T2D by 30-60 % (200-202). A systematic review including 310,588 individuals showed that the relative risk of T2D was 31 % lower in individuals with regular physical activity in comparison with those with a sedentary lifestyle (203).

1.6 Nutrigenetic approach

Nutrigenomics and nutrigenetics have a lot of potential for improving dietary guidelines for the general population and individuals. Nutrigenomics explores the effect of certain nutrients on gene expression and, consequently, the proteome (the entire collection of proteins expressed by an organism) and the metabolome (the total number of low molecular weight metabolites) using new high-throughput tools such as "omics" technologies (204). Nutrigenetics is the science that examines the effect of DNA sequence variation in response to diet in relation to individuals' health and disease risk (205). The field of nutrigenetics has undergone rapid progression, generating evidence of gene-nutrient interactions that ultimately can be used to personalise dietary guidelines to prevent or treat disease (205).

1.6.1 Genetic variations and the role of ethnicity in cardiometabolic risk

The human genome is 99.9% identical with only 0.1% variations explaining individual

differences in health and disease states (206). Advances in the field of GWAS have led to the discovery of thousands of genetic variants (such as SNPs located in the *TCF7L2, PPARG* and *FTO* genes) associated with cardiometabolic diseases (3, 63, 207-210). The frequencies of genetic variants vary from one population to another, leading to a difference in the prevalence of diseases across multiple ethnic groups (211). For example, genetic variants in the *TCF7L2* gene, which is one of the strongest T2D associated genes, have shown varied frequency across different ethnicities. While the 'T' allele of the *TCF7L2* SNP rs7903146 has a frequency ranging from 0.180 - 0.462 in Europeans, 0.214 - 0.500 in Africans, and 0.274 - 0.483 in the Middle Eastern population, the allele is almost absent in Native American and Southeast Asian populations (<5%) (212). Therefore, it is important to study the influence of genetic factors on cardiometabolic risk across various ethnicities.

1.6.2 Rationale for investigating gene-diet interactions

The genetic contribution to cardiometabolic diseases has been extensively examined in GWAS. The "common disease/common variant" hypothesis argues that if a heritable disease is common in the population, then the frequency of the genetic contributors in the population will also be high/common (213). So, common genetic components of high frequency have been suggested to explain the heritability of common diseases. However, after discovering thousands of genetic variants that have shown associations with common diseases, the combined effect of these variants only accounted for a small proportion of disease heritability (214). For example, the estimated heritability for BMI was 40–70%. However, the discovered genetic variants only accounted for a small proportion of the actual heritability for BMI, proposing so-described 'missing heritability' (215). Disease risk prediction is complicated by gene-diet interactions which are ubiquitous and might partly explain the missing heritability of diseases (216). Several studies have found that genetic variants can increase the risk of diseases when an individual with a high genetic predisposition is exposed to high-risk lifestyle factors

(217). Thus, identifying the role of gene–lifestyle interactions on cardiometabolic diseases and related traits can improve our understanding of disease pathophysiology and contribute to precision nutrition aiming to prevent and treat these diseases by implementing dietary modification based on an individual's genetic makeup (5).

1.6.3 Importance of investigating gene-diet interactions in ethnically diverse populations

GWASs of cardiometabolic diseases have been extensively performed in European populations, inadequately representing other ethnic groups (218). Given that the prevalence of cardiometabolic diseases varies across worldwide populations, it is necessary to investigate ethnically diverse populations to improve our understanding of the genetic architecture of these diseases (219). In fact, the under-representation of ancestrally diverse individuals in genomic research can hamper the ability of translating genetic research into clinical settings, as well as exacerbating health inequalities in the current policy of public health (219). Genetic studies of cardiometabolic diseases have great potential in terms of informing personalised and prevention medicine. This potential benefit, however, will only be understood by including populations of diverse ancestral backgrounds in these genomic studies (219). Given that the risk of cardiometabolic diseases can also be influenced by lifestyle factors such as dietary intake, it is also necessary to study gene-diet interactions in various populations, so that it will be eventually possible to personalise dietary recommendation based on ethnicity (220, 221). It is important to note that an individual's response to dietary interventions differs across populations (222). Thus, taking into consideration of ethnicity can improve predicting an individual's response to dietary interventions.

1.6.4 Study designs and their role in identifying gene-diet interactions

There are several study designs that potentially can be used for investigating genelifestyle interactions including observational study design (such as cross-sectional and casecontrol studies) and experimental study design (such as RCTs) (223). The cross-sectional design is one of the most used designs, determining the association of exposure with certain outcomes of interest. The case-control design is another illustration of observational studies. In this design individuals who have certain disease or outcome (cases) are compared to matching individuals (controls) who don't have this disease or outcome (58). Observational studies can be performed to generate a hypothesis using large sample sizes as they are relatively inexpensive, easy to use and quick. However, the observational design cannot explain causal relationship as associations are examined at a single point in time (223). Also, the residual effect of confounding factors cannot be eliminated in these studies, highlighting the need for adjusting for confounding in the statistical model (223). However, the cross-sectional design has been commonly used in GWAS, identifying thousands of genetic variants associated with disease risk, and these associations are less likely to be influenced by confounding factors (224). With respect to nutrigenetic research, observational studies can be influenced by inherent bias when investigating interactions between genes and lifestyle factors, as phenotypes can vary significantly over time. For instance, the triglyceride concentrations vary over time, therefore, relying on only fasting triglyceride values taken at a single time point might be a limitation (225). Observational studies have also limitations by difficulties in replicating the initial findings. Dietary intake in observational studies is commonly assessed using a food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) as it is easy to use and can represent individuals' intake over a long period with less burden. However, this method is self-reported and relies on memory, introducing recall bias (226).

Regarding the experimental design (RCTs), individuals are randomly assigned into two groups: the 'intervention group' where they receive a certain treatment and the 'control group'

where they receive a placebo, control or standard treatment, to be assessed for interventionrelated changes in certain biomarkers. The main advantage of this design is the possibility that both researcher and participants can be blinded regarding the type of treatment received (223). However, given the high cost of running RCTs, high rate of dropouts and less adherence to received treatments, these trials are usually limited by having a small number of individuals (226). Alternatively, the 'cross over' design is used in experimental studies, where half of the study participants receive the treatment, and the other half receive the placebo for a certain period. Then, both groups undergo a wash-out period to ensure the clearance of the intervention effect from the body. After that, switching of groups between treatment and placebo takes place for another certain period (223). The main advantages of this design are the verification of the study findings among two phases and minimising confounding, which ultimately strengthen these findings. However, the cross-over design has limitations including the small sample size and the requirement for a washout period, which might decrease the power of observing effect sizes for gene-diet interactions and higher participant attrition (224). Another type of experimental studies is the postprandial study design which investigates the effect of a meal or meals given at different time intervals on outcome measures, such as lipaemic response, as well as determining the acute effect of a certain type of fatty acid consumed within the first meal on the postprandial lipaemic response of the second meal (in a two-meal acute study). The majority of the population spends most of the day in a postprandial state and postprandial triglyceride have been identified as an independent risk marker for cardiovascular disease. Changes in lipid profile in the postprandial state emphasise the importance of this design in examining interactions between gene and lifestyle factors (227).

1.6.5 GeNuIne Collaboration

Gene–lifestyle interactions studies have been extensively performed in European populations, suggesting that dietary intake and physical activity could modify the association

of genetic variants with cardiometabolic disease and related traits (228-231). Previous studies reported significant interactions between the risk allele 'T' of the TCF7L2 SNP rs7903146 and fibre intake on T2D risk, where the 'T' allele was associated with a higher risk of T2D and higher HbA1c concentrations among individuals with higher fibre intake (232, 233). However, findings from other nutrigenetic studies were discordant (234-236). Furthermore, high levels of physical activity attenuated the effect of SNPs, such as *FTO* SNPs, on cardiometabolic traits among various populations (229, 237, 238); however, other studies have reported conflicting findings (231, 239-241). This may be due to genetic heterogeneity as well as differences in dietary factors. Genetic make-up differs across ethnicities, emphasising the importance of assessing gene-diet interactions among multiple ethnic groups, which will ultimately allow us to personalise dietary plans based on each population. To address all these challenges, the **Gene–Nut**rient **Inte**ractions (**GeNuIne**) Collaboration (220) has been established to examine the complex interplay between genetic and dietary factors on cardiometabolic disease and related traits using population-based studies in LMICs such as Turkey, India, Indonesia, Brazil, Sri Lanka, Morocco, Thailand and Pakistan.

1.6.6 From Nutrigenetics to Personalised nutrition

Cardiometabolic diseases are major public health problems. Several factors are involved in the pathophysiology of these diseases such as physical inactivity and unhealthy diet. The role of dietary factors is well-known in preventing or treating cardiometabolic disease (4). However, genetic variants also play a significant role in population variation in the risk of cardiometabolic diseases, highlighting the urgent need for the science of nutrigenetics which suggests that elucidating undefined interactions between gene-lifestyle would support the application of personalised nutrition (5). Indeed, personalising dietary recommendations according to genetic makeup would improve an individual's response to nutrition intervention and offers a new dietary strategy for improving health and decreasing disease risk (242).

Over the last two decades, breakthroughs in technologies such as 'omics' have been unprecedented, generating mechanistic insights and informing the development of precision/ personalised medicine and nutrition (243). The "omics" technologies include genomics (the study of an organism's genome), transcriptomics (the quantification of the transcriptome), proteomics (the comprehensive analysis of the entire protein produced by a cell type), and metabolomics (the identification and quantification of cellular metabolites) (244). In precision medicine, treatment is individually tailored according to all characteristics of the patient . These characteristics and prognostic indicators are determined using multi-omics data for predicting the toxicity and identifying non-responders and responders (245). As in medicine, the definition of 'personalisation' in the nutrition context has been debated (246); and terminology is continuously evolving with the term 'precision' being used more recently in the literature over the previous 5 years. In personalised or precision nutrition, dietary recommendations are tailored according to an individual's biological parameters to improve health (242, 247). For a clinical dietitian or nutritionist, these features include anthropometric, biochemical and clinical measurements, along with assessments of dietary intake, physical activity and lifestyle. However, following the human genome sequencing, came an era of growing research in the fields of nutrigenetics and nutrigenomics, intending to offer personalised nutrition recommendations to avoid diseases associated with dietary intake according to genetic variation and the predicted nutrient responses obtained from genetic profiling (248). Precision nutrition includes strategies for preventing and treating diseases and improving health, considering individual variations in genes, lifestyle, dietary intake, gut microbiome, epigenetic markers and environment by accurately assessing a person's nutritional status (249). Evidence suggests the inclusion of the gut microbiota data in personalised nutrition as it affects the nutritional status and phenotype of the host, playing a role in nutrient absorption and storage regulation (250-252). Advances in the point-of-care diagnostics area promise to offer a better assessment of nutritional status, as a first step towards the application of precision nutrition and tailoring dietary guidelines at the community and individual levels (249). The precise measurement of nutritional biomarkers would be useful in terms of early prediction of disease risk, identifying individuals who might benefit from a nutrition program, determining the effectiveness and efficacy of a dietary intervention (249).

1.7 Hypothesises, aims and outline of the thesis

Associations of SNPs with cardiometabolic diseases and their related traits have been confirmed in genetic association studies (89, 92, 93, 253-255). Evidence has shown that these associations can be modified by lifestyle factors among various ethnicities (256-262). Thus, given that different ethnicities have different lifestyle factors and genetic makeup, we also hypothesised that the gene-diet interaction will vary across different populations/ ethnic groups.

This thesis aimed to:

1- Investigate the association between selected SNPs, as GRS, and cardiometabolic traits among diverse ethnic groups.

2. Investigate the interactions between these SNPs/ GRS and lifestyle factors (physical activity and dietary intake of fat, protein and carbohydrate) on cardiometabolic traits in multiple ethnic groups. The background and aims of each chapter are outlined below:

Chapter 2: Obesity has been recognised as a serious public health challenge worldwide and it is a multifactorial condition in which environmental and genetic factors are involved (263). The *FTO* gene has been identified as one of the strongest genes associated with obesity (76). Examining gene-lifestyle interactions can offer better approaches for managing obesity. In

Turkey, 64.4% and 28.8% of the population were overweight and obese in 2017, respectively (264). No previous nutrigenetic studies have been conducted in the Turkish population. Therefore, the aims of this study were to examine the effects of the *FTO* SNPs rs9939609 and rs101634090, as well as the effect of both SNPs combined as a GRS, on obesity and related traits. Also, to examine the effect of dietary intake and physical activity on these associations in 400 Turkish adults.

Chapter 3: Non-communicable diseases (NCDs) contributes to 73% of all death rate in Indonesia, with CVD and diabetes accounting for 35% and 6%, respectively (265). The pathophysiology of cardiometabolic diseases involve a complex interplay between genetic variants and lifestyle factors, emphasising the importance of analysing gene-lifestyle interactions (5). Thus, our study aimed to examine the association of a novel GRS constructed from 15 SNPs with cardiometabolic traits and to examine the effect of lifestyle factors including physical activity and dietary intake on these genetic associations among 110 Minangkabau women from Padang, Indonesia.

Chapter 4: The prevalence of obesity is increasing all over the world including LMICs. In Ghana, 43 % of the population are overweight or obese (266). Studies analysing gene–lifestyle interaction have been extensively performed in populations of European, and the replication of these studies in African populations is unknown (267, 268). Thus, for the first time in the African population, we aimed to examine the associations of different GRSs with obesity-related traits and to investigate the effect of physical activity and dietary intake on these associations among 302 healthy Ghanaian adults.

Chapter 5: In Brazil, the prevalence of prediabetes and T2D were 22.0% and 3.3% in the adolescent population, respectively (269). It has been estimated that Brazilian adolescents have a high prevalence of cardiometabolic risk factors including high insulin levels, dyslipidaemia, abdominal obesity, physical inactivity, high blood pressure and unhealthy diet (269-274). Thus, early interventions targeting these risk factors can be an effective method for slowing the progression of T2D and decreasing the risk of CVD (17). T2D is a multifactorial disease caused by complex interactions between genetic and dietary factors. GRS-diet interactions on metabolic traits have not been investigated in young Brazilian adults. Therefore, we aimed to examine the interaction between a 10-SNP metabolic GRS and dietary intake on metabolic traits among 200 healthy Brazilian young adults.

Chapter 6: South Asians have a 50% higher T2D risk than other populations (275, 276). India is a significant contributor to the worldwide elevated prevalence of T2D (17). Between 1990 and 2016, the number of T2D cases in India increased from 26.0 million to 65.0 million (277). Interactions between genetic variants and urbanisation have further worsened the increasing prevalence of T2D in South Asians (278, 279). However, studies assessing interactions of GRS with dietary intake in the Indian population are sparse. Thus, we aimed to investigate the association of a 7-SNP-GRS on T2D and its related traits, as well as the influence of dietary intake in 1,062 urban south Asian Indians on these associations.

Chapter 7: Findings from all 5 studies are discussed in this chapter, in addition to the discussion on the general trends observed across various ethnic groups, strengths, limitations, and future prospects and conclusions of this thesis.

Chapter 2 *FTO* gene–lifestyle interactions on serum adiponectin concentrations and central obesity in a Turkish population

Published (The published version of the paper is attached as an appendix at the end of the thesis)

Isgin-Atici K*, **Alsulami S***, Turan-Demirci B, Surendran S, Sendur SN, Lay I, Karabulut E, Ellahi B, Lovegrove JA, Alikasifoglu M, Erbas T, Vimaleswaran KS and Buyuktuncer Z. *FTO* gene-lifestyle interactions on serum adiponectin concentrations and central obesity in a Turkish population. International journal of food sciences and nutrition. **2020**;72(3):375-85. https://doi.org/10.1080/09637486.2020.1802580

* Equal contribution

Sooad Alsulami's contribution: The cleaning of the dataset was performed before running the statistical analysis. Then, the analysis plan was developed, which was used for running the statistical analysis, using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software (version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA), and the data was interpretated. The literature search was carried out to write the first draft of the manuscript which was then revised according to the co-authors' comments. The manuscript was formatted based on the journal's guidelines and the reviewer comments were responded.

2.1 Abstract

Aim: The aim of the study was to investigate whether lifestyle factors modify the association fat mass and obesity-associated *(FTO)* gene single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and obesity in a Turkish population.

Methods: The study included 400 unrelated individuals, aged 24-50 years recruited in a hospital setting. Dietary intake and physical activity were assessed using 24-hour dietary recall and self-report questionnaire, respectively. A genetic risk score (GRS) was developed using *FTO* SNPs, rs9939609 and rs10163409.

Results: Body mass index and fat mass index were significantly associated with *FTO* SNP rs9939609 (P=0.001 and P=0.002, respectively) and GRS (P=0.002 and P=0.003, respectively). The interactions between SNP rs9939609 and physical activity on adiponectin concentrations, and SNP rs10163409 and dietary protein intake on increased waist circumference were statistically significant (P_{interaction}=0.027 and P_{interaction}=0.044, respectively).

Conclusion: This study demonstrated that the association between *FTO* SNPs and central obesity might be modified by lifestyle factors in this Turkish population.

2.2 Introduction

Obesity has been recognised as a worldwide public health problem due to its rising prevalence and concomitant health problems. The prevalence of overweight and obesity in Turkey were reported as 64.4% and 28.8%, respectively by WHO (280). Obesity can lead to other chronic diseases including type 2 diabetes (T2D), cardiovascular diseases (CVD), hypertension, cancer and osteoarthritis (Forse et al. 2020). A combination of interactions between genetic and environmental factors is required for the development of a complex disease such as obesity (4). Studies have identified approximately 140 genes to be associated with obesity, and the fat mass and obesity associated (*FTO*) gene has been reported to be the strongest susceptibility gene for human obesity (281).

The *FTO* gene is located on chromosome 16q12.2 and codes for a protein with 2oxoglutarate dependent nucleic acid demethylase activity which is involved in DNA repair and the accumulation of fat in the body (282). *FTO* is highly expressed in the brain, including the hypothalamus, adipocytes, pancreatic islet cells, and adrenal glands (76). *FTO* gene has been suggested to control energy homeostasis and food intake (283). Previous studies have shown that, of the various obesity susceptibility genes, single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) located in the first intron of *FTO* gene has provided the strongest evidence for genetic predisposition to obesity (76, 77, 284). The minor allele 'A' of the *FTO* SNP rs9939609 has been consistently associated with higher BMI in various populations (76, 285-288). Furthermore, a meta-analysis reported that the association between the SNP rs9939609 and BMI was replicated in 13 cohorts with 38,759 participants, where individuals with the 'AA' genotype had 1.67-time higher odds of obesity than those with the 'TT' genotype (76). In the Turkish population, the risk alleles of the *FTO* rs1421085 and rs9939609 polymorphisms were shown to have significant associations with the risk of obesity in women and metabolic syndrome (MetS) in men (289).

Turkish adults are characterized with low levels of total and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and high risk of CVD, that distinguish them from Europeans (290). They also have increased susceptibility to impaired glucose tolerance and MetS primarily driven by obesity (291). Among the non-communicable diseases (NCDs) that accounted for 88.0% of deaths in Turkey, CVD has shown to contribute to 47.73% of overall deaths (280). Targeting modifiable risk factors for NCDs including obesity could prevent many deaths. Therefore, several health promotion campaigns such as "Reducing Portion Sizes" and "Move for Health" have been implemented for the prevention of obesity in Turkey (292, 293). However, obesity is a multifactorial disorder, and identifying gene-environment interactions are needed to understand the aetiology and pathophysiology of obesity and also to develop more effective personalised preventative strategies (294). To date, several FTO-dietary intake interactions on obesity-related outcomes have been examined in different populations (241, 295-300) however, there are no such studies to date in a Turkish population The investigations of the gene-diet interactions in different ethnic groups are crucial to develop personalised nutrition strategies for each ethnic group due to the genetic heterogeneity (301). The FTO SNP rs9939609 has been associated with several dietary components including

dietary protein intake (106, 296, 302) and the SNP rs10163409 in *FTO* was among the top associations in a large genome-wide meta-analysis study (GWAS) for total caloric intake (303). Therefore, this study aimed to assess whether *FTO* variants, rs9939609 and rs10163409, are associated with obesity in 400 Turkish individuals and to determine whether these SNPs interact with dietary intake and physical activity on obesity outcomes.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Study population

A total of 400 unrelated individuals, aged 24-50 years, were recruited from the outpatient clinic of Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism at the Hacettepe University Hospitals, Ankara, Turkey. This study was conducted as part of the GeNuIne Collaboration that investigates the interactions between genetic and dietary factors on metabolic diseases in different ethnic groups (301). The study participants were screened based on the following inclusion criteria: 1) routine visits to the outpatient clinic, 2) aged 18-50 years, and 3) having a BMI \geq 18.50 kg/m². The exclusion criteria were: 1) having specific health problems including, liver and kidney diseases, mental and psychological disorders, history of cancer, and serious endocrine disorders (hypothyroidism, hyperthyroidism or hypopituitarism), 2) history of bariatric surgery, 3) being pregnant or lactating, 4) using drugs that affect body weight. Researchers informed and invited the eligible participants for their participation into the study. The study was approved by the local ethics committee of Hacettepe University (GO 15/612-11), and all the participants provided the signed written consent.

2.3.2 Study design

A cross-sectional case-control study design was used, where participants were divided into two groups: obese (BMI \geq 25.00 kg/m², n=200) and non-obese (BMI= 18.50-24.99 kg/m², n=200). All participants underwent a physical examination by the research endocrinologists, followed by clinical, biochemical and lifestyle assessments, and genetic analysis of *FTO* SNPs rs9939609 and rs10163409.

2.3.3 Anthropometrical Measurements

Body weight and height were measured by standard methods using a calibrated digital scale (Seca 220 Scale, Germany). BMI calculation was based on the body weight (in kilograms) divided by the square of height (in meter) (304). BMI classification of the WHO was used to classify the individuals as non-obese (BMI < 25.00 kg/m²) and obese (BMI \ge 25.00 kg/m²) (305). The waist circumference (WC) was measured by a standard method (306). Increased WC (central obesity) was defined based on cut-points established for Turkish adults (WC \ge 90 cm for men/ \ge 80 cm for women) (307). Body composition was analysed by bioelectrical impedance using the Tanita MC-980 MA Multi Frequency Segmental Body Composition Analyzer (USA). Fat mass index (FMI) was calculated based on the fat mass (in kilograms) divided by the square of height (in meter) (308). All anthropometrical measurements were taken by the research dieticians.

2.3.4 Biochemical and clinical measures

Serum adiponectin was analysed by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits (Ebioscience, Austria) at Hacettepe University Hospitals, Clinical Pathology Laboratory. The physical examination included the measurement of systolic (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) using a stethoscope and sphygmomanometer in the right arm of the participants after sitting in a comfortable position in a quiet room for at least 15 min. Both blood pressures were measured twice at 5-minute intervals and recorded on average (309).

2.3.5 Dietary assessment

Dietary intake was assessed using 24-hour dietary recall method that was carried out by trained research dieticians. A photographic atlas of food portion sizes and common household measures were used to facilitate the quantification of the amount of food consumed. Total energy, macro- and micronutrient intakes of participants were analysed from the records using BeBIS software (BeBIS, Nutrition Information System, Version 8).

2.3.6 Other lifestyle factors

The socio-demographic characteristics, family and medical history, smoking and alcohol consumption were recorded. The physical activity level was assessed using the Turkish version of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) (310).

2.3.7 SNPs selection and genotyping

FTO gene was selected based on its consistent and strong associations with obesity traits in large-scale GWASs (76, 77). The SNP rs9939609 is the most commonly studied variant and consistently associated with obesity phenotypes across multiple ethnicities (76, 285-288) and SNP rs10163409 has been shown to be associated with dietary energy intake from macronutrients (303). Therefore, *FTO* SNPs, rs9939609 and rs10163409, which have

been shown to be associated with obesity traits and dietary intake in large GWASs, were genotyped. The genotype frequencies of the *FTO* SNPs, rs9939609 and rs10163409, were in Hardy Weinberg equilibrium (p>0.05).

The genomic DNA was extracted from the whole blood in K2EDTA containing tubes by the salting out method. Genotyping of the SNPs, rs9939609 and rs10163409, were performed using KASP assay (a competitive allele-specific polymerase chain reaction that incorporates a fluorescent resonance energy transfer quencher cassette), and the KASP primers were designed using Kraken software system (LGC, https://www.lgcgroup.com). Genotyping assays were carried out according to the manufacturer's instructions with a 7500 Real time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). The following thermal cycling profile were used: 15 min at 94°C; 10 cycles of 20 s at 94°C, 60 s at 61°C with decrement -0.6°C/per cycle and 26 cycles of 20 s at 94°C, 60 s at 55°C; 60 s at 37°C.

2.3.8 Statistical analysis

SPSS software (version 23.0) was used for statistical analysis and the research analysis plan is included as an appendix on Page 236. The Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was assessed using the x^2 goodness-of-fit test. Genotype frequencies and distribution in groups were compared using Pearson's chi-squared test. Continuous variables are presented as means and standard deviations (SD), and groups were compared using the independent t-test.

As the number of individuals with rare homozygous genotypes was low, a dominant model was used, where common homozygous genotypes were compared to combined rare homozygous and heterozygous genotypes. A genetic risk score (GRS) was created from both the *FTO* SNPs where the presence of one risk allele of any of the variants was scored as one point. This GRS ranged from 0 (homozygous individuals for non-risk alleles) to 4 points (homozygous individuals for the risk alleles of both *FTO* polymorphisms). The GRS variable was then categorised into two groups based on the number of points; 1st group: individuals with scores of <2 points; 2nd group: individuals with scores of \geq 2 points.

The independent and joint effects of *FTO* SNPs on the risk of obesity were assessed using the odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) that were calculated by logistic regression models. Also, the associations between *FTO* polymorphisms (separately and joint) and the continuous outcomes were tested using general linear models. Models were adjusted for age, gender, hypertension, CVD and obesity status wherever appropriate. Furthermore, *FTO* gene-environment interactions on continuous and categorical outcomes were tested using linear and logistic regression models, respectively. Interactions were investigated by including the interaction terms (e.g., carbohydrate*genotype) in the regression models. Environmental factors that were investigated included dietary intake (carbohydrate, protein, fibre and fat intakes in grams/day) and physical activity. Furthermore, statistically significant interactions were investigated in more depth, where individuals were stratified by the tertiles of the lifestyle factor.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Characteristics of the Participants

Obese individuals were older, and had higher BMI, WC and FMI and lower adiponectin levels than the controls (P<0.001, for each). The cases and controls were not statistically different in terms of their food intake and physical activity levels (P>0.05) (Table 2).

2.4.2 Associations between FTO variants and obesity-related traits

Genotype distributions and minor allele frequencies (MAFs) for both SNPs are shown in Table 3. The MAFs of the SNPs, rs10163409 and rs9939609, were T=0.37 and A=0.39, respectively. The associations between SNP rs9939609 and BMI (P=0.001) and FMI (P=0.002) were found significant where the 'A' (AT/AA) allele carriers had significantly higher BMI and FMI than 'TT' homozygotes (Table 3). Furthermore, 'A' allele carriers had significantly higher WC (P=0.007) and lower adiponectin levels (P=0.031) compared to non-carriers. The *FTO* SNP rs10163409 did not show any significant association with obesity traits (Table 4).

	Non-obese			Obese				P value**	
	Total(N=200)	Men(N=100)	Women(N=100)	P value*	Total(N=200)	Men(N=108)	Women(N=92)	P value *	
Age (year)	33.29±6.83	32.64±6.04	33.93±7.51	0.182	36.37±7	36.09±6.78	36.68±7.27	0.552	< 0.001
BMI (kg/m ²)	22.56±1.78	22.83±1.73	22.3±1.79	0.035	29.04±3.38	28.8±3.22	29.33±3.55	0.274	< 0.001
WC (cm)	80.68±7.96	85.62±6.52	75.75±5.98	< 0.001	95.49±9.84	99.41±8.15	90.89±9.7	< 0.001	< 0.001
FMI	5.12±1.69	3.97±1.16	6.27±1.31	< 0.001	8.72±2.79	7.3±2.16	10.39±2.52	< 0.001	< 0.001
Adiponectin (ng/ml)	11880.63±6838.36	9095.15±4929.39	14666.11±7350.18	< 0.001	9115.13±5766.48	6716.49±3777.58	11930.93±6410.41	< 0.001	< 0.001
Energy (kcal/day)	2416.44±1064.1	2888.13±1155.72	1944.76±700.65	< 0.001	2365.08±1012.1	2728.68 ± 1057.45	1938.23±764.28	< 0.001	0.621
Protein (g)	91.34±42.91	106.32±46.98	76.37±32.27	< 0.001	87.55±43.81	97.85±50.48	75.45±30.44	< 0.001	0.382
Fat (g)	105.31±48	119.48±51.92	91.15±39.13	< 0.001	100.8±51.56	113.32±56.41	86.1±40.84	< 0.001	0.366
Carbohydrate (g)	270.28±142.83	339.26±157.55	201.29±81.06	< 0.001	271.34±128.5	322.74±132.03	211±93.78	< 0.001	0.938
Fibre (g)	23.49±10.65	26.71±11.66	20.27±8.43	< 0.001	24.03±11.59	26.59±12.84	21.04±9.13	0.001	0.627
SFA (g)	31.13±15.25	33.67±16.56	28.58±13.42	0.018	29.66±16.2	31.87±17.87	27.07±13.64	0.036	0.352
MUFA (g)	35.58±17.78	39.88±19.57	31.27±14.68	0.001	35.12±20.23	39.71±22.78	29.72±15.17	< 0.001	0.809
PUFA (g)	28.79±17.35	34.88±19.04	22.7±12.95	< 0.001	27.02±16.51	31.57±17.9	21.67±12.88	< 0.001	0.296
PAL levels n (%)									
Sedentary	153 (76.5)	78 (78)	75 (75)		165 (82.5)	90 (83.3)	75 (81.5)		
Active	47 (23.5)	22 (22)	25 (25)	0.617	35 (17.5)	18 (16.7)	17 (18.5)	0.737	0.137

 Table 2: Anthropometric and biochemical characteristic of the study participants

P values obtained from independent t-test and chi square tests comparing continuous and categorical variables between men and women within obese

and non-obese categories** P values obtained from independent t-test and chi square tests comparing continuous and categorical variables between total obese and total non-obese. Values are mean ± SD and percentages. BMI, Body Mass Index; WC, Waist Circumference; FMI, Fat Mass Index;

SFA, Saturated fatty acids; MUFA, Monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, Polyunsaturated fatty acids; PAL, Physical activity level.

FTO rs9939609 SNP				
	Non-obese	Obese	Total	*P value
Additive n (%)				0.217
TT	77 (38.5)	61 (30.5)	138 (34.5)	
AT	99 (49.5)	115 (57.5)	214 (53.5)	
AA	24 (12)	24 (12)	48 (12)	
Dominant n (%)				0.002
TT	77 (38.5)	61 (30.5)	138 (34.5)	0.092
AT+AA	123 (61.5)	139 (69.5)	262 (65.5)	
HWE	0.36	0.007	0.011	
MAF	0.37	0.41	0.39	
FTO rs10163409 SNP				
Additive n (%)				0.772
AA	85 (42.5)	79 (39.5)	164 (41)	
AT	88 (44)	90 (45)	178 (44.5)	
TT	27 (13.5)	31 (15.5)	58 (14.5)	
Dominant n (%)				0.542
AA	85 (42.5)	79 (39.5)	164 (41)	
TA+TT	115 (57.5)	121 (60.5)	236 (59)	
HWE	0.58	0.525	0.392	
MAF	0.36	0.38	0.37	

 Table 3: Genotype frequencies of FTO SNPs among cases and controls

*p values obtained from Pearson's chi-squared test comparing genotype frequencies between

cases and control. MAF, Minor Allele Frequency; HWE, Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium

	<i>FTO</i> rs9939609			FTO rs10163409			
	TT	AT+AA	*p value	AA	TA+TT	*P value	
	(n=138)	(n=262)	, urae	(n=164)	(n=236)	, un or o	
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.81±3.65	26.33±4.41	0.001	25.49±4.03	26.02±4.34	0.212	
FMI	6.23±2.61	7.29±3.02	0.002	6.72±2.57	7.06±3.15	0.251	
WC (cm)	86.08±10.62	89.14±11.99	0.007	87.26±11.47	88.66±11.7	0.234	
Adiponectin (ng/ml)	11306.18±7130.97	10072.14 ± 6059.63	0.031	10865.59±6526.36	10242.35±6427.19	0.377	

Table 4: Associations between FTO polymorphisms and anthropometric and biochemical parameters of obesity

*P values obtained from linear regression analysis adjusted for sex, age, hypertension,

cardiovascular diseases and obesity status. Values are mean ± SD. BMI, Body Mass Index;

WC, Waist Circumference; FMI, Fat Mass Index

2.4.3 Interactions between FTO variants and dietary intake on obesity-related traits

2.4.3.1 FTO gene-dietary protein intake interactions

The significant interactions between SNP rs10163409 and protein intake on the risk of increased WC ($P_{interaction}=0.044$) and WC as a continuous variable ($P_{interaction}=0.007$) were observed. Stratification of the dietary protein intake into tertiles showed that, in the highest tertile group with a mean \pm SD of 138 \pm 38 g/day protein intake, 'T' allele carriers of the SNP rs10163409 had a significantly higher risk of central obesity [OR= 3.3 (95% CI: 1.149-9.478), P=0.027] than those with 'AA' genotype (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Interactions of the *FTO* rs10163409 with tertiles of protein intake (g) on increased WC.

Black bars implicate the "T" allele carriers (TA+TT). FTO SNP rs10163409 showed a significant interaction with protein intake (g) on the risk of increased WC ($P_{interaction} = 0.044$). Among those in the highest tertile of protein intake (mean ± SD: 138 ± 38 g/day), the minor 'T' allele carriers of the SNP rs10163409 had a significantly higher risk of increased WC [OR = 3.3 (95% CI: 1.149–9.478), p =0.027] than those carrying 'AA' genotype. WC: Waist

Circumference. *Odds ratio adjusted for age, gender, hypertension, cardiovascular diseases, total energy intake and obesity status.

2.4.3.2 Interactions between FTO variants and physical activity on obesity-related traits

The interaction between the SNP rs9939609 and physical activity levels on adiponectin concentrations was statistically significant ($P_{interaction}=0.027$), where, among those with lowest levels of physical activity, the adiponectin concentrations were significantly lower in the allele 'A' carriers compared to individuals with 'TT' genotype (P=0.006) (Figure 3).



Overall Pinteraction= 0.027

Physical Activity Levels

Figure 3: Interactions between *FTO* rs993609 variant and physical activity levels on adiponectin levels.

White bars indicate carriers of "TT" genotype. Black bars implicate the risk allele, "A", carriers (AT+AA). The regression model was adjusted for age, gender, hypertension, cardiovascular diseases and obesity status. There was a significant interaction between the FTO SNP rs9939609 and physical activity on adiponectin levels (P_{interaction}=0.027), where, among those with low physical activity levels, carriers of the "A" allele had significantly lower adiponectin levels compared to those with "TT" genotype (p=0.006).

2.4.4 Associations between GRS and obesity-related traits

The GRS was significantly associated with BMI (P=0.002), FMI (P=0.003) and increased WC (P=0.02) (Figures 4a, 4b and 4c). However, the interactions between GRS and lifestyle factors on obesity traits were not found statistically significant.



Genetic Risk Score (rs993609 and rs10163409)

Figure 4: Association between the genetic risk score of the *FTO* rs993609 and rs10163409 and anthropometric measures of obesity.

BMI: Body Mass Index; FMI: Fat Mass Index; WC: Waist Circumference. White bars: means of individuals with genetic risk score (GRS) of <2 risk alleles. Black bars: means of individuals

with GRS of ≥ 2 risk alleles. The GRS was significantly associated with BMI (a), FMI (b) and WC (c). (a) Carriers of ≥ 2 risk alleles of the FTO variants (rs9939609 and rs10163409) had higher BMI (P=0.002) compared to individuals carrying <2 risk alleles. (b) Carriers of _2 risk alleles of the FTO variants (rs9939609 and rs10163409) had higher FMI (P=0.003) compared to individuals carrying <2 risk alleles. (c) Carriers of ≥ 2 risk alleles of the FTO variants (rs9939609 and rs10163409) had higher WC (P=0.020) compared to individuals carrying <2 risk alleles. p values were obtained from linear regression analysis and adjusted for age, gender, hypertension, cardiovascular diseases and obesity status.

2.5 Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study that investigated the interaction between *FTO* SNPs and dietary intake on obesity traits in a Turkish population. This study has identified the associations of the *FTO* SNP rs9939609 and GRS with obesity traits, and also showed that the physical activity level can modify the effect of the minor allele 'A' of the *FTO* SNP rs9939609 on adiponectin concentrations, a biomarker of metabolic syndrome (311). Furthermore, our study has demonstrated that the higher protein intake was associated with higher risk of central obesity among the 'T' allele carriers of the *FTO* SNP rs10163409 compared to non-carriers. Since Turkish adults have a sedentary lifestyle (280), our findings contribute to the development of effective public health strategies focusing on the prevention and management of central obesity and CVD in Turkish population (312).

This study has shown that the risk allele 'A' of the *FTO* SNP rs9939609 was significantly associated with higher BMI and FMI, in agreement with the findings from other populations (76, 285-288, 313, 314). A meta-analysis performed on 177,330 individuals from multiple ethnicities have demonstrated an association between *FTO* rs9939609 genotype and BMI, suggesting a higher BMI in 'A' allele carriers (effect per allele=0.30 [0.30, 0.35] kg/m², $P=3.6*10^{-107}$) (299). The reported *FTO*-related genetic associations with BMI have also been

confirmed in a study in the Turkish population (289), where the *FTO* risk allele, 'C', carriers of the SNP rs1421085, which is in a high linkage disequilibrium (LD) (D'=0.967, r^2 =0.85) with the SNP rs9939609, had significantly increased BMI. Furthermore, parallel to the findings of other studies (300, 315, 316), we have also found that the *FTO* SNP rs9939609 was significantly associated with higher WC and lower adiponectin concentrations. On the contrary, there were no significant association between SNP rs10163409 and obesity. This could be explained by the fact that the SNP rs10163409 is not in LD with other *FTO* variants that have shown significant associations with BMI (303).

Our study has provided evidence for gene-diet interaction in the Turkish population. We have demonstrated that, among those in the highest tertile of dietary protein intake, the risk of increased WC/central obesity was higher for the minor allele, 'T', carriers of the FTO SNP rs10163409 compared to those with AA genotype. To date, this is the first study analysing gene-diet interactions of the SNP rs10163409, suggesting that high intake of dietary protein might negatively affect WC in genetically susceptible individuals. However, studies investigating other FTO SNPs (rs1558902 and rs9939609) have reported conflicting results (302, 317, 318). It has been suggested that following a high protein diet can modulate the genetic effect of FTO variants on obesity traits (302, 317, 318). According to a 2-year weight loss intervention program, carriers of the risk allele 'A' of the FTO rs1558902 had a greater weight loss compared to non-carriers when high protein diets were consumed, whereas a negative genetic effect was found in response to a low-protein intake (319). The potential mechanism of FTO variants - protein intake interaction is still unclear; however, the regulation of food intake and appetite could be influenced. It has been found that the risk allele 'A' of the SNP rs9939609 was significantly associated with a greater reduction in food cravings and appetite scores among individuals who consumed high- protein diet but not in those in the lowprotein diet (319). Regarding the SNP rs9939609, there were no significant interactions

between the FTO variants and any of the dietary components on obesity traits. In agreement with our findings, a study of 11,091 adults from five Europeans countries have found no interactions between the rs9939609 variant and the dietary intake of carbohydrate, glycaemic index, protein or fat on BMI, WC, weight gain and risk of obesity (300). Furthermore, a metaanalysis of 40 population-based studies reported that the total energy or macronutrient intakes had no effect on the association between the SNP rs9939609 and BMI (299). In contrast to our finding, a few large-scale studies demonstrated significant interactions between dietary macronutrient intakes and FTO variants in determining BMI (240, 241, 295-298). A crosssectional study conducted on 4,839 Swedish participants reported an association between the risk allele of the SNP rs9939609 and higher BMI only in individuals with high fat and low carbohydrate consumption (241). A similar interaction between the rs9939609 variant and saturated fatty acids (SFA) intake has been detected in 2,163 individuals from two independent populations of the United States, where individuals homozygous for the risk allele 'AA' had a higher BMI compared to other genotypes, only when the intake of SFA was high (240). Furthermore, the FTO SNP rs8050136, in LD with rs9939609, significantly interacted with carbohydrate intake on obesity risk among Asian Indian population (239).

Regarding genetic interactions with physical activity, a previous study conducted among 200 Turkish adults found that BMI was higher in homozygous risk allele 'A' carriers of the SNP rs9939609 than the homozygote the 'T' allele carriers among physically inactive individuals (320). The same interaction but on a biochemical measure of obesity (i.e.: adiponectin level), rather than BMI, was replicated in our study using a larger sample size. We found that, among those with lowest levels of physical activity, the adiponectin concentrations were significantly lower in the carriers of the risk allele 'A' of the *FTO* rs9939609 than 'TT' homozygotes. Adiponectin is a hormone produced and secreted by adipose tissue and commonly known for its antihyperglycemic, anti-inflammatory, antiatherogenic, and

cardioprotective effects (321-323). Studies have reported a strong correlation between the dysregulation of adipokine production and the onset of several metabolic abnormalities including CVD and cancer (324, 325). The positive correlation between adiponectin levels and physical activity has been demonstrated in several studies (326, 327), where higher levels of physical activity have been shown to reduce adiposity which decreases the production of insulin and leptin, and increases adiponectin production (328). Indeed, it has been reported that serum concentrations of adiponectin are inversely related to BMI, visceral body fat and blood concentrations of glucose, insulin, and triglycerides (329). An intervention study conducted in 400 obese women showed that a weight reduction program resulted in a significant increase in adiponectin levels (330). Given that this is the first study to report an interaction between *FTO* variant and physical activity on adiponectin concentrations, the findings need to be replicated in a larger Turkish cohort.

The main strengths of this study include the use of a biochemical marker of obesity (i.e., adiponectin) and a well-characterised population. Nevertheless, there are some limitations which include the small sample size and the use of self-reported measurements in the assessment of dietary intake and physical activity. However, this study has still confirmed the associations between *FTO* SNP rs9939609 and obesity traits which were also reported in previous studies (76, 285-288). Given that obesity is a multifactorial condition, several genetic factors and lifestyle behaviours provide a predisposition to obesity; even though we have focused on the two important lifestyle factors, diet and physical activity, only two genetic variants were examined. However, to date, the *FTO* gene has been shown to be the strongest susceptibility gene for common obesity (76, 77, 284). Furthermore, the cross-sectional design of this study limits the proof of causality. Even though our analysis was adjusted for several confounders, we cannot rule out the residual confounding caused by unknown factors.

Therefore, the observed interactions needed to be confirmed in further studies with larger sample sizes.

2.6 Conclusion

In summary, this study has confirmed the associations between the risk allele 'A' of the *FTO* rs9939609 and GRS, with obesity related traits including BMI and FMI in this Turkish population. Our study suggests that the impact of the *FTO* polymorphisms, rs10163409 and rs9939609, on obesity among Turkish adults might be affected by dietary protein intake and physical activity levels, respectively, suggesting that increased consumption of protein-rich foods and sedentary lifestyle could possibly increase the genetic risk ofc central obesity. Our results provide significant public health implications, given that the rising prevalence of central obesity is a major public health problem in Turkey (280, 331). Further studies with large sample size and objective measures of environmental factors are required to provide a better understanding of how these variants interact with lifestyle factors to develop effective prevention and treatment strategies for obesity.

Acknowledgments: We thank all study participants for their cooperation. Dr Karani S Vimaleswaran acknowledges support from the British Nutrition Foundation, and also from the Ministry of Higher Education of Saudi Arabia for the scholarship given to Sooad Alsulami. Dr Buyuktuncer acknowledges the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) and Council of Higher Education of Turkey for the scholarship given to Kubra Isgin-Atici. The preliminary results of the study were presented at the Nutrition Society Spring Conference in 1–2 April 2019.

Disclosure Statement: The authors report no conflict of interest.

Funding: This work was supported by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) under Grant 216S272.

Chapter 3 Interaction between the genetic risk score and dietary protein intake on cardiometabolic traits in Southeast Asians.

Published (The published version of the paper is attached as an appendix at the end of the thesis)

Alsulami, S.; Aji, A. S.; Ariyasra, U.; Sari, S. R.; Tasrif, N.; Yani, F. F.; Lovegrove, J. A.; Sudji, I. R.; Lipoeto, N. I.; Vimaleswaran, K. S. Interaction between the genetic risk score and dietary protein intake on cardiometabolic traits in Southeast Asian. Genes & Nutrition. **2020**;15(1):19. 19. 10.1186/s12263-020-00678-w

Sooad Alsulami's contribution: Before running the statistical analysis, the dataset was cleaned . Then the analysis plan was developed for the study. Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software (version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used to conduct the statistical analysis. The data was interpreted and the first draft of the paper was written. The manuscript was revised based on co-authors' comments and suggestions and prepared according to the journal's guidelines. The and reviewer's comments were responded and the galley proof was checked.

3.1 Abstract

Background: Cardiometabolic diseases are complex traits which are influenced by several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). Thus, analysing the combined effects of multiple gene variants might provide a better understanding of disease risk than using a single gene variant approach. Furthermore, studies have found that the effect of SNPs on cardiometabolic traits can be influenced by lifestyle factors, highlighting the importance of analysing gene-lifestyle interactions.

Aims: In the present study, we investigated the association of 15 gene variants with cardiometabolic traits and examined whether these associations were modified by lifestyle factors such as dietary intake and physical activity.

Methods: The study included 110 Minangkabau women [aged 25-60 years and body mass index (BMI) 25.13±4.2 kg/m2] from Padang, Indonesia. All participants underwent a physical examination followed by anthropometric, biochemical and dietary assessments and genetic tests. A genetic risk score (GRS) was developed based on 15 cardio-metabolic disease-related SNPs. The effect of GRS on cardiometabolic traits was analysed using general linear models. GRS-lifestyle interactions on continuous outcomes were tested by including the interaction term (e.g., lifestyle factor*GRS) in the regression model. Models were adjusted for age, BMI and location (rural or urban), wherever appropriate.

Results: There was a significant association between GRS and BMI, where individuals carrying 6 or more risk alleles had higher BMI compared to those carrying 5 or less risk alleles (P=0.018). Furthermore, there were significant interactions of GRS with protein intake on waist circumference (WC) and triglyceride concentrations ($P_{interaction}$ = 0.002 and 0.003, respectively). Amongst women who had a lower protein intake (13.51±1.18% of the total daily energy

intake), carriers of six or more risk alleles had significantly lower WC and triglyceride concentrations compared with carriers of five or less risk alleles (P=0.0118 and 0.002, respectively).

Conclusion: Our study confirmed the association of GRS with higher BMI and further showed a significant effect of the GRS on WC and triglyceride levels through the influence of a lowprotein diet. These findings suggest that following a lower protein diet, particularly in genetically predisposed individuals, might be an effective approach for addressing cardiometabolic diseases among South East Asian women.

3.2 Introduction

Cardiometabolic diseases such as cardiovascular diseases (CVD), obesity, hypertension and type 2 diabetes are a major cause of mortality, morbidity and healthcare spending worldwide (332, 333). The prevalence of these diseases has significantly increased and has become a major problem given the significant economic burden that these diseases impose on low- and middle-income countries. Indonesia has the seventh largest number of diabetic patients (7.6 million), despite relatively low prevalence worldwide (4.8%) in 2012 (334). In 2013, it was estimated that there were more than 132.8 million people with diabetes in the Western Pacific (more people than in any other region), and the number is expected to rise to 201.8 million by 2035 (335). Furthermore, obesity is suggested to play a critical role in the development of chronic and non-communicable diseases (NCDs) in the South East (SE) Asia (336). In Indonesia, NCDs are estimated to account for 73% of all deaths (265) of which, CVD contributed to 35% followed by cancers (12%), and diabetes (6%) (265).

Indonesia is the largest island country in the world, consisting of various ethnic groups distributed over 33 provinces (337). Minangkabau community is the world's largest matrilineal society which resides mostly in West Sumatra, where the prevalence of low level of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), hypertension and central obesity is more than 50% (337). It is reported that the Minangkabau ethnic group had a high risk of dyslipidemia, which is suggested to be driven mainly by the high intake of dietary fat from poor quality sources (338). A study comparing lipid profiles among four ethnic groups reported that the Minangkabau ethnic groups at the highest levels of plasma total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) compared to other larger ethnicities including Sundanese, Javanese and Buginese (339). Furthermore, it has been reported that the prevalence of central obesity is high among Minangkabau women (340). Many environmental exposures contribute
to the increasing prevalence of cardiometabolic diseases, but one key factor is urbanization (341). Countries in SE Asia have undergone rapid epidemiological and nutritional transitions over the past few decades. Furthermore, it has been reported that dietary risks, high blood pressure and tobacco smoking are the three major risk factors contributing to disease burden in Indonesia (342). However, genetic factors also play an important role in the development of cardiometabolic diseases.

Candidate gene studies and genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) relating to cardiometabolic diseases and traits in the Asian populations (343-346). Most cardiometabolic traits are influenced by thousands of SNPs each having a relatively small effect on the trait when present alone. Thus, analysing the combined effects of multiple gene variants might provide a better understanding of traits variability of an individual and improve risk prediction of cardiometabolic diseases than using a single variant approach (347). Furthermore, studies have found that the effect of genetic variants on cardiometabolic traits can be influenced by lifestyle factors (348). It has been confirmed that using genetic risk score (GRS) approaches increase the power to detect genelifestyle interactions compared to the common single variant methods (349). Therefore, our study aimed to investigate the association of a novel GRS with cardiometabolic traits and to examine whether lifestyle factors such as dietary intake and physical activity modified these associations in 110 Minangkabau women.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Study participants

The study included healthy women who were enrolled in the Minangkabau Indonesia Study on Nutrition And Genetics (MINANG) study, a cross-sectional pilot study conducted in the city of Padang, West Sumatra, Indonesia, between December 2017 to January 2018. This study is a part of the ongoing GeNuIne (Gene-Nutrient Interactions) Collaboration, which aims to examine the interactions between genetic and dietary factors (nutrigenetics) on cardiometabolic disease and its related traits using population-based studies from several ethnic groups (220). The methodology of the study has been published elsewhere (350). In brief, 133 women were recruited from community health centres in two sub-districts in Padang City including Padang Timur and Kuranji districts to represent both urban and rural areas of Padang population, respectively. The inclusion criteria included: healthy women, aged 25-60 years old and with Minangkabau ethnicity. Of the 133 enrolled women, 10 were excluded from the study according to the following exclusion criteria: being pregnant or lactating (N=0) and taking dietary or vitamin supplements (N=0), have a previous history of hypertension, CVD or type 2 diabetes (N=6), have a body mass index (BMI) of more than 40 kg/m² or being classified as morbidly obese by a practitioner (N=0), being blood related to other participants in the study (N=0), have any communicable disease (N=4). Of the remaining 123 participants, we excluded another 5 women who did not undergo blood sampling. Thus, the final sample consisted of 118 participants, of whom seven women did not have complete genetic information about all the investigated SNPs and were excluded from the GRS analysis (N=111). Additionally, one participant with no dietary information available was excluded from the GRS interaction analysis (N=110).

The MINANG study was conducted according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethical Review Committee of the Medical Faculty, Andalas Univesity (No.311/KEP/FK/2017). All participants gave their written informed consent before participating and had the right to withdraw from the study at will and opt-out from any of the procedures.

3.3.2 Anthropometric Measures

Body weight (to the nearest 100 g) and height (to the nearest mm) were measured using an electronic scale (Seca 803, Seca GmbH. Co. kg, Hamburg, Germany) and a wall-mounted stadiometer (OneMed Medicom stature meter, YF.05.05. V.A.1022, Indonesia), respectively. BMI was calculated as weight (kg)/height (m)2 and categorised according to the Asia-Pacific classification of BMI (351). Waist circumference (WC) was measured in cm using a metal tape (Medline-OneMed Medicom, Jakarta, Indonesia) midway between the 12th rib and the superior border of the iliac crest at the end of normal expiration.

3.3.3 Biochemical and clinical measures

After 12 hours of fasting, blood samples (5ml) were taken to measure the concentrations of glucose, insulin, glycated haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), total cholesterol, triglycerides, LDL-C and HDL-C. Samples were assayed using the xMark Microplate Spectrophotometer (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc, Hercules, California, USA). Fasting glucose, insulin and HbA1c were measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits from Bioassay Technology Laboratory (Shanghai, China). Blood lipids were analysed using enzymatic colorimetric procedures, namely GPO - PAP for triglycerides, and CHOD-PAP for total cholesterol, LDL and HDL. A sphygmomanometer was used to measure systolic and diastolic blood pressures (SBP and DBP). Measurements were taken twice at 5-minute intervals and the average was recorded.

3.3.4 Assessment of dietary intake and physical activity

Information about dietary intake and physical activity were collected by a well-trained nutritionist in the home or in an integrated health service post. Diet was assessed using a previously validated and published semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire (SQ-FFQ) consisting of a list of 223 food items (352). Briefly, participants were asked to report the frequency of consumption (number of times per day, week or month) and portion size of various food items. Participants were provided with portion size images of all relevant foods to enhance reporting accuracy while completing the SQ-FFQ (353). All collected data were double-checked for accuracy and analyzed with the Indonesian Food Database and Nutrisurvey (EBISpro, Germany) to estimate total energy and macronutrient intake. Values of nutrient intake were adjusted for total energy intake using the nutrient (energy-adjusted) residual method, wherever appropriate (354).

"The Global Physical Activity Questionnaire" (GPAQ) was used to calculate an individual's level of physical activity in 3 areas (work, transport and leisure-time) and time spent in sedentary behaviour (355). Total time spent in moderate-to-vigorous physical activity was estimated using to the world health organisation (WHO) STEPwise method and was expressed as metabolic equivalent minutes per day (METmins/day). Participants were defined as "active" if they did \geq 600 METmins/week or "inactive" if they accumulated <600 METmins/week.

3.3.5 SNP selection and genotyping

Fifteen genetic variants located at 8 different genes were selected for the present study based on its consistent associations with cardio-metabolic traits in candidate gene studies and GWAS in Asian populations (343-346, 356-365). The selected genetic variants were Calpain 10 (*CAPN10*) rs3792267 and rs5030952, fat mass and obesity-associated (*FTO*)- rs9939609, rs10163409 and rs8050136, melanocortin 4 Receptor (*MC4R*)- rs17782313 and rs2229616, Transcription factor 7-like 2 (*TCF7L2*)- rs12255372 and rs7903146, Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1 (*KCNQ1*)- rs2237895 and rs2237892, Cyclin dependent kinase

inhibitor 2A/2B (*CDKN2A*/2B)- rs10811661, Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (*PPARG*)- rs1801282, and adiponectin (*ADIPOQ*)-rs266729 and rs17846866.

Genomic DNA was extracted from peripheral blood leukocytes using the PureLink Genomic DNA Mini Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA). Furthermore, a NanoDrop spectrophotometer was used to determine DNA concentration. The SNPs were genotyped using the competitive allele-specific PCR-KASP® assay at LGC Genomics (*http://www.lgcgroup.com/services/genotyping*).

3.3.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS software (version 23) and the research analysis plan is included as an appendix on Page 240. Common obesity was defined based on the Asia-Pacific classification of BMI for Asians, where non-obese individuals (BMI<23 kg/m²) and obese individuals (BMI≥23 kg/m²) were classed accordingly (366). Central obesity was defined based on WHO classification of WC (WC>80 cm for women) (30). The Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) was assessed using the x^2 goodness-of-fit test and the 15 SNPs were in HWE (P>0.05). Normality of distribution of all continuous variables was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test and those that were not normally distributed were natural log-transformed before the analysis, including glucose, insulin, HbAC1, HDL-C, LDL-C, total cholesterol, triglyceride concentrations and total dietary protein intake (%). Continuous variables are expressed as means and standard deviations (SD) and comparisons between groups were made using the independent t-test. The descriptive statistics for categorical variables, such as physical activity level, were obtained by determining frequency distributions and compared between individuals with and without central obesity using Pearson's chisquared test. The association between individual SNPs and cardiometabolic traits was analysed using general linear models adjusted for age, residential area (rural or urban) and BMI when BMI is not an outcome. As the number of individuals with rare homozygous genotypes was low, a dominant model was used, where common homozygous genotypes were compared against combined rare homozygous and heterozygous genotypes.

A GRS was constructed based on 15 SNPs from 8 genes. An additive genetic model was assumed for each gene variant, assigning a score of 0, 1, and 2 to genotypes containing 0, 1, or 2 risk alleles, respectively. The GRS was then calculated for each individual by summing the number of risk alleles in the genetic variants. The count method assumed that each risk allele contributes equally and independently to the development of cardiometabolic traits. The average number of risk alleles per individual for the GRS was 5.12 (SD=2.06), which ranged from 2 to 10. The GRS variable was then categorised into two groups based on the median of risk alleles; "low genetic risk group": individuals with a GRS <5 risk alleles (N=69) and "high genetic risk group": individuals with GRS>5 risk alleles (N=42). The effects of GRS on cardiometabolic traits were analysed using general linear models. Furthermore, GRS-lifestyle interactions on continuous outcomes were tested using linear regression models by including the interaction terms (e.g., diet*genotype) in these models. Models were adjusted for age, residential area and additionally for BMI when it is not an outcome. Lifestyle factors that were investigated in our study included dietary intake and physical activity. Carbohydrate, protein and fat intakes were expressed as a percentage of total energy intake and fibre intake was expressed in grams. Furthermore, statistically significant interactions were investigated in more depth, where individuals were stratified by the tertiles of dietary intake and the levels of physical activity. A P value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Multiple testing correction was not applied given that we had examined only one genetic instrument (i.e., GRS).

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Characteristics of the study participants according to the central obesity status

In the present study, 71 women (64.0%) were centrally obese and 39 (35.1%) were not. The characteristics of the participants are shown in Table 5. In general, centrally obese participants were older, and had higher SBP (P=0.006), fasting plasma glucose (P=0.039), serum triglycerides (P<0.001), serum total cholesterol (P<0.001) and LDL-C (P<0.001) concentrations compared to participants without central obesity. There were no significant differences in fasting HDL-C, serum insulin, HbA1c, DBP, dietary intake and physical activity levels and the distribution of GRS between the two groups (P>0.05).

3.4.2 Associations between GRS and cardiometabolic traits

To explore the combined effect of the 15 SNPs on various cardiometabolic traits, a GRS was calculated. There was a significant association (P=0.018) between the GRS and BMI where individuals carrying 6 or more risk alleles of the SNPs had higher BMI compared with those carrying 5 or less risk alleles (Table 6).

				Non-centrally		Centrally	
	N		N	Obese	N	Obese	
	1	Total	IN	(WC≤80 cm)	19	(WC>80 cm)	Р
		(N=111)		(N=39)		(N=71)	value*
Age (yrs)	111	40.49±10.18	39	37.08±11.68	71	42.58±8.62	0.012
BMI (kgm2)	111	25.13±4.2	39	21.85±3.71	71	26.99±3.24	< 0.001
WC (cm)	110	83.85±10.27	39	72.79±6.03	71	89.92±6.26	< 0.001
Glucose (mg/dl)	111	92.53±20.67	39	87.21±9.78	71	95.69±24.29	0.039
Insulin (mIU/L)	111	32428.5±25706.13	39	31073.79±28460.35	71	33374.28±24368.83	0.657
HbA1c (ng/ml)	111	655.59±601.59	39	629.22±671.07	71	666.42±568.14	0.759
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	111	98.8±43.47	39	78.26±34.19	71	109.72±44.38	< 0.001
Cholesterol (mg/dl)	111	209.31±44.02	39	188.26±30.04	71	221.77±45.74	< 0.001
HDL-C (mg/dl)	111	59.12±10.29	39	60.9±10.45	71	58.14±10.22	0.182
LDL-C (mg/dl)	111	128.12±39.85	39	111.49±25.55	71	138.2±42.65	< 0.001
SBP (mmHg)	111	113.37±9.07	39	110.14±8.83	71	115.05 ± 8.81	0.006
DBP (mmHg)	111	77.44±6.39	39	76.26±8.35	71	78.06±5.01	0.223
Total energy (kcal/d)	110	1776.24±611.43	39	1789.55±604.31	70	1755.6±613.59	0.781
Carbohydrate intake (%)	110	53.97±9.44	39	52.67±7.86	70	54.91±10.1	0.235
Protein intake (%)	110	16.93±3.32	39	17.13±2.93	70	16.76±3.54	0.579
Fat intake (%)	110	28.95±7.99	39	30.05±6.87	70	28.16±8.45	0.235
Dietary fibre (g)	110	8.78±4.29	39	9.11±4.52	70	8.56±4.19	0.521
SFA (g)	110	20.84±11.22	39	21.77±10.81	70	20.07±11.35	0.447
MUFA (g)	110	8.18±4.6	39	9.00±5.08	70	7.62±4.18	0.129
PUFA (g)	110	6.32±3.5	39	6.67±3.06	70	6.14±3.76	0.541
MET (min/week)	111	1311.89±1877.78	39	1114.87±1625.95	71	1428.45±2016.27	0.407
GRS	110	5.09±2.07	39	4.77±2.01	71	5.31±2.03	0.189
Physical activity levels	44	Sedentary (39.64%)	18	Sedentary (46.15%)	26	Sedentary (36.62%)	0.616
	55	Moderate (49.55%)	17	Moderate (43.59%)	37	Moderate (52.11%)	
	12	Vigorous (10.81%)	4	Vigorous (10.26%)	8	Vigorous (11.27%)	

Table 5: Anthropometric and biochemical characteristics of the study participants.

Data presented as means \pm SD for continuous variables and as percentages for categorical variables. *P values for the differences in the means and proportions between non-centrally obese and centrally obese individuals were calculated using the independent t-test and the Chi-

squared test, respectively. Abbreviations: BMI Body mass index; WC Waist circumference; HbA1C glycated haemoglobin A1c; HDL-C High-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP Systolic blood pressure; DBP diastolic blood pressure; SFA Saturated fatty acids; MUFA Monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA Polyunsaturated fatty acids; MET Metabolic equivalent of task; GRS Genetic risk score.

	GR	S≤5	GRS	P value*	
	(N=	:69)	(N=		
	N	Mean±SE	Ν	Mean±SE	
BMI (kgm2)	69	24.52±0.52	42	26.14±0.6	0.018
WC (cm)	68	84.28±1.22	42	83.16±1.66	0.334
Log Glucose (mg/dl)	69	93.65±2.98	42	90.69±1.72	0.327
Log Insulin (mIU/L)	69	32365.29±3199.95	42	32532.33±3782.96	0.196
Log HbA1C (ng/ml)	69	650.58±71.1	42	663.81±96.65	0.527
Log triglycerides (mg/dl)	69	101.07±5.27	42	95.07±6.67	0.142
Log Cholesterol (mg/dl)	69	212.88±5.59	42	203.43±6.11	0.228
Log HDL-C (mg/dl)	69	58.55±1.26	42	60.05±1.56	0.404
Log LDL-C (mg/dl)	69	131.84±4.97	42	122±5.73	0.197
Log SBP (mmHg)	69	113.12±1.08	42	113.77±1.43	0.679
Log DBP (mmHg)	69	77.59±0.86	42	77.2±0.76	0.535

 Table 6: Associations between GRS and cardiometabolic traits

*P values obtained from linear regression analysis adjusted for age, residential area and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on logtransformed variables. Abbreviations: BMI Body mass index; WC Waist circumference; HbA1C glycated haemoglobin A1c; HDL-C High-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP Systolic blood pressure; DBP diastolic blood pressure.

3.4.3 Interactions between GRS and dietary intake on cardiometabolic traits

There were significant interactions between the GRS and protein intake (%) on WC and triglyceride concentrations ($P_{interaction}=0.002$ and 0.003, respectively), Table 7. With low protein intake (13.51±1.18%), carriers of 6 or more risk alleles of SNPs had lower WC and triglyceride concentration compared to carriers of 5 or less risk alleles (P=0.0118 and 0.002, respectively) (Figures 5 and 6). A significant interaction between protein intake and GRS was also detected on cholesterol levels ($P_{interaction}=0.021$). Moreover, there was no other interactions between nutrient intake and GRS on cardio-metabolic traits.

Table 7: Interactions between GRS and lifestyle factors on cardio-metabolic traits.

	Carbohydrate	Protein	Fat	Fibre	Physical	
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(g)	activity	
BMI (kgm2)	0.961	0.282	0.721	0.876	0.362	
WC (cm)	0.224	0.002	0.577	0.614	0.297	
Log Glucose (mg/dl)	0.882	0.751	0.732	0.833	0.106	
Log Insulin (mIU/L)	0.336	0.341	0.48	0.216	0.909	
Log HbA1C (ng/ml)	0.766	0.638	0.935	0.162	0.626	
Log Triglycerides (mg/dl)	0.066	0.003	0.355	0.262	0.479	
Log Cholesterol (mg/dl)	0.081	0.021	0.261	0.583	0.308	
Log HDL-C (mg/dl)	0.978	0.905	0.984	0.323	0.540	
Log LDL-C (mg/dl)	0.266	0.337	0.431	0.896	0.721	
Log SBP (mmHg)	0.156	0.291	0.208	0.872	0.644	
Log DBP (mmHg)	0.966	0.815	0.732	0.292	0.743	

Data are p values obtained from linear regression analysis adjusted for age, residential area and BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: BMI Body mass index; WC Waist circumference; HbA1C glycated haemoglobin A1c; HDL-C High-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP Systolic blood pressure; DBP diastolic blood pressure.



Tertiles of Protein Intake (%)

Figure 5: Interaction between genetic risk score (GRS) and log protein intake (%) on waist circumference (WC).

White bars indicate "low genetic risk group": individuals with a GRS \leq 5 risk alleles; Black bars indicate "high genetic risk group": individuals with GRS>5 risk alleles. Carriers of 6 or more risk alleles had lower WC compared to carriers of 5 or less risk alleles, among individual with lower protein intake (13.51±1.18 %).



Tertiles of Protein Intake (%)

Figure 6: Interaction between genetic risk score (GRS) and log protein intake (%) on log triglyceride levels.

White bars indicate "low genetic risk group": individuals with a GRS \leq 5 risk alleles; Black bars indicate "high genetic risk group": individuals with GRS>5 risk alleles. Carriers of 6 or more risk alleles had lower triglyceride level compared to carriers of 5 or less risk alleles, among individual with lower protein intake (13.51 \pm 1.18 %).

3.4.4 Associations between individual SNPs and cardiometabolic traits

As shown in Supplementary Table 1, we found that the risk alleles of the three *FTO* SNPs rs9939609, rs8050136 and rs10163409 were associated with higher BMI (P=0.006, 0.007 and 0.047, respectively). Furthermore, SNPs rs12255372 (*TCF7L2*), rs2237892 (*KCNQ1*) and rs5030952 (*CAPN10*) were associated with increased fasting serum LDL-C concentrations (P=0.032, 0.039 and 0.04, respectively). A significant association was also found between the

risk allele of the SNP rs17782313 (MC4R) and higher insulin level (P=0.036). No significant association was observed between the remaining SNPs and cardiometabolic traits in this population (P>0.05).

3.5 Discussion

The present study aimed to investigate the effects of genetic predisposition and lifestyle factors on cardiometabolic traits in Minangkabau women. In agreement with other studies (3), we have shown that the GRS based on 8 susceptible genes for cardiometabolic diseases is a significant risk factor for higher BMI in our study sample and might be a useful tool in characterising Minangkabau women at high risk for obesity. We found that women carrying 6 or more alleles had significantly higher BMI compared to those carrying 5 or less risk alleles. Furthermore, we found a significant interaction between the GRS and dietary protein intake (%) on WC and triglyceride levels, where, among those who consumed a low protein diet (mean intake \pm SD: 13.51 \pm 1.18 %), individuals, despite carrying more than 6 risk alleles, had significantly lower WC and triglyceride levels. Given that Minangkabau women have a high risk of dyslipidemia (339) and the prevalence of common and central obesity is high among this ethnic group (340), it is important to develop effective strategies targeting these conditions to improve public health.

It has been suggested that centrally obese participants defined as normal weight based on BMI had the worst long-term survival even when compared with their overweight and obese counterparts (36). In addition, recent data from 42,702 European participants reported that central obesity is associated with higher mortality risk even in normal-weight individuals (35). This is of concern for Asian populations, where increased levels of visceral adiposity are observed in those with normal BMIs (367-369). Furthermore, the combination of increased WC along with elevated triglyceride levels has been previously defined as the 'hypertriacylglycerolaemic waist' phenotype (370). Studies have shown that individuals with this phenotype have an increased risk of higher visceral adiposity, CVD, insulin resistance and other related outcomes (370). Therefore, targeting this phenotype will have significant public health implications in terms of reducing NCD mortality in Asian populations.

In the present study, the average protein intake was 77 ± 37 g/day, which exceeded the recommended dietary protein daily allowance of 57-59 g/day for Indonesian women (371, 372). Observational studies have shown that higher protein intake was significantly associated with increases in body weight, BMI and fat mass (373-375). These results are in contrast to the finding from intervention studies, which have shown that high protein intake enhances weight loss and provides a better long-term maintenance of reduced intra-abdominal fat stores (366, 376). These inconsistencies might be attributed to the sample size, genetic heterogeneity and gene-lifestyle interactions. Cross-sectional studies have demonstrated the association of several SNPs with obesity-related traits (77, 377-379) and interaction of these SNPs with dietary intake of protein on weight change (382-380). It has been shown that high protein diets can modulate the genetic effect of FTO variants on body weight, BMI and WC (302, 317, 318). According to a 2-year weight loss intervention program, carriers of the risk allele 'A' of the FTO SNP rs1558902 had a greater reduction in weight and regional fat compared to non-carriers when high protein diets were consumed, whereas an opposite genetic effect was found on changes in fat distribution in response to a low-protein intake (318). However, studies investigating the joint effect of genetic variants have reported conflicting results (383-385), indicating that the influence of genetic predisposition on changes in body weight and WC does not seem to be modulated by protein intake. In contrast, the present study provides evidence for GRS-protein intake interactions on WC and triglyceride concentrations, and these interactions were independent of potential confounding effects. We found that participants with 6 or more risk alleles who consumed a low protein diet (mean intake \pm SD: 13.51 \pm 1.18%) had significantly

lower WC and triglyceride concentrations compared to those with 5 or less risk alleles. This difference in the findings across the studies might be due to differences in the sample size, methods used to construct GRSs (weighted vs. unweighted), and the number of SNPs included in the GRSs.

The observed interaction between GRS and dietary protein on WC and triglyceride concentrations might be driven by the source of protein consumed, which has not been analysed in our study. Different protein sources have different effects on body weight and fat mass, and the mechanisms behind this are still very speculative and need more investigation. The higher intake of protein from animal sources (protein from red and processed meat and poultry) was found to be associated with an increase in body weight in both genders, with a stronger association in women (374). Diet rich in animal protein might reflect the western pattern diet characterised by high red meat consumption, which has shown to be associated with weight gain (386). In contrast, a study has shown that protein from meat is associated with lower weight gain because it produces a higher 24-h energy expenditure compared to soy protein (387). This hypothesis is, however, based on a mechanistic study and it is still unknown whether this applies in the long run to individuals of the free-living populations. Furthermore, it has been suggested that consuming protein from dairy sources may prevent weight gain and promote abdominal fat loss (388). Here, the suggested mechanism primarily relates to the high content of calcium, which may function synergistically in combination with bioactive compounds, such as angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and the rich concentration of branched-chain amino acids (388). While the above-mentioned studies failed to explore the genetic aspects, our study did not investigate the type of protein that was consumed by the participants; hence, future studies examining the effect of both factors are required.

In agreement with some studies (383, 384), no interactions were detected between GRS and dietary intake of protein, fat and carbohydrate on BMI in the present study. However, a study in the European population (N=48,170 adults) has shown that the joint effect of 93 obesity-related SNPs on BMI might be modulated by the intake of total energy, fat and saturated fat (385). Furthermore, studies have shown that an obesogenic diet and physical inactivity with relatively high intake of sugar-sweetened beverages and prolonged television watching might exaggerate the effect of genetic factors on adiposity (348, 389). Even though several studies have demonstrated that physical activity could attenuate the combined genetic influence of multiple SNPs on BMI and obesity risk (267, 268, 348), no such interactions were detected in the present study.

The strengths of our study include the use of a well-defined population, a validated SQ-FFQ (352) and a genetic risk score generated from the 15 genetic variants associated with cardiometabolic traits. Also, the main exposures investigated in our study were collected by well-trained staff and using validated and standardised operating procedures. However, there are limitations that needs to be acknowledged. Although our analysis was adjusted for several factors, the potential for confounding by unmeasured or unknown factors exist. Even though our study has a small sample size, we were still able to find significant associations and interactions suggesting that our study is well powered. Even though food intake was assessed using validated methods, recall bias and measurement errors in these self-reported FFQs cannot be fully eliminated, which could alter the true underlying interactions between dietary and genetic factors on cardiometabolic traits (390, 391). Finally, our study was restricted to Minangkabau women, and it is unknown whether our findings could be generalised to men or other demographic or ethnic groups.

3.6 Conclusion

In the present study, we have shown a significant effect of the GRS on WC and triglyceride levels through the influence of a low protein intake, where individuals with a high genetic susceptibility can overcome the risk of higher WC and triglyceride levels by consuming a low protein diet. These findings are potentially relevant for public health; however, future trials in both genders with larger sample size and objective measures of protein intake, such as urinary nitrogen, are needed to confirm these findings.

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate: The MINANG study was conducted according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethical Review Committee of the Medical Faculty, Andalas University (No.311/KEP/FK/2017). All participants gave their written informed consent before participating.

Consent for publication: The consent for publication has been obtained from all the participants.

Availability of data and materials: The datasets used and/or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: This research was funded by the British Council Newton Fund Researcher Links Travel Grant: 2016-RLTG7-10215.

Author Contributions: SA and ASA performed the statistical analyses and data interpretation; SA and KSV drafted the manuscript; KSV and ASA carried out data collection; KSV designed the nutrigenetics study; NIL, FFY and KSV conceived, supervised and designed the study; UA and SRS contributed to data collection, monitoring and evaluation of participants, and project administration; NT was involved in data collection and dietary data analysis; IRS conducted the laboratory analysis; NIL and JAL critically reviewed the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgements: We thank all study participants for their cooperation. Dr Karani S Vimaleswaran acknowledges support from the Ministry of Higher Education of Saudi Arabia for the scholarship given to Ms. Sooad Alsulami

Supplementary Material: The supplementary material is included at the end of this chapter. Supplementary Table 1. Associations between individual SNPs and cardiometabolic traits.

3.7 Supplementary Material

3.7.1 Supplementary Table 1: Associations between individual SNPs and cardiometabolic traits.

		BMI (kg/m2)	WC (cm)	Log Glucose (mg/dl)	Log Insulin (mIU/L)	Log HbA1C (ng/ml)	Log triglycerides (mg/dl)	Log Cholesterol (mg/dl)	Log HDL-C (mg/dl)	Log LDL- C (mg/dl)	Log SBP (mmHg)	Log DBP (mmHg)
MC4R	rs17782313	0.967	0.552	0.969	0.036	0.135	0.238	0.234	0.565	0.595	0.447	0.928
MC4R	rs2229616	0.81	0.968	0.691	0.301	0.35	0.522	0.846	0.565	0.783	0.52	0.945
FTO	rs9939609	0.006	0.776	0.327	0.553	0.605	0.751	0.961	0.685	0.743	0.982	0.517
FTO	rs8050136	0.007	0.754	0.301	0.558	0.632	0.805	0.867	0.639	0.813	0.882	0.639
FTO	rs10163409	0.047	0.833	0.18	0.985	0.731	0.182	0.411	0.969	0.431	0.749	0.629
TCF7L2	rs7903146	0.645	0.115	0.762	0.439	0.19	0.639	0.58	0.666	0.097	0.762	0.423
TCF7L2	rs12255372	0.722	0.152	0.801	0.316	0.164	0.543	0.276	0.692	0.032	0.538	0.915
ADIPOQ	rs266729	0.837	0.59	0.275	0.581	0.957	0.258	0.682	0.774	0.654	0.693	0.274
ADIPOQ	rs17846866	0.221	0.555	0.21	0.129	0.179	0.797	0.597	0.774	0.845	0.882	0.389
KCNQ1	rs2237895	0.263	0.606	0.847	0.199	0.33	0.782	0.803	0.801	0.746	0.832	0.597
KCNQ1	rs2237892	0.501	0.215	0.937	0.502	0.775	0.868	0.546	0.16	0.039	0.866	0.968
CDKN2A/B	rs10811661	0.392	0.51	0.887	0.617	0.253	0.76	0.815	0.83	0.254	0.497	0.224
PPARG	rs1801282	0.128	0.207	0.988	0.743	0.42	0.4	0.411	0.921	0.101	0.782	0.456
CAPN10	rs3792267	0.977	0.433	0.664	0.427	0.889	0.061	0.374	0.458	0.964	0.341	0.47
CAPN10	rs5030952	0.88	0.852	0.949	0.566	0.849	0.828	0.425	0.373	0.04	0.773	0.912

Data are p values obtained from linear regression analysis adjusted for age, residential area and BMI when BMI is not an outcome. Abbreviations: *FTO* Fat mass and obesity associated gene; *MC4R* Melanocortin 4 Receptor ; *TCF7L2* Transcription factor 7-like 2; *ADIPOQ* Adiponectin; *KCNQ1* Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1; *CDKN2A/2B* Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B; *PPARG* Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma and *CAPN10* Calpain 10; BMI Body mass index; WC Waist circumference; HbA1C glycated haemoglobin A1c; HDL-C High-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP Systolic blood pressure; DBP diastolic blood pressure.

Chapter 4 Interaction between Metabolic Genetic Risk Score and Dietary Fatty Acid Intake on Central Obesity in a Ghanaian Population.

Published (The published version of the paper is attached as an appendix at the end of the thesis).

Alsulami S.; Nyakotey, D. A.; Dudek, K.; Bawah, A. M.; Lovegrove, J. A.; Annan, R. A.; Ellahi, B.; Vimaleswaran, K. S. Interaction between Metabolic Genetic Risk Score and Dietary Fatty Acid Intake on Central Obesity in a Ghanaian Population. *Nutrients* **2020**, 12(7),1906; https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12071906

Sooad Alsulami's contribution: The analysis plan was developed and the dataset was screened before running the statistical analysis. The statistical analysis was performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software (version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and the data was interpreted. The literature search was carried out to prepare the first draft of the manuscript which was further revised based on the comments from other co-authors. The manuscript was formatted according to the journal's guidelines and the reviewer comments were responded.

4.1 Abstract

Background: Obesity is a multifactorial condition arising from the interaction between genetic and lifestyle factors. We aimed to assess the impact of lifestyle and genetic factors on obesity-related traits in 302 healthy Ghanaian adults.

Methods: Dietary intake and physical activity were assessed using a 3 day repeated 24 h dietary recall and global physical activity questionnaire, respectively. Twelve single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) were used to construct 4-SNP, 8-SNP and 12-SNP genetic risk scores (GRSs).

Results: The 4-SNP GRS showed significant interactions with dietary fat intakes on waist circumference (WC) (Total fat, $P_{interaction} = 0.01$; saturated fatty acids (SFA), $P_{interaction} = 0.02$; polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), $P_{interaction} = 0.01$ and monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), $P_{interaction} = 0.01$). Among individuals with higher intakes of total fat (>47 g/d), SFA (>14 g/d), PUFA (>16 g/d) and MUFA (>16 g/d), individuals with ≥3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles.

Conclusion: This is the first study of its kind in this population, suggesting that a higher consumption of dietary fatty acid may have the potential to increase the genetic susceptibility of becoming centrally obese. These results support the general dietary recommendations to decrease the intakes of total fat and SFA, to reduce the risk of obesity, particularly in individuals with a higher genetic predisposition to central obesity.

4.2 Introduction

Obesity is a known risk factor for several health conditions, including type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, hypertension and cancer, and hence it is considered as an increasing public health problem worldwide, including in Africa (392, 393). Obesity prevalence varies widely between African countries with a range of 5.3% in Uganda to 30% in Nigeria and 45.7% in South Africa (393). A recent systematic review has reported that nearly 43% of Ghanaian adults are either overweight or obese and that the prevalence of overweight and obesity was higher in women and urban dwellers (266). While obesity is strongly affected by changes in environmental factors (such as dietary intake, sedentary lifestyle, and urbanization), the composition of the gut microbiome, the disruption of circadian rhythms, exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals and epigenetic modifications (394-399), it also has strong genetic determinants with a heritability rate from 40 to 70% (80, 400). Genomewide association studies (GWAS) in European populations have revealed more than 100 loci to be associated with the body mass index (BMI) (78, 284, 401-405). However, these genetic associations have not been consistently replicated in African populations (406-410), which could be attributed to differences in lifestyle and genetic architecture (3).

Given that single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have relatively small effect sizes on obesity, several studies have aggregated information from multiple-risk variants into a polygenic genetic risk score (GRS) (78, 155, 156, 284, 411-413). Employing a combined risk allele score is an efficient and effective approach in maximising statistical power, decreasing the drawback of multiple testing, and widening the generalisable nature of genetic associations (155, 156). A study among a rural population of Gambia demonstrated a positive association between a GRS of 28 SNPs and BMI and adult weight, whereas no association was found with the single SNP analysis (161, 162). Although genetic research in Africans is increasing in numbers (409), only a few studies have examined the association of GRS with obesity in Africa (161, 414, 415), which highlights the need for further research in African populations.

Current evidence has shown that heritability estimates for obesity-related traits can be modified by lifestyle factors such as diet and physical activity. Several studies have reported significant GRS-diet interactions on obesity-related traits. Studies in European populations have shown that the genetic association with BMI was stronger with higher intakes of sugarsweetened beverages (SSBs) and fried foods than among those with lower intakes (416, 417). Studies have also shown that genetic associations with BMI in Europeans can be modified by the levels of physical activity, television watching, and changes in sleep pattern (268, 389). In addition, higher adherence to healthy eating patterns have shown to reduce BMI in Europeans despite having increased genetic susceptibility to obesity (418). Gene-lifestyle interaction studies have largely been conducted in populations of European ancestry, and the replication of these studies in African populations remains unknown (267, 268). Therefore, our study aimed to investigate the association of GRS with obesity-related traits and to examine whether lifestyle factors such as dietary intake and physical activity modified these associations in the Ghanaian population.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Study Population

The Genetics of Obesity and Nutrition in Ghana (GONG) study is a cross-sectional study that was conducted in the Oforikrom Municipality in Kumasi, Ashanti region, Ghana. The GONG study was conducted as part of the ongoing GeNuIne (Gene–Nutrient Interactions) Collaboration, the main objective of which is to investigate the effect of gene– nutrient interactions (nutrigenetics) on metabolic disease outcomes using population-based studies from various ethnic groups (222, 419). The Oforikrom Municipal Assembly is one of the five Municipal Assemblies carved out of the Kumasi Metropolitan Assembly. There are seventeen recognized communities in this Municipal Assembly, with an estimated total population of 360,254. Five communities (Ayeduase, Bomso, Ayigya, Oforikrom and Kotei) were randomly selected from the list of communities in the Oforikrom Municipal Assembly. In each community, a central point was located (a vehicle station, marketplace or other landmarks). A fieldworker entered the first house that faced either North, South, East or West of that central point, and randomly recruited one respondent from each household. Upon exiting a house, the fieldworker entered the next house, and the house-level selection process was repeated.

Three hundred and two free-living and healthy (with no physical complaints or prior diagnosis of cardiometabolic disease) adult volunteers, both men and women, were screened and recruited for the study by trained researchers. The inclusion criteria included the following: healthy individuals aged 25 to 60 years old and being Asante (both parents must be Asante). The exclusion criteria included the following: participants less than 25 years old or older than 60 years, those with existing cardiovascular complications or disease, those with a previous history of hypertension, type 2 diabetes or cardiovascular diseases, participants with any communicable or non-communicable chronic diseases, pregnant women and participants on lipid-lowering drugs, anti-diabetic drugs or anti-hypertensive drugs. A medical screening questionnaire was developed to screen participants for inclusion or exclusion from the study.

This study was approved by the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) Institutional Review Board (IRB) (Ref: RPN 003/CSIR-IRB/2018). In addition, this study was approved by the Metro Director of Health Services, Kumasi (KMHD/MPHs/13). All participants signed informed consent prior to their participation.

4.3.2 Data Collection

Structured questionnaires were used to elicit information about the participants' demographic characteristics, dietary intakes, physical activity levels, sleep and sunshine exposure patterns and medical history. Fieldworkers were trained before the start of data collection. Survey instruments were also pre-tested on the 10 July 2018 to enhance the field workers' understanding of questionnaires, ensure clearness and avoid ambiguity. Data collection took place from July to September 2018.

4.3.3 Anthropometric Measurements

Height, weight, percentage of body fat and visceral fat, waist circumference (WC) and hip circumference (HC) were measured. The measurements were taken with respondents wearing light clothing. Height was measured with a stadiometer (Seca 213 mobile stadiometer, Hamburg, Germany) to the nearest 0.1 cm with participants standing upright without shoes. Weight was measured using an OMRON Body Composition Analyzer to the nearest 0.1 kg. The same equipment provided values for BMI, percentage of body fat and visceral fat. WC and HC measurements were taken using a non-extensible measuring tape with participants in light clothing. The WC was measured just above the naval to the nearest 0.1 cm whereas the HC was measured at the level of the greater trochanter to the nearest 0.1 cm. The waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) was calculated by dividing WC by HC.

4.3.4 Physical Activity and Dietary Assessments

The health-related physical activity level of participants was measured using the interviewer-administered Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ) version 2

developed by the World Health Organization (WHO) for physical activity surveillance (420). This questionnaire contains 16 questions (P1–P16) which gather information on the respondent's engagement in physical activities under three domains or settings (work-related activity, transportation and recreational activities) as well as sedentary behaviours. The total physical activity per week was calculated in Metabolic Equivalents (MET- minutes) and the respondents who had total physical activity \geq 600 MET- minutes/week were classified as active while those who had < 600 MET- minutes/week were classified as inactive (420).

A three-day repeated (two weekdays and one weekend) 24 h dietary recall method was used to elicit the information concerning the participants' dietary intake. Participants were requested to recollect all the meals taken as well as the times of the meal consumption in the previous day. Common household measures were used to estimate the actual quantities of foods and drinks consumed by the participants. The nutritional composition of the foods eaten was then analysed using the Nutrient Analysis Template (Food Science and Nutrition Department, University of Ghana, Accra, Ghana, 2010).

4.3.5 SNP Selection

Fifteen SNPs near or in 8 obesity-susceptibility loci were chosen for the study based on the previous GWAS for metabolic traits (78, 284, 401-405). These include Transcription factor 7-like 2 (*TCF7L2*) (rs12255372, rs7903146), melanocortin 4 Receptor (*MC4R*) (rs17782313, rs2229616), fat mass and obesity-associated (*FTO*) (rs9939609, rs10163409), adiponectin (*ADIPOQ*) (rs266729, rs17846866), Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member *1*(*KCNQ1*) (rs2237892, rs2237895), Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B (*CDKN2A/2B*) (rs10811661), Calpain 10 (*CAPN10*) (rs3792267, rs5030952, rs2975760) and Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (*PPARG*) (rs1801282). Three of these SNPs, *KCNQ1* (rs2237895), *ADIPOQ* (rs17846866) and *CAPN10* (rs2975760), reported significant deviations from Hardy–Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) (p < 0.05) and were excluded from the current analysis. The detailed information of the 15 SNPs is shown in Table S1.

4.3.6 Genotyping

Blood samples for the measurement of DNA were transported in dry ice to the United Kingdom (UK). Genomic DNA was extracted from a 5 mL whole blood sample from each participant and genotyping was performed at the LGC Genomics (*http://www.lgcgroup.com/services/genotyping*), which employs the competitive allele-specific PCR-KASP[®] assay.

4.3.7 Construction of the Metabolic GRSs

To evaluate the combined effects of the 12 SNPs on obesity-related traits, an additive model was used to construct the unweighted metabolic GRSs (Figure 7). We did not weigh the risk alleles based on their individual effect sizes, because no previously reported effect sizes were available for these SNPs for the Ghanaian population, and it has been shown that the weighting of risk alleles may only have limited effects (421). The unweighted metabolic GRSs were calculated by the summation of the number of risk alleles across the 12 variants. The risk alleles were defined as alleles previously associated with an increased risk of obesity in the literature. To reduce the bias caused by the missing data, only those participants without any missing data were included in our metabolic GRSs analysis. Different metabolic GRSs were constructed including the 12-, 8- and the 4-SNP GRSs. The 12-SNP GRS included the following SNPs: *TCF7L2* (rs12255372, rs7903146), *MC4R* (rs17782313, rs2229616), *FTO* (rs9939609, rs10163409), *ADIPOQ* (rs266729), *KCNQ1* (rs2237892), *CDKN2A/2B* (rs10811661), *CAPN10* (rs3792267, rs5030952) and *PPARG* (rs1801282), and

the score ranged from 0 to 9 risk alleles. In the 12-SNP GRS analysis, no significant results were identified which might be because four of the SNPs had a minor allele frequency (MAF) of less than 5%. Therefore, we excluded the four SNPs: *MC4R* (rs2229616), *FTO* (rs10163409), *CDKN2B* (*rs10811661*) and *PPAR* (rs1801282) and created an 8-SNP GRS. No significant findings were observed using the 8-SNP GRS; this might be because four of the eight SNPs (*ADIPOQ* (*rs266729*), *KCNQ1* (*rs2237892*) and *CAPN10* (*rs3792267*, *rs5030952*)) have not shown consistent associations with obesity-related traits in other populations (362, 422-426). Hence, these four SNPs were removed and a 4-SNP GRS including the SNPs (*TCF7L2* (rs12255372, rs7903146), *MC4R* (rs17782313), *FTO* (rs9939609)) that have shown consistent associations with obesity across several populations was constructed. The 4-SNP GRS ranged from 0 to 6 risk alleles and significant results were observed. Based on the median number of each GRS, the individuals were separated into two groups. Given that there were no previously reported effect sizes available for these SNPs for the Ghanaian population, we were unable to perform sample size calculation.



Figure 7: Steps involved in the construction of the metabolic GRS.

Fifteen SNPs were genotyped in our study; however, the GRS analysis was based only on 12 SNPs as 3 SNPs were not in the HWE. Three different GRSs, including the 12-SNP GRS, 8-SNP GRS and the 4-SNP GRS were constructed. In the 12-SNP GRS analysis, no significant results were identified, which could be because 4 of the SNPs had MAF of less than 5%. Therefore, the 4 SNPs were excluded, and an 8-SNP GRS was created. No significant findings were observed using the 8-SNP GRS; this could be because four of the eight SNPs have not shown a consistent association with obesity-related traits in other populations. Hence, these four SNPs were removed and a 4-SNP GRS including those SNPs that have shown consistent associations with obesity across several populations was constructed. Abbreviations: SNP: single nucleotide polymorphisms; GRS: genetic risk score; HWE: Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium; MAF: minor allele frequency.

Statistical analysis

Data analyses were performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software (version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and the research analysis plan is included as an appendix on Page 244. A natural log transformation was used for the non-normally distributed variables. Unadjusted differences of descriptive characteristics between the overweight/obese and non-obese participants were calculated using an independent samples *t*-test for continuous variables. General linear models were used to examine the association between the metabolic GRSs and obesity traits. GRS–lifestyle interactions were analysed by including the interaction terms in these models. Models were adjusted for covariates including sex, age and BMI (when BMI is not an outcome). Nutrient–GRS interaction analysis was additionally adjusted for total energy intake. All GRS–lifestyle interactions reaching a nominal level of significance (p < 0.05) were investigated further using binary

analysis. Based on the median intake of total fat saturated fatty acids (SFA), monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), the individuals were separated into two groups: 'below the median group'' and ''above the median group''. Within each group, the association between the GRS and the outcome was examined. We also tested for GRS–sex interactions to test if sex influenced the genetic associations with obesity traits. The lifestyle factors investigated in our study included physical activity and the total dietary intake of fat, protein, carbohydrate and fibre. Significant interactions between the GRS and the total fat intake were further investigated to examine the influence of fat subtypes including saturated fatty acids (SFA), monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA). Two-tailed value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4.4 **Results**

4.4.1 Characteristics of the Study Participants

The anthropometric and dietary characteristics of the study participants are presented in Table 8. The mean age and BMI of the total sample were 38.17 ± 9.64 years and 26.63 ± 4.99 kg/m², respectively. Overweight/obese individuals were older than the non-obese (p < 0.05). Moreover, the dietary intakes were significantly different between the two groups. Overweight/obese individuals reported significantly lower intakes of total calories, protein, carbohydrate, total fat, fibre, SFA, MUFA and PUFA compared to the non-obese (p < 0.05). Women had significantly higher levels of BMI, body fat percentage and WHR compared to men, despite the men consuming significantly higher levels of carbohydrate, protein and fat (p < 0.05) (Table S2).

4.4.2 Effect of Metabolic GRSs on Obesity-Related Traits

We first investigated the combined effect of 12 common SNPs on obesity-related traits and no significant associations were observed (Table S3). Similar results were found using an 8-SNP GRS (Table S4) and a 4-SNP GRS (Table 9).

	Total	Non-Obese *	Overweight/Obese **	<i>p</i> Value ***
	(N = 302)	(N = 126)	(N = 176)	
Age (years)	38.17 ± 9.64	35.96 ± 9.55	39.75 ± 9.42	0.001
BMI (kg/m ²)	26.63 ± 4.99	22.01 ± 1.79	29.95 ± 3.75	< 0.001
WC (cm)	88.48 ± 12.41	77.99 ± 7.13	96.00 ± 9.61	< 0.001
WHR	1.45 ± 6.96	1.55 ± 7.76	1.38 ± 6.34	0.84
Visceral fat (%)	8.02 ± 7.39	6.49 ± 10.97	9.12 ± 2.26	0.01
Body fat (%)	33.12 ± 13.90	22.05 ± 12.47	41.05 ± 8.36	< 0.001
Total energy intake (%)	1647.93 ± 685.83	1772.17 ± 723.85	1558.99 ± 644.75	0.008
Protein intake (g/day)	53.24 ± 23.73	57.38 ± 24.52	50.28 ± 22.76	0.01
Total fat intake (g/day)	51.17 ± 26.94	55.00 ± 29.29	48.42 ± 24.85	0.04
Carbohydrates intake (g/day)	239.03 ± 95.84	259.44 ± 104.01	224.42 ± 86.94	0.002
Fibre intake (g/day)	21.31 ± 10.84	23.19 ± 11.44	19.96 ± 10.21	0.01
Total SFA intake (g/day)	16.23 ± 10.36	17.41 ± 11.29	15.39 ± 9.58	0.10
Total MUFA intake (g/day)	18.08 ± 10.49	19.63 ± 11.30	16.96 ± 9.74	0.03
Total PUFA intake (g/day)	9.12 ± 5.03	10.20 ± 5.56	8.35 ± 4.47	0.002

Table 8: Characteristics of the study participants.

Data presented as the means \pm standard deviations. * Non-obese individuals refer to the individuals with a BMI < 25 Kg/m², according to the WHO classification of BMI. ** Overweight/obese cases refer to individuals with BMI \ge 25 Kg/m², according to the WHO classification of BMI. *** *p* values for the differences in the means between the two groups were calculated using the independent samples t-test. Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; WHR: waist-hip ratio; SFA: saturated fatty acids; MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids; WHO: World Health Organisation.

	GRS < 3 Risk Alleles (N = 123)	GRS ≥ 3 Risk Allele (N = 172)	* p Value
BMI (kg/m ²)	26.13 ± 0.45	26.85 ± 0.37	0.24
WC (cm)	87.13 ± 1.15	89.14 ± 0.92	0.19
WHR	2.27 ± 0.98	0.88 ± 0.01	0.18
Visceral fat (%)	7.89 ± 0.71	8.08 ± 0.55	0.43
Body fat (%)	31.75 ± 1.32	33.87 ± 1.02	0.15

Table 9: Associations of the 4-SNP GRS on obesity-related traits.

* *p* Values obtained from the linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism; GRS: genetic risk score; BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; WHR: waist–hip ratio.

4.4.3 GRS–Lifestyle Interactions on Obesity-Related Traits

There was a significant interaction of the 4-SNP GRS with dietary fat intake (g/day) on WC (Total fat, $P_{interaction} = 0.01$; SFA, $P_{interaction} = 0.02$; PUFA, $P_{interaction} = 0.01$ and MUFA, $P_{interaction} = 0.01$, Table 10). Individuals with ≥ 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles, among individuals with higher intakes of total fat (>47 g/day), SFA (>14 g/day), PUFA (>16 g/day) and MUFA (>16 g/day), (Figure 8a–d). There was also a significant interaction between 4-SNP GRS and dietary fibre intake (g/day) on body fat percentage ($P_{interaction} = 0.04$). Individuals with <3 risk alleles had a significantly lower body fat percentage compared to those with ≥ 3 risk alleles (p = 0.02), among

individuals with a higher intake of fibre (>19 g/day). In addition, there was a significant interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and physical activity on WHR ($P_{interaction} = 0.002$). However, the finding was not significant after stratifying them by physical activity levels. Some significant interactions were observed between the 12- and the 8-SNP GRSs and lifestyle factors on obesity-related traits Table S5 and S6), however, none of these interactions were significant after binary analysis. Given the significant differences in the dietary intakes and obesity-related outcomes between men and women, interactions between the 4-SNP GRS and sex were tested but no significant results were found (Table S7).

Fibre SFA Fat Carbohydrat Protein MUFA PUFA Physical (g/day) e (g/day) (g/day) (g/day) Activity (g/day) (g/day) (g/day) BMI (kg/m^2) 0.45 0.22 0.12 0.15 0.76 WC (cm) 0.08 0.21 0.41 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.24 WHR 0.82 0.88 0.49 0.80 0.002 Visceral fat (%) 0.50 0.35 0.32 0.38 0.93 Body fat (%) 0.46 0.11 0.04 0.75 0.60

Table 10: Interactions between the 4-SNP GRS and the lifestyle factors on obesity-related traits.

Data are *p* values obtained from the linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex, total energy intake and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism; GRS: genetic risk score; BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; WHR: waist–hip ratio; SFA: saturated fatty acids; MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids.


Figure 8: Interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and fat intake (g/day) on the log transformed WC.

(a) Interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and the log transformed total fat intake (g/day) on WC. White bars indicate individuals with a GRS < 3 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with GRS \geq 3 risk alleles. Individuals with \geq 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher total fat intake (above median group > 47 g/day): 71.28 ± 23.68 g/day (34.99 ± 5.54 % TEI); (b) the interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and the log transformed SFA intake (g/day) on the log transformed WC. White bars indicate individuals with a GRS < 3 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with GRS \geq 3 risk alleles. Individuals with \geq 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher SFA intake: 23.50 ± 10.08 g/day (12.19) \pm 3.21% TEI); (c) the interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and the log transformed MUFA intake (g/day) on the log transformed WC. White bars indicate individuals with a GRS < 3 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with GRS \geq 3 risk alleles. Individuals with \geq 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher MUFA intake: 25.72 ± 9.58 g/day (12.79) \pm 2.53% TEI); (d) the interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and the log transformed PUFA intake (g/day) on the log transformed WC. White bars indicate individuals with a GRS < 3 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with GRS \geq 3 risk alleles. Individuals with \geq 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher PUFA intake: 12.74 ± 4.7 g/day (6.28 \pm 1.08% TEI). Abbreviations: SNP: single nucleotide polymorphisms; GRS: genetic risk score; WC: waist circumference; SFA: saturated fatty acids; MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids; TEI: total energy intake. Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean.

4.5 Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first nutrigenetic study investigating the interaction between metabolic GRSs and lifestyle factors on obesity-related traits in a Ghanaian population. Our study provides evidence for an interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and fat intake on WC, where individuals with \geq 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles among those who consumed a diet high in total fat, SFA, MUFA and PUFA. These results are in accordance with the general dietary recommendations, which suggest that the population decrease their intakes of total fat and SFA, to reduce the risk of obesity, and this will be more applicable in individuals with a higher genetic predisposition to obesity. Our findings are of importance to public health, considering the high consumption of foods that are rich in SFA and MUFA in the Ghanaian population (427).

Our study is the first study of its kind, investigating the effect of different metabolic GRSs (the 12-, 8- and the 4-SNP GRS) on obesity-related traits in a Ghanaian population. We found that none of the metabolic GRSs were significantly associated with obesity-related traits in the Ghanaian population, which contradicts the findings of the previous GRS-related studies in European and African populations (155, 156, 161, 284, 411-415). Efforts to replicate previously reported genetic associations of individual SNPs with obesity measures in non-African populations have shown limited success among Africans (162, 410, 428, 429), which is also in line with the findings from the present study. Several factors are likely to be involved in such discrepancies between our findings and genetic association studies in Europeans. First, the metabolic GRS in the present study was constructed based on variants strongly associated with BMI in European populations, which raises the question of the usefulness, applicability and accuracy of using this metabolic GRS in our African population. Analysing the genetic associations of such variants with obesity-related traits in African population may not be ideal

because of differences in risk allele frequency and effect size across populations (430, 431). Second, the 'lead' SNPs identified in Europeans might tag smaller regions in Africans (406, 407, 432) and the 'true' causal polymorphisms might be at different loci (433). A systematic review of genetic research in African samples has reported that more than 300 SNPs in 42 loci analysed in relation to obesity, but only a few positive associations were replicable in Africans (434). Of the 36 variants previously established by GWAS in non-African populations, only the SNPs located at the FTO and MC4R loci were significantly associated with obesity in Nigerians, Ghanaians and black South Africans (435, 436). Furthermore, in a large-scale GWAS meta-analysis consisting of 71,412 individuals of African ancestry, of the 36 previously identified BMI-associated SNPs in Europeans, only five variants reached a genome-wide significant level in Africans (437). Such inconsistencies in results are likely due, in part, to the variation in the genetic architecture between populations of different ancestry (438). African populations are characterised by greater genetic variation, reduced patterns of linkage disequilibrium (LD) and more haplotype diversity in comparison with populations of another ancestry, which may cause difficulties in replicating previously reported genetic associations (438). Hence, future studies with a larger sample size are needed to investigate the combined effect of a larger number of genetic variants on obesity-related traits in the Ghanaian population.

Our study has identified significant interactions between the 4-SNP GRS and intakes of total fat, SFA, PUFA and MUFA on WC, an indicator of central obesity that has been associated with the increased risk of morbidity and mortality (439, 440). Our findings suggest that dietary fatty acid consumption and composition may have the potential to influence the genetic susceptibility of becoming centrally obese. Evidence is limited concerning the GRS– diet interactions on obesity and its related traits, and most of the research has focused on the influence of a single locus (240, 298, 441), despite the genetic effects on obesity being 107

polygenic (78). Our results are consistent with previous findings generated from single-locus gene-diet interactions on obesity, in which fat intake is considered as an important lifestyle modulator of genetic associations with obesity-related traits. Two previous studies in 2163 participants from two independent United States (US) populations and in 28,449 individuals living in Malmö have shown significant interactions of the FTO SNP rs9939609 with total dietary fat on BMI (240, 241), however, a large-scale meta-analysis of 177,330 individuals (154,439 Whites, 5776 African Americans and 17,115 Asians) failed to identify this interaction (106). In addition, studies in 2163 participants from two US populations, 1754 French individuals and 354 Spanish children and adolescents have demonstrated a significant interaction of FTO SNP rs9939609 with SFAs (240, 298, 441) and MUFAs (240) on BMI. Furthermore, a study in 305 obese individuals in Finland reported that the high intake of MUFA was associated with weight loss among carriers of the risk allele (A) FTO rs9939609 (442). Additionally, a study in 1680 South Asians has shown a significant interaction of the risk allele 'T' of the TCF7L2 SNP rs12255372 with fat intake on high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) (261). Studies on GRS-diet interactions on obesity traits have mainly focused on European populations (384, 385, 443). In agreement with our study, data from UK Biobank (385) and two studies from the US (443) have reported significant interactions between the GRS and dietary intakes of total fat and SFA on WC; the GRS was associated with a higher WC among individuals with high intakes of total fat and SFA. However, the interactions on BMI were not identified in the present study, which contradicts the previously reported findings (385, 443). Hence, larger studies are required to replicate our GRS-fat intake interactions on WC in the Ghanaian population.

Several studies have investigated the impact of dietary fat on obesity measures; however, the findings have been inconsistent (444). For instance, prospective studies have examined the relationship between the intake of long-chain omega-3 (LC n-3)-PUFAs and adiposity, but

results have been inconsistent. A study in 124 adults living in the UK found that the plasma levels of n-3 PUFA were negatively associated with anthropometric measures of obesity (445), whereas positive associations were reported in a study of 79,839 women living in the US (446). However, no effect of n-3 LC-PUFA consumption on BMI was found in a 12 year follow-up US cohort of 43,671 men (447). In a randomised controlled trial (RCT) of 27 women, the intake of a 3 g/d of fish oil (1.8 g n-3 PUFAs) for 2 months was associated with adiposity reduction (448). Similar findings were reported in an RCT of 324 men and women from Iceland, Spain and Ireland, in which the intake of either lean fish $(3 \times 150 \text{ g portions of cod/week})$ or fatty fish $(3 \times 150 \text{ g portions of salmon/week})$, or fish oil (docosahexaenoic acid/eicosapentaenoic acid capsules) for 8 weeks were associated with weight loss in men (449). However, a 6 week RCT in 195 UK adults found no differences in the anthropometric measures between three intervention diets of specific fatty acid compositions of total energy intake (TEI) (%TEI SFA:%TEI MUFA:%TEI omega-6 PUFA): SFA-rich diet (17:11:4), MUFA-rich diet (9:19:4)or omega-6 PUFA-rich diet (9:13:10) (450). A meta-analysis of 534,906 European individuals revealed that the higher adherence to the Mediterranean diet, which is rich in MUFA, was associated with a beneficial effect on WC (451). However, a recent 4 week intervention found no significant effect of the intake of 50 g/day of olive oil, which is rich in MUFA, on BMI or central obesity in 91 UK adults (452). Conflicting evidence exists regarding the effects of dietary fat on obesity-related traits; this could be because of the genetic heterogeneity and the gene-diet interactions that vary across multiple ethnic groups (453); hence, the influence of both genetic and lifestyle factors should be considered in understanding the pathophysiology of obesity.

In 2018, the WHO recommended that the intake of total fat and SFA should not exceed 30% and 10% of TEI, respectively, to avoid weight gain (454). According to the WHO, the recommended range for PUFA for the general population is 6–11% of TEI (455). It has been

identified that the average consumption of SFA in Africa is between 8.9% and 12.5% TEI (North: 9.1%, Central: 12.2, Eastern: 10.7%, Southern: 8.9% and Western Africa: 12.5%; which is slightly higher than the \leq 10% TEI recommended by the WHO). The intake of PUFA is low in many sub-Saharan African countries, suggesting the infrequent use of vegetable oils for cooking or preparing foods (456). The extremely low intake of n-3 long chain PUFA was also identified in Africa, which is explained by the low availability of fish in sub-Saharan Africa countries (456). In the present study, the average consumption of total fat intake was 23.04 \pm 9.13% of TEI and the average consumption of SFA, MUFA and PUFA were 8.95 \pm 4.10, 9.86 \pm 3.65 and 4.99 \pm 1.61% of TEI, respectively, which are in accordance with general dietary recommendations. However, nearly one third of the study population had a high consumption of total fat (mean intake: 34.99 \pm 5.54 g/day), the group in which the GRS showed a significant association with a higher WC. Hence, our study suggests that following the general dietary recommendations might be an effective way to overcome the genetic susceptibility to central obesity.

The strengths of our study include the analysis of gene–lifestyle interactions in a well characterized Ghanaian population and the use of different metabolic GRSs to maximise statistical power and to reduce multiple testing (155, 156). Nevertheless, some limitations need to be acknowledged. First, our analysis included an only Ghanaian population, which limits the generalisability of our results to other population groups within Africa. Second, our metabolic GRSs were constructed based on BMI-associated loci predominantly identified in Europeans, which might not truly reflect the genetic associations with BMI among Africans. Third, the food intakes were assessed using repeated 24-hour dietary recall method, which is prone to reporting bias and this might have contributed to the discrepancy in the caloric consumption between overweight/obese and non-obese groups (457). Fourth, as with any cross-sectional study design, residual confounding might exist, despite adjustments for several confounding

factors. Fifth, our sample size was small; however, our study had sufficient statistical power to detect significant gene–diet interactions.

4.6 Conclusions

In conclusion, our study has shown that higher intakes of total fat, SFA, MUFA and PUFA can increase the genetic risk on WC in Ghanaian adults. We found that the effect of metabolic risk alleles on WC is stronger among individuals with higher intakes of total fat, SFA, MUFA, PUFA. These results give important insights into the complex interactions between dietary intake and the genetic predisposition to central obesity and highlight the importance of personalising dietary advice according to each ethnic group. Our GRS approach provides insights into cumulative genetic susceptibility; however, studies with a large sample size will be needed to confirm the findings before public health recommendations and personalized nutrition advice can be developed for the Ghanaian population.

Supplementary Materials: The supplementary materials are included at the end of this chapter. Table S1: Genotype distribution of the fifteen SNPs that were included in the metabolic GRS; Table S2: Characteristics of the study participants stratified based on sex; Table S3: Associations of the 12-SNP GRS with obesity-related traits; Table S4: Associations of the 8-SNP GRS with obesity-related traits; Table S5: Interactions between the 12-SNP GRS and lifestyle factors on obesity-related traits; Table S6: Interactions between the 8-SNP GRS and lifestyle factors on obesity-related traits; Table S7: Interactions between the 4-SNP GRS and sex on obesity-related traits.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, K.S.V.; methodology, K.S.V. and S.A.; software, S.A., D.A.N. and A.-M.B.; validation, D.A.N. and A.-M.B.; formal analysis, S.A. and K.D.; investigation, S.A., R.A.A.; resources, K.S.V., R.A.A. and B.E.; data

curation, K.S.V., S.A. and R.A.A.; writing—original draft preparation, S.A. and K.S.V.; writing—review and editing, K.S.V., S.A., D.A.N., J.A.L, R.A.A., and B.E.; supervision, K.S.V.; project training and administration, K.S.V., R.A.A, and B.E.; funding acquisition, K.S.V. and B.E. All authors have read, edited and approved the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by Research England Global Challenge Research Fund Institutional allocation (University of Reading and University of Chester).

Acknowledgments: We thank all the participants from the GONG study for their cooperation. Karani S Vimaleswaran acknowledges support from the Ministry of Higher Education of Saudi Arabia for the scholarship given to Ms. Sooad Alsulami.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

4.7 Supplementary materials

4.7.1	Table S1: Genotype distribution of the fifteen SNPs that were included in the
	metabolic-GRS.

			<i>a</i> ,	NT 1 (11		dbSNP*	
Gene	SNP	Genotype	Genotype	Nucleotide	MAF	frequency	HWE
			Frequency	change		in Africans	
TCF7L2	rs12255372	GG	117	G/T	T = 0.37	G=0.73	0.47
		TG	144			T=0.27	
		TT	37				
TCF7L2	rs7903146	CC	162	C/T	T = 0.27	C=0.74	0.42
		TC	111			T=0.26	
		TT	24				
MC4R	rs17782313	CC	19	C/T	C= 0.25	T=0.66	0.86
		TC	110			C=0.34	
		TT	168				
MC4R	rs2229616	GA	9	A/G	A= 0.02	G=0.99	0.79
		GG	290			A=0.01	
PPAR	rs1801282	CC	298	C/G	G=0	C=1	0.98
		GC	1			G=NONE	
FTO	rs9939609	AA	60	A/T	A=0.47	A=0.52	0.11
		ТА	163			T=0.48	
		TT	76				
FTO	rs10163409	AA	296	A/T	T=0	A=0.98	0.95
		ТА	2			T=0.02	
CDKN2B	rs10811661	СТ	18	C/T	C=0	T=0.98	0.59
		TT	280			C=0.02	
KCNQ1	rs2237895	AA	230	A/C	C=0.12	A=0.85	0.02
		CA	69			C=0.15	
KCNQ1	rs2237892	CC	203	C/T	T=0.16	C=0.9	0.09
		TC	90			T=0.1	
		TT	4				
ADIPOQ	rs266729	CC	248	C/G	G= 0.08	C=0.92	0.12
		GC	49			G=0.08	
ADIPOQ	rs17846866	TT	297	G/T	G=0.0	T=1	-
						G=0	
CAPN10	rs2975760	CC	1	C/T	C = 0.02	T=0.7	0.01
		TC	10			C=0.3	
		TT	281				
CAPN10	rs5030952	CC	57	C/T	C=0.44	T=0.53	0.90
		TC	145			C=0.47	
		TT	95				
CAPN10	rs3792267	AA	1	A/G	A=0.12	G=0.88	0.09
		GA	67			A=0.12	
		GG	227				

Abbreviations: SNP, Single nucleotide polymorphisms; GRS, Genetic risk score; MAF, Minor allele frequency; HWE, Hardy- Weinberg equilibrium; *TCF7L2*, Transcription factor 7-like 2; *MC4R*, Melanocortin 4 Receptor; *FTO*, Fat mass and obesity-associated; *ADIPOQ*, Adiponectin; *KCNQ1*, Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1; *CDKN2A/2B*, Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B; *CAPN10*, Calpain 10; *PPARG*, Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma. * dbSNP database: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/snp/</u>

	Total	Men	Women	
	(N=302)	(N=126)	(N=176)	P value *
Age (years)	38.17 ± 9.64	35.97 ± 9.02	39.74 ± 9.79	< 0.001
BMI (kg/m2)	26.63 ± 4.99	23.63 ± 3.12	28.79 ± 4.96	< 0.001
WC (cm)	88.48 ± 12.41	$81.75 \pm 10.05 \qquad \qquad 93.31 \pm 11.68$		< 0.001
WHR	1.45 ± 6.96	0.87 ± 0.09 1.86 ± 9.10		0.15
Visceral fat (%)	8.02 ± 7.39	7.99 ± 10.75	8.04 ± 3.36	0.96
Body fat (%)	33.12 ± 13.90	21.03 ± 11.53	41.78 ± 7.54	< 0.001
Total energy intake (%)	1647.93 ± 685.83	1915.18 ± 710.80	1456.61 ± 599.92	< 0.001
Protein intake (g/day)	53.24 ± 23.73	64.25 ± 25.10	45.36 ± 19.21	< 0.001
Total fat intake (g/day)	51.17 ± 26.94	58.20 ± 29.71	46.13 ± 23.60	0.001
Carbohydrates intake (g/day)	239.03 ± 95.84	279.36 ± 102.02	210.16 ± 79.73	< 0.001
Fibre intake (g/day)	21.31 ± 10.84	24.52 ± 11.93	19.00 ± 9.36	< 0.001
Total SFA intake (g/day)	16.23 ± 10.36	18.44 ± 11.96	14.66 ± 8.74	0.004
Total MUFA intake (g/day)	18.08 ± 10.49	20.62 ± 11.60	16.25 ± 9.22	0.002
Total PUFA intake (g/day)	9.12 ± 5.03	10.39 ± 5.57	8.21 ± 4.40	0.002

4.7.2 Table S2: Characteristics of the study participants stratified based on sex.

Data presented as means \pm standard deviations. *P values for the differences in the means between men and women were calculated using the independent t-test.

Abbreviations: BMI, Body mass index; WC, Waist circumference; WHR, Waist hip ratio, SFA, Saturated fatty acids; MUFA, Monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, Polyunsaturated fatty acids.

	GRS ≤ 4 risk alleles	GRS > 4 risk alleles	D 1 *	
	(N=149)	(N=135)	1 VALUE	
BMI (kg/m2)	26.82 ± 0.43	26.31 ± 0.40	0.74	
WC (cm)	89.04 ± 1.05	87.70 ± 1.02	0.29	
WHR	2.03 ± 0.81	0.88 ± 0.01	0.28	
Visceral fat (%)	8.16 ± 0.63	7.95 ± 0.65	0.65	
Body fat (%)	33.35 ± 1.19	32.91 ± 1.14	0.11	

4.7.3 Table S3: Associations of the12-SNP GRS with obesity-related traits.

Data are means ± standard errors. *P values obtained from linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: SNP, Single nucleotide polymorphism; GRS, Genetic risk score; BMI, Body mass index; WC, Waist circumference; WHR, Waist hip ratio.

	$GRS \le 4$ risk alleles	GRS > 4 risk alleles	P value*
	(N=159)	(N=127)	
BMI (kg/m2)	26.76 ± 0.41	26.28 ± 0.41	0.86
WC (cm)	89.02 ± 1.01	87.5 ± 1.06	0.67
WHR	1.96 ± 0.76	0.88 ± 0.01	0.31
Visceral fat (%)	8.1 ± 0.59	7.96 ± 0.69	0.66
Body fat (%)	33.19 ± 1.14	32.84 ± 1.18	0.07

4.7.4 Table S4: Associations of the 8-SNP GRS with obesity-related traits.

Data are means ± standard errors. *P values obtained from linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: SNP, Single nucleotide polymorphism; GRS, Genetic risk score; BMI, Body mass index; WC, Waist circumference; WHR, Waist hip ratio.

4.7.5 Table S5: Interactions between the 12-SNP GRS and lifestyle factors on obesityrelated traits.

	Protein (g/day)	Fat (g/day)	Carbohydrate (g/day)	Fibre (g/day)	Physical activity
BMI (kg/m2)	0.91	0.46	0.47	0.25	0.87
WC (cm)	0.13	0.98	0.14	0.06	0.43
WHR	0.99	0.77	0.74	0.49	0.02
Visceral fat (%)	0.96	0.62	0.66	0.75	0.54
Body fat (%)	0.22	0.89	0.09	0.11	0.50

Data are P values obtained from linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex, total energy intake and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: SNP, Single nucleotide polymorphism; GRS, Genetic risk score; BMI, Body mass index; WC, Waist circumference; WHR, Waist hip ratio.

	Protein	Fat	Carbohydrate	Fibre	Physical
	(g/day)	(g/day)	(g/day)	(g/day)	Activity
BMI (kg/m2)	0.93	0.47	0.56	0.25	0.48
WC (cm)	0.07	0.82	0.07	0.02	0.83
WHR	0.95	0.76	0.76	0.50	0.04
Visceral fat (%)	0.91	0.64	0.09	0.71	0.46
Body fat (%)	0.14	0.92	0.62	0.11	0.47

4.7.6 Table S6: Interactions between the 8-SNP GRS and lifestyle factors on obesity-related traits.

Data are P values obtained from linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex, total energy intake and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: SNP, Single nucleotide polymorphism; GRS, Genetic risk score; BMI, Body mass index; WC, Waist circumference; WHR, Waist hip ratio

4.7.7 Table S7: Interactions between the 4-SNP GRS and sex on obesity-related traits.

Interaction	P value*
4-SNP GRS*Sex interaction on BMI	0.13
4-SNP GRS*Sex interaction on WC	0.29
4-SNP GRS*Sex interaction on WHR	0.25
4-SNP GRS*Sex interaction on Visceral fat (%)	0.42
4-SNP GRS*Sex interaction on Body fat (%)	0.14

*P values obtained from linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables.

Abbreviations: SNP, Single nucleotide polymorphism; GRS, Genetic risk score; BMI, Body mass index; WC, Waist circumference; WHR, Waist hip ratio.

Chapter 5 Effect of dietary fat intake and genetic risk on glucose and insulinrelated traits in Brazilian young adults

The manuscript has been submitted to the Journal of Diabetes & Metabolic Disorders and I am currently responding to the reviewers' comments.

Sooad Alsulami, Nathália Teixeira Cruvinel, Nara Rubia da Silva, Ana Carolina Antoneli, Julie A Lovegrove, Maria Aderuza Horst, and Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran. Effect of dietary fat intake and genetic risk on glucose and insulin-related traits in Brazilian young adults. Journal of Diabetes & Metabolic Disorders. 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40200-021-00863-7

Sooad Alsulami's contribution: The dataset was reviewed and cleaned before executing the statistical analysis. Then, an analytical strategy was created and approved by the primary supervisor. The statistical analysis was performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) programme and the data was interpreted. A literature search was carried out for preparing the manuscript which was then revised based on the co-authors' comments. The journal's guidelines were followed for preparing the manuscript for submission.

5.1 Abstract

Purpose: The development of metabolic diseases such as type 2 diabetes (T2D) is closely linked to a complex interplay between genetic and dietary factors. The prevalence of abdominal obesity, hyperinsulinemia, dyslipidaemia, and high blood pressure among Brazilian adolescents is increasing and hence, early lifestyle interventions targeting these factors might be an effective strategy to prevent or slow the progression of T2D.

Methods: We aimed to assess the interaction between dietary and genetic factors on metabolic disease-related traits in 200 healthy Brazilian young adults. Dietary intake was assessed using 3-day food records. Ten metabolic disease-related single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) were used to construct a metabolic-genetic risk score (metabolic-GRS).

Results: We found significant interactions between the metabolic-GRS and total fat intake on fasting insulin level ($P_{interaction}=0.017$), insulin-glucose ratio ($P_{interaction}=0.010$) and HOMA-B ($P_{interaction}=0.002$), respectively, in addition to a borderline GRS-fat intake interaction on HOMA-IR ($P_{interaction}=0.051$). Within the high-fat intake category [37.98 ± 3.39% of total energy intake (TEI)], individuals with \geq 5 risk alleles had increased fasting insulin level (P=0.021), insulin-glucose ratio (P=0.010), HOMA-B (P=0.001) and HOMA-IR (P=0.053) than those with <5 risk alleles.

Conclusion: Our study has demonstrated a novel GRS-fat intake interaction in young Brazilian adults, where individuals with higher genetic risk and fat intake had increased glucose and insulin-related traits than those with lower genetic risk. Large intervention and follow-up studies with an objective assessment of dietary factors are needed to confirm our findings.

5.2 Introduction

Metabolic diseases, such as type 2 diabetes (T2D), have been recognised as a significant public health problem worldwide (6, 7), playing a critical role in medical impoverishment (8-11). T2D is a major contributor to morbidity and mortality and individuals with T2D have a five-fold increased risk of developing cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (458). The prevalence of diabetes has increased globally (over 463 million adults) (17) but at a faster rate in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) (459). In Brazil, the prevalence of T2D has increased by 24% between 2006 and 2019 (460) and an estimate of 65,581 deaths have been shown to be caused by diabetes among adults aged 35–80 years (461). It has been reported that the prevalence of prediabetes and T2D among Brazilian adolescents were 22.0% and 3.3%, respectively (269). Studies have also demonstrated the occurrence of cardiometabolic risk factors including abdominal obesity, high insulin levels, dyslipidaemia, and high blood pressure among Brazilian adolescents (269-271). Hence, early interventions targeting these factors might be an effective strategy to prevent or slow the progression of T2D and decrease the risk of CVD and associated premature mortality (17).

Much of the increase in the prevalence of metabolic diseases in Brazil is attributed to an epidemiological transition characterised by changes in Brazilian age structure, population ageing, reduced rates of infant mortality and fertility and increased low birth weight (462-466). Changes in the cultural and socioeconomic patterns, for instance, increasing urbanisation and economic improvement, have led to negative changes in lifestyle behaviours, including physical inactivity and unhealthy diet, in the Brazilian adolescent/ young adult population (272). A previous study has shown that the intake of saturated fatty acids (SFA) was higher in adolescents than adults in Brazil (273). Animal and human studies have demonstrated an association between increased dietary fat intake and increased insulin resistance (467-469). In addition, the dietary behaviours of Brazilian young adults have been shown to be characterised

by higher intakes of unhealthy foods than middle-aged and older adults, highlighting the need for age-specific public health interventions (274).

The development of metabolic diseases such as T2D is closely linked to a complex interplay between genetic and lifestyle factors, such as diet. Numerous genetic loci have been shown to be associated with T2D (89, 253-255) and related traits (85, 87) and, to date, 243 genetic loci have been identified to be associated with the risk of T2D in multiple ethnic groups (89, 253-255). Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have only a modest effect on disease risk, thus, generating a genetic risk score (GRS) combining several SNPs across the genome is necessary for increasing power to identify disease predisposition patterns of an individual (153). Evidence has suggested that the genetic risk of metabolic diseases can be modified by dietary intake (256-260). There are a few gene-diet interaction studies in Brazilians; however, the studies have focused only on cardiovascular disease related traits (470-472). To date, there are no GRS-diet interaction studies on metabolic traits in Brazilians. Hence, we aimed to investigate the interaction of 10 metabolic disease-related SNPs, as a GRS, with dietary intake on metabolic traits in 200 healthy Brazilian young adults.

5.3 Methodology

5.3.1 Study population

Obesity, Lifestyle and Diabetes in Brazil (BOLD) is a cross-sectional study of Brazilian healthy young adults aged 19–24 years recruited at the Federal University of Goiás (UFG) between March and June 2019. This study was conducted as part of the ongoing GeNuIne (gene-nutrient interactions) Collaboration, which aims to investigate the impact of genes and lifestyle factors on chronic diseases using data from multiple ethnic groups (221, 419). All participants completed baseline questionnaires regarding health status, demographics, and socioeconomic status. The study exclusion criteria included those who are 1) using lipid-lowering or

hypoglycemic drugs and mineral or vitamin supplements, 2) undergoing dietary interventions in the last 6 months, 3) having acute clinical conditions such as infection, inflammation, fever or diarrhoea, or confirmed diagnosis of chronic diseases such as diabetes mellitus, moderate/severe hypertension, cancer, rheumatoid arthritis and cardiovascular complications, 4) doing vigorous physical activity. In total, 416 individuals showed interest in participating in the study. However, 207 participants met the inclusion criteria and only 200 completed the study (Figure 9). Out of the 200 participants, only 194 had information on genetic and phenotypic measurements as DNA samples were not available for 6 participants. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Federal University of Goiás (protocol number 3.007.456, 08/11/2018), and performed according to the ethical principles in the Declaration of Helsinki. All participants gave written informed consent for study participation.



Figure 9: Flow chart showing the participant recruitment process in the BOLD study.

In total, 416 individuals were initially screened. After excluding participants based on the exclusion criteria, 207 were included in the study. However, only 200 completed the study. Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; HbA1c: glycated haemoglobin A1c; HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance; HOMA-B: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion; *TCF7L2* Transcription factor 7-like 2; *MC4R* melanocortin 4 Receptor; *PPARG* Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma; *FTO* fat mass and obesity-associated; *CDKN2A/2B* Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B; *KCNQ1* Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1 and *CAPN10* Calpain 10.

5.3.2 Anthropometric and biochemical measurements

Body weight, height and waist circumference (WC) were measured using standardized methods. The weighing was performed on a Tanita® portable electronic scale, with a maximum capacity of 150 Kg. For height, a stadiometer with a movable rod was used. WC was measured using an inelastic measuring tape. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters² and WC measurement was taken using a non-extensible measuring tape with partici-pants in light clothing (30). Body composition was performed by Dual Energy Radiological Absorptiometry (DXA), using the Lunar DPX NT model (General Electric Medical Systems Lunar®; Madison, USA).

Blood samples were collected by peripheral venous puncture in the morning after a 12-h fast and the volunteers were advised not to consume alcohol 72 hours before the blood collection. Samples were immediately processed after the collection at the Romulo Rocha Laboratory (Goiânia, Brazil). Fasting serum glucose and insulin were collected in BD Vacutainer® tube and determined by the enzymatic colorimetric method, with an automatic System Vitros Chemistry 950 XRL (Johnson & Johnson, New Brunswick, NJ, USA). Plasma glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) was collected in an ethylene-diamine-tetra-acetic acid (EDTA) tubes BD Vacutainer® and measured using high-pressure chromatography (HPLC-Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Plasma samples were obtained by centrifugation at 3500 rpm for ten minutes at 4°C. The homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) was used to assess the degree of insulin resistance (IR) (HOMA-IR) and β -cell function (HOMA-B). HOMA-IR and HOMA-B were calculated as follows: [fasting insulin levels (mU/l) × fasting glucose levels (mmol/l)/22.5] and [20 × fasting insulin levels)/(fasting glucose levels – 3.5], respectively (473).

5.3.3 Dietary Assessment

Food intake was assessed by trained nutritionists using non-consecutive 3-day food records, including a weekend day (474). Individuals were provided with measuring cups and spoons of different sizes to assist them in estimating portion size for each food. Foods consumed were converted into grams using the Avanutri Online® diet calculation software (Avanutri Informática Ltda, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil).

5.3.4 Genotyping

The blood samples (3ml each) were collected in an EDTA tubes BD Vacutainer® tubes and transported at a controlled temperature (- 80°C) by the World Courier Company to perform genotyping at LGC Genomics (<u>http://www</u>.lgcgroup.com/services/genotyping), employing the competitive allele-specific PCR-KASP® assay.

5.3.5 SNP selection and GRS calculation

We selected 12 SNPs that have shown associations with metabolic traits in multiple ethnic groups (85, 87, 89, 253-255). The detailed information of these SNPs is shown in Table S1.

Two SNPs were excluded from the current analysis, as the Calpain 10 (*CAPN10*) rs2975760 SNP was not in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) and the melanocortin 4 Receptor (*MC4R*) rs2229616 SNP had a minor allele frequency (MAF) of less than 1%. Unweighted metabolic-GRS was calculated by summing the number of risk alleles present in each individual. The GRS was generated from the following SNPs: rs12255372, rs7903146 of the Transcription factor 7-like 2 (*TCF7L2*) gene, rs17782313 of the *MC4R* gene, rs8050136 and rs10163409 of the fat mass and obesity-associated (*FTO*), rs2237892 and rs2237895 of the Potassium voltagegated channel subfamily Q member 1(*KCNQ1*) gene, rs10811661 of the Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B (*CDKN2A/2B*) gene, rs5030952 of the *CAPN10* gene, and rs1801282 of the Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (*PPARG*) gene. Genotypes were coded as 0, 1, or 2 according to the number of metabolic-associated risk alleles that are defined based on the literature. These values were then calculated by summing the number of risk alleles for each variant. The GRS was then categorised based on the median risk alleles into two categories: "GRS <5 risk alleles" and "GRS ≥5 risk alleles".

5.3.6 Statistical analysis

Descriptive characteristics of the study population stratified by sex were presented as means and standard deviation (SDs) for continuous variables and compared using an independent samples t-test. Variables were tested for normality using Shapiro-Wilk's W test and nonnormally distributed variables were log-transformed including BMI, WC, body fat mass percentage, HbA1c, fasting glucose, fasting insulin, HOMA-IR, HOMA-B, insulin to glucose ratio, total energy intake (TEI), carbohydrate %, protein %, SFA %, and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) %. We investigated the effects of metabolic-GRS on metabolic traits using general linear models. To test the interactions of the metabolic-GRS with dietary factors on metabolic traits, we included the interaction term (e.g., GRS*fat intake) in the models. The dietary factors investigated in our study included the total dietary intake of fat, protein, and carbohydrate (percentages of TEI). Significant interactions between the GRS and the total fat intake were analysed in more depth to determine the effect of fat subtypes including SFA, monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), and PUFA. The GRS-nutrient interactions that reached statistical significance (p<0.05) were tested for the effects of the GRSs on metabolic traits according to tertiles of dietary intakes (low, medium and high intake) using general linear models. All models were adjusted for age, sex and BMI (when BMI is not an outcome). Given that insulin levels are influenced by both the capacity for insulin secretion and IR (475, 476), analysis of HOMA-B was performed with and without adjustment for IR to improve the accuracy of pancreatic β -cell function estimate. All statistical tests were two-sided, and analyses were performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software (version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and the analysis plan is included as an appendix on Page 248.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Characteristics of the study participants

Table 11 summarises the characteristics of individuals in this study according to sex. Men had higher BMI, WC, fasting glucose, and lower fat mass % compared to women (P<0.05 for all). Men also reported higher intakes of total energy and protein than women (P<0.05 for all).

5.4.2 Associations between metabolic-GRS and metabolic traits

None of the associations between metabolic-GRS and metabolic-disease related traits was statistically significant except for the association with BMI (P=0.008) (Table 12).

	Total	Women	Men	
Parameters	(n = 200)	(n = 147)	(n = 53)	<i>p</i> -Value
Age (years)	21.35 ± 1.67	21.33 ± 1.70	21.40 ± 1.61	0.815
BMI (kg/m2)	23.35 ± 4.42	22.81 ± 3.97	24.86 ± 5.23	0.004
WC (cm)	74.55 ± 13.56	71.10 ± 12.05	84.13 ± 13.01	0.000
Body fat mass (%)	33.91 ± 10.72	37.17 ± 8.77	24.84 ± 10.48	0.000
HbA1c (%)	4.73 ± 0.25	4.71 ± 0.25	4.78 ± 0.26	0.103
Fasting serum glucose (mg/dL)	87.18 ± 6.84	86.43 ± 6.78	89.26 ± 6.60	0.009
Fasting serum insulin (uU/mL)	8.74 ± 3.80	8.69 ± 3.37	8.88 ± 4.82	0.784
HOMA-IR	1.89 ± 0.88	1.86 ± 0.76	1.98 ± 1.15	0.513
HOMA-B	138.32 ± 65.75	142.47 ± 65.65	126.81 ± 65.25	0.137
Insulin to glucose ratio	0.10 ± 0.04	0.10 ± 0.04	0.10 ± 0.05	0.944
Energy (Kcal/day)	1827.81 ± 597.94	1741.52 ± 558.82	2067.15 ± 641.91	0.001
Protein (energy %)	17.11 ± 3.63	16.74 ± 3.33	18.14 ± 4.24	0.016
Carbohydrate (energy %)	51.09 ± 7.11	51.11 ± 7.01	51.05 ± 7.44	0.961
Fat (energy %)	31.66 ± 5.83	32.12 ± 5.69	30.38 ± 6.08	0.061
SFA (%)	9.43 ± 5.43	9.54 ± 6.030	9.14 ± 3.25	0.652
PUFA (%)	5.13 ± 2.27	5.08 ± 2.38	5.26 ± 1.92	0.628
MUFA (%)	7.72 ± 2.63	7.55 ± 2.55	8.19 ± 2.79	0.129

Table 11: Characteristics of study participants.

_

Data presented as the mean ± SDs. *P* values for the differences in the means between men and women were calculated using the independent samples t-test. Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; HbA1c: glycated haemoglobin; HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance; HOMA-B: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion; SFA: saturated fatty acids; MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids.

Donomotors	GRS<5	GRS≥5	<i>p</i> -Value	
rarameters	(n=93)	(n=101)		
BMI (kg/m2)	23.90 ± 0.43	22.60 ± 0.43	0.008	
WC (cm)	75.53 ± 1.27	73.93 ± 1.26	0.967	
Body fat mass (%)	35.80 ± 1.05	31.91 ± 1.10	0.663	
HbA1c (%)	4.72 ± 0.03	4.73 ± 0.03	0.964	
Fasting glucose (mg/dL)	87.54 ± 0.68	86.74 ± 0.72	0.419	
Fasting insulin (uU/mL)	8.91 ± 0.43	8.52 ± 0.34	0.542	
HOMA-IR	1.93 ± 0.10	1.84 ± 0.08	0.663	
HOMA-B	138.76 ± 7.15	138.17 ± 6.32	0.234	
HOMA-B adjusted for HOMA-IR	138.76 ± 7.15	138.17 ± 6.32	0.235	
Insulin to glucose ratio	0.10 ± 0.00	0.10 ± 0.00	0.477	

Table 12: Associations of metabolic-GRS with metabolic traits.

Data are Mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). *P* values obtained from the linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: GRS: genetic risk score; BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; HbAIc: glycated haemoglobin; HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance; HOMA-B: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion.

5.4.3 Interactions of metabolic-GRS with dietary factors on metabolic traits

As shown in Table 13, there were statistically significant interactions between the metabolic-GRS and total fat intake (% of TEI) on fasting insulin level ($P_{interaction}=0.017$), insulin-glucose ratio ($P_{interaction}=0.010$) and HOMA-B ($P_{interaction}=0.002$) and a borderline interaction on HOMA-IR ($P_{interaction}=0.051$). Among those in the highest tertile of fat intake (37.98±3.39 % of TEI), individuals with \geq 5 risk alleles had higher fasting insulin level (P=0.021), insulin-glucose ratio (P=0.010), HOMA-B (P=0.001) and HOMA-IR (P=0.053), compared to those with <5

risk alleles (Figures 10 and 11). Interaction on HOMA-B was still significant after adjusting the analysis for HOMA-IR (P_{interaction}=0.016), Figure S1. We further examined interactions with fat subtypes on these traits. Significant interactions were detected between the metabolic-GRS and MUFA intake on fasting insulin (P_{interaction}=0.021), HOMA-IR (P_{interaction}=0.021) and insulin to glucose ratio (P_{interaction}=0.031), however, none of these interactions was statistically significant after tertile analysis. Significant interactions were also observed between the metabolic-GRS and intakes of total fat, PUFA and MUFA on percentage of body fat mass (P_{interaction}=0.009, 0.033 and 0.038, respectively).

	Protein Carl	Carbohydrate	Carbohydrate Fat	SFA (%)	PUFA	MUFA
	(%)	(%)	(%)		(%)	(%)
BMI (kg/m2)	0.255	0.120	0.922	-	-	-
WC (cm)	0.124	0.303	0.979	-	-	-
Body fat mass (%)	0.451	0.311	0.009	0.255	0.033	0.038
HbA1c (%)	0.955	0.653	0.632	-	-	-
Fasting glucose (mg/dL)	0.764	0.142	0.099	-	-	-
Fasting insulin (uU/mL)	0.898	0.37	0.017	0.233	0.809	0.021
HOMA-IR	0.944	0.561	0.051	0.357	0.837	0.021
HOMA-B	0.797	0.089	0.002	0.079	0.749	0.123
HOMA-B adjusted for HOMA-IR	0.784	0.084	0.016	0.131	0.806	0.952
Insulin to glucose ratio	0.895	0.274	0.010	0.154	0.801	0.031

 Table 13: Interactions of the metabolic-GRS with dietary factors on metabolic traits.

Data are P values of interaction which obtained from the linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: GRS: genetic risk score; BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; HbA1c: glycated haemoglobin; HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance; HOMA-B: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion; SFA: saturated fatty acids; MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids.



Figure 10: Interaction between the metabolic-GRS and fat intake (%) on fasting insulin levels and insulin: glucose ratio.

White bars indicate individuals with GRS <5 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with GRS \geq 5 risk alleles; Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Individuals with \geq 5 risk alleles had higher fasting insulin (a) and insulin to glucose ratio (b) compared to those with <5 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher total fat intake (37.98±3.39 % of TEI). Abbreviations: GRS: genetic risk score; TEI: total energy intake.





White bars indicate individuals with GRS <5 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with GRS ≥ 5 risk alleles; Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Individuals with

 \geq 5 risk alleles had higher HOMA-IR (a) and HOMA-B (b) compared to those with <5 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher total fat intake (37.98±3.39 % of TEI). Abbreviations: GRS: genetic risk score; TEI: total energy intake; HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance; HOMA-B: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion.

5.5 Discussion

The present study investigated the potential interplay between metabolic-GRS and dietary macronutrient intake on metabolic traits in a Brazilian young adult population. Our results provide evidence of significant GRS-fat intake interactions on glucose and insulin-related traits, where individuals with \geq 5 risk alleles had higher fasting insulin level, insulin-glucose ratio, HOMA-IR and HOMA-B than those with <5 risk alleles among those in the high fat intake group (37.98±3.39 % of TEI). These findings suggest that individuals with \geq 5 risk alleles are sensitive to dietary fat with respect to glucose and insulin-related traits and that these individuals may derive the most benefit from following the Brazilian dietary guidelines which aim at reducing fat intake to less than 30 % of TEI (477). This could have significant implication for public health in terms of providing early intervention to young adults with high genetic risk before the onset of disease, which might help halt the development of T2D.

In the present study, the metabolic-GRS was found to be associated with lower BMI, which contradicts the findings of the previous GRS-related studies in European populations (155, 156, 412, 413). However, the Brazilian population has a mixed genetic ancestry that originates from Europeans, Africans and Native Amerindians, which might explain the discrepancies between our findings and genetic association studies in Europeans (478). Furthermore, a large GWAS of 241,258 European adults showed that the risk allele T of *TCF7L2* rs7903146 was associated with lower BMI compared to the non-risk allele, which may provide a possible explanation of

our findings (479). Metabolic diseases are complex and multifactorial influenced by both environmental and genetic factors including dozens or even hundreds of genetic variants each contributing small effects on these traits (4, 78). Thus, the effect of unmeasured factors on BMI might influence the observed findings.

The present study found that, within the high-fat intake category, individuals with higher metabolic-GRS showed increased fasting insulin level, insulin-glucose ratio, HOMA-IR and HOMA-B, whereas those with lower GRS showed a reduction in these traits. Although direct comparison of our study with previous gene-diet interaction studies is difficult due to differences in the methodology related to the construction of GRSs and measurement of dietary intake, sample size, study design, and ethnicity, our findings are in agreement with some of the previous studies in other populations in which fat intake was found to interact with GRS on metabolic traits (256-258). In a recent study in 302 Ghanaian adults, a GRS of 4 metabolic-related variants was associated with higher WC among individuals with high fat intake (34.99±5.54 % TEI) (480). Data from an intervention study in 733 European adults also reported that higher total fat intake was associated SNPs and with decreased fasting glucose among individuals with lower GRS (256). Taken together, these observations suggest that individuals with higher genetic risk might benefit more from reducing fat intake in terms of lowering their metabolic risk.

Dietary guidelines have recommended to limit the dietary intake of total fat (between 15-30 % of TEI) to preserve overall health and reduce the risk of developing metabolic diseases (481). Previous studies have demonstrated that the higher intake of total fat contributes to the development of T2D by inducing IR (469, 482). Lowering total fat intake have been reported to improve glycemic control in a systematic review of clinical trials of diabetic individuals (483). Evidence from two previous intervention studies including individuals from various

ethnic groups (n= 3,234 and 522, respectively) and with long follow-up (2.8 and 3.2 years, respectively) have also shown that decreasing fat intake (from 6.6 ± 0.2 % of TEI and to <30 % of TEI, respectively) is effective in reducing the incidence of T2D by up to 58% (167, 168). In addition, dietary intervention in 48,835 postmenopausal women from the US showed that reducing total fat intake (by ~8% of TEI) and increasing carbohydrate intake (by ~ 8% of TEI) through increasing intake of vegetable/fruit (five servings per day) and grain (six servings per day) were associated with a reduction in glycemia and diabetes progression (484). The dietary intake of Brazilians is characterised by unfavourable fat profile with high intakes of SFA and trans fatty acids and imbalances in the omega-6:omega-3 ratio, being compatible with a high risk of metabolic diseases (273). In our study, the mean fat intake of the total sample (31.66±5.8 % of TEI) and the high fat intake group (37.98±3.39 % of TEI) (485).

The mechanisms by which dietary fat influences IR and β -cell function are unclear; however, several pathways are biologically plausible. IR is often mediated by increased inflammation that has been shown to be induced mostly by the effect of the fatty acids composition of the diet (486). In particular, SFA and omega-6 have pro-inflammatory effects, and omega-3 fatty acids have anti-inflammatory effects (486). Some of the molecular mechanisms of IR include the lipid-overload hypothesis in which ceramides or diacylglycerides are accumulated leading to the inhibition of insulin signalling and oxidative stress induced by excessive generation of free radicals or endoplasmic reticulum stress induced by excessive calorie intake (487-489). In addition to the insulin-related traits, there was also a significant interaction between GRS and intakes of total fat, PUFA and MUFA on the percentage of body fat mass in our study. Given that adipose tissue is a central metabolic organ that stores excess fat energy in the form of lipid and secretes proinflammatory adipokines that can also influence signalling of insulin, our finding is biologically plausible (490). It is worth observing the intake of SFA, PUFA and

MUFA which were significantly higher in the high fat intake category than low and medium intake groups; this might be one of the reasons for the observed interactions with total dietary fat intake. Evidence suggests that different types of dietary fat have differential effects on IR and insulin secretion. While a cross-sectional study in 538 Spanish individuals suggested that the intake of a MUFA-rich diet was associated with increased HOMA-B (491), a meta-analysis of randomised controlled feeding trials (n=4,220) demonstrated that PUFA intake showed the most consistent favourable effects in relation to improved glycaemia and insulin secretion capacity (190).

Several strengths are worth consideration. This study is the first to examine whether dietary factors interact with metabolic-GRSs on metabolic traits among the Brazilian young adult population. Early prediction of insulin sensitivity in young adults and effective intervention can be a critical factor in terms of delaying or preventing diabetes in normoglycemic individuals who are at risk of diabetes (492). Also, a GRS analysis approach was used, which has the advantage over single-locus approach (153). This approach is especially important for highly polygenic metabolic traits and can identify individuals at risk of metabolic diseases who might benefit from targeted interventions (153). Furthermore, the study outcomes (metabolic traits) were measured using validated methods by trained staff which improve the accuracy of these estimates. Nevertheless, some limitations need to be acknowledged. A major limitation is the small sample size, suggesting that our analysis might be underpowered. However, the use of the GRS approach is suggested to improve the power and significant gene-diet interactions were detected in our study. As with all observational studies, causality between exposure and outcome cannot be inferred and residual confounders might have existed. Given the longitudinal dimension of the development of T2D and the complexity of gene-diet interactions, our cross-sectional study design fails to determine the temporality of the observed findings. Given that dietary intake was assessed using self-reported measures, we cannot

exclude the effect of measurement bias. Another limitation is that the effect of different dietary sources of fat (including meat, dairy and plant) were not considered in the present analysis, which might have provided further explanations to our GRS-fat intake interactions (493). In addition, our GRS was constructed based on 10 SNPs, which account for only a small proportion of the metabolic disease-related genetic variants. As HOMA is a widely validated clinical and epidemiological tool for assessing IR and β -cell function (494), like many other epidemiological studies (256, 258, 482), we also used HOMA-IR and HOMA-B as proxies for IR and insulin secretion, respectively. However, these measures are calculated only using fasting insulin and glucose values which might provide different estimates compared to methods based on dynamic measurements of insulin and glucose responses or those derived from clamp experiments (495). Finally, given that the study was performed with relatively healthy overweight/obese young individuals with normal glucose tolerance who might have a quicker adaptation to changes in fat intake, the findings might not be applicable to those with impaired glucose metabolism or diabetes.

5.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, our study provides evidence of interactions between genetic predisposition and high fat intake on diabetes-related traits among Brazilian young adults. These findings encourage identifying Brazilian young adults with high genetic risk and tailoring dietary recommendations of fat intake according to their metabolic genetic risk profile for the primary prevention of adult-onset T2D. In addition, devising polygenic risk score could be used to provide more insights on understanding the pathophysiology of the genetics of diabetes. However, large interventional and follow up studies with a more comprehensive and objective assessment of environmental factors are needed in Brazilians to confirm our findings and to evaluate the clinical benefit of implementing precision dietary interventions based on an individual's underlying genetic risk of metabolic diseases.

Declarations

Funding: The study was funded by the Conselho Nacional das Fundações Estaduais de Amparo à Pesquisa (CONFAP)-UK Academies Researcher Mobility award.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Availability of data and material: The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author (KSV) upon reasonable request.

Code availability: Not applicable.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, K.S.V and M.A.H.; Methodology, K.S.V., M.A.H, and S.A.; Data Collection, N.T.C., N.R.S. and A.C.A.; Software, S.A.; Validation, M.A.H., K.S.V. and S.A.; Formal Analysis, M.A.H. and S.A.; Investigation, K.S.V and M.A.H..; Resources, M.A.H and K.S.V.; Data Curation, K.S.V and M.A.H.; Writing – Original Draft Preparation, S.A. and K.S.V.; Writing – Review & Editing, K.S.V. and S.A.; Supervision, K.S.V., M.A.H. and J.A.L.; Project Administration, K.S.V. and M.A.H.; Funding Acquisition, K.S.V. and M.A.H. All authors have read, edited, and approved the published version of the manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Ethical approval: The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Federal University of Goiás (protocol number 3.007.456, 08/11/2018).

Consent to participate: All participants gave written informed consent for study participation.

Consent for publication: All participants gave written informed consent for the publication of study findings.

Acknowledgments: We thank all the participants from the BOLD study for their cooperation. Karani S Vimaleswaran acknowledges support from the Ministry of Higher Education of Saudi Arabia for the scholarship given to Sooad Alsulami.

Supplementary Materials: The supplementary materials are included at the end of this chapter. Table S1: Genotype distribution of the twelve SNPs that were chosen for our study; Figure S1: Interaction between the metabolic-GRS and fat intake (%) on HOMA-B after adjustment of HOMA-IR.
5.7 Supplementary materials

5.7.1 Table S1. Genotype distribution of the twelve SNPs that were chosen for our study.

Gene name	SNP	Location of the SNP	Genoty	ре	Minor Allele	MAF	HWE
Transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2)			GG	85			
	rs12255372	Intron Variant	TG	92	Т	0.35	0.80
		variant	TT	23			
Transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2)		Intron Variant	CC	90	т		
	rs7903146		TC	87	1	0.33	0.78
		variant	TT	23			
		-	CC	6	C		
Melanocortin 4 Receptor (MC4R)	rs17782313		TC	55		0.17	0.84
			TT	139			
			AA	0			
Melanocortin 4 Receptor (MC4R)	rs2229616	Missense	GA	1	А	0.00	0.97
		v ariant	GG	199			
Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARG)	rs1801282		CC	170	G	0.08	0.25

		Missense	GC	30			
		v arrant	GG	0			
Fat mass and obesity-associated (FTO)			AA	30	Δ		
1 at mass and obesity-associated (110)	rs8050136	Intron Variant	CA	96		0.40	0.79
		v ariant	CC	71			
Fat mass and obesity-associated (FTO)		Intron	AA	117	_ T	0.25	
1 at mass and obesity-associated (110)	rs10163409		ТА	64			0.06
	Varia		TT 17				
Cyclin dependent kingse inhibitor $2A/2B$ (CDKN2B)			CC	4	С	0.13	0.76
Cyclin dependent kinase minottor 2A/2B (CDKIV2B)	rs10811661	-	СТ	45			
			TT	151			
			AA	85			
Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member (KCNQ1)	rs2237895	Intron Variant	CA	91	С	0.34	0.86
		Variant	CC	23			
			CC	160			
Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member (KCNQ1)	rs2237892	Intron Variant	TC	35	Т	0.11	0.08
		variant	TT	5			
			CC	15			
Calpain 10 (CAPN10)	rs2975760	Intron Variant	TC	31	С	0.15	<0.0001
			TT	154			

			CC	128			
Calpain 10 (CAPN10)	rs5030952	-	TC	66	т		0.47
			TT	6	1	0.20	0.47

Abbreviations: SNP, single nucleotide polymorphisms; GRS, genetic risk score; MAF, minor allele frequency; HWE, Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium; *TCF7L2*, Transcription factor 7-like 2; *MC4R*, melanocortin 4 Receptor; *PPARG*, Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma; *FTO*, fat mass and obesity-associated; *CDKN2A/2B*, Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B; *KCNQ1*, Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1; *CAPN10*, Calpain 10.



5.7.2 Figure S1. Interaction between the metabolic-GRS and fat intake (%) on HOMA-B after adjustment of HOMA-IR.

White bars indicate individuals with GRS <5 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with GRS \geq 5 risk alleles; Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Individuals with \geq 5 risk alleles had higher HOMA-B compared to those with<5 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher total fat intake (37.98±3.39 % of TEI). Abbreviations: GRS: genetic risk score; TEI: total energy intake; HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance; HOMA-B: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion.

Chapter 6 Lower dietary intake of plant protein is associated with genetic risk of diabetes-related traits in urban Asian Indian adults.

Sooad Alsulami, Dhanasekaran Bodhini, Nagarajan Lakshmipriya, Coimbatore Subramanian Shanthi Rani, Vasudevan Sudha, Rajendra Pradeepa, Ranjit Mohan Anjana, Julie A. Lovegrove, Viswanathan Mohan, Venkatesan Radha, Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran. Lower Dietary Intake of Plant Protein Is Associated with Genetic Risk of Diabetes-Related Traits in Urban Asian Indian Adults. Nutrients. 2021;13(9). 10.3390/nu13093064

Sooad Alsulami's contribution: Before running the statistical analysis, the dataset was cleaned and the analysis plan was developed for the study. Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software (version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used to conduct the statistical analysis. The data was interpret and the first draft of the paper was written. The paper was revised according to co-authors' comments and suggestions. The manuscript was formatted based on the journal's guidelines before the paper was submitted to the journal.

6.1 Abstract

Background: The increasing prevalence of type 2 diabetes among South Asians is caused by a complex interplay between environmental and genetic factors.

Ami: We aimed to examine the impact of dietary and genetic factors on metabolic traits in 1,062 Asian Indians.

Methods: Dietary assessment was performed using a validated semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire. Seven single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) from the Transcription factor 7-like 2 and fat mass and obesity-associated genes were used to construct two metabolic genetic risk scores (GRS): 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRSs.

Results: Both 7-SNP GRS and 3-SNP GRS were associated with a higher risk of T2D (P = 0.0000134 and 0.008, respectively), The 3-SNP GRS was associated with higher waist circumference (P = 0.010), fasting plasma glucose (FPG) (P = 0.002) and glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) (P = 0.000066). There were significant interactions between 3-SNP GRS and protein intake (% of total energy intake) on FPG ($P_{interaction}=0.011$) and HbA1c ($P_{interaction}=0.007$), where among individuals with lower plant protein intake (<39 g/day) and those with >1 risk allele had higher FPG (P = 0.001) and HbA1c (P = 0.000066) than individuals with ≤ 1 risk allele.

Conclusion: Our findings suggest that lower plant protein intake may be a contributor to the increased ethnic susceptibility to diabetes described in Asian Indians. Randomized clinical trials with increased plant protein in the diets of this population are needed to see whether the reduction of diabetes risk occurs in individuals with prediabetes.

6.2 Introduction

South Asian populations have a 50% higher risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D) than other populations (275, 276) and this has significant implications, as patients with T2D have a 2–4 times increased risk of cardiovascular diseases (275). The Asian Indian population have a unique phenotype characterised by abdominal and truncal adiposity, as indicated by larger waist to hip ratios and waist circumference (WC) and, higher concentrations of plasma insulin, greater insulin resistance, impaired function of pancreatic β -cell, and a genetic susceptibility to diabetes which ultimately leads to significantly increased diabetes risk (496-498). The burden of T2D is increasing globally, with India being a major contributor to the worldwide burden (17). The number of diabetic individuals in India rose from 26.0 million in 1990 to 65.0 million in 2016 (277).

The increasing prevalence of T2D among Asian Indians is caused by a complex interplay between environmental and genetic factors including urbanization which plays a large role (261, 262, 499). Urbanization in India is associated with increased consumption of processed foods and dietary fats, decreased level of physical activity and increased mental stress, amplifying the effects of abdominal obesity and insulin resistance (497, 498, 500). Furthermore, the urban areas in India reported higher intake of protein from pulses and animal sources (including meat, fish, eggs and milk) than rural areas (501). Several large longitudinal studies showed that the intake of animal protein was significantly associated with the risk of T2D (180-182, 502, 503). In the context of rapid urbanisation and nutrition transition, interactions between Westernized diet, lifestyle and genetic factors have further escalated T2D prevalence in Asia (504, 505). In South Asians, several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have been associated with adiposity (364, 506-508), insulin resistance (509), pancreatic β -cell function (159, 506, 510), and T2D(511, 510, 508, 506, 364). The fat mass and obesityassociated (*FTO*) gene has been recognized as one of the strongest obesity-related genes. The *FTO* SNPs, rs1588413, rs9939609 and rs8050136, have been shown to increase obesity risk by 1.27, 1.15 and 2.06 times among Indians, respectively(364, 512).Studies have reported strong associations of the Transcription factor 7-like 2 (*TCF7L2*)SNPs, rs7903146 and rs12255372, with T2D risk in Asian Indians(75, 513, 514). To date, evidence has identified 243 genetic loci to be associated with T2D risk in South Asians, East Asians, Europeans, African Americans and Hispanics (89, 253-255). Single genetic variants have only a small to moderate effect on disease risk, thus, combining effects of several SNPs into a genetic risk score (GRS) is required for better detection of individuals with high risk of diabetes (153).

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have discovered large number of genetic variants associated with metabolic diseases and related traits; however, these SNPs describe only a small proportion of estimated heritability. Risk prediction of metabolic diseases is complicated by interactions between dietary and genetic factors which may partly explain the missing heritability of diseases (216). Investigating gene-diet interaction is important in understanding pathophysiology of metabolic diseases, which can lead to the development of 'personalised' nutrition focusing on tailoring dietary interventions according to individual genotypic makeup to prevent and treat metabolic diseases (247, 515). The effect of genetic factors on metabolic traits have been shown to be modified by dietary intake in several populations (256-260). However, studies investigating GRS-diet interaction in the Indian population are still sparse. To help fill this gap in knowledge, we assessed the combined effect of 7 genetic variants, as a GRS, on T2D and metabolic traits, and the extent to which dietary intake can influence these genetic associations among 1,062 urban Asian Indians.

6.3 Methods

6.3.1 Study participants

The present study included individuals from the urban area of the Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study (CURES) follow-up study, which is a cross-sectional epidemiological study performed on a representative sample of Chennai city (formerly Madras) in Southern India. The design and procedures of the CURES study have been explained in detail previously (516). In phase 1, a total of 26,001 adult subjects, of which 1,529 'self-reported' or 'known diabetic' individuals, were recruited using a method of systematic random sampling. In phase 2, diabetic individuals were invited to the study centre for further investigation, of whom 1,382 responded. In phase 3, every 10th individual of the total sample (n = 26,001 subjects), excluding individuals with self-reported diabetes, were screened using an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT). Individuals with fasting plasma glucose (FPG)<5.6 mmol/L (100mg/dL) and 2 hr plasma glucose value of 7.8 mmol/L (140mg/dL) were defined as having normal glucose tolerance (NGT) [46]. Those who had 2 hr plasma glucose value of 11.1 mmol/l (200 mg/dl) were categorised as 'newly detected diabetic subjects' (n = 222) (Figure S1). The total sample of present study is 1,062 individuals; the NGT individuals were chosen from Phase 3 (n = 496) and T2D individuals were chosen from Phase 2 and Phase 3 of the CURES (n = 566). The study was approved by the Madras Diabetes Research Foundation Institutional Ethics committee and written informed consent was obtained from all study participants.

6.3.2 Anthropometric and biochemical measurements

Anthropometric variables including WC, weight and height were measured using standardised methods. The body mass index (BMI) was calculated with the formula of weight (in kilograms) divided by the square of height (in meters), with obesity being defined as BMI \geq 25 according to World Health Organisation Asia Pacific Guidelines for Asians (517).

Biochemical tests were carried out using a Hitachi-912 Auto Analyzer (Hitachi, Mannheim, Germany), with kits provided by Roche Diagnostics (Mannheim). Glycated haemoglobin

(HbA1c) was measured using high-performance liquid chromatography on a Variant machine (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). FPG and serum insulin were measured using glucose oxidase-peroxidase and an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark), respectively.

6.3.3 Dietary assessments

Participants' habitual food intake over the previous year was measured using a validated semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) administered by an interviewer (518). The FFQ consists of 222 food items and individuals were asked to estimate the usual portion size and frequency (number of times per day, week, month or year/never) of food items listed in the FFQ. Participants were shown common household measures and photographic atlas of different sizes of fruits to help them in estimating portion sizes. The EpiNu® software was used to analyse the recorded data and estimate the intake of energy and macronutrients. The reported intake of various food groups was also estimated. The EpiNu software also provided the source of protein from various food groups. Animal protein intake was summed up using protein intake (g/day from FFQ) from animal food groups such as meat, poultry, fish, egg, and dairy products. Similarly, plant protein intake was estimated from food groups such as cereals, millets, pulses legumes, tubers, nuts, oilseeds, vegetables, and fruits. In addition, dairy protein was estimated separately using the dairy products such as milk products and fermented and unfermented milk.

6.3.4 SNP selection and GRS construction

A total of 7 metabolic disease-associated SNPs which have been extensively studied in various populations including Asian Indians were selected for the study (159, 364, 506-511, 513). The selected SNPsincluded*TCF7L2* SNPs, rs12255372and rs7903146, and *FTO* SNPs, rs8050136, rs918031, rs1588413, rs7193144 and rs1076023. Details regarding these SNPs are summarised

in Tables S1. Each SNP was coded with the expected number of metabolic diseases-associated risk alleles. Consistent with previous studies (257, 519, 520), we used an unweighted method to construct the GRSs by summing the number of risk alleles of each SNP for each participant. The seven SNPs were used to generate a 7-SNP GRS that ranges from 1 to 11 risk alleles. The GRS was divided into 2 categories according to the median number of risk alleles: "GRS<6 risk alleles" and "GRS≥6 risk alleles", indicating individuals with lower and higher risk alleles of the SNPs, respectively. In addition, we constructed a GRS of 3 SNPs (*FTO*SNP rs8050136 and *TCF7L2*SNPs rs12255372 and rs7903146) that have shown consistent associations with metabolic disease-related outcomes across various ethnicities including Asians (77, 102, 521, 522). The 3-SNP GRS ranges from 0 to 6 risk alleles and was divided into 2 categories according to the median number of risk alleles and was divided into 2 categories according to the median number of risk alleles and was divided into 2 categories according to the median number of risk alleles of risk alleles and was divided into 2 categories according to the median number of risk alleles: "GRS ≤1 risk allele" group and "GRS >1 risk allele" group, indicating individuals with lower and higher risk alleles of the SNPs, respectively.

6.3.5 Genotyping

The genotyping methodologies have been previously published (364, 514). The Phenolchloroform technique was used to extract DNA from whole blood. Genotyping was performed using restriction fragment length polymorphism and confirmed by direct sequencing in which duplicate samples (n = 200; 20%) were genotyped with 100% concordance, suggesting high genotyping accuracy.

6.3.6 Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics of continuous variables are provided as means with standard deviations (SDs) and compared between T2D and controls using an independent sample *t*-test. Normality tests were performed and variables with no-normal distribution were log-transformed. For each individual SNP, genotype counts were assessed for Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) using

a goodness-of-fit chi-square test. As shown in Table S1, all SNPs were in HWE (P > 0.092, for all comparisons). General linear models were utilised to analyse the main associations of the GRS with metabolic traits. Interactions of the GRS with dietary intake were investigated by including the interaction term (GRS*dietary intake) in the models. Furthermore, significant interactions with protein intake were analysed in more depth according to dietary sources of protein (animal and plant protein), where individuals were classified into two groups according to the sample median intake of plant (39g/day) and animal protein (19g/day): below and above median groups. Individuals who consumed below the median were categorised as those who had lower intakes of plant and animal protein, respectively, whereas individuals who consumed above the median were categorised as those who had higher intakes of plant and animal protein, respectively. Dietary intakes as percentage of total energy intake (TEI) included intake of protein, carbohydrate, and fat. Models were adjusted for sex, age, T2D, anti-diabetic medication, and BMI (when BMI is not an outcome). Furthermore, as part of the sensitivity analysis, we further adjusted for duration of diabetes, dairy protein intake, physical activity level, smoking, alcohol consumption, and fibre intake. Statistical analyses were carried out using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software (version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA), with a significance level of 0.05. The research analysis plan is included as an appendix on Page 251.

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Characteristics of study participants

As shown in Table 14, individuals with T2D were significantly older and had higher BMI, WC, HbA1c, FPG, insulin, compared to individuals with NGT (P<0.05 for all). Also, diabetic individuals had significantly higher intakes of total protein and carbohydrate, than individuals with NGT (P<0.05 for all).

	Total		NGT controls		T2D	cases	
							P value
	n		n		n		_
Sex							0.807
Men (%)	591	56	278	56	313	55	0.007
Women (%)	471	44	218	44	253	45	
Age (years)	1062	45 ± 12	496	38 ± 10	566	51 ± 11	1.160*10 ⁻⁷¹
BMI (kg/m2)	1061	24.6 ± 4.56	496	23.5 ± 4.64	565	25.5 ± 4.30	1.480*10 ⁻¹²
WC (cm)	1022	87 ± 12	479	83 ± 12	543	91 ± 10	5.692*10 ⁻³³
HBA1C (%)	1056	7.3 ± 2.4	492	5.6 ± 0.47	564	8.8 ± 2.4	$1.480*10^{-14}$
FPG (mg/dl)	1060	126 ± 64	495	85 ± 8	565	162 ± 69	1.392*10 ⁻¹²⁷
Fasting Insulin (µIU/ml)	699	9 ± 7	448	8 ± 6	251	12 ± 7	6.386*10 ⁻¹⁰¹
Energy (kcal/day)	1062	2536 ± 805	496	2685 ± 708	566	2406 ± 861	8.773*10-9
Protein (%)	1062	11 ± 1	496	11.27 ± 1.17	566	11.45 ± 1.23	0.014
Animal protein (g/day)	1062	22 ± 12	496	25 ± 13	566	19 ± 11	3.787*10 ⁻¹⁴
Plant protein (g/day)	1062	40 ± 14	496	42 ± 15	566	39 ± 13	0.006
Fat (%)	1062	23 ± 5	496	24 ± 5	566	23 ± 5	0.113
Carbohydrate (%)	1062	65 ± 6	496	64 ± 6	566	65 ± 6	0.003
Dietary fibre (g)	1062	32 ± 11	496	32 ± 10	566	31 ± 12	0.150
Total SFA (g)	1062	24 ± 10	496	27 ± 10	566	22 ± 10	2.295*10 ⁻¹²
Total MUFA (g)	1062	20 ± 8	496	21 ± 8	566	18 ± 8	3.943*10 ⁻⁹
Total PUFA (g)	1062	18 ± 10	496	19 ± 9	566	18 ± 10	0.184

Data presented as Mean±SD.* *P* values are for the mean differences between controls and T2D cases using an independent sample *t*-test. ** *P* values are from the Chi-squared test. Frequency of men and women between controls and cases was compared using a chi-square test. Abbreviations: NGT, normal glucose tolerance, T2D, type 2 diabetes; BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; SFA: saturated fatty acids; MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids.

6.4.2 Association between metabolic GRS and metabolic traits.

After adjusting for the potential confounders, there were no significant associations between the 7-SNP GRS and metabolic traits, Table 15.

In the 3-SNP GRS analysis, significant associations were found with WC (P = 0.010), FPG (P = 0.002) and HbA1c (P = 0.000066), where individuals with >1 risk allele had higher WC, FPG and HbA1c compared to individuals with ≤ 1 risk allele, Table 15. Both 7-SNP GRS and 3-SNP GRS were associated with a higher risk of T2D (P = 0.0000134 and 0.008, respectively), Table 16.

6.4.3 Interaction of 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRSs with dietary factors on metabolic traits.

As shown in Table 17, there were significant interactions between the 3-SNP GRS and total protein intake (% of TEI) on FPG ($P_{interaction}=0.011$) and HbA1c ($P_{interaction}=0.007$). Among individuals with lower intake of plant protein (<39 g/day), those with >1 risk allele had higher FPG (P = 0.001) and HbA1c (P = 0.00006) than individuals with ≤ 1 risk allele (Figure 12). Furthermore, among individuals with higher intake of animal protein (>19 g/day), those with >1 risk allele had higher FPG (P = 0.008) and HbA1c (P = 0.001) than individuals with ≤ 1 risk allele (Figure S2). None of the interactions were significant between the 7-SNP GRS and dietary intakes on metabolic traits except for the interactions between 7-SNP GRS and protein intake on HbA1c ($P_{interaction}=0.032$), and 7-SNP GRS and carbohydrate intake ($P_{interaction}=0.04$) on fasting insulin. However, these interactions were not significant after stratifying based on animal and plant protein.

	7-SN	NP GRS								
	n	GRS <6	n	GRS ≥6	P value	n	GRS ≤1	n	GRS >1	P value *
BMI (kg/m2)	526	24.5 ± 0.2	535	24.7 ± 0.2	0.572	645	24.7 ± 0.2	416	24.5 ± 0.2	0.572
WC (cm)	508	86.7 ± 0.5	514	87.4 ± 0.5	0.668	620	87.0 ± 0.47	402	88.0 ± 0.57	0.010
HBA1C (%)	524	7.1 ± 0.1	532	7.4 ± 0.1	0.935	640	7.0 ± 0.1	416	7.7 ± 0.1	0.000066
FPG (mg/dL)	526	119.9 ± 2.6	534	131.6 ± 2.9	0.181	644	120.0 ± 2.35	416	135.0 ± 3.39	0.002
Fasting insulin (µIU/ml)	373	9.5 ± 0.4	326	9.4 ± 0.3	0.767	419	10.0 ± 0.36	280	9.0 ± 0.33	0.171

Table 15: Associations of 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRS and with metabolic traits

Data are Mean ± stander error of the mean. * P values adjusted for sex, age, T2D, anti-diabetic medication and additionally for BMI, when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was carried out using log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: GRS: genetic risk score; BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin; FPG, fasting plasma glucose.

		95% CI f	or OR		
GRS	OR			P Value *	
		Lower	Upper		
7-SNP GRS	2.083	1.496	2.898	0.0000134	
3-SNP GRS	1.559	1.121	2.170	0.008	

Table 16: Association of 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRSs with T2D.

* *P* values were obtained from the logistic regression models adjusted for sex, age, anti-diabetic medication, and BMI. Abbreviations: GRS: genetic risk score; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; T2D, type 2 diabetes; OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; BMI, body mass index

		7	-SNP GRS	3-SNP GRS					
	Protein	Fat	Carbobydrate (% of	Protein	Fat	Carbohydrate			
	(% of TEI)	(% of TEI)	TEI)	(% of TEI)	(% of TEI)	(% of TEI)			
BMI (kg/m2)	0.176	0.388	0.195	0.36	0.653	0.805			
WC (cm)	0.852	0.786	0.892	0.638	0.958	0.914			
HBA1C (%)	0.032	0.629	0.618	0.007	0.677	0.756			
FPG (mg/dl)	0.249	0.489	0.507	0.011	0.367	0.231			
Fasting insulin (μIU/ml)	0.952	0.085	0.04	0.299	0.567	0.999			
T2D	0.956	0.214	0.152	0.764	0.508	0.365			

Table 17: Interactions of 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRSs with dietary factors on metabolic traits

Data are P_{interaction} values adjusted for sex, age, T2D, antidiabetic medications and additionally for BMI, when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was carried out using log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: GRS: genetic risk score; TEI, total energy intake; BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; T2D, type 2 diabetes.





Figure 12: Interaction between 3-SNP GRS and plant protein intake on fasting plasma glucose and glycated haemoglobin.

White bars refer to individuals with GRS ≤ 1 risk allele; the black bars refer to individuals with GRS>1 risk allele. (**a**) Individuals with>1 risk allele had a significantly higher FPG compared to those with ≤ 1 risk allele, among those with lower intake of plant protein (≤ 39 g/day) (P = 0.001). (**b**) Individuals with>1 risk allele had a significantly higher HbA1c compared to those with ≤ 1 risk allele, among those with lower intake of plant protein (≤ 39 g/day) (P = 0.0006). (**b**) Individuals with>1 risk allele had a significantly higher HbA1c compared to those with ≤ 1 risk allele, among those with lower intake of plant protein (≤ 39 g/day) (P = 0.00006). P values were adjusted for age, sex, T2D, BMI, anti-diabetic medication, total fat intake (%) and TEI. Abbreviations: GRS, genetic risk score; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin and TEI, total energy intake.

6.4.4 Sensitivity analyses

We subjected our regression results to a wide range of robustness checks. First, we adjusted for duration of diabetes, and the association of 3-SNP GRS with HbA1c and FPG (P = 0.010and 0.040, respectively) and the interaction of 3-SNP GRS with protein intake (%) ($P_{interaction}=0.025$ and 0.019 for HbA1c and FPG, respectively) were still significant. Second, we excluded individuals with diabetes, and this resulted in a small sample size of 496 NGTs. However, a significant association of 3-SNP GRS with HbA1c (P = 0.012) was still observed; but none of the interactions were statistically significant (P = 0.126 and 0.405 for HbA1c and FPG, respectively). Third, given the association between dietary fat intake and T2D traits, we adjusted for total dietary fat intake and found that the interaction of 3-SNP GRS with protein intake (%) ($P_{interaction}= 0.007$ and 0.009 for HbA1c and FPG, respectively) was still significant. Fourth, we tested for the interaction between 3-SNP GRS and dairy protein intake to see if the interactions with the animal protein intake were driven by the intake of dairy protein and we found that the interactions between 3-SNP GRS and dairy protein intake were not statistically significant ($P_{interaction}=0.439$ and 0.597 for HbA1c and FPG, respectively) suggesting that dairy protein intake is unlikely to confound the GRS-animal protein intake interaction on diabetes traits. Fifth, in addition to the aforementioned factors, we adjusted for other possible confounders such as physical activity level, smoking, alcohol consumption, and fibre intake and found that the interactions between the 3-SNP GRS and protein intake on HbA1c and FPG were still significant ($P_{interaction}$ = 0.009 and 0.008, on HbA1c and FPG respectively).

6.5 Discussion

The current research provides evidence for the GRS-protein intake interaction on T2D-related traits in an Asian Indians. We found that individuals with >1 risk allele had higher FPG and HbA1c levels than those with \leq 1risk allele among individuals with lower intake of plant protein (<39 g/day). Given that the prevalence of obesity, high FPG and T2D has increased in India from 1990 to 2016 (523), our findings are of importance in terms of public health. Our study suggests that increasing the intake of plant protein might be an effective strategy towards better management of blood glucose levels especially in Asian Indians with a higher genetic susceptibility for T2D.

In the present study, the 3-SNP-GRS was associated with higher WC, which is in accordance with the findings in 7,067 individuals from the Indian Migrant Study, where a combined risk score of 8 variants was observed to be nominally associated with higher WC (P=0.02) (524). The 3-SNP GRS was also associated with FPG and HbA1c, where individuals with higher GRS had higher FPG and HbA1c. Similarly, a large GWAS in 159,940 individuals of African, South Asian, East Asian and European ancestries identified 60 genetic variants influencing HbA1c (525), including SNPs located in the *FTO* and *TCF7L2* genes. An association of 8-SNP GRS with T2D was found in a case-control study of 5,148 Indians (including 1,808 individuals withT2D and 1,549 controls) from in and around Pune in western India (159). A case-control study of 3,357 Indian adults (including 2,486 individuals with T2D and 2,678 controls) also

found that individuals with a higher GRS, derived from 32 SNPs, were at a higher T2D risk compared to those with lower GRS (160). The EpiDREAM prospective cohort study (n=15,466 individuals) has shown that South Asians might have a greater genetic load for T2D than Latinos and Europeans (526). If our study findings are confirmed in larger cohorts, our 3-SNP GRS might serve as a diagnostic marker for investigating the cumulative effect of SNPs on diabetes-related traits and identifying Asian Indians with a high genetic risk of T2D.

Increasing evidence has shown that certain dietary factors might interact with genetic susceptibility in relation to the risk of diabetes and related traits (256-258, 260, 527). In our study, individuals with higher 3-SNP GRS had higher fasting glucose and HbA1c concentrations than individuals with lower GRS among individuals with low intake of plant protein. The results of the current analysis are in agreement with a recent study among Southeast Asian women (n=110) showing significant interactions between a 15-SNP GRS and total protein intake. The study found that consuming a low protein diet (13.51±1.18 % of TEI) was associated with lower WC and triacylglycerol concentrations, particularly in individuals with high genetic risk (527). Also, significant interactions of the FTO SNPs [rs8044769 (C>T), rs3751812 (G>T) and rs8050136 (A>C)] with protein intake on blood glucose were observed in 819 Polish adults, where high protein intake (>18 % of TEI) was associated with higher blood glucose in individuals with the TT genotype of rs8044769, CC genotype of rs8050136, and GG genotype of rs3751812 (528). However, the effect of protein sources was not analysed in the abovementioned studies, thus, direct comparison between these studies and our findings cannot be performed. In contrast to our study, a large prospective case-cohort study from 8 European countries (n=21,900) found no significant interactions between intake of protein and metabolic GRSs on T2D (529). Similarly, no interaction was found between protein intake and a 10-SNP GRS on T2D risk among 8,842 Korean adults (258). These discrepancies in the findings might be due to differences in ethnicity, dietary assessments, dietary patterns, relative proportions of different macronutrients, protein sources, sample sizes and GRS construction methods; hence, larger studies in multiple ethnic groups are needed to confirm the GRS-protein intake interactions.

Previous studies have examined the relationship between protein intake and T2D in South Indians. A cross-sectional study of 900 urban South Indians from Chennai demonstrated that individuals with known T2D had significantly higher protein intake (15.9%) than controls (14%) (530). Another study in Asian Indians from different parts of India reported similar findings, where diabetic individuals (n=385) had higher protein intake (14%) than controls (12%) (n=409) (531). A cohort including 146 Asian Indians living in San Francisco found that individuals were at increased T2D risk when the protein intake was high. The same study also reported that the intake of animal protein $(32\pm15 \text{ g/day})$ was more likely to be associated with diabetes risk (P=0.07) in comparison with the intake of vegetable protein $(38\pm8 \text{ g/day}; P=0.26)$ (532). Even though consuming diets high in protein have been one of the most popular strategies for losing weight and the management of overweight and obesity (177-179), the health impacts of diets high in protein on T2D are inconsistent. High animal protein intake, but not plant protein, showed significant association with a higher risk of T2D in 38,094 individuals (median intake of animal protein=62 g/day;10 years of a follow-up period) from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition-Netherlands (EPIC-NL) study (180), and in 37,309 women from the US (median intake of total meat in the highest quintiles=53.5 serving/day; 8.8 years of a follow-up period) from the Women's Health Study (181). Also, a large case-cohort study including 28,557 European individuals reported that high animal protein intake was associated with higher incidence of T2D (per 10 g: 1.05 [1.02–1.08], P_{trend} =0.001) over an average follow-up period of 12 years (502). Furthermore, the high intake of animal protein (5% increase in consumption of protein derived from meat and meat products) was shown to be associated with a 34% increased risk of T2D, whereas the intake of plant protein was shown to have a considerable protective effect in 1,190 elderly participants from the Mediterranean islands (503). A large study of 92,088 women and 40,722 men from the United States found that substituting 5% of energy intake from animal protein with plant protein was associated with a decrease in T2D risk by 23% (533). Also, a systematic review and meta-analysis of thirteen randomized controlled trials (n=280 middle-aged adults from Iran, Denmark, United States, Germany, Canada and Greece) found significant decreases in HbA1c, fasting insulin and fasting glucose in diets that substituted animal protein with plant protein at a median level of ~ 35% of total protein intake/day (534). Another systematic review and meta-analysis of eleven cohort studies, including individuals from the United States, Europe, Asia, Melbourne and Finland (52,637 cases among 483,174 individuals), showed that the intakes of total protein and animal protein increased T2D risk in both men and women, whereas plant protein intake decreased T2D risk in women (535). Previous cohort studies in the United States (90,239 women and 40,539 men) and in the Netherlands (6798 individuals), found that an association between the higher adherence to a plant-based diet and a lower risk of T2D (536, 537). In contrast, other prospective cohort studies (n=8,370-38,094 individuals) observed no significant associations (180, 538, 539). It is possible that the interactions between genetic factors and protein intake might be one of the reasons for the discrepancies in the effect of dietary protein intake on the risk of T2D and its related traits.

The dietary patterns across different parts of India have been significantly affected by urbanisation. Given that food availability and purchasing power are higher in urban than rural areas, diets of both residents tend to differ significantly (501, 540). Protein intake has been shown to be positively related to individuals' income, where the demand for animal protein increased with the disposable income (501). Higher protein intake has also been reported in urban areas in India, with the overall mean intake of protein being the highest in the high-income group (73.1 g/day) followed by the middle-income group (63.2 g/day), industrial

labourer (59.4 g/day), and low-income group (57.8 g/day) (541, 542). The present study included urban residents and the mean protein intake is 71.6±22.7g/day, which is higher than dietary protein recommendations for Asian Indians (55-60 g/day) (543). However, the mean protein intake is only 11% (percentage calories coming from the protein), which is similar to the previous large studies such as National Family Health and National Nutrition Monitoring Bureau surveys that were conducted in the Indian population (544, 545). A study in 6,907 adults from South India aged > 20 years showed that the consumption of pulses was lower in the rural compared to urban Indian adults (546) and a cross-sectional study including 56,742 men and 99,574 women aged 20-49 years also demonstrated that an inverse association between the daily or weekly legumes and presence of diabetes (547). A recent study in 1,033 Indian adults also showed that a significant decrease in the risk of T2D was observed among those having higher intakes of legumes and pulses (548). In the same population, a study in 2,042 individuals reported that pulses and legumes contributed only to 17.2% of the daily protein suggesting a reduced intake of plant protein (549). Hence, according to the findings from the previous studies and the GRS- plant protein intake interaction from the present study, increasing the intake of plant protein might be an effective strategy to arrest the rising epidemic of T2D among Indian adults.

The strength of this study include is the use of a representative sample of the urban Chennai population. Given that diabetes prevalence continues to be higher in urban residents compared to rural residents in India (276, 550, 551), understanding gene-diet interactions on T2D in urban areas would improve diabetes prevention strategies among urban Indians. Our study used unweighted GRSs to analyse the combined effect of several SNPs, which is an effective approach to study polygenic diseases such as T2D and obesity, providing a better knowledge of disease risk compared to a single-SNP analysis (153). A comprehensive and validated semi-quantitative FFQ was used for analysing dietary intakes (518). Furthermore, anthropometric

outcomes were assessed by qualified staff rather than self-reported to improve the accuracy of anthropometric measurements. However, the study has several limitations. First, the study has a small sample size suggesting that we might have had insufficient power for our analysis. To maximise power, we used a GRS approach, which has an advantage over single-SNP analysis, and significant associations and interactions were found. Second, the observational nature of the study design cannot explain causal relationships or exclude residual confounding; however, sensitivity analyses were carried out where adjustment for additional confounding factors such as diabetes duration, total fat intake, physical activity level, anti-diabetic medication, alcohol consumption, smoking and fibre intake was performed. Third, dietary intake was assessed using self-reported FFQ, which might have introduced recall and measurement bias. Finally, SNPs contributing to our GRSs represent only a small proportion of the increasing number of identified metabolic disease-associated variants in Asian Indians; however, we have chosen SNPs in *TCF7L2* and *FTO* genes that have presented the most consistent and strongest associations with T2D and obesity, respectively in several populations (80, 253).

6.6 Conclusion

In summary, the current study has found a novel GRS-protein intake interaction where individuals with >1 risk allele and lower intake of plant protein (<39 g/day) had higher FPG and HbA1c levels. This suggests that increasing the intake of plant protein may be an effective approach to overcome the genetic risk of diabetes in urban Asian Indians and to prove this hypothesis appropriate randomized clinical trials with diets of higher and lower plant protein intake need to be done. Moreover, there is a need for studies with larger sample sizes to confirm gene-diet interactions. Ultimately there is a need for the assessment of the clinical benefit of targeted interventions based on individuals' underlying genetic risk.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at, Table S1: Genotype distribution of the seven SNPs that were chosen for our study (n = 1,062). Figure S1: Methodology of the Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study (CURES). Figure S2: Interaction between 3-SNP GRS and animal protein intake (%) on fasting plasma glucose and glycated haemoglobin after adjusting for anti-diabetic medication.

Acknowledgments: We thank all the participants from the CURES study for their cooperation. The Chennai Wellingdon Corporate Foundation supported the CURES field studies, and this is the 160th paper from CURES (CURES-160). Karani S Vimaleswaran acknowledges support from the Ministry of Higher Education of Saudi Arabia for the scholarship given to Sooad Alsulami.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, K.S.V.; Methodology, K.S.V., V.S., R.G., and S.A.; Software, S.A., and R.G.; Validation, K.S.V. and S.A.; Formal Analysis, S.A.; Investigation, D.B.; Resources, V.S., R.P. and J.A.L; Data Curation, V.S., R.P. and D.B.; Writing – Original Draft Preparation, S.A. and K.S.V.; Writing – Review & Editing, S.A., R.G., C.S.S.R., V.S., R.M.A, R.P., J.A.L, V.M., V.R., and K.S.V; Visualization, V.M., and K.S.V.; Supervision, V.M., V.R., J.A.L., and K.S.V.; Project Administration, V.M., V.R., and K.S.V.; Funding Acquisition, V.M., V.R., and K.S.V. All authors have read, edited, and approved the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: NA

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

6.7 Supplementary materials

6.7.1 Table S1. Genotype distribution of the seven SNPs that were chosen for our study (n= 1,062)

Gene	SNP	MAF among NGT Controls	MAF among T2D cases	MAF in the present study	dbSNP MAF for SA	HWE
TCF7L2	rs12255372	0.20	0.21	T= 0.21	0.22	0.36
TCF7L2	rs7903146	0.30	0.33	T= 0.31	0.30	0.12
FTO	rs8050136	0.06	0.13	A=0.10	0.29	0.35
FTO	rs918031	0.49	0.48	C= 0.49	0.48	0.09
FTO	rs1588413	0.25	0.32	T=0.29	0.26	0.15
FTO	rs11076023	0.49	0.45	T=0.47	0.36	0.48
FTO	rs7193144	0.13	0.12	T = 0.12	0.29	0.16

Abbreviations: SNP single nucleotide polymorphisms; dbSNP single nucleotide polymorphism database; MAF minor allele frequency; T2D type 2 diabetes; SA South Asians; HWE Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium; *TCF7L2* Transcription factor 7-like 2; *FTO* fat mass and obesity-associated.



6.7.2 Figure S1: Methodology of the Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study (CURES)



6.7.3 Figure S2: Interaction between 3-SNP GRS and animal protein intake (%) on fasting plasma glucose and glycated haemoglobin after adjusting for antidiabetic medications.

White bars indicate individuals with GRS ≤ 1 risk allele; the black bars indicate individuals with GRS >1 risk allele. (a) Individuals with>1 risk allele had a significantly higher FPG compared to those with ≤ 1 risk allele, among those with higher intake of animal protein (>19 g/day) (P=0.008). (b) Individuals with>1 risk allele had a significantly higher HbA1c compared to those with ≤ 1 risk allele, among those with higher intake of animal protein (>19 g/day) (P=0.001). P values were adjusted for age, sex, T2D, BMI, antidiabetic medications, total fat intake (%) and TEI. Abbreviations: GRS, genetic risk score; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin and TEI, total energy intake.

Chapter 7 Discussion and conclusion

7.1 Discussion

The science of nutrigenetics explores gene-diet interactions in relation to individuals' variation in health and disease states, including type 2 diabetes (T2D), obesity and cardiovascular diseases (CVD), to offer personalised dietary advice according to the individual's genetic susceptibility. Personalised nutrition might be a promising approach for preventing or treating cardiometabolic diseases (5). The findings from this thesis contribute to the science of nutrigenetics by demonstrating the occurrence of genetic heterogeneity in genediet interactions on cardiometabolic diseases and their related traits across different ethnic groups.

Studies investigating gene-diet interactions on cardiometabolic diseases have reported inconsistent findings. This can be explained by genetic heterogeneity and small sample sizes, limiting the ability of these studies to offer personalised nutrition for each ethnic group (222, 419). Gene-diet interactions have been investigated extensively in developed countries. In contrast, nutrigenetic studies are scarce in developing countries due to limitation in several factors including funding, infrastructure and expertise (222, 419). In this thesis, a genetic approach was used to analyse the association between cardiometabolic disease-related single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and cardiometabolic traits in various ethnic groups. In addition, a nutrigenetic approach was used to investigate the interaction between these SNPs and lifestyle factors including physical activity and dietary intake of proteins, carbohydrates and fats on cardiometabolic traits in five different ethnic groups.

Given that the genetic make-up differs between populations, this thesis included individuals from different ethnic groups [Turkish adults, Indonesian women, Ghanaian adults, Brazilian young adults and South Asian Indian adults and elderly] to examine gene-lifestyle interactions, which will allow us to tailor dietary guidelines based on each ethnicity. This project included five studies: three cross-sectional cohort studies [The Minangkabau Indonesia Study on Nutrition and Genetics (MINANG study; Indonesian women; n=110), The Genetics of Obesity and Nutrition in Ghana (GONG study; Ghanaian adults; n= 302) and The Study of Cholesterol, Obesity, Lifestyle and Diabetes (BOLD study; Brazilian young adults; n= 200)] and two case-control studies [study of obesity in Turkish adults (n= 400) and study of diabetes in Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiological Study (CURES; Asian Indian, n=1062)]. Statistical analysis was performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software (version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Both logistic and general linear models were used for association and interaction analyses. Models were adjusted for age, sex, body mass index (BMI), T2D, residential area, total energy intake (TEI) wherever appropriate. Findings from this thesis are summarised below.

7.2 *FTO* gene–lifestyle interactions on serum adiponectin concentrations and central obesity in a Turkish population

Obesity is a significant global public health problem. In 2017, 64.4% and 28.8% of the Turkish population were overweight and obese, respectively (264). Obesity is caused by complex interactions between lifestyle and genetic factors (263), with the fat mass and obesity-associated (*FTO*) gene being one of the strongest obesity genes (**76**). Investigating these interactions would provide better approaches for obesity management. There were no previous nutrigenetic studies among the Turkish population. Thus, our study aimed to investigate the associations of two *FTO* SNPs (rs9939609 and rs101634090) with obesity and related traits, including BMI, waist circumference (WC), fat mass index (FMI) and adiponectin level), and to assess whether lifestyle factors modify these association in 400 Turkish adults (aged 24-50 years). A genetic risk score (GRS) was developed using both *FTO* SNPs.

In agreement with previous studies (76, 268, 287, 288, 314, 552, 553), we found that the FTO SNP rs9939609 and GRS were both associated with BMI and FMI. Similarly, the FTO SNP rs1421085, which is in linkage disequilibrium (LD) with the SNP rs9939609, showed a significant association with higher BMI in a previous study among Turkish adults (289). In the present study, significant interactions were also detected between SNP rs9939609 and physical activity on adiponectin concentrations, and SNP rs10163409 and dietary protein intake on the risk of increased WC. A study including Turkish adults (n=200) showed that homozygous individuals of the risk allele 'A' of the FTO SNP rs9939609 had significantly higher BMI than those with the genotype 'TT, among those with low physical activity level (320). Our study (n=400) detected a similar interaction, but on concentrations of adiponectin (which is a biochemical measure of obesity), rather than BMI. We found that individuals with the allele "A" of the SNP rs9939609 had significantly lower adiponectin concentrations than individuals with the "TT" genotype among those with the lowest physical activity level. Adiponectin is a protein hormone generated by adipose tissue and has antiatherogenic, antiinflammatory, antihyperglycemic and cardioprotective effects (321-323). A strong correlation between dysregulation of adipokine production and the onset of metabolic abnormalities such as CVD and cancer has been reported (324, 325, 554). A positive correlation was also reported between physical activity and adiponectin concentrations (326, 327), where an increased level of physical activity was associated with reduced body adiposity which increases the production of adiponectin and decreases glucose, leptin and insulin production (555). Indeed, adiponectin levels are inversely associated with glucose, BMI, insulin, IR and the levels of triglyceride and visceral adiposity (329). It has been found that levels of adiponectin were significantly increased in response to a weight-loss intervention among 400 obese European women (330).

Furthermore, our study has shown that the higher intake of protein (mean \pm SD: 138 \pm 38 g/day) was associated with higher central obesity risk in individuals with the "T" allele of

the SNP rs10163409 than individuals with the "AA" genotype. The Turkish population has a sedentary lifestyle (264) and has undergone a nutrition transition in which dietary intake has changed because of changes in food accessibility, globalisation and lifestyle (556). It has been estimated that protein intake per capita has increased by 10.6% (between the period 1961 and 2011) (556). Given these environmental changes along with the increase in obesity prevalence in Turkey, our findings might contribute to the implementation of successful public health policies aimed at preventing and managing central obesity in this population.

7.3 Interaction between the genetic risk score and dietary protein intake on cardiometabolic traits in Southeast Asians

Cardiometabolic diseases are a significant cause of morbidity, mortality and health care spending especially in low-middle income countries (LMICs) (169). In Indonesia, non-communicable diseases (NCDs) contributed to 73% of all death rate, with CVD accounting for 35%, cancers (12%) and diabetes (6%) (265). These diseases are complex traits influenced by several SNPs, as well as lifestyle factors, emphasising the importance of investigating gene-lifestyle interactions (5). Thus, our study aimed to examine the association of a novel GRS constructed from 15 SNPs with cardiometabolic traits and examined whether these associations were modified by lifestyle factors such as dietary intake and physical activity in 110 Minangkabau women (aged 25–60 years) from Padang, Indonesia. The Minangkabau ethnic group is a matrilineal society mostly living in West Sumatra, where the prevalence of obesity, hypertension, and low concentration of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) is higher than 50% (337). Previous studies have demonstrated that Minangkabau community has an increased risk of dyslipidaemia (338), high prevalence of central obesity (340), as well as the highest concentrations of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) and total plasma cholesterol than other larger ethnic groups (Buginese, Sundanese and Javanese) (339).

The selected SNPs were rs3792267 and rs5030952 located in Calpain 10 (*CAPN10*) gene; rs9939609, rs10163409 and rs8050136 located in *FTO* gene; rs17782313 and rs2229616 located in melanocortin4 Receptor (*MC4R*) gene; rs12255372 and rs7903146 located in transcription factor 7-like 2 (*TCF7L2*) gene; rs2237895 and rs2237892 located in potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Qmember 1 (*KCNQ1*) gene; rs10811661 located in cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B (*CDKN2A/2B*) gene; rs1801282 located in peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARG) gene; and rs266729 and rs17846866 located in adiponectin (*ADIPOQ*) gene.

This study identified an association of the GRS with BMI as well as the FTO SNP rs10163409 interaction with protein intake on WC which was also observed in our Turkish study. In the present study, the GRS was significantly associated with BMI, where individuals with > 5 risk alleles had higher BMI than those with ≤ 5 risk alleles, suggesting that having a higher GRS is a strong risk factor for higher BMI. Also, significant interactions were detected between the GRS and protein intake on WC and triglyceride concentrations, where women with > 5 risk alleles had significantly lower WC and triglyceride concentrations than those with \leq 5 risk alleles among those with a lower intake of protein (13.51 \pm 1.18% of TEI). The mean protein intake of our sample was 77 ± 37 g/day, which is higher than the recommended dietary protein daily allowance of 57–59 g/day for Indonesian women (371, 372). Our study indicates that consuming a diet low in protein $(13.51 \pm 1.18\% \text{ of TEI})$, particularly in individuals with higher genetic risk, may be an effective strategy for preventing cardiometabolic disease in Southeast Asian women. These findings are important in terms of public health, considering the high prevalence of central and common obesity in Minangkabau women (340) A previous study including European individuals (n= 42,702) has reported a significant association between central obesity and a higher risk of mortality even in individuals with normal weight (35). This is of great concern in Asians, where elevated levels of visceral adiposity levels are present even in individuals with normal BMIs (367-369). The combination of increased triglyceride concentrations along with elevated WC has been termed as the 'hypertriacylglycerolaemic waist' phenotype (370). Evidence has shown that this phenotype is associated with a higher risk of IR, visceral adiposity and CVD (370). Thus, targeting 'hypertriacylglycerolaemic waist' phenotype might have major public health implications in relation to decreasing mortality rate caused by cardiometabolic diseases in Asian populations.

7.4 Interaction between Metabolic Genetic Risk Score and Dietary Fatty Acid Intake on Central Obesity in a Ghanaian Population.

Obesity is a multifactorial condition caused by a complex interplay between genetic and lifestyle factors. It has reported that overweight or obesity account for nearly 43% of Ghanaian adults (266). The majority of gene–lifestyle interaction studies have been performed in European ancestry populations, and the replication of these nutrigenetic studies in Africans is uncertain (267, 268). Thus, we aimed to examine the associations of different GRSs with obesity-related traits and to investigate the effect of physical activity and dietary intake on these associations among 302 healthy Ghanaian adults.

Three metabolic GRSs were calculated including the 12-, 8- and the 4-SNP GRSs. The 12-SNP GRS included the following SNPs: *ADIPOQ* (rs266729), *KCNQ1* (rs2237892), *TCF7L2* (rs12255372, rs7903146), *MC4R* (rs2229616, rs17782313), *CDKN2A/2B* (rs10811661), *CAPN10* (rs5030952, rs3792267), *FTO* (rs10163409, rs9939609) and *PPARG* (rs1801282). No significant associations or interactions were observed with the 12-SNP GRS which could be explained by the fact that four of the SNPs had low minor allele frequency (MAF) of less than 5%; *MC4R* (rs2229616), *FTO* (rs10163409), *CDKN2B* (rs10811661) and *PPARG* (rs1801282). Hence, these four SNPs were excluded, and an 8-SNP GRS was constructed. In the 8-SNP GRS, no significant findings were detected which might be because
the GRS included 4 SNPs [*ADIPOQ* (rs266729), *KCNQ1* (rs2237892) and *CAPN10* (rs3792267, rs5030952)] that have not shown consistent associations with obesity and related traits in several ethnic groups (362, 422-426). Thus, these 4 SNPs were removed, and a 4-SNP GRS was calculated from [*TCF7L2* (rs12255372, rs7903146), *MC4R* (rs17782313) and *FTO* (rs9939609)] that have shown consistent associations with obesity across various populations.

Interestingly, associations between metabolic-GRSs and metabolic traits in other populations examined in this thesis (Turkey, Indonesia and India) were not found and this might be because individuals of African ancestry have decreased patterns of linkage disequilibrium, greater genetic variation and more diverse haplotype than other populations, limiting the replication of previously observed genetic associations (438). Gene-environment and gene-gene interactions as well as differences in sample sizes and GRS construction methods could also explain discrepancies between studies. In this Ghanaian study, the 4-SNP GRS showed significant interactions with dietary fat intakes on waist circumference (WC). Among Ghanaian adults with higher consumptions of total fat, saturated fatty acids (SFA), monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), individuals with ≤ 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC than those with <3 risk alleles. These findings are in agreement with previous studies in the UK (385) and the US (443) populations, reporting significant associations of GRSs with increased WC among individuals with high consumption of total fat and SFA on WC. Our findings are also consistent with previous evidence investigating interactions of a single gene locus with diet on obesity-related traits. For example, data from 2,163 and 28,449 individuals living in the US and Malmö, respectively, showed significant interactions between the FTO SNP rs9939609 and total fat consumption on BMI (240, 241). Furthermore, significant interactions of the FTO SNP rs9939609 with MUFAs (240) and SFAs (240, 298, 441) on BMI have been reported the US (n= 2,163 individuals), French (n=1,754 individuals) and Spanish (n=354 children and adolescents) populations. In addition, high MUFA consumption showed an association with lower weight loss among individuals with the risk allele 'A' of *FTO* rs9939609 (557). Also, a significant interaction between the risk allele 'T' of the *TCF7L2* SNP rs12255372 and fat consumption on HDL-C was reported in South Asians (n=1,680) (261).

Our study is the first of its kind in the Ghanaian population, suggesting that a higher intake of dietary fat might have the potential to raise the genetic risk of central obesity. These findings support the current dietary guideline of reducing the intakes of total fat and SFA, to decrease obesity risk, particularly in adults with a higher genetic predisposition to central obesity. Given the high intake of SFA and MUFA- rich foods in the Ghanaian population, our findings are of importance to public health (427).

7.5 Effect of dietary fat intake and genetic risk on glucose and insulin-related traits in Brazilian young adults

T2D prevalence has raised over the world (17), but at a faster rate in LMICs (459). In Brazil, 22.0% and 3.3% of adolescents have prediabetes and T2D, respectively (269). Studies have reported a high prevalence of cardiometabolic risk factors including dyslipidaemia, abdominal obesity and high blood pressure, high insulin levels, physical inactivity, and unhealthy diet among Brazilian adolescents (269-274). Thus, early interventions focusing on these risk factors would be an effective approach for slowing T2D progression and decreasing the risk of CVD (17). T2D pathogeneses involve complex interactions between genetic and dietary factors, however, no previous GRS-diet interaction studies have been performed in young Brazilian adults. Therefore, we aimed to examine the interaction between a metabolic 10-SNP GRS and dietary intake on metabolic traits among 200 healthy Brazilian young adults. The GRS was calculated from the following SNPs: rs12255372, rs7903146 of the Transcription factor 7-like 2 (*TCFTL2*) gene, rs17782313 of the melanocortin 4 Receptor (*MC4R*) gene, rs8050136 and rs10163409 of the fat mass and obesity-associated (*FTO*), rs2237892 and rs2237895 of the Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1(*KCNQ1*) gene, rs10811661of the Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B (*CDKN2A/2B*) gene, rs5030952 of the Calpain 10 (*CAPN10*) gene, and rs1801282 of the Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (*PPARG*) gene.

In contrast to the Turkish and Indonesian studies, the GRS was associated with lower BMI. The Brazilian population is characterised by a mixed genetic ancestry including Africans, Europeans and Native Amerindians and this may justify these discrepancies between studies (478). In the present study, significant interactions between the GRS and fat intake observed in the Ghanaian study was also replicated, however, on diabetes-related traits rather than WC. We found that individuals with ≥ 5 risk alleles had increased fasting insulin level, insulinglucose ratio, HOMA-B and HOMA-IR than those with <5 risk alleles among the high-fat intake category (37.98 \pm 3.39% of total energy intake (TEI)). The GRS-fat interactions observed in this study possibly reflects the dietary pattern of the Brazilian population that is characterised by a high intake of processed foods (273). Although it is difficult to directly compare our findings with previous nutrigenetic studies, because of differences in the study design, ethnicity, sample size, GRS construction and assessment of dietary intake, our study is consistent with previous research, reporting significant interactions between fat intake and GRS on metabolic traits (256-258). An intervention study (n=733 European adults) found that the higher total fat consumption was associated with higher fasting glucose among individuals with a higher 12-SNP GRS and with reduced fasting glucose in those with a lower 12-SNP GRS (256). Similar SNP-fat interactions were observed in studies using single-locus approach analysis (558-560).

Our study proposes that individuals with high genetic risk are sensitive to fat intake with respect to these traits and might obtain the greatest benefit from following the Brazilian dietary

guidelines aiming to reduce the intake of fat to less than 30 % of TEI (477). This might have important public health implications in terms of offering early dietary interventions to young adults in Brazil, particularly those with high genetic predisposition before the development of T2D.

7.6 Low dietary intake of plant protein is associated with genetic risk of diabetesrelated traits in urban Asian Indian adults.

South Asian ethnic population have a 50% higher risk of T2D than other ethnic groups (275, 276). India is a major contributor to the global increased prevalence of T2D (17), where the number of T2D cases increased from 26.0 million to 65.0 million between 1990 and 2016 (277). In India, urbanization plays a major role in T2D development as it is associated with a decreased level of physical activity and increased intake of processed foods and dietary fats (497, 498, 500). Furthermore, the consumption of protein from animal sources (including meat, fish, eggs and milk) and pulses in the Indian urban areas is higher in comparison with the rural areas (501). The intake of animal protein has been shown to be associated with increased T2D risk in several large longitudinal studies (180-182, 502, 503), where the intake of plant protein factors and urbanisation have further escalated the increasing T2D prevalence in South Asians (278, 279). However, studies examining interactions between GRS and nutrient intake among Indians are sparse. Thus, we investigated the joint effect of 7 SNPs on T2D and metabolic traits and interactions with dietary factors in 1,062 urban south Asian Indians.

In the present study, a 7-SNP GRS was created using the following SNPs: *TCF7L2* SNPs (rs7903146 and rs12255372) and *FTO* SNPs (1588413, rs8050136, 7193144, 918031 and 1076023). Additionally, we generated a GRS of only 3 variants (*TCF7L2* rs7903146 and

rs12255372 and *FTO* rs8050136) which have shown consistent associations with metabolic disease and related outcomes in several populations.

Unlike Turkish and Indonesian studies, no significant association between the GRSs and BMI was detected in this Indian study. Similar to the Turkish and Indonesian studies, this study observed significant GRS-protein interactions, however, on diabetes-related traits rather than on central obesity. We found significant associations of the 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRS with higher WC. Also, we detected significant associations between the 3-SNP GRS and higher fasting plasma glucose (FPG) and glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c), and these associations were modified by protein intake. We found that among individuals with low plant protein intake (<39g/day) and high animal protein intake (>19.27g/day), those with >1 risk allele had higher HbA1c (P=0.00005 and P=0.001, respectively) and FPG (P=0.0005 and P=0.008, respectively) than individuals with ≤ 1 risk allele. In agreement with our findings, a longitudinal study (10) years of a follow-up period) including 38,094 European individuals reported a significant association between the high intake of animal protein, but not plant protein, and increased T2D risk (median animal protein intake =62 g/day) (180). A similar association was reported in the Women's Health Study (n=37,309; 8.8 years of a follow-up period) (181). A large cohort (n=92,088 women and 40,722 men living in the United States (US)) found that replacing 5% of energy intake from animal protein with plant protein was associated with a reduction in T2D risk by 23% (533). Also, a systematic review and meta-analysis of thirteen randomized controlled trials including 280 individuals found significant reductions in HbA1c, fasting insulin and fasting glucose in diets that substituted animal protein with plant protein at a median level of ~ 35% of total protein intake/day (534). Another systematic review and meta-analysis of eleven cohort studies, including individuals from the US, Finland, Asia, Europe and Melbourne (52,637 cases among 483,174 individuals), found that the intakes of total protein and animal protein increased T2D risk in both men and women, whereas plant protein intake decreased T2D risk in women (535). Furthermore, the high intake of animal protein showed a significant association with higher T2D incidence (per 10 g: 1.05 [1.02-1.08], P_{trend} =0.001) in 28,557 European individuals followed for about 12 years (502). In contrast, no significant associations were found in other large prospective cohort studies (n=8,370-38,094 participants) (180, 538, 539), which could be explained by undetected gene-protein interactions.

Our findings further support the contribution of both *FTO* and *TCF7L2* SNPs in the development of T2D and central obesity and the modification of genetic associations with diabetes-related traits by high intake of protein in urban South Asian Indians. The present study also indicates that higher the intake of plant protein and lower the intake of animal protein are associated with lower diabetes genetic risk in urban Asian Indians. This might have significant public health implication in terms of reducing the high prevalence of obesity, high FPG and T2D in India (523), although requires confirmation in further larger cohorts or intervention studies.

7.7 General trends observed across various ethnic groups.

As shown in Table 18, macronutrient intake is different across the five ethnic groups included in this thesis, highlighting the need for investigating the effect of different dietary factors, as well as gene-diet interactions on cardiometabolic diseases in various populations. The percent of energy from fat was highest in the Turkish population ($38.29 \pm 8.08\%$) and lower in Ghanaian adults ($22.98 \pm 9.11\%$) and Indian adults ($23.42 \pm 4.73\%$) than other populations (Indonesian: $28.95 \pm 7.99\%$ and Brazilian young adults: $31.66 \pm 5.83\%$). The acceptable macronutrient distribution range (AMDR) for fat is 20-35\% of TEI (561). The Turkish population consumed fat above the AMDR, where the fat intake of all other groups was within the AMDR. Protein intake as a percentage of TEI was higher in Brazilian young adults ($17.11 \pm 3.63\%$) and Indonesian women ($16.93 \pm 3.32\%$) and lowest in Indian adults

(11.36 ± 1.21 %) than other populations (Turkish: 15. 58 ± 4.33 % and Ghanaian: 14.11 ± 4.14 %). Protein intake was within the AMDR (10-35%) in all the populations (561). The percent of energy from carbohydrate was higher in the Indian (64.62 ± 6.21 %) and Ghanaian populations (62.48 ± 9.70 %) and lowest in the Turkish population (45.92 ± 9.34 %) than other ethnic groups (Brazilian young adults: 51.09 ± 7.11 % and Indonesian adults: 53.97 ± 9.44 %). The carbohydrate intake of Turkish and Indian populations was very close to the lower and upper limits of the AMDR, respectively, where the intake of other populations was within the AMDR (45-65 %) (561).

Comparison of dietary intake across these five studies might have been affected by sampling methods. The Brazilian population included young adults (19-24 years), whereas the Indian population included adults and elderly participants (25-80 years). Indonesian, Turkish and Ghanaian populations included participants with age ranging between 25-60 years. It is worth noting that adopting new dietary patterns is more likely in younger populations than older populations; hence, to prevent adult onset diseases such as obesity and diabetes, providing dietary advice to the younger population might be an effective strategy. Further research looking at both urban and rural populations and controlling for confounding factors such as socioeconomic status is required (562).

As shown in Table **18**, the highest mean of BMI was observed in the Ghanaian population (26.63±4.99), whereas Brazilians reported the lowest mean (23.35 ± 4.42) and Turkish and Indonesians reported similar means of BMI (25.80 ± 4.22 and 25.13±4.20, respectively). Similar means of percentage of body fat mass were observed in Ghanaian (33.12±13.90) and Brazilian (33.91 ± 10.72) populations. Indians reported the highest means of fasting glucose (125.78 ± 63.95), and HbA1c (7.28 ± 2.4) compared to the other four populations. Given the heterogeneity that exists across these studies, generalizing these findings is difficult.

Table 18: Macronutrient Intakes, Anthropometric and biochemical parameters: AComparison of the Turkish, MINANG, GONG, BOLD and CURES studies.

		Indonesian	Ghanaian	Brazilian	Indian CURES
Parameters	Turkish study	MINANG study	GONG study	BOLD study	study
	(N=400)	(N=111)	(N=302)	(N= 200)	(N=1,062)
Total energy (Kcal/day)	2416.44 ± 1064.1	1776.24 ± 611.43	1647.93 ± 685.83	1827.81 ± 597.94	2536.01 ± 804.95
Fat (%)	38.29 ± 8.08	28.95 ± 7.99	22.98 ± 9.11	31.66 ± 5.83	23.42 ± 4.73
Protein (%)	15. 58 ± 4.33	16.93 ± 3.32	14.11 ± 4.14	17.11 ± 3.63	11.36 ± 1.21
Carbohydrate (%)	45.92 ± 9.34	53.97 ± 9.44	62.48 ± 9.70	51.09 ± 7.11	64.62 ± 6.21
BMI (kg/m2)	25.8 ± 4.22	25.13 ± 4.2	26.63 ± 4.99	23.35 ± 4.42	24.59 ± 4.56
WC	88.09 ± 11.61	83.85±10.27	88.48±12.41	74.55 ± 13.56	87.05 ± 11.55
Body fat mass (%)	N/A	N/A	33.12±13.90	33.91 ± 10.72	N/A
Fat Mass Index	6.92 ± 2.93	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
WHR	N/A	N/A	1.45±6.96	N/A	N/A
Visceral fat (%)	N/A	N/A	8.02±7.39	N/A	N/A
Plasma adiponectin (ng/ml)	10497.88 ± 6467.17	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
FPG (mg/dL)	N/A	92.53±20.67	N/A	87.18 ± 6.84	125.78 ± 63.95
HBA1C (%)	N/A	6.56 ± 6.02	N/A	4.73 ± 0.25	7.28 ± 2.4
Fasting insulin	N/A	32428.5±25706.13	N/A	8.74 ± 3.80	9.45 ± 6.68
(µIU/ml)					
HOMA-IR	N/A	N/A	N/A	1.89 ± 0.88	N/A
НОМА-В	N/A	N/A	N/A	138.32 ± 65.75	N/A
Insulin to glucose ratio	N/A	N/A	N/A	0.10 ± 0.04	N/A
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	N/A	98.8±43.47	N/A	N/A	N/A
Cholesterol (mg/dl)	N/A	209.31±44.02	N/A	N/A	N/A
HDL-C (mg/dl)	N/A	59.12±10.29	N/A	N/A	N/A
LDL-C (mg/dl)	N/A	128.12±39.85	N/A	N/A	N/A
SBP (mmHg)	N/A	113.37±9.07	N/A	N/A	N/A
DBP (mmHg)	N/A	77.44±6.39	N/A	N/A	N/A

Abbreviations: MINANG, Minangkabau Indonesia Study on Nutrition and Genetics; CURES Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study; GONG, Genetics of obesity and nutrition in Ghana; BOLD, Obesity, Lifestyle and Diabetes in Brazil; BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; WHR, waist hip ratio; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin; HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance, HOMA-B, homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion; HDL-C, high density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure.

Ethnic differences in metabolic traits were observed across the five populations included in this thesis, which could be driven by variations at several genetic loci (Table 19). The *TCF7L2* rs12255372 and rs7903146 SNPs are examples of genetic heterogeneity, where the frequency of minor allele 'T' of the SNP rs12255372 was 9% in the Indonesian population vs 35% in the Brazilian population, whereas Ghanaian individuals reported the highest MAF (37%) compared to other populations. The *FTO* SNP rs9939609 is one of the strongest BMI associated variants in several populations, demonstrating ethnic variations in this project. For example, the MAF of this variant in the Indonesian population was 23% in comparison to the Turkish population (39%). The Ghanaian population has reported the highest MAF (47%) for the SNP rs9939609 which is in line with previously reported values for the African population (*https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/projects/SNP/snp_ref.cgi?do_not_redirect&rs=rs9939609*).

MAFs of *MC4R* and *PPARG* SNPs were extremely low in all populations. Another example is *CDKN2A/B* SNP rs10811661 that was present in 33 % of the Indonesian population and absent in the Ghanaian population.

				Common		Rare	Minor		
		Major	Minor	Homozygotes	Heterozygotes	Homozygotes	allele		
Gene	rs number	allele	allele	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	frequency	HWE	Ethnicity
	rs12255372	G	Т	92 (82.9)	19 (17.1)		0.09	0.32	Indonesian
	rs12255372	G	Т	117 (38.7)	144 (47.7)	37 (12.3)	0.37	0.47	Ghanaian
	rs12255372	G	Т	85 (42.5)	92 (46)	23 (11.5)	0.35	0.80	Brazilian
TC E7I 2	rs12255372	G	Т	674 (63.5)	338 (31.8)	50 (4.7)	0.21	0.36	Indian
ICI/L2	rs7903146	С	Т	90 (45)	87 (43.5)	23 (11.5)	0.33	0.78	Brazilian
	rs7903146	С	Т	512 (48.2)	435 (41)	115 (10.8)	0.31	0.12	Indian
	rs7903146	С	Т	162 (53.6)	111 (36.8)	24 (7.9)	0.27	0.42	Ghanaian
	rs7903146	С	Т	91 (82)	20 (18)	-	0.09	0.30	Indonesian
	rs17782313	Т	С	168 (55.6)	110 (36.4)	19 (6.3)	0.25	0.86	Ghanaian
	rs17782313	Т	С	139 (69.5)	55 (27.5)	6 (3)	0.17	0.84	Brazilian
MC4R	rs17782313	Т	С	84 (75.7)	26 (23.4)	1 (0.9)	0.13	0.51	Indonesian
	rs2229616	G	А	290 (96)	9 (3)	-	0.02	0.79	Ghanaian
	rs2229616	G	А	199 (99.5)	1 (0.5)	-	0	0.97	Brazilian
	rs2229616	G	А	110 (99.1)	1 (0.9)	-	0	0.96	Indonesian
PPARG	rs1801282	С	G	298 (98.7)	1 (0.3)	-	0	0.98	Ghanaian
	rs1801282	С	G	170 (85)	30 (15)	-	0.08	0.25	Brazilian
	rs1801282	С	G	100 (90.1)	10 (9)	1 (0.9)	0.05	0.21	Indonesian
	rs9939609	Т	А	76 (25.2)	163 (54)	60 (19.9)	0.47	0.11	Ghanaian
	rs9939609	Т	А	66 (59.5)	38 (34.2)	7 (6.3)	0.23	0.63	Indonesian
FTO	rs9939609	Т	А	138 (34.5)	214 (53.5)	48 (12)	0.39	0.01	Turkish
	rs10163409	А	Т	296 (98)	2 (0.7)	-	0	0.95	Ghanaian
	rs10163409	А	Т	117 (58.5)	64 (32)	17 (8.5)	0.25	0.06	Brazilian
	rs10163409	А	Т	100 (90.1)	11 (9.9)	-	0.05	0.58	Indonesian
	rs8050136	С	А	866 (81.5)	183 (17.2)	13 (1.2)	0.1	0.35	Indian
	rs8050136	С	Α	66 (59.5)	38 (34.2)	7 (6.3)	0.23	0.63	Indonesian
	rs8050136	С	A	71 (35.5)	96 (48)	30 (15)	0.4	0.79	Brazilian
	918031	Т	C	267 (25.1)	558 (52.5)	237 (22.3)	0.49	0.09	Indian

Table 19: Frequencies of the SNPs: A Comparison of the Turkish, MINANG, GONG, BOLD and CURES studies

	1588413	С	Т	530 (49.9)	454 (42.7)	78 (7.3)	0.29	0.15	Indian
	11076023	Т	А	225 (21.2)	540 (50.8)	297 (28)	0.53	0.48	Indian
CDKN2A/B	rs10811661	Т	С	280 (92.7)	18 (6)	-	0	0.59	Ghanaian
	rs10811661	Т	С	151 (75.5)	45 (22.5)	4 (2)	0.13	0.76	Brazilian
	rs10811661	Т	С	47 (42.3)	55 (49.5)	9 (8.1)	0.33	0.20	Indonesian
	rs2237895	А	С	230 (76.2)	69 (22.8)	-	0.12	0.02	Ghanaian
	rs2237895	А	С	85 (42.5)	91 (45.5)	23 (11.5)	0.34	0.86	Brazilian
VCNOI	rs2237895	А	С	56 (50.5)	45 (40.5)	10 (9)	0.29	0.82	Indonesian
KCNQI	rs2237892	С	Т	203 (67.2)	90 (29.8)	4 (1.3)	0.16	0.09	Ghanaian
	rs2237892	С	Т	160 (80)	35 (17.5)	5 (2.5)	0.11	0.08	Brazilian
	rs2237892	С	Т	42 (37.8)	50 (45)	19 (17.1)	0.4	0.54	Indonesian
	rs266729	С	G	248 (48)	49 (42.7)	-	0.08	0.12	Ghanaian
	rs266729	С	G	44 (39.6)	54 (48.6)	13 (11.7)	0.36	0.56	Indonesian
KCNQ1 ADIPOQ CAPN10	rs17846866	Т	G	297 (98.3)	-	-	0	-	Ghanaian
	rs17846866	Т	G	103 (92.8)	8 (7.2)	-	0.04	0.69	Indonesian
CAPN10	rs2975760	Т	С	281 (93)	10 (3.3)	1 (0.3)	0.02	0.01	Ghanaian
	rs2975760	Т	С	154 (77)	31 (15.5)	15 (7.5)	0.15	< 0.0001	Brazilian
	rs5030952	Т	С	95 (31.5)	145 (48)	57 (18.9)	0.44	0.90	Ghanaian
	rs5030952	С	Т	73 (65.8)	31 (27.9)	7 (6.3)	0.2	0.15	Indonesian
	rs5030952	G	А	227 (75.2)	67 (22.2)	1 (0.3)	0.12	0.09	Ghanaian
	rs3792267	G	Α	101 (91)	9 (8.1)	1 (0.9)	0.05	0.14	Indonesian
	rs3792267			813 (76.6)	238 (22.4)	11 (1)	0.12	0.16	Indian

Abbreviations: MINANG, Minangkabau Indonesia Study on Nutrition and Genetics; CURES Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study; GONG,

Genetics of obesity and nutrition in Ghana; BOLD, Obesity, Lifestyle and Diabetes in Brazil; SNP single nucleotide polymorphisms; MAF minor allele frequency; HWE Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium; *TCF7L2* Transcription factor 7-like 2; *MC4R* melanocortin 4 Receptor; *PPARG* Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma; *FTO* fat mass and obesity-associated; *CDKN2A/2B* Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B; *KCNQ1* Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1; *ADIPOQ*, adiponectin and *CAPN10* Calpain.

7.8 Limitations and strengths

There are some limitations that need to be considered. Some of the studies included in this thesis had relatively small sample sizes; suggesting that we may have had insufficient power for our analysis. However, we used a GRS approach to maximise power and significant associations and interactions were observed. Furthermore, a cross-sectional study design was employed by all 5 studies, limiting our ability to investigate the causal relationship between the GRS-lifestyle interactions on cardiometabolic diseases and related traits. Dietary intake and physical activity were assessed using self-reported measures which might introduce recall bias. Additionally, the effect of food source (plant and animal) on detected GRS-diet interactions was examined only in the CURES study, which might have led to a better understanding of these interactions. The impact of different fats (e.g., omega-6 and omega-3 PUFA), carbohydrates (eg sugars and starch) wasn't determined in any of the studies and these may have differential effects.

The main strengths of this thesis included the use of well-characterised populations and the construction of different GRSs using several genetic variants. This approach is especially important for polygenic traits and has an advantage over single-SNP analysis as it can increase statistical power and provide better identification of an individual's disease risk (153). The CURES and MINANG studies used validated food frequency questioners (FFQs) (352, 518) to measure the long-term macronutrient consumption of the population. Furthermore, study outcomes were measured by trained staff to ensure the accuracy of these measures. GRS-diet interactions on metabolic traits have not been previously analysed in healthy Turkish adults, Ghanaian adults, and Brazilian young adults, thus these studies were the first of their kind in these populations.

187

7.9 Future prospects

In this thesis, the effects of genetic variants on cardiometabolic traits were found to be influenced by lifestyle factors including physical activity and intakes of protein and fat. Replicating these gene-lifestyle interactions using longitudinal interventional studies with larger sample sizes is important before enforcing any public health recommendations. Mechanistic studies are also required to examine how SNPs interact with lifestyle factors in relation to disease risk. Isolating the macronutrient accountable for any nutrigenetic effects from a complex food matrix is difficult, as these nutrients usually compensate each other (563). Thus, conducting dietary trials is recommended as it can strongly emphasise individuals' compliance to a specific dietary exposure. Future studies should also investigate the modulation effect of micronutrients and food source on genetic associations with cardiometabolic traits; such evidence will have significant implications in terms of applying dietary recommendations in clinical settings. Future research should consider assessing anthropometric parameters using robust measures such as magnetic resonance imaging, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry, and/or computed tomography scans to assess body composition (29). It is also recommended to examine gene-lifestyle interaction in individuals at high risk of cardiometabolic diseases such as the elderly. Insights from this thesis encourage the use of personalised nutrition in preventing or treating cardiometabolic diseases, whereby genetic information can be used in predicting an individual's risk of cardiometabolic diseases and might be modified by an individual's dietary intake and physical activity.

Although gene-nutrient interactions have been investigated extensively in the population of the West, very few research studies have been performed in the LMICs and, hence, the Gene–Nutrient Interactions (GeNuIne) Collaboration has been established to focus on this missing gap in human nutrition in these countries and significant interactions on cardiometabolic diseases have been detected (220, 221). The field of nutrigenetics has been remarkably improved, however, little is known regarding cardiometabolic pathways of observed gene-nutrient interactions (564). Hence, there is a need for a science investigating connections between nutrient intake and genetic susceptibility (565). In the broadest context of studying gene-diet interactions, a new field termed "Nutrigenomics" has been identified (204). Both nutrigenetics and nutrigenomics can ultimately help in implementing personalised nutrition and revolutionising our ability in designing optimal nutrition recommendations based on an individual's characteristics for maintaining health and preventing cardiometabolic diseases (243). Currently, dietary recommendations are population-based in which 'one size fits all', showing limited success in terms of preventing or treating diet-related diseases due to several factors such as lack of adherence and motivation to dietary interventions (566). Considering genetic information when designing nutritional interventions has shown to promote better changes in dietary behaviours (564).

The field of 'Foodomics' has become an increasingly important tool, combining 'omics' technologies (i.e., transcriptomics, metabolomics and proteomics) to prevent diet-related diseases (567, 568). Foodomics has helped in understanding interindividual differences in response to dietary interventions, and in identifying interactions of dietary bioactive compounds at the cellular, molecular and biochemical levels (567, 569). For example, numerous studies have examined the effect of dietary polyphenols in controlling intracellular signalling and biochemical mechanisms in relation to cancer prevention (570, 571).

The majority of genetic association studies focusing on disease risk have been performed in European populations (78%), highlighting the need for recruiting more diverse populations (572). The under-representation of diverse ethnic groups in genomic studies in humans can limit our ability of translating these studies into clinical practice. Studying ethnically diverse populations is challenging in many settings, and this might be due to mistrust in the biomedical study originated from previous exploitation experiences (572). Obtaining reliable phenotype information is important for generating quality genetic associations, emphasising the need for adequate facilities and personnel. In many low middle-income countries that are characterised by great diversity, investment in professional training and infrastructure is primarily required (572).

In summary, improvement in the field of nutrigenetics offers a promising future in terms of implementing personalised nutrition for preventing or treating dietary-related cardiometabolic diseases. However, there is a continuous need for investigating gene-diet interactions in diverse ethnic groups using well-powered interventions with larger sample sizes.

7.10 Conclusion

In conclusion, my research has identified novel interactions between metabolic-GRSs and dietary intakes of protein and fat on central obesity indicators in the Indonesian and Ghanaian populations, respectively. There was also a significant interaction between the *FTO* SNP rs10163409 and protein intake on the risk of central obesity in the Turkish population. Furthermore, metabolic-GRSs showed significant interactions with intakes of protein and fat on T2D-related traits among Indian and Brazilian populations, respectively. High metabolic-GRSs were associated with higher BMI in both Turkish and Indonesian populations, where it was associated with lower BMI in Brazilian young adults. Similarly, having higher GRS was associated with higher WC in Turkish and Indian Individuals. Given that reducing fat intake to less than 30% of TEI and consuming a safe amount of dietary protein are recommended by the WHO for improving health and preventing cardiometabolic diseases (481), the gene-nutrient interaction findings identified in this thesis can have significant public health implications. Interestingly, gene-protein interactions on cardiometabolic traits were similar in the Turkish, Indonesian and Indian populations, where GRS-fat intake interactions on metabolic traits were similar in both Ghanaian and Brazilian individuals. In summary, this thesis contributes to a better understanding of the complex interplay between genetic and lifestyle factors in the variation of cardiometabolic metabolic traits across multiple ethnic groups (**Figure 13**).

Randomised control trials with larger sample sizes of different ethnicities and more precise and objective measures of lifestyle factors are needed to replicate our findings. Furthermore, prospective genotyping should be considered in future studies to avoid an imbalance in the frequency of genotype between groups, which might confound the findings. This thesis investigated only a limited number of the increasingly identified metabolicassociated SNPs, thus there is a need to utilise a comprehensive panel of genetic variants to construct the GRS.

To conclude, this thesis has demonstrated significant GRS-nutrient interactions on cardiometabolic traits. However, these interactions need to be replicated in larger independent cohorts. Functional studies are also required to understand the molecular aspects of these interactions before applying personalised dietary strategies to prevent or treat cardiometabolic diseases.



Figure 13: The main findings of the thesis.

Abbreviations: GeNuIne, Gene–Nutrient Interactions; MINANG, Minangkabau Indonesia Study on Nutrition and Genetics; CURES Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study; GONG, Genetics of Obesity and Nutrition in Ghana; BOLD, Obesity, Lifestyle and Diabetes in Brazil; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; GRS, genetic risk score; BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; FMI, fat mass index; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance and HOMA-B, homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion.

References

1. World Health Organization. World health statistics 2020: monitoring health for the SDGs, sustainable development goals 2020 [Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/332070/9789240005105-

eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

2. Brunzell JD, Davidson M, Furberg CD, Goldberg RB, Howard BV, Stein JH, et al. Lipoprotein management in patients with cardiometabolic risk: consensus conference report from the American Diabetes Association and the American College of Cardiology Foundation. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2008;51(15):1512-24.

3. Vimaleswaran KS, Loos RJ. Progress in the genetics of common obesity and type 2 diabetes. Expert reviews in molecular medicine. 2010;12:e7.

4. Franks PW, McCarthy MI. Exposing the exposures responsible for type 2 diabetes and obesity. Science. 2016;354(6308):69-73.

5. Barrea L, Annunziata G, Bordoni L, Muscogiuri G, Colao A, Savastano S. Nutrigenetics-personalized nutrition in obesity and cardiovascular diseases. International journal of obesity supplements. 2020;10(1):1-13.

6. Horton R. Offline: Time to radically rethink non-communicable diseases. Lancet (London, England). 2019;393(10184):1922.

7. Nugent R, Fottrell E. Non-communicable diseases and climate change: linked global emergencies. Lancet (London, England). 2019;394(10199):622-3.

8. Ghebreyesus TA. Acting on NCDs: counting the cost. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391(10134):1973-4.

9. Jaspers L, Colpani V, Chaker L, van der Lee SJ, Muka T, Imo D, et al. The global impact of non-communicable diseases on households and impoverishment: a systematic review. European journal of epidemiology. 2015;30(3):163-88.

10. Niessen LW, Mohan D, Akuoku JK, Mirelman AJ, Ahmed S, Koehlmoos TP, et al. Tackling socioeconomic inequalities and non-communicable diseases in low-income and middle-income countries under the Sustainable Development agenda. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391(10134):2036-46.

11. Nugent R, Bertram MY, Jan S, Niessen LW, Sassi F, Jamison DT, et al. Investing in non-communicable disease prevention and management to advance the Sustainable Development Goals. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391(10134):2029-35.

12. Heller O, Somerville C, Suggs LS, Lachat S, Piper J, Aya Pastrana N, et al. The process of prioritization of non-communicable diseases in the global health policy arena. Health policy and planning. 2019;34(5):370-83.

13. NCD Countdown 2030: worldwide trends in non-communicable disease mortality and progress towards Sustainable Development Goal target 3.4. Lancet (London, England). 2018;392(10152):1072-88.

14. Ezzati M, Pearson-Stuttard J, Bennett JE, Mathers CD. Acting on non-communicable diseases in low- and middle-income tropical countries. Nature. 2018;559(7715):507-16.

15. Roth GA, Johnson C, Abajobir A, Abd-Allah F, Abera SF, Abyu G, et al. Global, Regional, and National Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases for 10 Causes, 1990 to 2015. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2017;70(1):1-25.

16. Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4.4 million participants. Lancet (London, England). 2016;387(10027):1513-30.

17. IDF. Diabetes Atlas 9th edition 2019 [Available from: https://www.diabetesatlas.org/en/.

18. World Health Organization, International Diabetes Federation. Definition and

diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycemia : report of a

WHO/IDFconsultation.2006[Availablefrom:https://www.who.int/diabetes/publications/Definition%20and%20diagnosis%20of%20diabetes_new.pdf.

19. Bentzon JF, Otsuka F, Virmani R, Falk E. Mechanisms of plaque formation and rupture. Circulation research. 2014;114(12):1852-66.

20. World Health Organization. World health statistics 2018: monitoring health for the SDGs, sustainable development goals 2018 [Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272596.

21. Mullarkey CJ, Edelstein D, Brownlee M. Free radical generation by early glycation products: a mechanism for accelerated atherogenesis in diabetes. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 1990;173(3):932-9.

22. Qin X, Goldfine A, Krumrei N, Grubissich L, Acosta J, Chorev M, et al. Glycation inactivation of the complement regulatory protein CD59: a possible role in the pathogenesis of the vascular complications of human diabetes. Diabetes. 2004;53(10):2653-61.

23. Baumgartner-Parzer SM, Wagner L, Pettermann M, Grillari J, Gessl A, Waldhäusl W. High-glucose--triggered apoptosis in cultured endothelial cells. Diabetes. 1995;44(11):1323-7.

24. Eckel RH, Kahn R, Robertson RM, Rizza RA. Preventing cardiovascular disease and diabetes: a call to action from the American Diabetes Association and the American Heart Association. Diabetes care. 2006;29(7):1697-9.

25. Kahn R, Buse J, Ferrannini E, Stern M. The metabolic syndrome: time for a critical appraisal: joint statement from the American Diabetes Association and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes. Diabetes care. 2005;28(9):2289-304.

26. Kahn R. Metabolic syndrome: is it a syndrome? Does it matter? Circulation. 2007;115(13):1806-10; discussion 11.

27.World Health Organization. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic2000[Availablefrom:

https://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/obesity/WHO_TRS_894/en/.

28. Després JP. Health consequences of visceral obesity. Annals of medicine. 2001;33(8):534-41.

29. Willett WC, Dietz WH, Colditz GA. Guidelines for healthy weight. The New England journal of medicine. 1999;341(6):427-34.

30. World Health Organization. Waist circumference and waist–hip ratio Report of a WHO expert consultation 2011 [Available from: https://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/obesity/WHO report_waistcircumference_and_w aisthip_ratio/en/.

31. Unnikrishnan R, Gupta PK, Mohan V. Diabetes in South Asians: Phenotype, Clinical Presentation, and Natural History. Current diabetes reports. 2018;18(6):30.

32. NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC) – Africa Working Group. Trends in obesity and diabetes across Africa from 1980 to 2014: an analysis of pooled population-based studies. International journal of epidemiology. 2017;46(5):1421-32.

33. Gallagher D, Heymsfield SB, Heo M, Jebb SA, Murgatroyd PR, Sakamoto Y. Healthy percentage body fat ranges: an approach for developing guidelines based on body mass index. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2000;72(3):694-701.

34. World Health Organization. Global recommendations on physical activity for health 2010 [Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241599979</u>.

35. Hamer M, O'Donovan G, Stensel D, Stamatakis E. Normal-Weight Central Obesity and Risk for Mortality. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(12):917-8.

36. Sahakyan KR, Somers VK, Rodriguez-Escudero JP, Hodge DO, Carter RE, Sochor O, et al. Normal-Weight Central Obesity: Implications for Total and Cardiovascular Mortality. Ann Intern Med. 2015;163(11):827-35.

37. Welborn TA, Dhaliwal SS. Preferred clinical measures of central obesity for predicting mortality. European journal of clinical nutrition. 2007;61(12):1373-9.

38. Janssen I, Katzmarzyk PT, Ross R. Waist circumference and not body mass index explains obesity-related health risk. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2004;79(3):379-84.

39. Lakka HM, Lakka TA, Tuomilehto J, Salonen JT. Abdominal obesity is associated with increased risk of acute coronary events in men. European heart journal. 2002;23(9):706-13.

40. Carmienke S, Freitag MH, Pischon T, Schlattmann P, Fankhaenel T, Goebel H, et al. General and abdominal obesity parameters and their combination in relation to mortality: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. European journal of clinical nutrition. 2013;67(6):573-85.

41. Carr DB, Utzschneider KM, Hull RL, Kodama K, Retzlaff BM, Brunzell JD, et al. Intraabdominal fat is a major determinant of the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III criteria for the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes. 2004;53(8):2087-94.

42. Alberti KG, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. Circulation. 2009;120(16):1640-5.

43. Wu H, Ballantyne CM. Metabolic Inflammation and Insulin Resistance in Obesity. Circulation research. 2020;126(11):1549-64.

44. Ahrén B, Pacini G. Islet adaptation to insulin resistance: mechanisms and implications for intervention. Diabetes, obesity & metabolism. 2005;7(1):2-8.

45. Lillioja S, Mott DM, Spraul M, Ferraro R, Foley JE, Ravussin E, et al. Insulin resistance and insulin secretory dysfunction as precursors of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Prospective studies of Pima Indians. The New England journal of medicine. 1993;329(27):1988-92.

46. Cornier MA, Dabelea D, Hernandez TL, Lindstrom RC, Steig AJ, Stob NR, et al. The metabolic syndrome. Endocrine reviews. 2008;29(7):777-822.

47. Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ. The metabolic syndrome. Lancet (London, England). 2005;365(9468):1415-28.

48. Röder PV, Wu B, Liu Y, Han W. Pancreatic regulation of glucose homeostasis. Experimental & molecular medicine. 2016;48(3):e219.

49. Lohninger A, Preis P, Linhart L, Sommoggy SV, Landau M, Kaiser E. Determination of plasma free fatty acids, free cholesterol, cholesteryl esters, and triacylglycerols directly from total lipid extract by capillary gas chromatography. Analytical biochemistry. 1990;186(2):243-50.

50. Ference BA, Ginsberg HN, Graham I, Ray KK, Packard CJ, Bruckert E, et al. Lowdensity lipoproteins cause atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. 1. Evidence from genetic, epidemiologic, and clinical studies. A consensus statement from the European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel. European heart journal. 2017;38(32):2459-72.

51. Berliner JA, Navab M, Fogelman AM, Frank JS, Demer LL, Edwards PA, et al. Atherosclerosis: basic mechanisms. Oxidation, inflammation, and genetics. Circulation. 1995;91(9):2488-96.

52. Navab M, Reddy ST, Van Lenten BJ, Fogelman AM. HDL and cardiovascular disease: atherogenic and atheroprotective mechanisms. Nature reviews Cardiology. 2011;8(4):222-32.

53. Miller M, Stone NJ, Ballantyne C, Bittner V, Criqui MH, Ginsberg HN, et al. Triglycerides and cardiovascular disease: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2011;123(20):2292-333.

54. Almgren P, Lehtovirta M, Isomaa B, Sarelin L, Taskinen MR, Lyssenko V, et al. Heritability and familiality of type 2 diabetes and related quantitative traits in the Botnia Study. Diabetologia. 2011;54(11):2811-9.

55. Maes HH, Neale MC, Eaves LJ. Genetic and environmental factors in relative body weight and human adiposity. Behavior genetics. 1997;27(4):325-51.

56. Elder SJ, Lichtenstein AH, Pittas AG, Roberts SB, Fuss PJ, Greenberg AS, et al. Genetic and environmental influences on factors associated with cardiovascular disease and the metabolic syndrome. Journal of lipid research. 2009;50(9):1917-26.

57. Kupper N, Ge D, Treiber FA, Snieder H. Emergence of novel genetic effects on blood pressure and hemodynamics in adolescence: the Georgia Cardiovascular Twin Study. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex : 1979). 2006;47(5):948-54.

58. Lewis CM, Knight J. Introduction to genetic association studies. Cold Spring Harbor protocols. 2012;2012(3):297-306.

59. Gray IC, Campbell DA, Spurr NK. Single nucleotide polymorphisms as tools in human genetics. Human molecular genetics. 2000;9(16):2403-8.

60. Tabor HK, Risch NJ, Myers RM. Candidate-gene approaches for studying complex genetic traits: practical considerations. Nature reviews Genetics. 2002;3(5):391-7.

61. Gaulton KJ, Willer CJ, Li Y, Scott LJ, Conneely KN, Jackson AU, et al. Comprehensive association study of type 2 diabetes and related quantitative traits with 222 candidate genes. Diabetes. 2008;57(11):3136-44.

62. Kwon JM, Goate AM. The candidate gene approach. Alcohol Res Health. 2000;24(3):164-8.

63. Vimaleswaran KS, Tachmazidou I, Zhao JH, Hirschhorn JN, Dudbridge F, Loos RJ. Candidate genes for obesity-susceptibility show enriched association within a large genome-wide association study for BMI. Human molecular genetics. 2012;21(20):4537-42.

64. Barroso I, Luan J, Middelberg RP, Harding AH, Franks PW, Jakes RW, et al. Candidate gene association study in type 2 diabetes indicates a role for genes involved in beta-cell function as well as insulin action. PLoS biology. 2003;1(1):E20.

65. Mercader JM, Puiggros M, Segrè AV, Planet E, Sorianello E, Sebastian D, et al. Identification of novel type 2 diabetes candidate genes involved in the crosstalk between the mitochondrial and the insulin signaling systems. PLoS genetics. 2012;8(12):e1003046.

66. Altshuler D, Hirschhorn JN, Klannemark M, Lindgren CM, Vohl MC, Nemesh J, et al. The common PPARgamma Pro12Ala polymorphism is associated with decreased risk of type 2 diabetes. Nature genetics. 2000;26(1):76-80.

67. Gloyn AL, Weedon MN, Owen KR, Turner MJ, Knight BA, Hitman G, et al. Largescale association studies of variants in genes encoding the pancreatic beta-cell KATP channel subunits Kir6.2 (KCNJ11) and SUR1 (ABCC8) confirm that the KCNJ11 E23K variant is associated with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2003;52(2):568-72.

68. Florez JC, Burtt N, de Bakker PI, Almgren P, Tuomi T, Holmkvist J, et al. Haplotype structure and genotype-phenotype correlations of the sulfonylurea receptor and the islet ATP-sensitive potassium channel gene region. Diabetes. 2004;53(5):1360-8.

69. Clausen JO, Hansen T, Bjørbaek C, Echwald SM, Urhammer SA, Rasmussen S, et al. Insulin resistance: interactions between obesity and a common variant of insulin receptor substrate-1. Lancet (London, England). 1995;346(8972):397-402.

70. Pulst SM. Genetic linkage analysis. Archives of neurology. 1999;56(6):667-72.

71. Tam V, Patel N, Turcotte M, Bossé Y, Paré G, Meyre D. Benefits and limitations of genome-wide association studies. Nature reviews Genetics. 2019;20(8):467-84.

72. Hanis CL, Boerwinkle E, Chakraborty R, Ellsworth DL, Concannon P, Stirling B, et al. A genome-wide search for human non-insulin-dependent (type 2) diabetes genes reveals a major susceptibility locus on chromosome 2. Nature genetics. 1996;13(2):161-6.

73. Reynisdottir I, Thorleifsson G, Benediktsson R, Sigurdsson G, Emilsson V, Einarsdottir AS, et al. Localization of a susceptibility gene for type 2 diabetes to chromosome 5q34-q35.2. American journal of human genetics. 2003;73(2):323-35.

74. Grant SF, Thorleifsson G, Reynisdottir I, Benediktsson R, Manolescu A, Sainz J, et al. Variant of transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) gene confers risk of type 2 diabetes. Nature genetics. 2006;38(3):320-3.

75. Tong Y, Lin Y, Zhang Y, Yang J, Zhang Y, Liu H, et al. Association between TCF7L2 gene polymorphisms and susceptibility to type 2 diabetes mellitus: a large Human Genome Epidemiology (HuGE) review and meta-analysis. BMC medical genetics. 2009;10:15.

76. Frayling TM, Timpson NJ, Weedon MN, Zeggini E, Freathy RM, Lindgren CM, et al. A common variant in the FTO gene is associated with body mass index and predisposes to childhood and adult obesity. Science (New York, NY). 2007;316(5826):889-94.

77. Scuteri A, Sanna S, Chen WM, Uda M, Albai G, Strait J, et al. Genome-wide association scan shows genetic variants in the FTO gene are associated with obesity-related traits. PLoS Genet. 2007;3(7):e115.

78. Locke AE, Kahali B, Berndt SI, Justice AE, Pers TH, Day FR, et al. Genetic studies of body mass index yield new insights for obesity biology. Nature. 2015;518(7538):197-206.

79. Shungin D, Winkler TW, Croteau-Chonka DC, Ferreira T, Locke AE, Mägi R, et al. New genetic loci link adipose and insulin biology to body fat distribution. Nature. 2015;518(7538):187-96.

80. Goodarzi MO. Genetics of obesity: what genetic association studies have taught us about the biology of obesity and its complications. The lancet Diabetes & endocrinology. 2018;6(3):223-36.

81. Sladek R, Rocheleau G, Rung J, Dina C, Shen L, Serre D, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies novel risk loci for type 2 diabetes. Nature. 2007;445(7130):881-5.
82. Saxena R, Voight BF, Lyssenko V, Burtt NP, de Bakker PI, Chen H, et al. Genome-wide association analysis identifies loci for type 2 diabetes and triglyceride levels. Science (New York, NY). 2007;316(5829):1331-6.

83. Scott LJ, Mohlke KL, Bonnycastle LL, Willer CJ, Li Y, Duren WL, et al. A genomewide association study of type 2 diabetes in Finns detects multiple susceptibility variants. Science (New York, NY). 2007;316(5829):1341-5.

84. Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium. Genome-wide association study of 14,000 cases of seven common diseases and 3,000 shared controls. Nature. 2007;447(7145):661-78.

85. Dupuis J, Langenberg C, Prokopenko I, Saxena R, Soranzo N, Jackson AU, et al. New genetic loci implicated in fasting glucose homeostasis and their impact on type 2 diabetes risk. Nature genetics. 2010;42(2):105-16.

86. Prokopenko I, Langenberg C, Florez JC, Saxena R, Soranzo N, Thorleifsson G, et al. Variants in MTNR1B influence fasting glucose levels. Nature genetics. 2009;41(1):77-81.

87. Scott RA, Lagou V, Welch RP, Wheeler E, Montasser ME, Luan J, et al. Large-scale association analyses identify new loci influencing glycemic traits and provide insight into the underlying biological pathways. Nature genetics. 2012;44(9):991-1005.

88. Zeggini E, Scott LJ, Saxena R, Voight BF, Marchini JL, Hu T, et al. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association data and large-scale replication identifies additional susceptibility loci for type 2 diabetes. Nature genetics. 2008;40(5):638-45.

89. Mahajan A, Taliun D, Thurner M, Robertson NR, Torres JM, Rayner NW, et al. Finemapping type 2 diabetes loci to single-variant resolution using high-density imputation and islet-specific epigenome maps. Nature genetics. 2018;50(11):1505-13. 90. Aulchenko YS, Ripatti S, Lindqvist I, Boomsma D, Heid IM, Pramstaller PP, et al. Loci influencing lipid levels and coronary heart disease risk in 16 European population cohorts. Nature genetics. 2009;41(1):47-55.

91. Kathiresan S, Willer CJ, Peloso GM, Demissie S, Musunuru K, Schadt EE, et al. Common variants at 30 loci contribute to polygenic dyslipidemia. Nature genetics. 2009;41(1):56-65.

92. Teslovich TM, Musunuru K, Smith AV, Edmondson AC, Stylianou IM, Koseki M, et al. Biological, clinical and population relevance of 95 loci for blood lipids. Nature. 2010;466(7307):707-13.

93. Willer CJ, Schmidt EM, Sengupta S, Peloso GM, Gustafsson S, Kanoni S, et al. Discovery and refinement of loci associated with lipid levels. Nature genetics. 2013;45(11):1274-83.

94. Hoffmann TJ, Theusch E, Haldar T, Ranatunga DK, Jorgenson E, Medina MW, et al. A large electronic-health-record-based genome-wide study of serum lipids. Nature genetics. 2018;50(3):401-13.

95. Prunier C, Hocevar BA, Howe PH. Wnt signaling: physiology and pathology. Growth factors (Chur, Switzerland). 2004;22(3):141-50.

96. Lyssenko V, Lupi R, Marchetti P, Del Guerra S, Orho-Melander M, Almgren P, et al. Mechanisms by which common variants in the TCF7L2 gene increase risk of type 2 diabetes. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2007;117(8):2155-63.

97. Zhou Y, Park SY, Su J, Bailey K, Ottosson-Laakso E, Shcherbina L, et al. TCF7L2 is a master regulator of insulin production and processing. Human molecular genetics. 2014;23(24):6419-31.

98. Cauchi S, Meyre D, Dina C, Choquet H, Samson C, Gallina S, et al. Transcription factor TCF7L2 genetic study in the French population: expression in human beta-cells and adipose tissue and strong association with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2006;55(10):2903-8.

99. Sale MM, Smith SG, Mychaleckyj JC, Keene KL, Langefeld CD, Leak TS, et al. Variants of the transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) gene are associated with type 2 diabetes in an African-American population enriched for nephropathy. Diabetes. 2007;56(10):2638-42. 100. Groves CJ, Zeggini E, Minton J, Frayling TM, Weedon MN, Rayner NW, et al. Association analysis of 6,736 U.K. subjects provides replication and confirms TCF7L2 as a type 2 diabetes susceptibility gene with a substantial effect on individual risk. Diabetes. 2006;55(9):2640-4.

101. Miyake K, Horikawa Y, Hara K, Yasuda K, Osawa H, Furuta H, et al. Association of TCF7L2 polymorphisms with susceptibility to type 2 diabetes in 4,087 Japanese subjects. Journal of human genetics. 2008;53(2):174-80.

102. Peng S, Zhu Y, Lü B, Xu F, Li X, Lai M. TCF7L2 gene polymorphisms and type 2 diabetes risk: a comprehensive and updated meta-analysis involving 121,174 subjects. Mutagenesis. 2013;28(1):25-37.

103. Hardy R, Wills AK, Wong A, Elks CE, Wareham NJ, Loos RJ, et al. Life course variations in the associations between FTO and MC4R gene variants and body size. Human molecular genetics. 2010;19(3):545-52.

104. Loos RJ, Yeo GS. The bigger picture of FTO: the first GWAS-identified obesity gene. Nature reviews Endocrinology. 2014;10(1):51-61.

105. Livingstone KM, Celis-Morales C, Papandonatos GD, Erar B, Florez JC, Jablonski KA, et al. FTO genotype and weight loss: systematic review and meta-analysis of 9563 individual participant data from eight randomised controlled trials. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2016;354:i4707.

106. Qi Q, Kilpelainen TO, Downer MK, Tanaka T, Smith CE, Sluijs I, et al. FTO genetic variants, dietary intake and body mass index: insights from 177,330 individuals. Human molecular genetics. 2014;23(25):6961-72.

107. Doaei S, Mosavi Jarrahi SA, Sanjari Moghadam A, Akbari ME, Javadi Kooshesh S, Badeli M, et al. The effect of rs9930506 FTO gene polymorphism on obesity risk: a metaanalysis. Biomolecular concepts. 2019;10(1):237-42.

108. Gholamalizadeh M, Mirzaei Dahka S, Vahid F, Bourbour F, Badeli M, JavadiKooshesh S, et al. Does the rs9939609 FTO gene polymorphism affect fat percentage? A meta-analysis. Archives of physiology and biochemistry. 2020:1-5.

109. Fischer J, Koch L, Emmerling C, Vierkotten J, Peters T, Brüning JC, et al. Inactivation of the Fto gene protects from obesity. Nature. 2009;458(7240):894-8.

110. Zhao X, Yang Y, Sun BF, Zhao YL, Yang YG. FTO and obesity: mechanisms of association. Current diabetes reports. 2014;14(5):486.

111. Yen CJ, Beamer BA, Negri C, Silver K, Brown KA, Yarnall DP, et al. Molecular scanning of the human peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma (hPPAR gamma) gene in diabetic Caucasians: identification of a Pro12Ala PPAR gamma 2 missense mutation. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 1997;241(2):270-4.

112. Radha V, Mohan V. Genetic predisposition to type 2 diabetes among Asian Indians. The Indian journal of medical research. 2007;125(3):259-74.

113. Das SK, Chakrabarti R. Role of PPAR in cardiovascular diseases. Recent patents on cardiovascular drug discovery. 2006;1(2):193-209.

114. Deeb SS, Fajas L, Nemoto M, Pihlajamäki J, Mykkänen L, Kuusisto J, et al. A Pro12Ala substitution in PPARgamma2 associated with decreased receptor activity, lower body mass index and improved insulin sensitivity. Nature genetics. 1998;20(3):284-7.

115. Bouchard-Mercier A, Godin G, Lamarche B, Pérusse L, Vohl MC. Effects of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors, dietary fat intakes and gene-diet interactions on peak particle diameters of low-density lipoproteins. Journal of nutrigenetics and nutrigenomics. 2011;4(1):36-48.

116. Xie HJ, Hai B, Wu M, Chen Q, Liu MM, Dong C, et al. Analysis on the association between PPAR α/γ polymorphisms and lipoprotein(a) in a Chinese Han population. Molecular genetics and genomics : MGG. 2014;289(5):981-7.

117. Krashes MJ, Lowell BB, Garfield AS. Melanocortin-4 receptor-regulated energy homeostasis. Nature neuroscience. 2016;19(2):206-19.

118. Hebebrand J, Volckmar AL, Knoll N, Hinney A. Chipping away the 'missing heritability': GIANT steps forward in the molecular elucidation of obesity - but still lots to go. Obesity facts. 2010;3(5):294-303.

119. Xi B, Chandak GR, Shen Y, Wang Q, Zhou D. Association between common polymorphism near the MC4R gene and obesity risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PloS one. 2012;7(9):e45731.

120. Meyre D, Delplanque J, Chèvre JC, Lecoeur C, Lobbens S, Gallina S, et al. Genomewide association study for early-onset and morbid adult obesity identifies three new risk loci in European populations. Nature genetics. 2009;41(2):157-9.

121. Scherag A, Jarick I, Grothe J, Biebermann H, Scherag S, Volckmar AL, et al. Investigation of a genome wide association signal for obesity: synthetic association and haplotype analyses at the melanocortin 4 receptor gene locus. PloS one. 2010;5(11):e13967.

122. Loos RJ. Genetic determinants of common obesity and their value in prediction. Best practice & research Clinical endocrinology & metabolism. 2012;26(2):211-26.

123. Qi L, Kraft P, Hunter DJ, Hu FB. The common obesity variant near MC4R gene is associated with higher intakes of total energy and dietary fat, weight change and diabetes risk in women. Human molecular genetics. 2008;17(22):3502-8.

124. Xi B, Takeuchi F, Chandak GR, Kato N, Pan HW, Zhou DH, et al. Common polymorphism near the MC4R gene is associated with type 2 diabetes: data from a metaanalysis of 123,373 individuals. Diabetologia. 2012;55(10):2660-6.

125. Koochakpoor G, Hosseini-Esfahani F, Daneshpour MS, Hosseini SA, Mirmiran P. Effect of interactions of polymorphisms in the Melanocortin-4 receptor gene with dietary factors on the risk of obesity and Type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association. 2016;33(8):1026-34.

126. Barhanin J, Lesage F, Guillemare E, Fink M, Lazdunski M, Romey G. K(V)LQT1 and lsK (minK) proteins associate to form the I(Ks) cardiac potassium current. Nature. 1996;384(6604):78-80.

127. Chen XD, Yang YJ, Li SY, Peng QQ, Zheng LJ, Jin L, et al. Several polymorphisms of KCNQ1 gene are associated with plasma lipid levels in general Chinese populations. PloS one. 2012;7(3):e34229.

128. Liu J, Wang F, Wu Y, Huang X, Sheng L, Xu J, et al. Meta-analysis of the effect of KCNQ1 gene polymorphism on the risk of type 2 diabetes. Molecular biology reports. 2013;40(5):3557-67.

129. Yu XX, Liao MQ, Zeng YF, Gao XP, Liu YH, Sun W, et al. Associations of KCNQ1 Polymorphisms with the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: An Updated Meta-Analysis with Trial Sequential Analysis. Journal of diabetes research. 2020;2020:7145139.

130. Hannou SA, Wouters K, Paumelle R, Staels B. Functional genomics of the CDKN2A/B locus in cardiovascular and metabolic disease: what have we learned from GWASs? Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM. 2015;26(4):176-84.

131. Zeggini E, Weedon MN, Lindgren CM, Frayling TM, Elliott KS, Lango H, et al. Replication of genome-wide association signals in UK samples reveals risk loci for type 2 diabetes. Science (New York, NY). 2007;316(5829):1336-41.

132. Steinthorsdottir V, Thorleifsson G, Reynisdottir I, Benediktsson R, Jonsdottir T, Walters GB, et al. A variant in CDKAL1 influences insulin response and risk of type 2 diabetes. Nature genetics. 2007;39(6):770-5.

133. Meigs JB, Shrader P, Sullivan LM, McAteer JB, Fox CS, Dupuis J, et al. Genotype score in addition to common risk factors for prediction of type 2 diabetes. The New England journal of medicine. 2008;359(21):2208-19.

134. Bao XY, Xie C, Yang MS. Association between type 2 diabetes and CDKN2A/B: a meta-analysis study. Molecular biology reports. 2012;39(2):1609-16.

135. Karbowska J, Kochan Z. Role of adiponectin in the regulation of carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. Journal of physiology and pharmacology : an official journal of the Polish Physiological Society. 2006;57 Suppl 6:103-13.

136. Yanai H, Yoshida H. Beneficial Effects of Adiponectin on Glucose and Lipid Metabolism and Atherosclerotic Progression: Mechanisms and Perspectives. International journal of molecular sciences. 2019;20(5):1190.

137. Caselli C. Role of adiponectin system in insulin resistance. Molecular genetics and metabolism. 2014;113(3):155-60.

138. Yang WS, Chuang LM. Human genetics of adiponectin in the metabolic syndrome. Journal of molecular medicine (Berlin, Germany). 2006;84(2):112-21.

139. Hivert M-F, Manning AK, McAteer JB, Florez JC, Dupuis J, Fox CS, et al. Common variants in the adiponectin gene (ADIPOQ) associated with plasma adiponectin levels, type 2 diabetes, and diabetes-related quantitative traits: the Framingham Offspring Study. Diabetes. 2008;57(12):3353-9.

140. Ong KL, Li M, Tso AW, Xu A, Cherny SS, Sham PC, et al. Association of genetic variants in the adiponectin gene with adiponectin level and hypertension in Hong Kong Chinese. European journal of endocrinology. 2010;163(2):251-7.

141. Tsai MK, Wang HM, Shiang JC, Chen IH, Wang CC, Shiao YF, et al. Sequence variants of ADIPOQ and association with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Taiwan Chinese Han population. TheScientificWorldJournal. 2014;2014:650393.

142. Qi L, Doria A, Manson JE, Meigs JB, Hunter D, Mantzoros CS, et al. Adiponectin genetic variability, plasma adiponectin, and cardiovascular risk in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2006;55(5):1512-6.

143. Chiodini BD, Specchia C, Gori F, Barlera S, D'Orazio A, Pietri S, et al. Adiponectin gene polymorphisms and their effect on the risk of myocardial infarction and type 2 diabetes: an association study in an Italian population. Therapeutic advances in cardiovascular disease. 2010;4(4):223-30.

144. Liu F, He Z, Deng S, Zhang H, Li N, Xu J. Association of adiponectin gene polymorphisms with the risk of ischemic stroke in a Chinese Han population. Molecular biology reports. 2011;38(3):1983-8.

145. Kanu JS, Qiu S, Cheng Y, Li R, Kou C, Gu Y, et al. Associations between three common single nucleotide polymorphisms (rs266729, rs2241766, and rs1501299) of ADIPOQ and cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. Lipids in health and disease. 2018;17(1):126.

146. Siitonen N, Pulkkinen L, Lindström J, Kolehmainen M, Eriksson JG, Venojärvi M, et al. Association of ADIPOQ gene variants with body weight, type 2 diabetes and serum adiponectin concentrations: the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. BMC medical genetics. 2011;12:5.

147. Carlsson E, Poulsen P, Storgaard H, Almgren P, Ling C, Jensen CB, et al. Genetic and nongenetic regulation of CAPN10 mRNA expression in skeletal muscle. Diabetes. 2005;54(10):3015-20.

148. Pihlajamaki J, Salmenniemi U, Vanttinen M, Ruotsalainen E, Kuusisto J, Vauhkonen I, et al. Common polymorphisms of calpain-10 are associated with abdominal obesity in subjects at high risk of type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2006;49(7):1560-6.

149. Fullerton SM, Bartoszewicz A, Ybazeta G, Horikawa Y, Bell GI, Kidd KK, et al. Geographic and haplotype structure of candidate type 2 diabetes susceptibility variants at the calpain-10 locus. American journal of human genetics. 2002;70(5):1096-106.

150. Tsuchiya T, Schwarz PE, Bosque-Plata LD, Geoffrey Hayes M, Dina C, Froguel P, et al. Association of the calpain-10 gene with type 2 diabetes in Europeans: results of pooled and meta-analyses. Molecular genetics and metabolism. 2006;89(1-2):174-84.

151. Horikawa Y, Oda N, Cox NJ, Li X, Orho-Melander M, Hara M, et al. Genetic variation in the gene encoding calpain-10 is associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nature genetics. 2000;26(2):163-75.

152. Wray NR, Goddard ME, Visscher PM. Prediction of individual genetic risk to disease from genome-wide association studies. Genome research. 2007;17(10):1520-8.

153. Udler MS, McCarthy MI, Florez JC, Mahajan A. Genetic Risk Scores for Diabetes Diagnosis and Precision Medicine. Endocrine reviews. 2019;40(6):1500-20.

154. Igo RP, Jr., Kinzy TG, Cooke Bailey JN. Genetic Risk Scores. Curr Protoc Hum Genet. 2019;104(1):e95-e.

155. Belsky DW, Moffitt TE, Sugden K, Williams B, Houts R, McCarthy J, et al. Development and evaluation of a genetic risk score for obesity. Biodemography and social biology. 2013;59(1):85-100.

156. Li S, Zhao JH, Luan J, Luben RN, Rodwell SA, Khaw KT, et al. Cumulative effects and predictive value of common obesity-susceptibility variants identified by genome-wide association studies. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2010;91(1):184-90.

157. Inouye M, Abraham G, Nelson CP, Wood AM, Sweeting MJ, Dudbridge F, et al. Genomic Risk Prediction of Coronary Artery Disease in 480,000 Adults: Implications for Primary Prevention. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2018;72(16):1883-93.

158. Rutten-Jacobs LC, Larsson SC, Malik R, Rannikmäe K, Sudlow CL, Dichgans M, et al. Genetic risk, incident stroke, and the benefits of adhering to a healthy lifestyle: cohort study of 306 473 UK Biobank participants. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2018;363:k4168.

159. Chauhan G, Spurgeon CJ, Tabassum R, Bhaskar S, Kulkarni SR, Mahajan A, et al. Impact of common variants of PPARG, KCNJ11, TCF7L2, SLC30A8, HHEX, CDKN2A, IGF2BP2, and CDKAL1 on the risk of type 2 diabetes in 5,164 Indians. Diabetes. 2010;59(8):2068-74.

160. Janipalli CS, Kumar MV, Vinay DG, Sandeep MN, Bhaskar S, Kulkarni SR, et al. Analysis of 32 common susceptibility genetic variants and their combined effect in predicting risk of Type 2 diabetes and related traits in Indians. Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association. 2012;29(1):121-7.

161. Fulford AJ, Ong KK, Elks CE, Prentice AM, Hennig BJ. Progressive influence of body mass index-associated genetic markers in rural Gambians. Journal of medical genetics. 2015;52(6):375-80.

162. Hennig BJ, Fulford AJ, Sirugo G, Rayco-Solon P, Hattersley AT, Frayling TM, et al. FTO gene variation and measures of body mass in an African population. BMC medical genetics. 2009;10:21.

163. Gupta R, Kumar P, Fahmi N, Garg B, Dutta S, Sachar S, et al. Endocrine disruption and obesity: A current review on environmental obesogens. Current Research in Green and Sustainable Chemistry. 2020;3:100009-.

164. Stress related disorders and risk of cardiovascular disease: population based, sibling controlled cohort study. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2019;365:11850.

165. Rosoff DB, Davey Smith G, Mehta N, Clarke TK, Lohoff FW. Evaluating the relationship between alcohol consumption, tobacco use, and cardiovascular disease: A multivariable Mendelian randomization study. PLoS medicine. 2020;17(12):e1003410.

166. Brandkvist M, Bjørngaard JH, Ødegård RA, Åsvold BO, Sund ER, Vie G. Quantifying the impact of genes on body mass index during the obesity epidemic: longitudinal findings from the HUNT Study. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2019;366:14067.

167. Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. The New England journal of medicine. 2002;346(6):393-403.

168. Tuomilehto J, Lindström J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, Hämäläinen H, Ilanne-Parikka P, et al. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. The New England journal of medicine. 2001;344(18):1343-50.

169. Miranda JJ, Barrientos-Gutiérrez T, Corvalan C, Hyder AA, Lazo-Porras M, Oni T, et al. Understanding the rise of cardiometabolic diseases in low- and middle-income countries. Nature medicine. 2019;25(11):1667-79.

170. Swinburn B, Sacks G, Vandevijvere S, Kumanyika S, Lobstein T, Neal B, et al. INFORMAS (International Network for Food and Obesity/non-communicable diseases Research, Monitoring and Action Support): overview and key principles. Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2013;14 Suppl 1:1-12.

171. Headey DD, Alderman HH. The Relative Caloric Prices of Healthy and Unhealthy Foods Differ Systematically across Income Levels and Continents. The Journal of nutrition. 2019;149(11):2020-33.

172. Srour B, Fezeu LK, Kesse-Guyot E, Allès B, Méjean C, Andrianasolo RM, et al. Ultraprocessed food intake and risk of cardiovascular disease: prospective cohort study (NutriNet-Santé). BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2019;365:11451.

173. Vearey J, Luginaah I, Magitta NF, Shilla DJ, Oni T. Urban health in Africa: a critical global public health priority. BMC public health. 2019;19(1):340.

174. Shim JS, Oh K, Kim HC. Dietary assessment methods in epidemiologic studies. Epidemiology and health. 2014;36:e2014009.

175. Forouhi NG, Misra A, Mohan V, Taylor R, Yancy W. Dietary and nutritional approaches for prevention and management of type 2 diabetes. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2018;361:k2234.

176. Aguilera JM. The food matrix: implications in processing, nutrition and health. Critical reviews in food science and nutrition. 2019;59(22):3612-29.

177. Dong JY, Zhang ZL, Wang PY, Qin LQ. Effects of high-protein diets on body weight, glycaemic control, blood lipids and blood pressure in type 2 diabetes: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. The British journal of nutrition. 2013;110(5):781-9.

178. Hession M, Rolland C, Kulkarni U, Wise A, Broom J. Systematic review of randomized controlled trials of low-carbohydrate vs. low-fat/low-calorie diets in the management of obesity and its comorbidities. Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2009;10(1):36-50.

179. Santesso N, Akl EA, Bianchi M, Mente A, Mustafa R, Heels-Ansdell D, et al. Effects of higher- versus lower-protein diets on health outcomes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. European journal of clinical nutrition. 2012;66(7):780-8.

180. Sluijs I, Beulens JW, van der AD, Spijkerman AM, Grobbee DE, van der Schouw YT. Dietary intake of total, animal, and vegetable protein and risk of type 2 diabetes in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-NL study. Diabetes care. 2010;33(1):43-8.

181. Song Y, Manson JE, Buring JE, Liu S. A prospective study of red meat consumption and type 2 diabetes in middle-aged and elderly women: the women's health study. Diabetes care. 2004;27(9):2108-15.

182. Ericson U, Sonestedt E, Gullberg B, Hellstrand S, Hindy G, Wirfält E, et al. High intakes of protein and processed meat associate with increased incidence of type 2 diabetes. The British journal of nutrition. 2013;109(6):1143-53.

183. Dehghan M, Mente A, Zhang X, Swaminathan S, Li W, Mohan V, et al. Associations of fats and carbohydrate intake with cardiovascular disease and mortality in 18 countries from five continents (PURE): a prospective cohort study. Lancet (London, England). 2017;390(10107):2050-62.

184. Li S, Flint A, Pai JK, Forman JP, Hu FB, Willett WC, et al. Low carbohydrate diet from plant or animal sources and mortality among myocardial infarction survivors. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2014;3(5):e001169.

185. Seidelmann SB, Claggett B, Cheng S, Henglin M, Shah A, Steffen LM, et al. Dietary carbohydrate intake and mortality: a prospective cohort study and meta-analysis. The Lancet Public health. 2018;3(9):e419-e28.

186. Threapleton DE, Greenwood DC, Evans CE, Cleghorn CL, Nykjaer C, Woodhead C, et al. Dietary fibre intake and risk of cardiovascular disease: systematic review and metaanalysis. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2013;347:f6879.

187. de Souza RJ, Mente A, Maroleanu A, Cozma AI, Ha V, Kishibe T, et al. Intake of saturated and trans unsaturated fatty acids and risk of all cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2015;351:h3978.

188. Duarte C, Boccardi V, Amaro Andrade P, Souza Lopes AC, Jacques PF. Dairy versus other saturated fats source and cardiometabolic risk markers: Systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Critical reviews in food science and nutrition. 2021;61(3):450-61.

189. Hooper L, Martin N, Jimoh OF, Kirk C, Foster E, Abdelhamid AS. Reduction in saturated fat intake for cardiovascular disease. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2020;8(8):Cd011737.

190. Imamura F, Micha R, Wu JH, de Oliveira Otto MC, Otite FO, Abioye AI, et al. Effects of Saturated Fat, Polyunsaturated Fat, Monounsaturated Fat, and Carbohydrate on Glucose-Insulin Homeostasis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomised Controlled Feeding Trials. PLoS medicine. 2016;13(7):e1002087.

191. Merino J, Guasch-Ferré M, Ellervik C, Dashti HS, Sharp SJ, Wu P, et al. Quality of dietary fat and genetic risk of type 2 diabetes: individual participant data meta-analysis. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2019;366:14292.

192. Sylvia LG, Bernstein EE, Hubbard JL, Keating L, Anderson EJ. Practical guide to measuring physical activity. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2014;114(2):199-208.

193. Mann S, Beedie C, Jimenez A. Differential effects of aerobic exercise, resistance training and combined exercise modalities on cholesterol and the lipid profile: review, synthesis and recommendations. Sports Med. 2014;44(2):211-21.

194. Hegde SM, Solomon SD. Influence of Physical Activity on Hypertension and Cardiac Structure and Function. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2015;17(10):77-.

195. Colberg SR, Sigal RJ, Fernhall B, Regensteiner JG, Blissmer BJ, Rubin RR, et al. Exercise and type 2 diabetes: the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Diabetes Association: joint position statement. Diabetes care. 2010;33(12):e147-e67.

196. Jeong SW, Kim SH, Kang SH, Kim HJ, Yoon CH, Youn TJ, et al. Mortality reduction with physical activity in patients with and without cardiovascular disease. European heart journal. 2019;40(43):3547-55.

197. Zhang X, Cash RE, Bower JK, Focht BC, Paskett ED. Physical activity and risk of cardiovascular disease by weight status among U.S adults. PloS one. 2020;15(5):e0232893.

198. Hamasaki H. Daily physical activity and type 2 diabetes: A review. World J Diabetes. 2016;7(12):243-51.

199. Aune D, Norat T, Leitzmann M, Tonstad S, Vatten LJ. Physical activity and the risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. European journal of epidemiology. 2015;30(7):529-42.

200. Ishida S, Ito C, Murakami F. [Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changing lifestyles among high risk persons: the Diabetes Prevention Program in Hiroshima (DPPH)]. Nihon rinsho Japanese journal of clinical medicine. 2005;63 Suppl 2:578-81.

201. Barnett TA, Gauvin L, Craig CL, Katzmarzyk PT. Distinct trajectories of leisure time physical activity and predictors of trajectory class membership: a 22 year cohort study. The international journal of behavioral nutrition and physical activity. 2008;5:57.

202. Ramachandran A, Snehalatha C, Mary S, Mukesh B, Bhaskar AD, Vijay V. The Indian Diabetes Prevention Programme shows that lifestyle modification and metformin prevent type 2 diabetes in Asian Indian subjects with impaired glucose tolerance (IDPP-1). Diabetologia. 2006;49(2):289-97.

203. Jeon CY, Lokken RP, Hu FB, van Dam RM. Physical activity of moderate intensity and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. Diabetes care. 2007;30(3):744-52.

204. Mathers JC. Nutrigenomics in the modern era. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2017;76(3):265-75.

205. Ordovas JM, Corella D. Nutritional genomics. Annual review of genomics and human genetics. 2004;5:71-118.

206. Collins FS, Mansoura MK. The Human Genome Project. Revealing the shared inheritance of all humankind. Cancer. 2001;91(1 Suppl):221-5.

207. Visscher PM, Wray NR, Zhang Q, Sklar P, McCarthy MI, Brown MA, et al. 10 Years of GWAS Discovery: Biology, Function, and Translation. American journal of human genetics. 2017;101(1):5-22.

208. Radha V, Vimaleswaran KS, Babu HN, Abate N, Chandalia M, Satija P, et al. Role of genetic polymorphism peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma2 Pro12Ala on ethnic susceptibility to diabetes in South-Asian and Caucasian subjects: Evidence for heterogeneity. Diabetes care. 2006;29(5):1046-51.

209. Bradfield JP, Taal HR, Timpson NJ, Scherag A, Lecoeur C, Warrington NM, et al. A genome-wide association meta-analysis identifies new childhood obesity loci. Nature genetics. 2012;44(5):526-31.

210. Brito EC, Vimaleswaran KS, Brage S, Andersen LB, Sardinha LB, Wareham NJ, et al. PPARGC1A sequence variation and cardiovascular risk-factor levels: a study of the main genetic effects and gene x environment interactions in children from the European Youth Heart Study. Diabetologia. 2009;52(4):609-13.

211. Kolonel LN, Altshuler D, Henderson BE. The multiethnic cohort study: exploring genes, lifestyle and cancer risk. Nature reviews Cancer. 2004;4(7):519-27.

212. Guinan KJ. Worldwide distribution of type II diabetes-associated TCF7L2 SNPs: evidence for stratification in Europe. Biochemical genetics. 2012;50(3-4):159-79.

213. Reich DE, Lander ES. On the allelic spectrum of human disease. Trends in genetics : TIG. 2001;17(9):502-10.

214. Hindorff LA, Sethupathy P, Junkins HA, Ramos EM, Mehta JP, Collins FS, et al. Potential etiologic and functional implications of genome-wide association loci for human diseases and traits. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2009;106(23):9362-7.

215. Khera AV, Chaffin M, Wade KH, Zahid S, Brancale J, Xia R, et al. Polygenic Prediction of Weight and Obesity Trajectories from Birth to Adulthood. Cell. 2019;177(3):587-96.e9.

216. Manolio TA, Collins FS, Cox NJ, Goldstein DB, Hindorff LA, Hunter DJ, et al. Finding the missing heritability of complex diseases. Nature. 2009;461(7265):747-53.

217. Hunter DJ. Gene-environment interactions in human diseases. Nature reviews Genetics. 2005;6(4):287-98.

218. Popejoy AB, Fullerton SM. Genomics is failing on diversity. Nature. 2016;538(7624):161-4.

219. Fernández-Rhodes L, Young KL, Lilly AG, Raffield LM, Highland HM, Wojcik GL, et al. Importance of Genetic Studies of Cardiometabolic Disease in Diverse Populations. Circulation research. 2020;126(12):1816-40.

220. Vimaleswaran KS. Gene–nutrient interactions on metabolic diseases: Findings from the GeNuIne Collaboration. Nutrition Bulletin. 2017;42(1):80-6.

221. Vimaleswaran KS. A nutrigenetics approach to study the impact of genetic and lifestyle factors on cardiometabolic traits in various ethnic groups: findings from the GeNuIne Collaboration. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2020;79(2):194-204.

222. Vimaleswaran KS. A nutrigenetics approach to study the impact of genetic and lifestyle factors on cardiometabolic traits in various ethnic groups: findings from the GeNuIne Collaboration. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2020:1-11.

223. Boushey C, Harris J, Bruemmer B, Archer SL, Van Horn L. Publishing nutrition research: a review of study design, statistical analyses, and other key elements of manuscript preparation, Part 1. Journal of the American Dietetic Association. 2006;106(1):89-96.

224. Qi L. Gene-Diet Interactions in Complex Disease: Current Findings and Relevance for Public Health. Current nutrition reports. 2012;1(4):222-7.

225. Davey Smith G. Use of genetic markers and gene-diet interactions for interrogating population-level causal influences of diet on health. Genes & nutrition. 2011;6(1):27-43.

226. Satija A, Yu E, Willett WC, Hu FB. Understanding nutritional epidemiology and its role in policy. Advances in nutrition (Bethesda, Md). 2015;6(1):5-18.

227. Lairon D, Lopez-Miranda J, Williams C. Methodology for studying postprandial lipid metabolism. European journal of clinical nutrition. 2007;61(10):1145-61.

228. Ortega-Azorín C, Sorlí JV, Asensio EM, Coltell O, Martínez-González M, Salas-Salvadó J, et al. Associations of the FTO rs9939609 and the MC4R rs17782313 polymorphisms with type 2 diabetes are modulated by diet, being higher when adherence to the Mediterranean diet pattern is low. Cardiovascular diabetology. 2012;11:137.

229. Kilpeläinen TO, Franks PW. Gene-physical activity interactions and their impact on diabetes. Medicine and sport science. 2014;60:94-103.

230. Vimaleswaran KS, Franks PW, Barroso I, Brage S, Ekelund U, Wareham NJ, et al. Habitual energy expenditure modifies the association between NOS3 gene polymorphisms and blood pressure. American journal of hypertension. 2008;21(3):297-302.

231. Du H, Vimaleswaran KS, Angquist L, Hansen RD, van der AD, Holst C, et al. Genetic polymorphisms in the hypothalamic pathway in relation to subsequent weight change--the DiOGenes study. PloS one. 2011;6(2):e17436.

232. Wirström T, Hilding A, Gu HF, Östenson CG, Björklund A. Consumption of whole grain reduces risk of deteriorating glucose tolerance, including progression to prediabetes. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2013;97(1):179-87.

233. Hindy G, Sonestedt E, Ericson U, Jing XJ, Zhou Y, Hansson O, et al. Role of TCF7L2 risk variant and dietary fibre intake on incident type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2012;55(10):2646-54.

234. Cornelis MC, Qi L, Kraft P, Hu FB. TCF7L2, dietary carbohydrate, and risk of type 2 diabetes in US women. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2009;89(4):1256-62.

235. Villegas R, Goodloe RJ, McClellan BE, Jr., Boston J, Crawford DC. Genecarbohydrate and gene-fiber interactions and type 2 diabetes in diverse populations from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (NHANES) as part of the Epidemiologic Architecture for Genes Linked to Environment (EAGLE) study. BMC genetics. 2014;15:69.

236. Li SX, Imamura F, Ye Z, Schulze MB, Zheng J, Ardanaz E, et al. Interaction between genes and macronutrient intake on the risk of developing type 2 diabetes: systematic review and findings from European Prospective Investigation into Cancer (EPIC)-InterAct. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2017;106(1):263-75.

237. Vimaleswaran KS, Li S, Zhao JH, Luan J, Bingham SA, Khaw KT, et al. Physical activity attenuates the body mass index-increasing influence of genetic variation in the FTO gene. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2009;90(2):425-8.

238. Kilpeläinen TO, Qi L, Brage S, Sharp SJ, Sonestedt E, Demerath E, et al. Physical activity attenuates the influence of FTO variants on obesity risk: a meta-analysis of 218,166 adults and 19,268 children. PLoS medicine. 2011;8(11):e1001116.

239. Vimaleswaran KS, Bodhini D, Lakshmipriya N, Ramya K, Anjana RM, Sudha V, et al. Interaction between FTO gene variants and lifestyle factors on metabolic traits in an Asian Indian population. Nutrition & metabolism. 2016;13:39.

240. Corella D, Arnett DK, Tucker KL, Kabagambe EK, Tsai M, Parnell LD, et al. A high intake of saturated fatty acids strengthens the association between the fat mass and obesity-associated gene and BMI. The Journal of nutrition. 2011;141(12):2219-25.

241. Sonestedt E, Roos C, Gullberg B, Ericson U, Wirfalt E, Orho-Melander M. Fat and carbohydrate intake modify the association between genetic variation in the FTO genotype and obesity. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2009;90(5):1418-25.

242. de Toro-Martín J, Arsenault BJ, Després JP, Vohl MC. Precision Nutrition: A Review of Personalized Nutritional Approaches for the Prevention and Management of Metabolic Syndrome. Nutrients. 2017;9(8).

243. Moore JB. From personalised nutrition to precision medicine: the rise of consumer genomics and digital health. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2020;79(3):300-10.

244. Hasin Y, Seldin M, Lusis A. Multi-omics approaches to disease. Genome biology. 2017;18(1):83.

245. National Research Council Committee on AFfDaNToD. The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health. Toward Precision Medicine: Building a Knowledge Network for Biomedical Research and a New Taxonomy of Disease. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US)

Copyright © 2011, National Academy of Sciences.; 2011.

246. Gibney ER. Personalised nutrition - phenotypic and genetic variation in response to dietary intervention. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2020;79(2):236-45.

247. Ordovas JM, Ferguson LR, Tai ES, Mathers JC. Personalised nutrition and health. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2018;361:bmj.k2173.

248. Müller M, Kersten S. Nutrigenomics: goals and strategies. Nature reviews Genetics. 2003;4(4):315-22.

249. Srinivasan B, Lee S, Erickson D, Mehta S. Precision nutrition - review of methods for point-of-care assessment of nutritional status. Current opinion in biotechnology. 2017;44:103-8.

250. Million M, Diallo A, Raoult D. Gut microbiota and malnutrition. Microbial pathogenesis. 2017;106:127-38.

251. Heiss CN, Olofsson LE. Gut Microbiota-Dependent Modulation of Energy Metabolism. Journal of innate immunity. 2018;10(3):163-71.

252. Vandeputte D. Personalized Nutrition Through The Gut Microbiota: Current Insights And Future Perspectives. Nutrition reviews. 2020;78(12 Suppl 2):66-74.

253. Fuchsberger C, Flannick J, Teslovich TM, Mahajan A, Agarwala V, Gaulton KJ, et al. The genetic architecture of type 2 diabetes. Nature. 2016;536(7614):41-7.

254. Morris AP, Voight BF, Teslovich TM, Ferreira T, Segrè AV, Steinthorsdottir V, et al. Large-scale association analysis provides insights into the genetic architecture and pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes. Nature genetics. 2012;44(9):981-90.

255. Scott RA, Scott LJ, Mägi R, Marullo L, Gaulton KJ, Kaakinen M, et al. An Expanded Genome-Wide Association Study of Type 2 Diabetes in Europeans. Diabetes. 2017;66(11):2888-902.

256. Wang T, Huang T, Zheng Y, Rood J, Bray GA, Sacks FM, et al. Genetic variation of fasting glucose and changes in glycemia in response to 2-year weight-loss diet intervention: the POUNDS LOST trial. International journal of obesity (2005). 2016;40(7):1164-9.

257. Eriksen R, Gibson R, Aresu M, Heard A, Chan Q, Evangelou E, et al. Gene-diet quality interactions on haemoglobin A1c and type 2 diabetes risk: The Airwave Health Monitoring Study. Endocrinology, diabetes & metabolism. 2019;2(4):e00074.

258. Kim DS, Kim BC, Daily JW, Park S. High genetic risk scores for impaired insulin secretory capacity doubles the risk for type 2 diabetes in Asians and is exacerbated by Western-type diets. Diabetes/metabolism research and reviews. 2018;34(1).

259. Qi L, Cornelis MC, Zhang C, van Dam RM, Hu FB. Genetic predisposition, Western dietary pattern, and the risk of type 2 diabetes in men. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2009;89(5):1453-8.

260. Zheng JS, Li K, Huang T, Chen Y, Xie H, Xu D, et al. Genetic Risk Score of Nine Type 2 Diabetes Risk Variants that Interact with Erythrocyte Phospholipid Alpha-Linolenic Acid for Type 2 Diabetes in Chinese Hans: A Case-Control Study. Nutrients. 2017;9(4).

261. Bodhini D, Gaal S, Shatwan I, Ramya K, Ellahi B, Surendran S, et al. Interaction between TCF7L2 polymorphism and dietary fat intake on high density lipoprotein cholesterol. PloS one. 2017;12(11):e0188382.

262. Vimaleswaran KS, Bodhini D, Lakshmipriya N, Ramya K, Anjana RM, Sudha V, et al. Erratum to: Interaction between FTO gene variants and lifestyle factors on metabolic traits in an Asian Indian population. Nutrition & metabolism. 2016;13:41.

263. Castillo JJ, Orlando RA, Garver WS. Gene-nutrient interactions and susceptibility to human obesity. Genes & nutrition. 2017;12:29.

264. WHO/Europe. National Household Health Survey – Prevalence of Noncommunicable Disease Risk Factors in Turkey 2017 2018 [Available from: <u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/countries/turkey/publications/national-household-health-survey-</u>prevalence-of-noncommunicable-disease-risk-factors-in-turkey-2017-2018.

265. World Health Organization. Indonesia - Noncommunicable diseases country profile 2010 [Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/nmh/countries/idn_en.pdf</u>.

266. Ofori-Asenso R, Agyeman AA, Laar A, Boateng D. Overweight and obesity epidemic in Ghana-a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC public health. 2016;16(1):1239.

267. Kilpelainen TO, Qi L, Brage S, Sharp SJ, Sonestedt E, Demerath E, et al. Physical activity attenuates the influence of FTO variants on obesity risk: a meta-analysis of 218,166 adults and 19,268 children. PLoS medicine. 2011;8(11):e1001116.

268. Qi Q, Li Y, Chomistek AK, Kang JH, Curhan GC, Pasquale LR, et al. Television watching, leisure time physical activity, and the genetic predisposition in relation to body mass index in women and men. Circulation. 2012;126(15):1821-7.

269. Telo GH, Cureau FV, Szklo M, Bloch KV, Schaan BD. Prevalence of type 2 diabetes among adolescents in Brazil: Findings from Study of Cardiovascular Risk in Adolescents (ERICA). Pediatric diabetes. 2019;20(4):389-96.

270. Bloch KV, Klein CH, Szklo M, Kuschnir MC, Abreu Gde A, Barufaldi LA, et al. ERICA: prevalences of hypertension and obesity in Brazilian adolescents. Revista de saude publica. 2016;50 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):9s.

271. Kuschnir MC, Bloch KV, Szklo M, Klein CH, Barufaldi LA, Abreu Gde A, et al. ERICA: prevalence of metabolic syndrome in Brazilian adolescents. Revista de saude publica. 2016;50 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):11s.

272. Ventura Barbosa Gonçalves H, Canella DS, Bandoni DH. Temporal variation in food consumption of Brazilian adolescents (2009-2015). PloS one. 2020;15(9):e0239217.

273. Souza RA, Yokoo EM, Sichieri R, Pereira RA. Energy and macronutrient intakes in Brazil: results of the first nationwide individual dietary survey. Public health nutrition. 2015;18(17):3086-95.

274. Nogueira Bezerra I, de Carvalho Gurgel AO, Bastos Barbosa RG, Bezerra da Silva Junior G. Dietary Behaviors among Young and Older Adults in Brazil. The journal of nutrition, health & aging. 2018;22(5):575-80.

275. Khan NA, Wang H, Anand S, Jin Y, Campbell NR, Pilote L, et al. Ethnicity and sex affect diabetes incidence and outcomes. Diabetes care. 2011;34(1):96-101.

276. Mohan V, Mathur P, Deepa R, Deepa M, Shukla DK, Menon GR, et al. Urban rural differences in prevalence of self-reported diabetes in India--the WHO-ICMR Indian NCD risk factor surveillance. Diabetes research and clinical practice. 2008;80(1):159-68.

277. Tandon N, Anjana RM, Mohan V, Kaur T, Afshin A, Ong K, et al. The increasing burden of diabetes and variations among the states of India: the Global Burden of Disease Study 1990-2016. The Lancet Global health. 2018;6(12):e1352-e62.

278. Hu FB. Globalization of diabetes: the role of diet, lifestyle, and genes. Diabetes care. 2011;34(6):1249-57.

279. Ramachandran A, Snehalatha C, Ma RC. Diabetes in South-East Asia: an update. Diabetes research and clinical practice. 2014;103(2):231-7.

280.WHO. National Household Health Survey – Prevalence of Noncommunicable DiseaseRiskFactorsinTurkey20172018[Availablefrom:

http://www.euro.who.int/en/countries/turkey/publications/national-household-health-surveyprevalence-of-noncommunicable-disease-risk-factors-in-turkey-2017-2018.(Accessed March 2019).

281. Pigeyre M, Yazdi FT, Kaur Y, Meyre D. Recent progress in genetics, epigenetics and metagenomics unveils the pathophysiology of human obesity. Clin Sci (Lond). 2016;130(12):943-86.

282. Clifton IJ, McDonough MA, Ehrismann D, Kershaw NJ, Granatino N, Schofield CJ. Structural studies on 2-oxoglutarate oxygenases and related double-stranded β -helix fold proteins. Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry. 2006;100(4):644-69.

283. Abete I, Navas-Carretero S, Zulet M, Martinez J. Genetic regulation of energy homeostasis: obesity implications. In: Caterina R, Martinez J, Kohlmeier M, editors. Principles of nutrigenetics and nutrigenomics. London and Oxford (UK); San Diego (CA) and Cambridge (MA); 2020. p. 175–80.

284. Speliotes EK, Willer CJ, Berndt SI, Monda KL, Thorleifsson G, Jackson AU, et al. Association analyses of 249,796 individuals reveal 18 new loci associated with body mass index. Nature genetics. 2010;42(11):937-48.

285. Peng S, Zhu Y, Xu F, Ren X, Li X, Lai M. FTO gene polymorphisms and obesity risk: a meta-analysis. BMC medicine. 2011;9:71-.

286. Li H, Kilpeläinen TO, Liu C, Zhu J, Liu Y, Hu C, et al. Association of genetic variation in FTO with risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes with data from 96,551 East and South Asians. Diabetologia. 2012;55(4):981-95.

287. Hertel JK, Johansson S, Sonestedt E, Jonsson A, Lie RT, Platou CG, et al. FTO, type 2 diabetes, and weight gain throughout adult life: a meta-analysis of 41,504 subjects from the Scandinavian HUNT, MDC, and MPP studies. Diabetes. 2011;60(5):1637-44.

288. Corella D, Carrasco P, Sorli JV, Coltell O, Ortega-Azorin C, Guillen M, et al. Education modulates the association of the FTO rs9939609 polymorphism with body mass index and obesity risk in the Mediterranean population. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2012;22(8):651-8.

289. Guclu-Geyik F, Onat A, Yuzbasiogullari AB, Coban N, Can G, Lehtimaki T, et al. Risk of obesity and metabolic syndrome associated with FTO gene variants discloses clinically relevant gender difference among Turks. Mol Biol Rep. 2016;43(6):485-94.

290. Onat A. Risk factors and cardiovascular disease in Turkey. Atherosclerosis. 2001;156(1):1-10.

291. Onat A, Can G. Enhanced proinflammatory state and autoimmune activation: a breakthrough to understanding chronic diseases. Curr Pharm Des. 2014;20(4):575-84.

292. OECD. Obesity Update- 2017 [Available from: <u>http://www.oecd.org/health/obesity-update.htm</u>. (Accessed on March 2019).

293. WHO-2016. Turkish Healthy Nutrition and Active Life Programme 2010–2014 and related initiatives (2016) 2016 [Available from: <u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/noncommunicable-diseases/obesity/publications/2017/turkish-healthy-nutrition-and-active-life-programme-20102014-and-related-initiatives-2016</u>. (Accessed on March 2019).

294. Castillo JJ, Orlando RA, Garver WS. Gene-nutrient interactions and susceptibility to human obesity. Genes & nutrition. 2017;12:29-.

295. Grau K, Hansen T, Holst C, Astrup A, Saris WH, Arner P, et al. Macronutrient-specific effect of FTO rs9939609 in response to a 10-week randomized hypo-energetic diet among obese Europeans. Int J Obes (Lond). 2009;33(11):1227-34.

296. Lappalainen T, Lindström J, Paananen J, Eriksson JG, Karhunen L, Tuomilehto J, et al. Association of the fat mass and obesity-associated (FTO) gene variant (rs9939609) with dietary intake in the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. The British journal of nutrition. 2012;108(10):1859-65.

297. Ortega-Azorin C, Sorli JV, Asensio EM, Coltell O, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Salas-Salvado J, et al. Associations of the FTO rs9939609 and the MC4R rs17782313 polymorphisms with type 2 diabetes are modulated by diet, being higher when adherence to the Mediterranean diet pattern is low. Cardiovascular diabetology. 2012;11:137.

298. Phillips CM, Kesse-Guyot E, McManus R, Hercberg S, Lairon D, Planells R, et al. High dietary saturated fat intake accentuates obesity risk associated with the fat mass and obesity-associated gene in adults. The Journal of nutrition. 2012;142(5):824-31.

299. Qi Q, Kilpeläinen TO, Downer MK, Tanaka T, Smith CE, Sluijs I, et al. FTO genetic variants, dietary intake and body mass index: insights from 177,330 individuals. Human molecular genetics. 2014;23(25):6961-72.

300. Vimaleswaran KS, Angquist L, Hansen RD, van der AD, Bouatia-Naji N, Holst C, et al. Association between FTO variant and change in body weight and its interaction with dietary factors: the DiOGenes study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2012;20(8):1669-74.

301. Vimaleswaran KS. Gene–nutrient interactions on metabolic diseases: Findings from the GeNuIne Collaboration. 2017;42(1):80-6.

302. Merritt DC, Jamnik J, El-Sohemy A. FTO genotype, dietary protein intake, and body weight in a multiethnic population of young adults: a cross-sectional study. Genes Nutr. 2018;13:4.

303. Chu AY, Workalemahu T, Paynter NP, Rose LM, Giulianini F, Tanaka T, et al. Novel locus including FGF21 is associated with dietary macronutrient intake. Human molecular genetics. 2013;22(9):1895-902.

304. WHO-BMI.

Classification_http://apps.who.int/bmi/index.jsp?introPage=intro_3.html.(Accessed on March 2019).

305. WHO-2005. Preventing Chronic Diseases: a Vital Investment: Geneva, World Health Organization.

306. WHO_Waist.

Circumference.

BMI

<u>https://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/obesity/WHO_report_waistcircumference_and_waisthip_ratio/en/Waist_circumference_and_waist_hip_ratio.</u> Report_of_a_WHO_expert_consultation, Geneva, 8-11 December 2008. (Accessed on March 2019).

307. Sonmez A, Bayram F, Barcin C, Ozsan M, Kaya A, Gedik V. Waist circumference cutoff points to predict obesity, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular risk in Turkish adults. Int J Endocrinol. 2013;2013:767202.

308. Peltz G, Aguirre MT, Sanderson M, Fadden MK. The role of fat mass index in determining obesity. Am J Hum Biol. 2010;22(5):639-47.

309. Frese EM, Fick A, Sadowsky HS. Blood pressure measurement guidelines for physical therapists. Cardiopulm Phys Ther J. 2011;22(2):5-12.

310. Saglam M, Arikan H, Savci S, Inal-Ince D, Bosnak-Guclu M, Karabulut E, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: reliability and validity of the Turkish version. Percept Mot Skills. 2010;111(1):278-84.

311. Stojanovic S, Ilic MD, Ilic S, Petrovic D, Djukic S. The significance of adiponectin as a biomarker in metabolic syndrome and/or coronary artery disease. Vojnosanit Pregl. 2015;72(9):779-84.

312. IHME_Turkey. http://www.healthdata.org/turkey. Accessed 8 October 2018 [

313. Muc M, Padez C, Manco LJAJoHB. Influence of physical activity on the association between the FTO variant rs9939609 and adiposity in young adults. 2015;27(5):734-8.

314. Do R, Bailey SD, Desbiens K, Belisle A, Montpetit A, Bouchard C, et al. Genetic variants of FTO influence adiposity, insulin sensitivity, leptin levels, and resting metabolic rate in the Quebec Family Study. Diabetes. 2008;57(4):1147-50.
315. De Luis DA, Aller R, Izaola O, Primo D, Romero E. Association of the rs9939609 gene variant in FTO with insulin resistance, cardiovascular risk factor and serum adipokine levels in obese patients. Nutr Hosp. 2016;33(5):573.

316. Saucedo R, Valencia J, Gutierrez C, Basurto L, Hernandez M, Puello E, et al. Gene variants in the FTO gene are associated with adiponectin and TNF-alpha levels in gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetology & metabolic syndrome. 2017;9:32-.

317. de Luis DA, Aller R, Izaola O, Primo D, Urdiales S, Romero E. Effects of a High-Protein/Low-Carbohydrate Diet versus a Standard Hypocaloric Diet on Weight and Cardiovascular Risk Factors: Role of a Genetic Variation in the rs9939609 FTO Gene Variant. Journal of nutrigenetics and nutrigenomics. 2015;8(3):128-36.

318. Zhang X, Qi Q, Zhang C, Smith SR, Hu FB, Sacks FM, et al. FTO genotype and 2-year change in body composition and fat distribution in response to weight-loss diets: the POUNDS LOST Trial. Diabetes. 2012;61(11):3005-11.

319. Huang T, Qi Q, Li Y, Hu FB, Bray GA, Sacks FM, et al. FTO genotype, dietary protein, and change in appetite: the Preventing Overweight Using Novel Dietary Strategies trial. Am J Clin Nutr. 2014;99(5):1126-30.

320. Kirac D, Kasimay Cakir O, Avcilar T, Deyneli O, Kurtel H, Yazici D, et al. Effects of MC4R, FTO, and NMB gene variants to obesity, physical activity, and eating behavior phenotypes. IUBMB life. 2016;68(10):806-16.

321. Kern PA, Di Gregorio GB, Lu T, Rassouli N, Ranganathan G. Adiponectin expression from human adipose tissue: relation to obesity, insulin resistance, and tumor necrosis factoralpha expression. Diabetes. 2003;52(7):1779-85.

322. Lee B, Shao J. Adiponectin and energy homeostasis. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2014;15(2):149-56.

323. Ohashi K, Ouchi N, Matsuzawa Y. Anti-inflammatory and anti-atherogenic properties of adiponectin. Biochimie. 2012;94(10):2137-42.

324. Avogaro A, de Kreutzenberg SV. Mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction in obesity. Clin Chim Acta. 2005;360(1-2):9-26.

325. De Pergola G, Silvestris F. Obesity as a major risk factor for cancer. J Obes. 2013;2013:291546.

326. Jurimae J, Kums T, Jurimae T. Plasma adiponectin concentration is associated with the average accelerometer daily steps counts in healthy elderly females. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2010;109(5):823-8.

327. St-Pierre DH, Faraj M, Karelis AD, Conus F, Henry JF, St-Onge M, et al. Lifestyle behaviours and components of energy balance as independent predictors of ghrelin and adiponectin in young non-obese women. Diabetes Metab. 2006;32(2):131-9.

328. Nurnazahiah A, Lua PL, Shahril MR. Adiponectin, Leptin and Objectively Measured Physical Activity in Adults: A Narrative Review. The Malaysian journal of medical sciences : MJMS. 2016;23(6):7-24.

329. De Rosa A, Monaco ML, Capasso M, Forestieri P, Pilone V, Nardelli C, et al. Adiponectin oligomers as potential indicators of adipose tissue improvement in obese subjects. Eur J Endocrinol. 2013;169(1):37-43.

330. Mavri A, Poredos P, Suran D, Gaborit B, Juhan-Vague I, Poredos P. Effect of dietinduced weight loss on endothelial dysfunction: early improvement after the first week of dieting. Heart Vessels. 2011;26(1):31-8.

331. Pekcan A SG DD, Kızıl M, Rakıcıoğlu N, Yıldız E, Özel H, Mercanlıgil S, Ersoy G, Karaağaoğlu N, Aksoy B, Yılmaz D, Ilgaz F, Türkoğlu İnci, Bilgiç P, Demir S, Ersoy N, Fisunoğlu M, Yalçın T, Tamer F, Coşkun Y, Türkyılmaz S, Güler S, Buzgan T, Besler H. . Population based study of obesity in Turkey: results of the Turkey Nutrition and Health Survey (TNHS)-2010. 2018;19(3):248-56. 332. Leal J, Luengo-Fernandez R, Gray A, Petersen S, Rayner M. Economic burden of cardiovascular diseases in the enlarged European Union. European heart journal. 2006;27(13):1610-9.

333. World Health Organization. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) 2015 [Available from: www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs317/en/index.html.

334. Soewondo P, Ferrario A, Tahapary DL. Challenges in diabetes management in Indonesia: a literature review. Global Health. 2013;9:63.

335. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas. 6th ed. 2013 [Available from: https://diabetesatlas.org/.

336. Dans A, Ng N, Varghese C, Tai ES, Firestone R, Bonita R. The rise of chronic noncommunicable diseases in southeast Asia: time for action. Lancet (London, England). 2011;377(9766):680-9.

337. Herningtyas EH, Ng TS. Prevalence and distribution of metabolic syndrome and its components among provinces and ethnic groups in Indonesia. BMC public health. 2019;19(1):377.

338. Ratna Djuwita P, Sudijanto Kamso, NUTRIENTS INTAKE PATTERN OF A MINANGKABAU ETHNIC GROUP. MAKARA, KESEHATAN, 2003;7(1).

339. Hatma RD. Lipid profiles among diverse ethnic groups in Indonesia. Acta Med Indones. 2011;43(1):4-11.

340. Desmawati DS, Yuniar Lestari, Ulya Uti Fasrini, Afriwardi. Fat Intake is Associated with Nutritional Status in Minangkabau Adult Women: A Cross-Sectional Study. PakJNutr. 2019;18:387-90.

341. Angkurawaranon C, Jiraporncharoen W, Chenthanakij B, Doyle P, Nitsch D. Urban environments and obesity in southeast Asia: a systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression. PloS one. 2014;9(11):e113547.

342. Mboi N, Murty Surbakti I, Trihandini I, Elyazar I, Houston Smith K, Bahjuri Ali P, et al. On the road to universal health care in Indonesia, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet (London, England). 2018;392(10147):581-91.

343. Cho YS, Chen CH, Hu C, Long J, Ong RT, Sim X, et al. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies identifies eight new loci for type 2 diabetes in east Asians. Nature genetics. 2011;44(1):67-72.

344. Kim YJ, Go MJ, Hu C, Hong CB, Kim YK, Lee JY, et al. Large-scale genome-wide association studies in East Asians identify new genetic loci influencing metabolic traits. Nature genetics. 2011;43(10):990-5.

345. Unoki H, Takahashi A, Kawaguchi T, Hara K, Horikoshi M, Andersen G, et al. SNPs in KCNQ1 are associated with susceptibility to type 2 diabetes in East Asian and European populations. Nature genetics. 2008;40(9):1098-102.

346. Wu Y, Gao H, Li H, Tabara Y, Nakatochi M, Chiu YF, et al. A meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies for adiponectin levels in East Asians identifies a novel locus near WDR11-FGFR2. Human molecular genetics. 2014;23(4):1108-19.

347. Dudbridge F. Polygenic Epidemiology. Genetic epidemiology. 2016;40(4):268-72.

348. Qi Q, Qi L. Sugar-sweetened beverages, genetic risk, and obesity. The New England journal of medicine. 2013;368(3):286-7.

349. Huls A, Kramer U, Carlsten C, Schikowski T, Ickstadt K, Schwender H. Comparison of weighting approaches for genetic risk scores in gene-environment interaction studies. BMC genetics. 2017;18(1):115.

350. Surendran S, Aji AS, Ariyasra U, Sari SR, Malik SG, Tasrif N, et al. A nutrigenetic approach for investigating the relationship between vitamin B12 status and metabolic traits in Indonesian women. J Diabetes Metab Disord. 2019:1-11.

351. Pan WH, Yeh WT. How to define obesity? Evidence-based multiple action points for public awareness, screening, and treatment: an extension of Asian-Pacific recommendations. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2008;17(3):370-4.

352. Lipoeto NI, Agus Z, Oenzil F, Wahlqvist M, Wattanapenpaiboon N. Dietary intake and the risk of coronary heart disease among the coconut-consuming Minangkabau in West Sumatra, Indonesia. Asia Pacific journal of clinical nutrition. 2004;13(4):377-84.

353. Kemenkes R. Buku Foto Makanan Survei Konsumsi Makanan Individu (SKMI-2014. Jakarta: Hipokrate. 2016.

354. Willett WC, Howe GR, Kushi LH. Adjustment for total energy intake in epidemiologic studies. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 1997;65(4 Suppl):1220S-8S; discussion 9S-31S.

355. Armstrong T, Bull F. Development of the World Health Organization Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ). Journal of Public Health. 2006;14(2):66-70.

356. Apalasamy YD, Ming MF, Rampal S, Bulgiba A, Mohamed Z. Association of melanocortin-4 receptor gene polymorphisms with obesity-related parameters in Malaysian Malays. Ann Hum Biol. 2013;40(1):102-6.

357. Chang YC, Liu PH, Yu YH, Kuo SS, Chang TJ, Jiang YD, et al. Validation of type 2 diabetes risk variants identified by genome-wide association studies in Han Chinese population: a replication study and meta-analysis. PloS one. 2014;9(4):e95045.

358. Croteau-Chonka DC, Marvelle AF, Lange EM, Lee NR, Adair LS, Lange LA, et al. Genome-wide association study of anthropometric traits and evidence of interactions with age and study year in Filipino women. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2011;19(5):1019-27.

359. Illangasekera YA, Kumarasiri RP, Fernando DJ, Dalton CF. Association of FTO and near MC4R variants with obesity measures in urban and rural dwelling Sri Lankans. Obes Res Clin Pract. 2016;10 Suppl 1:S117-s24.

360. Ji MJ, Ku EJ, Oh TK, Jeon HJ. Association of Adiponectin 45T/G Polymorphism with Diabetic Cardiovascular Complications in Korean Type 2 Diabetes. J Korean Med Sci. 2018;33(17):e124.

361. Kaur H, Badaruddoza B, Bains V, Kaur A. Genetic association of ADIPOQ gene variants (-3971A>G and +276G>T) with obesity and metabolic syndrome in North Indian Punjabi population. PloS one. 2018;13(9):e0204502.

362. Kommoju UJ, Maruda J, Kadarkarai Samy S, Irgam K, Kotla JP, Reddy BM. Association of IRS1, CAPN10, and PPARG gene polymorphisms with type 2 diabetes mellitus in the high-risk population of Hyderabad, India. Journal of diabetes. 2014;6(6):564-73.

363. Lee YH, Kang ES, Kim SH, Han SJ, Kim CH, Kim HJ, et al. Association between polymorphisms in SLC30A8, HHEX, CDKN2A/B, IGF2BP2, FTO, WFS1, CDKAL1, KCNQ1 and type 2 diabetes in the Korean population. Journal of human genetics. 2008;53(11-12):991-8.

364. Ramya K, Radha V, Ghosh S, Majumder PP, Mohan V. Genetic variations in the FTO gene are associated with type 2 diabetes and obesity in south Indians (CURES-79). Diabetes technology & therapeutics. 2011;13(1):33-42.

365. Vasan SK, Fall T, Neville MJ, Antonisamy B, Fall CH, Geethanjali FS, et al. Associations of variants in FTO and near MC4R with obesity traits in South Asian Indians. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2012;20(11):2268-77.

366. Aller EE, Larsen TM, Claus H, Lindroos AK, Kafatos A, Pfeiffer A, et al. Weight loss maintenance in overweight subjects on ad libitum diets with high or low protein content and glycemic index: the DIOGENES trial 12-month results. International journal of obesity (2005). 2014;38(12):1511-7.

367. Deurenberg-Yap M, Chew SK, Deurenberg P. Elevated body fat percentage and cardiovascular risks at low body mass index levels among Singaporean Chinese, Malays and

Indians. Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2002;3(3):209-15.

368. McKeigue PM, Shah B, Marmot MG. Relation of central obesity and insulin resistance with high diabetes prevalence and cardiovascular risk in South Asians. Lancet (London, England). 1991;337(8738):382-6.

Wang J, Thornton JC, Russell M, Burastero S, Heymsfield S, Pierson RN, Jr. Asians 369. have lower body mass index (BMI) but higher percent body fat than do whites: comparisons of anthropometric measurements. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 1994;60(1):23-8. Tanko LB, Bagger YZ, Qin G, Alexandersen P, Larsen PJ, Christiansen C. Enlarged 370. waist combined with elevated triglycerides is a strong predictor of accelerated atherogenesis cardiovascular mortality postmenopausal and related in women. Circulation. 2005;111(15):1883-90.

371. NUTRITIONAL ADEQUACY RATE (AKG) 2013 [Available from: https://bohmks.blogspot.com/2014/01/angka-kecukupan-gizi-akg-2013.html.

372. WFP/FAO. Modeling the Future of Indonesian Food Consumption 2018 [Available from: <u>https://www.wfp.org/publications/wfpfao-modeling-future-indonesian-food-consumption-june-2018</u>.

373. Ankarfeldt MZ, Gottliebsen K, Angquist L, Astrup A, Heitmann BL, Sorensen TI. Dietary protein and urinary nitrogen in relation to 6-year changes in fat mass and fat-free mass. International journal of obesity (2005). 2015;39(1):162-8.

374. Halkjaer J, Olsen A, Overvad K, Jakobsen MU, Boeing H, Buijsse B, et al. Intake of total, animal and plant protein and subsequent changes in weight or waist circumference in European men and women: the Diogenes project. International journal of obesity (2005). 2011;35(8):1104-13.

375. Vergnaud AC, Norat T, Mouw T, Romaguera D, May AM, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, et al. Macronutrient composition of the diet and prospective weight change in participants of the EPIC-PANACEA study. PloS one. 2013;8(3):e57300.

376. Due A, Toubro S, Skov AR, Astrup A. Effect of normal-fat diets, either medium or high in protein, on body weight in overweight subjects: a randomised 1-year trial. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2004;28(10):1283-90.

377. Heid IM, Jackson AU, Randall JC, Winkler TW, Qi L, Steinthorsdottir V, et al. Metaanalysis identifies 13 new loci associated with waist-hip ratio and reveals sexual dimorphism in the genetic basis of fat distribution. Nature genetics. 2010;42(11):949-60.

378. Loos RJ, Lindgren CM, Li S, Wheeler E, Zhao JH, Prokopenko I, et al. Common variants near MC4R are associated with fat mass, weight and risk of obesity. Nature genetics. 2008;40(6):768-75.

379. Thorleifsson G, Walters GB, Gudbjartsson DF, Steinthorsdottir V, Sulem P, Helgadottir A, et al. Genome-wide association yields new sequence variants at seven loci that associate with measures of obesity. Nature genetics. 2009;41(1):18-24.

380. Fisher E, Meidtner K, Angquist L, Holst C, Hansen RD, Halkjaer J, et al. Influence of dietary protein intake and glycemic index on the association between TCF7L2 HapA and weight gain. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2012;95(6):1468-76.

381. Larsen LH, Angquist L, Vimaleswaran KS, Hager J, Viguerie N, Loos RJ, et al. Analyses of single nucleotide polymorphisms in selected nutrient-sensitive genes in weight-regain prevention: the DIOGENES study. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2012;95(5):1254-60.

382. Stocks T, Angquist L, Hager J, Charon C, Holst C, Martinez JA, et al. TFAP2B -dietary protein and glycemic index interactions and weight maintenance after weight loss in the DiOGenes trial. Human heredity. 2013;75(2-4):213-9.

383. Ankarfeldt MZ, Larsen SC, Angquist L, Husemoen LL, Roswall N, Overvad K, et al. Interaction between genetic predisposition to adiposity and dietary protein in relation to subsequent change in body weight and waist circumference. PloS one. 2014;9(10):e110890.

384. Rukh G, Sonestedt E, Melander O, Hedblad B, Wirfalt E, Ericson U, et al. Genetic susceptibility to obesity and diet intakes: association and interaction analyses in the Malmo Diet and Cancer Study. Genes & nutrition. 2013;8(6):535-47.

385. Celis-Morales CA, Lyall DM, Gray SR, Steell L, Anderson J, Iliodromiti S, et al. Dietary fat and total energy intake modifies the association of genetic profile risk score on obesity: evidence from 48 170 UK Biobank participants. International journal of obesity (2005). 2017;41(12):1761-8.

386. Schulze MB, Fung TT, Manson JE, Willett WC, Hu FB. Dietary patterns and changes in body weight in women. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2006;14(8):1444-53.

387. Mikkelsen PB, Toubro S, Astrup A. Effect of fat-reduced diets on 24-h energy expenditure: comparisons between animal protein, vegetable protein, and carbohydrate. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2000;72(5):1135-41.

388. Zemel MB. The role of dairy foods in weight management. Journal of the American College of Nutrition. 2005;24(6 Suppl):537s-46s.

389. Li S, Zhao JH, Luan J, Ekelund U, Luben RN, Khaw KT, et al. Physical activity attenuates the genetic predisposition to obesity in 20,000 men and women from EPIC-Norfolk prospective population study. PLoS medicine. 2010;7(8).

390. Rimm EB, Giovannucci EL, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Litin LB, Willett WC. Reproducibility and validity of an expanded self-administered semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire among male health professionals. American journal of epidemiology. 1992;135(10):1114-26; discussion 27-36.

391. Willett WC, Sampson L, Stampfer MJ, Rosner B, Bain C, Witschi J, et al. Reproducibility and validity of a semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire. American journal of epidemiology. 1985;122(1):51-65.

392. Kelly T, Yang W, Chen CS, Reynolds K, He J. Global burden of obesity in 2005 and projections to 2030. International journal of obesity (2005). 2008;32(9):1431-7.

393. Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, Thomson B, Graetz N, Margono C, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet (London, England). 2014;384(9945):766-81.

394. Nicolaidis S. Environment and obesity. Metabolism: clinical and experimental. 2019;100s:153942.

395. Tilg H, Kaser A. Gut microbiome, obesity, and metabolic dysfunction. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2011;121(6):2126-32.

396. Froy O. Metabolism and circadian rhythms--implications for obesity. Endocrine reviews. 2010;31(1):1-24.

397. Egusquiza RJ, Blumberg B. Environmental Obesogens and Their Impact on Susceptibility to Obesity: New Mechanisms and Chemicals. Endocrinology. 2020;161(3).

398. Herrera BM, Keildson S, Lindgren CM. Genetics and epigenetics of obesity. Maturitas. 2011;69(1):41-9.

399. Parsanathan R, Jain SK. Glutathione deficiency induces epigenetic alterations of vitamin D metabolism genes in the livers of high-fat diet-fed obese mice. Scientific reports. 2019;9(1):14784.

400. Owen JB. Genetic aspects of body composition. Nutrition (Burbank, Los Angeles County, Calif). 1999;15(7-8):609-13.

401. Berndt SI, Gustafsson S, Magi R, Ganna A, Wheeler E, Feitosa MF, et al. Genomewide meta-analysis identifies 11 new loci for anthropometric traits and provides insights into genetic architecture. Nature genetics. 2013;45(5):501-12.

402. Okada Y, Kubo M, Ohmiya H, Takahashi A, Kumasaka N, Hosono N, et al. Common variants at CDKAL1 and KLF9 are associated with body mass index in east Asian populations. Nature genetics. 2012;44(3):302-6.

403. Wen W, Cho YS, Zheng W, Dorajoo R, Kato N, Qi L, et al. Meta-analysis identifies common variants associated with body mass index in east Asians. Nature genetics. 2012;44(3):307-11.

404. Willer CJ, Li Y, Abecasis GR. METAL: fast and efficient meta-analysis of genomewide association scans. Bioinformatics (Oxford, England). 2010;26(17):2190-1.

405. Winkler TW, Justice AE, Graff M, Barata L, Feitosa MF, Chu S, et al. Correction: The Influence of Age and Sex on Genetic Associations with Adult Body Size and Shape: A Large-Scale Genome-Wide Interaction Study. PLoS genetics. 2016;12(6):e1006166.

406. Fesinmeyer MD, North KE, Ritchie MD, Lim U, Franceschini N, Wilkens LR, et al. Genetic risk factors for BMI and obesity in an ethnically diverse population: results from the population architecture using genomics and epidemiology (PAGE) study. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2013;21(4):835-46.

407. Hester JM, Wing MR, Li J, Palmer ND, Xu J, Hicks PJ, et al. Implication of Europeanderived adiposity loci in African Americans. International journal of obesity (2005). 2012;36(3):465-73.

408. Rotimi C, Abayomi A, Abimiku A, Adabayeri VM, Adebamowo C, Adebiyi E, et al. Research capacity. Enabling the genomic revolution in Africa. Science (New York, NY). 2014;344(6190):1346-8.

409. Rotimi CN, Bentley AR, Doumatey AP, Chen G, Shriner D, Adeyemo A. The genomic landscape of African populations in health and disease. Human molecular genetics. 2017;26(R2):R225-r36.

410. Adeyemo A, Chen G, Zhou J, Shriner D, Doumatey A, Huang H, et al. FTO genetic variation and association with obesity in West Africans and African Americans. Diabetes. 2010;59(6):1549-54.

411. Hung CF, Breen G, Czamara D, Corre T, Wolf C, Kloiber S, et al. A genetic risk score combining 32 SNPs is associated with body mass index and improves obesity prediction in people with major depressive disorder. BMC medicine. 2015;13:86.

412. Peterson RE, Maes HH, Holmans P, Sanders AR, Levinson DF, Shi J, et al. Genetic risk sum score comprised of common polygenic variation is associated with body mass index. Human genetics. 2011;129(2):221-30.

413. Sandholt CH, Sparso T, Grarup N, Albrechtsen A, Almind K, Hansen L, et al. Combined analyses of 20 common obesity susceptibility variants. Diabetes. 2010;59(7):1667-73.

414. Badsi MN, Mediene-Benchekor S, Ouhaibi-Djellouli H, Lardjam-Hetraf SA, Boulenouar H, Meroufel DN, et al. Combined effect of established BMI loci on obesity-related traits in an Algerian population sample. BMC genetics. 2014;15:128.

415. Munthali RJ, Sahibdeen V, Kagura J, Hendry LM, Norris SA, Ong KK, et al. Genetic risk score for adult body mass index associations with childhood and adolescent weight gain in an African population. Genes & nutrition. 2018;13:24.

416. Qi Q, Chu AY, Kang JH, Huang J, Rose LM, Jensen MK, et al. Fried food consumption, genetic risk, and body mass index: gene-diet interaction analysis in three US cohort studies. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2014;348:g1610.

417. Qi Q, Chu AY, Kang JH, Jensen MK, Curhan GC, Pasquale LR, et al. Sugar-sweetened beverages and genetic risk of obesity. The New England journal of medicine. 2012;367(15):1387-96.

418. Wang T HY, Sun D, Huang T, Ma W, Rimm EB, Manson JE, Hu FB WW, Qi L, et al. Improving adherence to healthy dietary patterns, genetic risk, and long term weight gain: genediet interaction analysis in two prospective cohort studies. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2018;360:k693.

419. Vimaleswaran KS. Gene–nutrient interactions on metabolic diseases: findings from the GeNuIne collaboration. Nutr Bull. 2017

42(1):80–6.

420. Global Physical Activity Surveillance [Available from: https://www.who.int/ncds/surveillance/steps/GPAQ/en/

421. Janssens AC, Moonesinghe R, Yang Q, Steyerberg EW, van Duijn CM, Khoury MJ. The impact of genotype frequencies on the clinical validity of genomic profiling for predicting common chronic diseases. Genetics in medicine : official journal of the American College of Medical Genetics. 2007;9(8):528-35.

422. Bazzi MD, Nasr FA, Alanazi MS, Alamri A, Turjoman AA, Moustafa AS, et al. Association between FTO, MC4R, SLC30A8, and KCNQ1 gene variants and type 2 diabetes in Saudi population. Genetics and molecular research : GMR. 2014;13(4):10194-203.

423. Holmkvist J, Banasik K, Andersen G, Unoki H, Jensen TS, Pisinger C, et al. The type 2 diabetes associated minor allele of rs2237895 KCNQ1 associates with reduced insulin release following an oral glucose load. PloS one. 2009;4(6):e5872.

424. Hsiao TJ, Lin E. A Validation Study of Adiponectin rs266729 Gene Variant with Type 2 Diabetes, Obesity, and Metabolic Phenotypes in a Taiwanese Population. Biochemical genetics. 2016;54(6):830-41.

425. Lu JF, Zhou Y, Huang GH, Jiang HX, Hu BL, Qin SY. Association of ADIPOQ polymorphisms with obesity risk: a meta-analysis. Human immunology. 2014;75(10):1062-8.

426. Martinez-Gomez LE, Cruz M, Martinez-Nava GA, Madrid-Marina V, Parra E, Garcia-Mena J, et al. A replication study of the IRS1, CAPN10, TCF7L2, and PPARG gene polymorphisms associated with type 2 diabetes in two different populations of Mexico. Annals of human genetics. 2011;75(5):612-20.

427. Galbete C, Nicolaou M, Meeks KA, de-Graft Aikins A, Addo J, Amoah SK, et al. Food consumption, nutrient intake, and dietary patterns in Ghanaian migrants in Europe and their compatriots in Ghana. Food & nutrition research. 2017;61(1):1341809.

428. Logan M, Van der Merwe MT, Dodgen TM, Myburgh R, Eloff A, Alessandrini M, et al. Allelic variants of the Melanocortin 4 receptor (MC4R) gene in a South African study group. Molecular genetics & genomic medicine. 2016;4(1):68-76.

429. Sahibdeen V, Crowther NJ, Soodyall H, Hendry LM, Munthali RJ, Hazelhurst S, et al. Genetic variants in SEC16B are associated with body composition in black South Africans. Nutrition & diabetes. 2018;8(1):43.

430. Adeyemo AA, Tekola-Ayele F, Doumatey AP, Bentley AR, Chen G, Huang H, et al. Evaluation of Genome Wide Association Study Associated Type 2 Diabetes Susceptibility Loci in Sub Saharan Africans. Frontiers in genetics. 2015;6:335.

431. Chen J, Sun M, Adeyemo A, Pirie F, Carstensen T, Pomilla C, et al. Genome-wide association study of type 2 diabetes in Africa. Diabetologia. 2019;62(7):1204-11.

432. Gong J, Schumacher F, Lim U, Hindorff LA, Haessler J, Buyske S, et al. Fine Mapping and Identification of BMI Loci in African Americans. American journal of human genetics. 2013;93(4):661-71.

433. Shriner D, Adeyemo A, Gerry NP, Herbert A, Chen G, Doumatey A, et al. Transferability and fine-mapping of genome-wide associated loci for adult height across human populations. PloS one. 2009;4(12):e8398.

434. Yako YY, Echouffo-Tcheugui JB, Balti EV, Matsha TE, Sobngwi E, Erasmus RT, et al. Genetic association studies of obesity in Africa: a systematic review. Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2015;16(3):259-72.

435. Chen G, Doumatey AP, Zhou J, Lei L, Bentley AR, Tekola-Ayele F, et al. Genomewide analysis identifies an african-specific variant in SEMA4D associated with body mass index. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2017;25(4):794-800.

436. Yako YY, Madubedube JH, Kengne AP, Erasmus RT, Pillay TS, Matsha TE. Contribution of ENPP1, TCF7L2, and FTO polymorphisms to type 2 diabetes in mixed ancestry ethnic population of South Africa. African health sciences. 2015;15(4):1149-60.

437. Monda KL, Chen GK, Taylor KC, Palmer C, Edwards TL, Lange LA, et al. A metaanalysis identifies new loci associated with body mass index in individuals of African ancestry. Nature genetics. 2013;45(6):690-6.

438. Campbell MC, Tishkoff SA. African genetic diversity: implications for human demographic history, modern human origins, and complex disease mapping. Annual review of genomics and human genetics. 2008;9:403-33.

439. Schleinitz D, Bottcher Y, Bluher M, Kovacs P. The genetics of fat distribution. Diabetologia. 2014;57(7):1276-86.

440. Wang Y, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, Hu FB. Comparison of abdominal adiposity and overall obesity in predicting risk of type 2 diabetes among men. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2005;81(3):555-63.

441. Moleres A, Ochoa MC, Rendo-Urteaga T, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Azcona San Julian MC, Martinez JA, et al. Dietary fatty acid distribution modifies obesity risk linked to the rs9939609 polymorphism of the fat mass and obesity-associated gene in a Spanish case-control study of children. The British journal of nutrition. 2012;107(4):533-8.

442. de Luis DA, Aller R, Izaola O, de la Fuente B, Conde R, Sagrado MG, et al. Evaluation of weight loss and adipocytokines levels after two hypocaloric diets with different macronutrient distribution in obese subjects with rs9939609 gene variant. Diabetes/metabolism research and reviews. 2012;28(8):663-8.

443. Casas-Agustench P, Arnett DK, Smith CE, Lai CQ, Parnell LD, Borecki IB, et al. Saturated fat intake modulates the association between an obesity genetic risk score and body mass index in two US populations. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2014;114(12):1954-66.

444. Bray GA, Paeratakul S, Popkin BM. Dietary fat and obesity: a review of animal, clinical and epidemiological studies. Physiology & behavior. 2004;83(4):549-55.

445. Micallef M, Munro I, Phang M, Garg M. Plasma n-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids are negatively associated with obesity. The British journal of nutrition. 2009;102(9):1370-4.

446. Iso H, Rexrode KM, Stampfer MJ, Manson JE, Colditz GA, Speizer FE, et al. Intake of fish and omega-3 fatty acids and risk of stroke in women. Jama. 2001;285(3):304-12.

447. He K, Rimm EB, Merchant A, Rosner BA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, et al. Fish consumption and risk of stroke in men. Jama. 2002;288(24):3130-6.

448. Kabir M, Skurnik G, Naour N, Pechtner V, Meugnier E, Rome S, et al. Treatment for 2 mo with n 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids reduces adiposity and some atherogenic factors but does not improve insulin sensitivity in women with type 2 diabetes: a randomized controlled study. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2007;86(6):1670-9.

449. Thorsdottir I, Tomasson H, Gunnarsdottir I, Gisladottir E, Kiely M, Parra MD, et al. Randomized trial of weight-loss-diets for young adults varying in fish and fish oil content. International journal of obesity (2005). 2007;31(10):1560-6.

450. Weech M, Vafeiadou K, Hasaj M, Todd S, Yaqoob P, Jackson KG, et al. Development of a food-exchange model to replace saturated fat with MUFAs and n-6 PUFAs in adults at moderate cardiovascular risk. The Journal of nutrition. 2014;144(6):846-55.

451. Kastorini CM, Milionis HJ, Esposito K, Giugliano D, Goudevenos JA, Panagiotakos DB. The effect of Mediterranean diet on metabolic syndrome and its components: a metaanalysis of 50 studies and 534,906 individuals. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2011;57(11):1299-313.

452. Khaw KT, Sharp SJ, Finikarides L, Afzal I, Lentjes M, Luben R, et al. Randomised trial of coconut oil, olive oil or butter on blood lipids and other cardiovascular risk factors in healthy men and women. BMJ open. 2018;8(3):e020167.

453. Heianza Y, Qi L. Gene-Diet Interaction and Precision Nutrition in Obesity. International journal of molecular sciences. 2017;18(4).

454. World Health Organization. Healthy diet 2018 [Available from: https://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/nutrientrequirements/healthydiet_factsheet/en/.

455. World Health Organization. Interim Summary of Conclusions and Dietary Recommendations on Total Fat & Fatty Acids. 2008 [Available from: https://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/FFA_summary_rec_conclusion.pdf.

456. Micha R, Khatibzadeh S, Shi P, Fahimi S, Lim S, Andrews KG, et al. Global, regional, and national consumption levels of dietary fats and oils in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis including 266 country-specific nutrition surveys. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2014;348:g2272. 457. Mertens E, Kuijsten A, Geleijnse JM, Boshuizen HC, Feskens EJM, Van't Veer P. FFQ versus repeated 24-h recalls for estimating diet-related environmental impact. Nutrition journal. 2019;18(1):2.

458. WHO. Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of

ChronicDiseases.2003[Availablefrom:https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/publications/trs916/en/.from:

459. Zhou B, Lu Y, Hajifathalian K, Bentham J, Cesare MD, Danaei G, et al. Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4.4 million participants. Lancet (London, England). 2016;387(10027):1513-30.

460. Cohen RV, Drager LF, Petry TBZ, Santos RD. Metabolic health in Brazil: trends and challenges. The lancet Diabetes & endocrinology. 2020;8(12):937-8.

461. Bracco PA, Gregg EW, Rolka DB, Schmidt MI, Barreto SM, Lotufo PA, et al. A nationwide analysis of the excess death attributable to diabetes in Brazil. Journal of global health. 2020;10(1):010401.

462. Goldani MZ, Mosca PRF, Portella AK, Silveira PP, Silva CHd. The impact demographic and epidemiological transition in the health of children and adolescents in Brazil. Revista HCPA. 2012;32(1):49-57.

463. Yusuf S, Reddy S, Ounpuu S, Anand S. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases: part I: general considerations, the epidemiologic transition, risk factors, and impact of urbanization. Circulation. 2001;104(22):2746-53.

464. Magno de Carvalho JA, Rodríguez-Wong LL. The transition of the age structure of the Brazilian population in the first half of the 21st century. Saúde Pública.24(3).

465. de Souza Buriol VC, Hirakata V, Goldani MZ, da Silva CH. Temporal evolution of the risk factors associated with low birth weight rates in Brazilian capitals (1996-2011). Population health metrics. 2016;14:15.

466. Travassos GF, Coelho AB, Arends-Kuenning MP. The elderly in Brazil: demographic transition, profile, and socioeconomic condition. Revista Brasileira de Estudos Populacionais. 2020;37:1-27.

467. Storlien LH, Baur LA, Kriketos AD, Pan DA, Cooney GJ, Jenkins AB, et al. Dietary fats and insulin action. Diabetologia. 1996;39(6):621-31.

468. Costacou T, Mayer-Davis EJ. Nutrition and prevention of type 2 diabetes. Annual review of nutrition. 2003;23:147-70.

469. Lovejoy JC. The influence of dietary fat on insulin resistance. Current diabetes reports. 2002;2(5):435-40.

470. Fujii TMM, Norde MM, Fisberg RM, Marchioni DML, Rogero MM. Lipid metabolism genetic risk score interacts with the Brazilian Healthy Eating Index Revised and its components to influence the odds for dyslipidemia in a cross-sectional population-based survey in Brazil. Nutrition and health. 2019;25(2):119-26.

471. Miranda AM, Steluti J, Norde MM, Fisberg RM, Marchioni DM. The association between genetic risk score and blood pressure is modified by coffee consumption: Gene-diet interaction analysis in a population-based study. Clinical nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2019;38(4):1721-8.

472. Surendran S, Morais C, Abdalla D, #233, ia, Shatwan I, et al. The influence of onecarbon metabolism gene polymorphisms and gene-environment interactions on homocysteine, Vitamin B12, folate and lipids in a Brazilian adolescent population. Journal of Diabetology. 2019;10(3):110-22.

473. Wallace TM, Levy JC, Matthews DR. Use and abuse of HOMA modeling. Diabetes care. 2004;27(6):1487-95.

474. Yang YJ, Kim MK, Hwang SH, Ahn Y, Shim JE, Kim DH. Relative validities of 3-day food records and the food frequency questionnaire. Nutrition research and practice. 2010;4(2):142-8.

475. Bergman RN, Phillips LS, Cobelli C. Physiologic evaluation of factors controlling glucose tolerance in man: measurement of insulin sensitivity and beta-cell glucose sensitivity from the response to intravenous glucose. The Journal of clinical investigation. 1981;68(6):1456-67.

476. Kahn SE, Prigeon RL, McCulloch DK, Boyko EJ, Bergman RN, Schwartz MW, et al. Quantification of the relationship between insulin sensitivity and beta-cell function in human subjects. Evidence for a hyperbolic function. Diabetes. 1993;42(11):1663-72.

477. Sichieri R, Chiuve SE, Pereira RA, Lopes AC, Willett WC. Dietary recommendations: comparing dietary guidelines from Brazil and the United States. Cadernos de saude publica. 2010;26(11):2050-8.

478. Kehdy FS, Gouveia MH, Machado M, Magalhães WC, Horimoto AR, Horta BL, et al. Origin and dynamics of admixture in Brazilians and its effect on the pattern of deleterious mutations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2015;112(28):8696-701.

479. Justice AE, Winkler TW, Feitosa MF, Graff M, Fisher VA, Young K, et al. Genomewide meta-analysis of 241,258 adults accounting for smoking behaviour identifies novel loci for obesity traits. Nature communications. 2017;8:14977.

480. Alsulami S, Nyakotey DA, Dudek K, Bawah AM, Lovegrove JA, Annan RA, et al. Interaction between Metabolic Genetic Risk Score and Dietary Fatty Acid Intake on Central Obesity in a Ghanaian Population. Nutrients. 2020;12(7).

481. WHO. Healthy diet 2020 [Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/healthy-diet</u>.

482. Vizzuso S, Amatruda M, Del Torto A, D'Auria E, Ippolito G, Zuccotti GV, et al. Is Macronutrients Intake a Challenge for Cardiometabolic Risk in Obese Adolescents? Nutrients. 2020;12(6).

483. Wheeler ML, Dunbar SA, Jaacks LM, Karmally W, Mayer-Davis EJ, Wylie-Rosett J, et al. Macronutrients, food groups, and eating patterns in the management of diabetes: a systematic review of the literature, 2010. Diabetes care. 2012;35(2):434-45.

484. Howard BV, Aragaki AK, Tinker LF, Allison M, Hingle MD, Johnson KC, et al. A Low-Fat Dietary Pattern and Diabetes: A Secondary Analysis From the Women's Health Initiative Dietary Modification Trial. Diabetes care. 2018;41(4):680-7.

485. Oliveira M, Santos L. Dietary guidelines for Brazilian population: an analysis from the cultural and social dimensions of food. Ciencia & saude coletiva. 2020;25(7):2519-28.

486. Rice Bradley BH. Dietary Fat and Risk for Type 2 Diabetes: a Review of Recent Research. Current nutrition reports. 2018;7(4):214-26.

487. Glass CK, Olefsky JM. Inflammation and lipid signaling in the etiology of insulin resistance. Cell metabolism. 2012;15(5):635-45.

488. Taubes G. Insulin resistance. Prosperity's plague. Science (New York, NY). 2009;325(5938):256-60.

489. Ussher JR, Koves TR, Cadete VJ, Zhang L, Jaswal JS, Swyrd SJ, et al. Inhibition of de novo ceramide synthesis reverses diet-induced insulin resistance and enhances whole-body oxygen consumption. Diabetes. 2010;59(10):2453-64.

490. Stienstra R, Duval C, Müller M, Kersten S. PPARs, Obesity, and Inflammation. PPAR research. 2007;2007:95974.

491. Rojo-Martínez G, Esteva I, Ruiz de Adana MS, García-Almeida JM, Tinahones F, Cardona F, et al. Dietary fatty acids and insulin secretion: a population-based study. European journal of clinical nutrition. 2006;60(10):1195-200.

492. Penn L, Rodrigues A, Haste A, Marques MM, Budig K, Sainsbury K, et al. NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme in England: formative evaluation of the programme in early phase implementation. BMJ open. 2018;8(2):e019467.

493. Wanders AJ, Alssema M, de Koning EJ, le Cessie S, de Vries JH, Zock PL, et al. Fatty acid intake and its dietary sources in relation with markers of type 2 diabetes risk: The NEO study. European journal of clinical nutrition. 2017;71(2):245-51.

494. Wang C, Liu Z, Zhang P, Ma X, Che K, Wang Y. The differences in homeostasis model assessment values in type 2 diabetic patients with different lengths of history of diabetes. Archives of endocrinology and metabolism. 2019;63(3):222-7.

495. Gutch M, Kumar S, Razi SM, Gupta KK, Gupta A. Assessment of insulin sensitivity/resistance. Indian journal of endocrinology and metabolism. 2015;19(1):160-4.

496. Chan JC, Malik V, Jia W, Kadowaki T, Yajnik CS, Yoon KH, et al. Diabetes in Asia: epidemiology, risk factors, and pathophysiology. Jama. 2009;301(20):2129-40.

497. Mohan V. Why are Indians more prone to diabetes? The Journal of the Association of Physicians of India. 2004;52:468-74.

498. Ramachandran A, Ma RC, Snehalatha C. Diabetes in Asia. Lancet (London, England). 2010;375(9712):408-18.

499. Gassasse Z, Smith D, Finer S, Gallo V. Association between urbanisation and type 2 diabetes: an ecological study. BMJ global health. 2017;2(4):e000473.

500. Ramachandran A, Snehalatha C, Latha E, Manoharan M, Vijay V. Impacts of urbanisation on the lifestyle and on the prevalence of diabetes in native Asian Indian population. Diabetes research and clinical practice. 1999;44(3):207-13.

501. Rampal P. An Analysis of Protein Consumption in India Through Plant and Animal Sources. Food and nutrition bulletin. 2018;39(4):564-80.

502. van Nielen M, Feskens EJ, Mensink M, Sluijs I, Molina E, Amiano P, et al. Dietary protein intake and incidence of type 2 diabetes in Europe: the EPIC-InterAct Case-Cohort Study. Diabetes care. 2014;37(7):1854-62.

503. Pounis GD, Tyrovolas S, Antonopoulou M, Zeimbekis A, Anastasiou F, Bountztiouka V, et al. Long-term animal-protein consumption is associated with an increased prevalence of diabetes among the elderly: the Mediterranean Islands (MEDIS) study. Diabetes & metabolism. 2010;36(6 Pt 1):484-90.

504. Abdullah N, Attia J, Oldmeadow C, Scott RJ, Holliday EG. The architecture of risk for type 2 diabetes: understanding Asia in the context of global findings. International journal of endocrinology. 2014;2014:593982.

505. Raj SM, Pei A, Foll M, Schlamp F, Excoffier L, Fuller DQ, et al. Reconstruction of nine thousand years of agriculture-based diet and impact on human genetic diversity in Asia. bioRxiv. 2019:747709.

506. Sanghera DK, Ortega L, Han S, Singh J, Ralhan SK, Wander GS, et al. Impact of nine common type 2 diabetes risk polymorphisms in Asian Indian Sikhs: PPARG2 (Pro12Ala), IGF2BP2, TCF7L2 and FTO variants confer a significant risk. BMC medical genetics. 2008;9:59.

507. Chauhan G, Tabassum R, Mahajan A, Dwivedi OP, Mahendran Y, Kaur I, et al. Common variants of FTO and the risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes in Indians. Journal of human genetics. 2011;56(10):720-6.

508. Yajnik CS, Janipalli CS, Bhaskar S, Kulkarni SR, Freathy RM, Prakash S, et al. FTO gene variants are strongly associated with type 2 diabetes in South Asian Indians. Diabetologia. 2009;52(2):247-52.

509. Kooner JS, Saleheen D, Sim X, Sehmi J, Zhang W, Frossard P, et al. Genome-wide association study in individuals of South Asian ancestry identifies six new type 2 diabetes susceptibility loci. Nature genetics. 2011;43(10):984-9.

510. Rees SD, Hydrie MZ, Shera AS, Kumar S, O'Hare JP, Barnett AH, et al. Replication of 13 genome-wide association (GWA)-validated risk variants for type 2 diabetes in Pakistani populations. Diabetologia. 2011;54(6):1368-74.

511. Humphries SE, Gable D, Cooper JA, Ireland H, Stephens JW, Hurel SJ, et al. Common variants in the TCF7L2 gene and predisposition to type 2 diabetes in UK European Whites, Indian Asians and Afro-Caribbean men and women. Journal of molecular medicine (Berlin, Germany). 2006;84(12):1005-14.

512. Vasan SK, Karpe F, Gu HF, Brismar K, Fall CH, Ingelsson E, et al. FTO genetic variants and risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of 28,394 Indians. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2014;22(3):964-70.

513. Chandak GR, Janipalli CS, Bhaskar S, Kulkarni SR, Mohankrishna P, Hattersley AT, et al. Common variants in the TCF7L2 gene are strongly associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus in the Indian population. Diabetologia. 2007;50(1):63-7.

514. Bodhini D, Radha V, Dhar M, Narayani N, Mohan V. The rs12255372(G/T) and rs7903146(C/T) polymorphisms of the TCF7L2 gene are associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Asian Indians. Metabolism: clinical and experimental. 2007;56(9):1174-8.

515. Dietrich S, Jacobs S, Zheng JS, Meidtner K, Schwingshackl L, Schulze MB. Genelifestyle interaction on risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review. Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2019;20(11):1557-71.

516. Deepa M, Pradeepa R, Rema M, Mohan A, Deepa R, Shanthirani S, et al. The Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study (CURES)--study design and methodology (urban component) (CURES-I). The Journal of the Association of Physicians of India. 2003;51:863-70.

517. World Health Organization. Regional Office for the Western Pacific. The Asia-Pacific Perspective. Redefining Obesity and its Treatment. Sydney : Health Communications Australia 2000 [Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/206936</u>.

518. Sudha V, Radhika G, Sathya RM, Ganesan A, Mohan V. Reproducibility and validity of an interviewer-administered semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire to assess dietary intake of urban adults in southern India. International journal of food sciences and nutrition. 2006;57(7-8):481-93.

519. Fretts AM, Follis JL, Nettleton JA, Lemaitre RN, Ngwa JS, Wojczynski MK, et al. Consumption of meat is associated with higher fasting glucose and insulin concentrations regardless of glucose and insulin genetic risk scores: a meta-analysis of 50,345 Caucasians. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2015;102(5):1266-78.

520. Li H, Khor CC, Fan J, Lv J, Yu C, Guo Y, et al. Genetic risk, adherence to a healthy lifestyle, and type 2 diabetes risk among 550,000 Chinese adults: results from 2 independent Asian cohorts. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2020;111(3):698-707.

521. Liu Y, Liu Z, Song Y, Zhou D, Zhang D, Zhao T, et al. Meta-analysis added power to identify variants in FTO associated with type 2 diabetes and obesity in the Asian population. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2010;18(8):1619-24.

522. Tönjes A, Zeggini E, Kovacs P, Böttcher Y, Schleinitz D, Dietrich K, et al. Association of FTO variants with BMI and fat mass in the self-contained population of Sorbs in Germany. European journal of human genetics : EJHG. 2010;18(1):104-10.

523. Prabhakaran D, Jeemon P, Sharma M, Roth GA, Johnson C, Harikrishnan S, et al. The changing patterns of cardiovascular diseases and their risk factors in the states of India: the Global Burden of Disease Study 1990-2016. The Lancet Global health. 2018;6(12):e1339-e51.

524. Gupta V, Vinay DG, Sovio U, Rafiq S, Kranthi Kumar MV, Janipalli CS, et al. Association study of 25 type 2 diabetes related Loci with measures of obesity in Indian sib pairs. PloS one. 2013;8(1):e53944.

525. Wheeler E, Leong A, Liu CT, Hivert MF, Strawbridge RJ, Podmore C, et al. Impact of common genetic determinants of Hemoglobin A1c on type 2 diabetes risk and diagnosis in ancestrally diverse populations: A transethnic genome-wide meta-analysis. PLoS medicine. 2017;14(9):e1002383.

526. Anand SS, Meyre D, Pare G, Bailey SD, Xie C, Zhang X, et al. Genetic information and the prediction of incident type 2 diabetes in a high-risk multiethnic population: the EpiDREAM genetic study. Diabetes care. 2013;36(9):2836-42.

527. Alsulami S, Aji AS, Ariyasra U, Sari SR, Tasrif N, Yani FF, et al. Interaction between the genetic risk score and dietary protein intake on cardiometabolic traits in Southeast Asian. Genes & nutrition. 2020;15(1):19.

528. Czajkowski P, Adamska-Patruno E, Bauer W, Fiedorczuk J, Krasowska U, Moroz M, et al. The Impact of FTO Genetic Variants on Obesity and Its Metabolic Consequences is Dependent on Daily Macronutrient Intake. Nutrients. 2020;12(11).

529. Li SX, Imamura F, Schulze MB, Zheng J, Ye Z, Agudo A, et al. Interplay between genetic predisposition, macronutrient intake and type 2 diabetes incidence: analysis within EPIC-InterAct across eight European countries. Diabetologia. 2018;61(6):1325-32.

530. Shobana R, Snehalatha C, Latha E, Vijay V, Ramachandran A. Dietary profile of urban south Indians and its relations with glycaemic status. Diabetes research and clinical practice. 1998;42(3):181-6.

531. Joshi SR, Bhansali A, Bajaj S, Banzal SS, Dharmalingam M, Gupta S, et al. Results from a dietary survey in an Indian T2DM population: a STARCH study. BMJ open. 2014;4(10):e005138.

532. Wang ET, de Koning L, Kanaya AM. Higher protein intake is associated with diabetes risk in South Asian Indians: the Metabolic Syndrome and Atherosclerosis in South Asians Living in America (MASALA) study. Journal of the American College of Nutrition. 2010;29(2):130-5.

533. Malik VS, Li Y, Tobias DK, Pan A, Hu FB. Dietary Protein Intake and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in US Men and Women. American journal of epidemiology. 2016;183(8):715-28.

534. Viguiliouk E, Stewart SE, Jayalath VH, Ng AP, Mirrahimi A, de Souza RJ, et al. Effect of Replacing Animal Protein with Plant Protein on Glycemic Control in Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Nutrients. 2015;7(12):9804-24.

535. Tian S, Xu Q, Jiang R, Han T, Sun C, Na L. Dietary Protein Consumption and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Cohort Studies. Nutrients. 2017;9(9):982.

536. Satija A, Bhupathiraju SN, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Chiuve SE, Borgi L, et al. Plant-Based Dietary Patterns and Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes in US Men and Women: Results from Three Prospective Cohort Studies. PLoS medicine. 2016;13(6):e1002039.

537. Chen Z, Zuurmond MG, van der Schaft N, Nano J, Wijnhoven HAH, Ikram MA, et al. Plant versus animal based diets and insulin resistance, prediabetes and type 2 diabetes: the Rotterdam Study. European journal of epidemiology. 2018;33(9):883-93.

538. Alhazmi A, Stojanovski E, McEvoy M, Garg ML. Macronutrient intake and type 2 diabetes risk in middle-aged Australian women. Results from the Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health. Public health nutrition. 2014;17(7):1587-94.

539. Nanri A, Mizoue T, Kurotani K, Goto A, Oba S, Noda M, et al. Low-carbohydrate diet and type 2 diabetes risk in Japanese men and women: the Japan Public Health Center-Based Prospective Study. PloS one. 2015;10(2):e0118377.

540. Kumar P, Mathur V. Structural changes in demand for food in India. J Agric Econ. 1996;51(4):664–73.

541. National Nutrition Monitoring Bureau (1984) Report on urban population (1975-80) [Available from: https://www.nin.res.in/downloads/Report_Of_Urban_Population_75-80.pdf.

542. Swaminathan S, Vaz M, Kurpad AV. Protein intakes in India. The British journal of nutrition. 2012;108 Suppl 2:S50-8.

543. Indian Council of Medical Research (ICMR). Dietary guidelines for Indians 2011 [Available from: <u>https://www.nin.res.in/downloads/DietaryGuidelinesforNINwebsite.pdf</u>.

544. National Family Health Survey (NFHS-4). International Institute of Population Science (IIPS) 2015–2016 [Available from: <u>http://rchiips.org/nfhs/factsheet_nfhs-4.shtml</u>.

545. Indian Council of Social Science Research (ICSSR) [Available from: http://www.icssrdataservice.in/datarepository/index.php/catalog/91.

546. Sowmya N, Lakshmipriya N, Arumugam K, Venkatachalam S, Vijayalakshmi P, Ruchi V, et al. Comparison of dietary profile of a rural south Indian population with the current dietary recommendations for prevention of non-communicable diseases (CURES 147). The Indian journal of medical research. 2016;144(1):112-9.

547. Agrawal S, Ebrahim S. Association between legume intake and self-reported diabetes among adult men and women in India. BMC public health. 2013;13:706.

548. Lakshmi Priya N, Gayathri R, Sudha V, Geetha G, Gayathri N, Shilpa B, et al. Prospective associations between a food-based Indian Diet Quality Score and type 2 diabetes risk among South Indian adults (CURES-154). Journal of Diabetology. 2020;11(2):115-24.

549. Radhika G, Sathya RM, Ganesan A, Saroja R, Vijayalakshmi P, Sudha V, et al. Dietary profile of urban adult population in South India in the context of chronic disease epidemiology (CURES-68). Public health nutrition. 2011;14(4):591-8.

550. Anjana RM, Deepa M, Pradeepa R, Mahanta J, Narain K, Das HK, et al. Prevalence of diabetes and prediabetes in 15 states of India: results from the ICMR-INDIAB population-based cross-sectional study. The lancet Diabetes & endocrinology. 2017;5(8):585-96.

551. Deepa M, Anjana RM, Manjula D, Narayan KM, Mohan V. Convergence of prevalence rates of diabetes and cardiometabolic risk factors in middle and low income groups in urban

India: 10-year follow-up of the Chennai Urban Population Study. Journal of diabetes science and technology. 2011;5(4):918-27.

552. Peng S, Zhu Y, Xu F, Ren X, Li X, Lai M. FTO gene polymorphisms and obesity risk: a meta-analysis. BMC Med. 2011;9:71.

553. Muc M, Padez C, Manco L. Influence of physical activity on the association between the FTO variant rs9939609 and adiposity in young adults. Am J Hum Biol. 2015;27(5):734-8. 554. Diaz-Melean CM, Somers VK, Rodriguez-Escudero JP, Singh P, Sochor O, Llano EM, et al. Mechanisms of adverse cardiometabolic consequences of obesity. Current atherosclerosis reports. 2013;15(11):364.

555. Nurnazahiah A, Lua PL, Shahril MR. Adiponectin, Leptin and Objectively Measured Physical Activity in Adults: A Narrative Review. Malays J Med Sci. 2016;23(6):7-24.

556. Türközü D, Ayhan B, Köksal E. The Nutrition Transition in Turkey: Trends in Energy and Macronutrients Supply from 1961 to 2011. Gazi Medical Journal. 2017;28(4):283-8.

De Luis DA, Aller R, Izaola O, Pacheco D. ROLE OF RS9939609 FTO GENE 557. VARIANT IN WEIGHT LOSS, INSULIN RESISTANCE AND **METABOLIC** PARAMETERS AFTER А HIGH MONOUNSATURATED VS A HIGH POLYUNSATURATED FAT HYPOCALORIC DIETS. Nutricion hospitalaria. 2015;32(1):175-81.

558. Grau K, Cauchi S, Holst C, Astrup A, Martinez JA, Saris WH, et al. TCF7L2 rs7903146-macronutrient interaction in obese individuals' responses to a 10-wk randomized hypoenergetic diet. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2010;91(2):472-9.

559. Phillips CM, Goumidi L, Bertrais S, Field MR, McManus R, Hercberg S, et al. Dietary saturated fat, gender and genetic variation at the TCF7L2 locus predict the development of metabolic syndrome. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry. 2012;23(3):239-44.

560. Delgado-Lista J, Perez-Martinez P, García-Rios A, Phillips CM, Williams CM, Gulseth HL, et al. Pleiotropic effects of TCF7L2 gene variants and its modulation in the metabolic syndrome: from the LIPGENE study. Atherosclerosis. 2011;214(1):110-6.

561. Manore MM. Exercise and the Institute of Medicine recommendations for nutrition. Current sports medicine reports. 2005;4(4):193-8.

562. Suliburska J, Bogdański P, Pupek-Musialik D, Głód-Nawrocka M, Krauss H, Piątek J. Analysis of lifestyle of young adults in the rural and urban areas. Annals of agricultural and environmental medicine : AAEM. 2012;19(1):135-9.

563. Sarzynski MA, Bouchard C. The challenging chase for nutrigenetic predictors of metabolic responses to dietary interventions. Diabetes care. 2013;36(11):3379-81.

564. Macready AL, Fallaize R, Butler LT, Ellis JA, Kuznesof S, Frewer LJ, et al. Application of Behavior Change Techniques in a Personalized Nutrition Electronic Health Intervention Study: Protocol for the Web-Based Food4Me Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR research protocols. 2018;7(4):e87.

565. Capozzi F, Bordoni A. Foodomics: a new comprehensive approach to food and nutrition. Genes & nutrition. 2013;8(1):1-4.

566. Lovegrove JA, Gitau R. Nutrigenetics and CVD: what does the future hold? The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2008;67(2):206-13.

567. Ibanez C, Valdes A, Garcia-Canas V, Simo C, Celebier M, Rocamora-Reverte L, et al. Global Foodomics strategy to investigate the health benefits of dietary constituents. Journal of chromatography A. 2012;1248:139-53.

568. Cifuentes A. Food analysis and foodomics. Journal of Chromatography A. 2009;1216(43):7109.

569. Vimaleswaran KS, Le Roy CI, Claus SP. Foodomics for personalized nutrition: how far are we? Current Opinion in Food Science. 2015;4:129-35.

570. Araujo JR, Goncalves P, Martel F. Chemopreventive effect of dietary polyphenols in colorectal cancer cell lines. Nutrition research (New York, NY). 2011;31(2):77-87.

571. Ramos S. Cancer chemoprevention and chemotherapy: dietary polyphenols and signalling pathways. Molecular nutrition & food research. 2008;52(5):507-26.

572. Sirugo G, Williams SM, Tishkoff SA. The Missing Diversity in Human Genetic Studies. Cell. 2019;177(1):26-31.

573. Vimaleswaran KS, Ängquist L, Hansen RD, van der AD, Bouatia-Naji N, Holst C, et al. Association between FTO variant and change in body weight and its interaction with dietary factors: the DiOGenes study. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2012;20(8):1669-74.

574. Qi Q, Downer MK, Kilpeläinen TO, Taal HR, Barton SJ, Ntalla I, et al. Dietary Intake, FTO Genetic Variants, and Adiposity: A Combined Analysis of Over 16,000 Children and Adolescents. Diabetes. 2015;64(7):2467-76.

575. Livingstone KM, Celis-Morales C, Navas-Carretero S, San-Cristobal R, Forster H, O'Donovan CB, et al. Fat mass- and obesity-associated genotype, dietary intakes and anthropometric measures in European adults: the Food4Me study. The British journal of nutrition. 2016;115(3):440-8.

576. Marti A, Martinez-González MA, Martinez JA. Interaction between genes and lifestyle factors on obesity. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2008;67(1):1-8.

577. Calories from Fat, Protein, Carbohydrates, Alcohol 2015 [Available from: https://www.nutristrategy.com/nutrition/calories.htm

578. Willer CJ, Speliotes EK, Loos RJ, Li S, Lindgren CM, Heid IM, et al. Six new loci associated with body mass index highlight a neuronal influence on body weight regulation. Nature genetics. 2009;41(1):25-34.

579. Pulit SL, Stoneman C, Morris AP, Wood AR, Glastonbury CA, Tyrrell J, et al. Metaanalysis of genome-wide association studies for body fat distribution in 694 649 individuals of European ancestry. Human molecular genetics. 2019;28(1):166-74.

580. Sinnott-Armstrong N, Tanigawa Y, Amar D, Mars N, Benner C, Aguirre M, et al. Genetics of 35 blood and urine biomarkers in the UK Biobank. Nature genetics. 2021;53(2):185-94.

581. Karlsson T, Rask-Andersen M, Pan G, Höglund J, Wadelius C, Ek WE, et al. Contribution of genetics to visceral adiposity and its relation to cardiovascular and metabolic disease. Nature medicine. 2019;25(9):1390-5.

582. Chiang KM, Chang HC, Yang HC, Chen CH, Chen HH, Lee WJ, et al. Genome-wide association study of morbid obesity in Han Chinese. BMC genetics. 2019;20(1):97.

583. Tabassum R, Chauhan G, Dwivedi OP, Mahajan A, Jaiswal A, Kaur I, et al. Genomewide association study for type 2 diabetes in Indians identifies a new susceptibility locus at 2q21. Diabetes. 2013;62(3):977-86.

584. Wojcik GL, Graff M, Nishimura KK, Tao R, Haessler J, Gignoux CR, et al. Genetic analyses of diverse populations improves discovery for complex traits. Nature. 2019;570(7762):514-8.

585. Vujkovic M, Keaton JM, Lynch JA, Miller DR, Zhou J, Tcheandjieu C, et al. Discovery of 318 new risk loci for type 2 diabetes and related vascular outcomes among 1.4 million participants in a multi-ancestry meta-analysis. Nature genetics. 2020;52(7):680-91.

586. Franklin CS, Aulchenko YS, Huffman JE, Vitart V, Hayward C, Polašek O, et al. The TCF7L2 diabetes risk variant is associated with HbA₁(C) levels: a genome-wide association meta-analysis. Annals of human genetics. 2010;74(6):471-8.

587. Huang LO, Rauch A, Mazzaferro E, Preuss M, Carobbio S, Bayrak CS, et al. Genomewide discovery of genetic loci that uncouple excess adiposity from its comorbidities. Nature metabolism. 2021;3(2):228-43. 588. Lagou V, Mägi R, Hottenga JJ, Grallert H, Perry JRB, Bouatia-Naji N, et al. Sexdimorphic genetic effects and novel loci for fasting glucose and insulin variability. Nature communications. 2021;12(1):24.

589. Xi X, Ma J. A meta-analysis on genetic associations between Transcription Factor 7 Like 2 polymorphisms and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Genomics. 2020;112(2):1192-6.

590. Wang J, Zhang J, Li L, Wang Y, Wang Q, Zhai Y, et al. Association of rs12255372 in the TCF7L2 gene with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. Brazilian journal of medical and biological research = Revista brasileira de pesquisas medicas e biologicas. 2013;46(4):382-93.

591. Howlader M, Sultana MI, Akter F, Hossain MM. Adiponectin gene polymorphisms associated with diabetes mellitus: A descriptive review. Heliyon. 2021;7(8):e07851.

592. Spracklen CN, Iyengar AK, Vadlamudi S, Raulerson CK, Jackson AU, Brotman SM, et al. Adiponectin GWAS loci harboring extensive allelic heterogeneity exhibit distinct molecular consequences. PLoS genetics. 2020;16(9):e1009019.

593. Tsai FJ, Yang CF, Chen CC, Chuang LM, Lu CH, Chang CT, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies susceptibility variants for type 2 diabetes in Han Chinese. PLoS genetics. 2010;6(2):e1000847.

594. Yasuda K, Miyake K, Horikawa Y, Hara K, Osawa H, Furuta H, et al. Variants in KCNQ1 are associated with susceptibility to type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nature genetics. 2008;40(9):1092-7.

595. Wen W, Zheng W, Okada Y, Takeuchi F, Tabara Y, Hwang JY, et al. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies in East Asian-ancestry populations identifies four new loci for body mass index. Human molecular genetics. 2014;23(20):5492-504.

596. Wood AR, Tyrrell J, Beaumont R, Jones SE, Tuke MA, Ruth KS, et al. Variants in the FTO and CDKAL1 loci have recessive effects on risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes, respectively. Diabetologia. 2016;59(6):1214-21.

597. Hwang JY, Sim X, Wu Y, Liang J, Tabara Y, Hu C, et al. Genome-wide association meta-analysis identifies novel variants associated with fasting plasma glucose in East Asians. Diabetes. 2015;64(1):291-8.

598. Mahajan A, Sim X, Ng HJ, Manning A, Rivas MA, Highland HM, et al. Identification and functional characterization of G6PC2 coding variants influencing glycemic traits define an effector transcript at the G6PC2-ABCB11 locus. PLoS genetics. 2015;11(1):e1004876.

599. Mahajan A, Go MJ, Zhang W, Below JE, Gaulton KJ, Ferreira T, et al. Genome-wide trans-ancestry meta-analysis provides insight into the genetic architecture of type 2 diabetes susceptibility. Nature genetics. 2014;46(3):234-44.

600. Jing C, Xueyao H, Linong J. Meta-analysis of association studies between five candidate genes and type 2 diabetes in Chinese Han population. Endocrine. 2012;42(2):307-20.

601. Bodhini D, Radha V, Ghosh S, Sanapala KR, Majumder PP, Rao MR, et al. Association of calpain 10 gene polymorphisms with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Southern Indians. Metabolism: clinical and experimental. 2011;60(5):681-8.

602. Martínez-Gómez LE, Cruz M, Martínez-Nava GA, Madrid-Marina V, Parra E, García-Mena J, et al. A replication study of the IRS1, CAPN10, TCF7L2, and PPARG gene polymorphisms associated with type 2 diabetes in two different populations of Mexico. Annals of human genetics. 2011;75(5):612-20.

603. Danquah I, Othmer T, Frank LK, Bedu-Addo G, Schulze MB, Mockenhaupt FP. The TCF7L2 rs7903146 (T) allele is associated with type 2 diabetes in urban Ghana: a hospital-based case-control study. BMC medical genetics. 2013;14:96.

604. Nasser FA, Algenabi AA, Hadi NR, Hussein MK, Fatima G, Al-Aubaidy HA. The association of the common fat mass and obesity associated gene polymorphisms with type 2 diabetes in obese Iraqi population. Diabetes & metabolic syndrome. 2019;13(4):2451-5.

605. Jeon S, Shin JY, Yee J, Park T, Park M. Structural equation modeling for hypertension and type 2 diabetes based on multiple SNPs and multiple phenotypes. PloS one. 2019;14(9):e0217189.

606. Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association. 1998;15(7):539-53.

Appendix

9.1 Research analysis plan: *FTO* gene–lifestyle interactions on serum adiponectin concentrations and central obesity in a Turkish population.

Main study objective:

The study aimed to investigate the associations of the fat mass and obesity associated (*FTO*) gene single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) with obesity in a Turkish population (n=200) and to examine whether these associations were influenced by lifestyle factors.

Table 1.	Previous	studies	that h	ave ex	amined	the	association	of	the	selected	SNPs	with
obesity a	and relate	d traits.										

Gene	rs number	Reference
Fat mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs9939609	(76, 285-288)
Fat mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs10163409	(303)

Obesity cut-off values:

- 1- The body mass index (BMI) classification of the world health organisation (WHO) was used to classify individuals as non-obese (BMI < 25.00 kg/m^2) and obese (BMI > 25.00 kg/m^2) (305).
- 2- Increased waist circumference (WC) (central obesity) was defined based on cut-points established for Turkish adults (WC \ge 90 cm for men/ \ge 80 cm for women) (307)

Table 2. The study objectives.

Objective 1: Determining which genetic model to use for each genetic variant: additive,					
dominant or recessive.					
Aims:	ms: Statistical test 1) Reason for statistical test used				
	used: 2) Outcome of statistica		2) Outcome of statistical test used		
3) covariates (when appropriate)					

1a) Determining genotypes' frequencies to select the appropriate genetic model.	Descriptive statistics: Frequencies	 Reason for test: Exposure variables (<i>FTO</i> SNPs) are categorical variables. Outcome of statistical test used: To identify the frequencies of the common homozygous, heterozygous, and rare homozygous genotypes. Thus, an appropriate genetic model can be selected for each genetic variant: additive, dominant or recessive. Also, the minor allele frequency can be calculated.
Objective 2: Determining wh	ether each genetic v	variant was in HWE
2a) Assess whether the observed genotype frequencies are in HWE	Chi-Squared test	 Reason for test: Comparing the observed genotype frequencies with the expected values under Hardy-Weinberg Outcome of statistical test: Determining whether a population is in HWE at a specific locus (239)
Objective 3: To generate desc	criptive statistics of	the study participants
3a) To define the descriptive statistics of the study participants	Descriptive statistics: -Descriptive for continuous variables -Frequencies for categorical variables	 Reason for statistical test used: Determining the demographic, dietary and anthropometric measures of the targeted outcomes in all the study participants (239, 573). Outcome of statistical test used: -Determining the means and standard deviations of the collected demographic, dietary and anthropometric variables: Age (year) BMI (kg/m2) WC (cm) FMI Adiponectin (ng/ml) Energy (kcal/day) Protein (g) Fat (g) Carbohydrate (g) Fibre (g) SFA (g) MUFA (g) PUFA (g) Determining the frequency for categorical variables: Physical activity levels

3b) The descriptive statistics	Students t test	1 Passon for statistical test used:
table was then estagorized	Continuous	1. Reason for statistical test used.
table was then categorised	(Continuous	Comparing the means and standard
into two groups: non-Obese	variables)	deviations, as well as the frequencies of
and Obese.		the demographic, dietary and
	-Chi-square test	anthropometric variables between the two
	(Categorical	groups (non-Obese and Obese
	variables)	individuals).
		2. Outcome of statistical test used:
		Detecting if the demographic,
		anthropometric and dietary variables
		were significantly different between the
		two groups (241, 441).
Objective 4: To test the associ	ations of the FTO S	NPs with obesity and related traits; BMI
(kg/m2), FMI, WC (cm), Adi	ponectin (ng/ml).	•
4a) To compare the genotype	Chi-square test	1) Reason for test: The exposure variables
frequencies between obese	-	(FTO SNPs) are categorical variables,
and non-obese.		and the outcome variable (obesity) is a
		categorical variable.
		2) Outcome of test: Identifying the impact
		of the FTO SNPs on obesity.
4b) To test for the	Univariate linear	1) Reason for test: The exposure variables
associations of the FTO SNPs	regression	(<i>FTO</i> SNPs) are categorical variables.
with obesity-related traits.	8	and the outcome variables (obesity-
		related traits) are continuous variables.
		2) Outcome of test: Identifying the impact
		of the FTO SNPs on obesity-related traits
		(573, 574)
		3) Covariates to be adjusted: Sex, age
		hypertension cardiovascular diseases
		and obesity status (258)
Objective 5: Testing the int	eraction between k	TTO SNPs and lifestyle factors (dietary
intake and physical activity)	on obesity and relat	ed traits
5a) Testing the interaction	Univariate linear	1) Reason for test: The exposure variables
between the <i>FTO</i> SNPs and	regression	(FTO SNPs) are categorical variables
lifestyle factors including		and the outcome variables (obesity-
diatary intaka (carbohydrata		related traits) are continuous variables
protoin fibro and fat inteles		2) Outcome of test: Finding the effect of
in grame/day) and physical on		the ETO SNDs and lifestyle factors
in grains/day) and physical on		the FIO SINPS and mestyle factors
obesity-related traits		including physical activity and dietary
		intakes of carbonydrate, protein, fat and
		fibre in grams on obesity-related traits
		(261, 5/5).
		5) Covariates to be adjusted: age, gender,
		nypertension, cardiovascular diseases,
		total energy intake and obesity status
		(529).

5b) Testing the interaction between the <i>FTO</i> SNPs and lifestyle factors including dietary intake (carbohydrate, protein fibre and fat inteless	Logistic regression	1) Reason for test: The exposure variables (<i>FTO</i> SNPs) are categorical variables, and the outcome variable (obesity) is a categorical variable.
in grams/day) and physical on obesity.		the <i>FTO</i> SNPs and lifestyle factors including physical activity and dietary intakes of carbohydrate, protein, fat and fibre (in grams) on obesity (573, 575). 3) Covariates to be adjusted: Age, gender, hypertension cardiovascular diseases
		total energy intake and obesity status. (258)
5c) Statistically significant interactions were investigated in more depth, where individuals were stratified by the tertiles of the lifestyle factors.	-Univariate linear regression -Logistic regression	 Reason for test: -The exposure variables (<i>FTO</i> SNPs) are categorical variables, and the outcome variables (obesity-related traits) are continuous variables. The exposure variables (<i>FTO</i> SNPs) are categorical variables, and the outcome variables (obesity) is a categorical variable. Outcome of test: Determining whether the low, medium, and high intakes of these macronutrients, as well as the levels of physical activity, are causing the observed interactions (261, 575). Covariates to be adjusted: age, gender, hypertension, cardiovascular diseases, total energy intake and obesity status (576)
SPECIAL NOTES:		
When investigating the effect of macronutrients in grams, the analysis should be adjusted for Kcal. However, no adjustment for Kcal is needed when testing interactions with the percentage energy intake of the macronutrients because	Compute variables	 For carbohydrate interactions: 1g of carbohydrates = 4kcal For fat interactions: 1g=9 kcal For protein interactions: 1g= 4kcal (577)
adjustment has already been performed.		

GRS genetic risk score; SNP single nucleotide polymorphisms; HWE, Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium; BMI, body

mass index; WC, waist circumference; FMI, fat mass index; SFA, saturated fatty acids; MUFA, monounsaturated

fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids.

9.2 Research analysis plan: Interaction between the genetic risk score and dietary protein intake on cardiometabolic traits in Southeast Asians (Indonesian population).

Main study objective:

The study aimed to investigate the association of 15-SNP GRS with cardiometabolic traits and examined whether these associations were modified by lifestyle factors such as dietary intake and physical activity in 110 Minangkabau women.

Gene	rs number	Reference
Melanocortin 4 Receptor (MC4R)	rs17782313	(120, 378, 578)
Melanocortin 4 Receptor (MC4R)	rs2229616	(579-581)
Fat mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs9939609	(76, 285-288)
Fat mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs8050136	(582-584)
at mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs10163409	(303)
Transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2)	rs7903146	(585-588)
Transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2)	rs12255372	(589, 590)
Adiponectin (ADIPOQ)	rs266729	(145, 591)
Adiponectin (ADIPOQ)	rs17846866	(591, 592)
Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1 (<i>KCNQ1</i>)	rs2237895	(89, 593)
Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1 (<i>KCNQ1</i>)	rs2237892	(594, 595)
Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B (<i>CDKN2A</i> /2B)	rs10811661	(596, 597)
Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARG)	rs1801282	(598, 599)
Calpain 10 (CAPN10)	rs3792267	(600, 601)
Calpain 10 (CAPN10)	rs5030952	(600-602)

Table 3. Previous studies that have examined the associations of the selected SNPs with cardiometabolic traits.

Obesity cut-off values:

- Common obesity was defined based on the Asia-Pacific classification of BMI for Asians, where non-obese individuals (BMI<23 kg/m²) and obese individuals (BMI≥23 kg/m²) were classed accordingly (366).
- Central obesity was defined based on WHO classification of WC (WC>80 cm for women) (30).

Objective 1: Determining whether each genetic variant was in HWE				
Aims:	Statistical test	1) Reason for statistical test used		
	used:	2) Outcome of statistical test used		
		3) covariates (when appropriate)		
1a) Assess whether the observed	Chi-Squared test	1) Reason for test: Comparing the observed genotype		
genotype frequencies are in HWE		frequencies with the expected values under Hardy-		
		Weinberg		
		2) Outcome of statistical test: determining whether a		
		population is in HWE at a specific locus (239)		
Objective 2: To generate descriptiv	e statistics of the stu	udy participants.		
2a) To define the descriptive	Descriptive	1. Reason for statistical test used: Determining the		
statistics of the study participants	statistics:	demographic, dietary, biochemical, and		
		anthropometric measures of the targeted outcomes in		
	-Descriptive for	all the study participants (239, 573).		
	continuous			
	variables	2. Outcome of statistical test used:		
		-Determining the means and standard deviations of the		
	- Frequency for	collected demographic, dietary, biochemical, and		
	categorical	anthropometric variables:		
	variables	• Age (yrs)		
		• BMI (kgm2)		
		• WC (cm)		
		• Glucose (mg/dl)		
		• Insulin (mIU/L)		
		• HbA1c (ng/ml)		
		• Triglycerides (mg/dl)		
		• Cholesterol (mg/dl)		
		• HDL-C (mg/dl)		
		• LDL-C (mg/dl)		
		• SB (mmHg)		
		• DBP (mmHg)		
		• Total energy (kcal/d)		
		• Carbohydrate intake (%)		
		• Protein intake (%)		

Table 4. The study objectives.

		• Fot intoka $(0/)$	
		• Fat make (70)	
		• Dietary libre (g)	
		• SFA (g)	
		• MUFA (g)	
		• PUFA (g)	
		• MET (min/week)	
		• GRS	
		- Determining the frequency for categorical variable:	
		Physical activity levels	
2b) The descriptive statistics table	-Students t-test	1. Reason for statistical test used: Comparing the mean	
was then categorised into two		and standard deviations and the frequencies of	
groups: non-centrally obese and	- Chi-squared test	demographic, dietary and anthropometric variables	
centrally obese.	1	between the two groups (non-centrally obese and	
		centrally obese)	
		2. Outcome of statistical test used: Detecting if the	
		demographic anthropometric and dietary variables	
		were significantly different between the two groups	
		(241 441)	
Objective 3: To test the association	s between cardiome	etabolic-related genetic variants as a 15-SNP GRS	
and cardiometabolic traits: BML V	VC. glucose, insulin	HbA1C, triglycerides, cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-	
C. SB. DBP.	, e, glucose, insuin		
3a) To test for the association	Univariate linear	1) Reason for test. The exposure variable (GRS) is a	
between the GRS and	regression	categorical variable and the outcome variables	
cardiometabolic traits.	1-8-6-001011	(cardiometabolic traits) are continuous variables.	
		2) Outcome of test: Identifying the impact of the GRS	
		on cardiometabolic traits (573–574)	
		3) Covariates to be adjusted: Age, residential area and	
		additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome	
		(258, 603)	
Objective 4: Testing the interaction	n between cardiom	etabolic-related genetic variants, as a 15-SNP GRS.	
and lifestyle factors (dietary intake	and physical activi	(tv) on cardiometabolic traits.	
4a) Testing the interaction between	Univariate linear	1) Reason for test: The exposure variable (GRS) is a	
the GRS and lifestyle factors	regression	categorical variable and the outcome variables	
including dietary intakes of protein	regression	(cardiometabolic traits) are continuous variables	
(% of TEI) fat (% of TEI)		2) Outcome of test: Finding the effect of the GRS and	
carbohydrate (% of TEI) and fibre		lifestyle factors including physical activity and dietary	
(grame) and physical activity) on		intervers of carbohydrate protein fat and fibre in grams	
(granis), and physical activity) on cardiometabolic traits		on cardiometabolic_related traits (261, 575)	
		3) Covariates to be adjusted: A get residential area and	
		BMI when BMI is not an outcome (258, 529, 603)	
(h) Statistically significant	Universita linear	1) Peason for test: The exposure verichle (CDS) is a	
40) Statistically significant		1) Reason for test. The exposure variable (GRS) is a	
more depth where individuals	regression	(ardiomatobalia traita) are continuous variables	
attractified by the tartiles of the		(calutoinetabolic traits) are continuous variables.	
straumed by the terthes of the		2) Outcome of test: Determining whether the low,	
mestyle factors.		medium and nigh intakes of these macronutrients, as	
		well as the levels of physical activity, are causing the	
		observed interactions $(201, 5/5)$.	
		3) Covariates to be adjusted: Age, residential area and	
		BMI when BMI is not an outcome (258, 576, 603).	

SPECIAL NOTES:					
When investigating the effect of	Compute				
macronutrients in grams, the	variables	• For carbohydrate interactions:			
analysis should be adjusted for Kcal.		1g of carbohydrates = 4kcal			
However, no adjustment for Kcal is					
needed when testing interactions		• For fat interactions:			
with the percentage energy intake of		1g=9 kcal			
the macronutrients because					
adjustment has already been		• For protein interactions:			
performed.		1g = 4kcal (577)			

GRS genetic risk score; SNP single nucleotide polymorphisms; HWE, Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium; BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; HbA1C, glycated haemoglobin A1c; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; SFA, saturated fatty acids; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; MET, metabolic equivalent of task; TEI, total energy intake

9.3 Research analysis plan: Interaction between Metabolic Genetic Risk Score and Dietary Fatty Acid Intake on Central Obesity in a Ghanaian Population

Main study objective:

The study aimed to investigate the association of selected SNPs, as 12-SNP, 8-SNP and 4-SNP

GRS, with obesity-related traits and to examine whether lifestyle factors such as dietary intake

and physical activity modified these associations in 302 healthy Ghanaian adults.

obesity-related traits.					
Gene	rs number	Reference			
Transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2)	rs12255372	(589, 590)			
Transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2)	rs7903146	(589, 590)			
Melanocortin 4 Receptor (MC4R)	rs17782313	(120, 378, 578)			
Melanocortin 4 Receptor (MC4R)	rs2229616	(579-581)			
Fat mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs9939609	(76, 285-288)			
Fat mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs10163409	(303)			
Adiponectin (ADIPOQ)	rs266729	(145, 591)			
Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q	rs2237892	(594, 595)			
member 1 (KCNQ1)					
Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B	rs10811661	(596, 597)			
(CDKN2A/2B)					
Calpain 10 (CAPN10)	rs3792267	(598, 599)			
Calpain 10 (CAPN10)	rs5030952	(600-602)			
Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor	rs1801282	(598, 599)			
gamma (PPARG)					

Table 5. Previous studies that have examined the association of the selected SNPs with obesity-related traits.

Obesity cut off-values:

Non-obese individuals refer to the individuals with a BMI < 25 Kg/m2, according to the WHO classification of BMI. Overweight/obese cases refer to individuals with BMI \geq 25 Kg/m2, according to the WHO classification of BMI (305).

Objective 1: Determining whether each genetic variant was in HWE		
Aims:	Statistical test	1) Reason for statistical test used
	used:	2) Outcome of statistical test used
		3) covariates (when appropriate)
1a) Assess whether the	Chi-Squared test	1) Reason for test: Comparing the observed
observed genotype		genotype frequencies with the expected values
frequencies are in HWE		under Hardy-Weinberg
		2) Outcome of statistical test: Determining
		whether a population is in HWE at a specific locus
		(239)
Objective 2: To generate desc	criptive statistics of	the study participants.
2a) To define the descriptive	Descriptive	1. Reason for statistical test used: Determining the
statistics of the study	statistics:	demographic, dietary and anthropometric
participants	Descriptive for	measures of the targeted outcomes in all the study
	continuous	participants (239, 573).
	variables	
		2. Outcome of statistical test used: Determining
		the means and standard deviations of the collected
		demographic, dietary and anthropometric
		variables:
		• Age (years)
		• BMI (kg/m2)
		• WC (cm
		• WHR
		• Visceral fat (%)
		• Body fat (%)
		• Total energy intake (%)
		• Protein intake (g/day)
		• Total fat intake (g/day)
		• Carbohydrate intake (g/day)
		• Fibre intake (g/day)
		• Total SFA intake (g/day)
		• Total MUFA intake (g/day)
		• Total PUFA intake (g/day)

2b) The descriptive statistics	Students t test	1 Basson for statistical test used: Comparing the
20) The descriptive statistics	Students t-test	1. Reason for statistical test used. Comparing the
table was then categorised		means and standard deviations of demographic,
into two groups: non-Obese		dietary and anthropometric variables between the
and overweight/Obese.		two groups (non-Obese and overweight/Obese
		individuals).
		2. Outcome of statistical test used: Detecting if the
		demographic, anthropometric and dietary
		variables were significantly different between the
		two groups (241, 441).
Objective 3: To test the assoce traits; BMI, percentage of bo	ciations of the 12-SI dy fat and visceral	NP, 8-SNP and 4-SNP GRS with obesity-related fat, WC and WHR.
3a) To test for the association	Univariate linear	1) Reason for test: The exposure variables (GRSs)
between the 12-SNP, 8-SNP	regression	are categorical variables, and the outcome
and 4-SNP GRS and obesity-	0	variables (obesity-related traits) are continuous
related traits		variables.
		2) Outcome of test: Identifying the impact of the
		GRSs on obesity-related traits (573–574)
		3) Covariates to be adjusted: age sex and
		additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome
		(258)
Objective 4. Testing the inte	raction between th	e 12-SNP & SNP and 4-SNP GRS and lifestyle
factors (dietary intake and n	hysical activity) on (nhesity.related traits
4a) Testing the interaction	Univariate linear	1) Reason for test: The exposure variables (GRSs)
between lifestyle factors	regression	are categorical variables and the outcome
(dietary intake and physical	regression	variables (obesity-related traits) are continuous
activity) and 12-SNP 8-SNP		variables (obesity-related traits) are continuous
and 4 SND CDS on obsity		2) Outcome of test: Finding the effect of the CPSs
related traits		and lifestule factors including physical activity
Telated traits		and distance intelves of conholization motion for
		and dietary intakes of carbonydrate, protein, fat
		and note (in grains) on obesity-related trans (201,
		2) Conversion to be adjusted, and some total energy
		3) Covariates to be adjusted: age, sex, total energy
		intake and additionally for BMI when BMI is not
	** • • • •	an outcome (529).
4b) Determining whether the	Univariate linear	1) Reason for test: The exposure variables (GRSs)
below or above the median	regression	are categorical variables, and the outcome
intake of these macronutrients		variables (obesity-related traits) are continuous
are causing the observed		variables.
interactions		2) Outcome of test: Detecting the effect of GRSs
		and the intake of various quantities of
		macronutrients on obesity-related traits.
		3) Covariates to be adjusted: Age, sex, total
		energy intake and additionally for BMI when
		BMI is not an outcome (576).
SPECIAL NOTES:	~	
When investigating the effect	Compute	
ot macronutrients in grams,	variables	• For carbohydrate interactions:
the analysis should be		lg of carbohydrates = 4kcal
adjusted for Kcal. However,		
no adjustment for Kcal is		• For fat interactions:

needed when testing		1g=9 kcal
interactions with the		
percentage energy intake of		• For protein interactions:
the macronutrients because		1g = 4kcal(577)
adjustment has already been		
performed.		
Significant GRS*nutrient	Univariate linear	For fat interactions:
interactions were analysed in	regression	Based on the median intake of total fat, SFA,
more depth according to the		MUFA and PUFA, the individuals were separated
specific type of macronutrient		into two groups: "below the median group" and
showing the interaction		"above the median group". Within each group,
_		the association between the GRS and the outcome
		was examined (240).

GRS genetic risk score; SNP single nucleotide polymorphisms; HWE, Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium; BMI, body

mass index; WC, waist circumference; WHR, waist hip ratio; SFA, saturated fatty acids; MUFA, monounsaturated

fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids.

9.4 Effect of dietary fat intake and genetic risk on glucose and insulin-related traits in Brazilian young adults

Main study objective:

The study aimed to investigate the association of selected 10-SNPs, as a metabolic-GRS, with

metabolic disease-related traits and to assess the interaction between dietary and genetic factors

on these traits in 200 healthy Brazilian young adults.

Table 7. Previous studies that have examined the associations of selected SNPs with metabolic disease-related traits

Gene	rs number	Reference
Melanocortin 4 Receptor (MC4R)	rs17782313	(120, 378, 578)
Fat mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs8050136	(582-584)
at mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs10163409	(303)
Transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2)	rs7903146	(585-588)
Transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2)	rs12255372	(589, 590)
Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1 (<i>KCNQ1</i>)	rs2237895	(89, 593)
Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1 (<i>KCNQ1</i>)	rs2237892	(594, 595)
Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B (CDKN2A/2B)	rs10811661	(596, 597)
Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARG)	rs1801282	(598, 599)
Calpain 10 (CAPN10)	rs5030952	(600-602)

Objective 1: Determining whether each genetic variant was in HWE		
Aims:	Statistical test	1) Reason for statistical test used
	used:	2) Outcome of statistical test used
		3) covariates (when appropriate)
1a) Assess whether the observed	Chi-Squared test	1) Reason for test: Comparing the observed genotype
genotype frequencies are in HWE		frequencies with the expected values under Hardy-
		Weinberg
		2) Outcome of statistical test: Determining whether a
		population is in HWE at a specific locus (239)
Objective 2: To generate descriptive statistics of the study participants.		
2a) To define the descriptive	Descriptive	1. Reason for statistical test used: Determining the
statistics of the study participants	statistics:	demographic, dietary, biochemical, and
		anthropometric measures of the targeted outcomes in
	-Descriptive for	all the study participants (239, 573).
	continuous	
	variables	2. Outcome of statistical test used: Determining the
		mean and standard deviation of the collected

Table 8. The study objectives.

	1	
		demographic, dietary, biochemical and
		anthropometric variables:
		• Age (years)
		• BMI (kg/m2)
		• WC (cm)
		• Body fat mass (%)
		• HbA1c (%)
		• Fasting serum glucose (mg/dL)
		• Fasting serum insulin (uU/mL)
		• Homeostasis model assessment estimate of
		insulin resistance (HOMA-IR)
		• Homeostasis model assessment estimate of
		Insulin secretion (HOMA-B)
		• Insum to glucose ratio
		• Energy (Kcal/day)
		• Protein (energy %)
		• Carbonydrate (energy %)
		• Fat (energy %)
		• SFA $(\%)$
		• PUFA (%)
2b) The descriptive statistics table	Students t test	• MUFA (%)
20) The descriptive statistics table	Students t-test	1. Reason for statistical test used: Comparing the mean
groups: men and women		anthronometric variables between the two groups
groups: men and women.		(men and women)
		2. Outcome of statistical test used: Detecting if the
		demographic, anthropometric and dietary variables
		were significantly different between the two groups
		(241, 441).
Objective 3: To test the association	s of the 10-SNP GR	S with metabolic traits; BMI, WC, body fat mass,
HbA1c, fasting glucose, fasting inst	ulin, HOMA-IR, HO	OMA-B, HOMA-B adjusted for HOMA-IR and
insulin to glucose ratio		
3a) To test for the association	Univariate linear	1) Reason for test: The exposure variable (metabolic-
between the metabolic-GRS and	regression	GRS) is a categorical variable, and the outcome
metabolic traits.		variables (metabolic traits) are continuous variables.
		2) Outcome of test. Identifying the impact of the metabolic GPS on metabolic traits (573–574)
		3) Covariates to be adjusted: Age gender and
		additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome
		(258)
Objective 4: Testing the interacti	on between cardio	metabolic-related genetic variants, as a GRS, and
dietary intake on metabolic traits.		
4a) Testing the interaction between	Univariate linear	1) Reason for test: The exposure variable (metabolic-
the GRS and lifestyle factors	regression	GRS) is a categorical variable, and the outcome
including dietary intakes of protein,		variables (metabolic traits) are continuous variables.
fat and carbohydrate (in % of TEI)		2) Outcome of test: Finding the effect of the
on metabolic traits.		metabolic-GRS and dietary intakes of carbohydrate,
		protein and fat on metabolic-related traits (261, 575).

		3) Covariates to be adjusted: Age, gender, and BMI when BMI is not an outcome (529).
4b) Statistically significant interactions were investigated in more depth, where individuals were stratified by the tertiles of dietary intakes.	Univariate linear regression	 Reason for test: The exposure variable (metabolic-GRS) is a categorical variable, and the outcome variables (metabolic traits) are continuous variables. Outcome of test: Determining whether the low, medium and high intakes of these macronutrients are causing the observed interactions (261, 575). Covariates to be adjusted: Age, gender and BMI when BMI is not an outcome (576).
SPECIAL NOTES:		
When investigating the effect of macronutrients in grams, the analysis should be adjusted for Kcal. However, no adjustment for Kcal is needed when testing interactions with the percentage energy intake of the macronutrients because adjustment has already been performed.	Compute variables	 For carbohydrate interactions: 1g of carbohydrates = 4kcal For fat interactions: 1g=9 kcal For protein interactions: 1g= 4kcal (577)
Significant GRS*nutrient interactions were analysed in more depth according to the specific type of macronutrient showing the interaction GRS genetic risk score: SNP sing	Univariate linear regression	For fat interactions: Based on the median intake of total fat, SFA, MUFA and PUFA, the individuals were separated into two groups: 'below the median group" and 'above the median group". Within each group, the association between the GRS and the outcome was examined (240).

 $mass\ index;\ WC,\ waist\ circumference;\ HbA1c:\ glycated\ haemoglobin;\ HOMA-IR:\ homeostasis\ model\ assessment$

estimate of insulin resistance; HOMA-B: homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion; SFA,

saturated fatty acids; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; TEI, total energy

intake

9.5 Lower Dietary Intake of Plant Protein Is Associated with Genetic Risk of

Diabetes-Related Traits in Urban Asian Indian Adults

Main study objective:

The study aimed to examine the impact of dietary and genetic factors, as 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRS, on metabolic traits in 1062 Asian Indians.

Table 9. Previous studies which have examined the association of selected SNPs with metabolic disease-related traits

Gene	rs number	Reference
Transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2)	rs7903146	(585-588)
Transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2)	rs12255372	(589, 590)
Fat mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs918031	(364, 604)
Fat mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs1588413	(364)
Fat mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs7193144	(364, 579, 605)
Fat mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs1076023	(239, 364)
Fat mass and obesity associated (FTO)	rs8050136	(582-584)

Disease cut off-values:

- 1) Subjects with fasting plasma glucose (FPG)<5.6 mmol/l (100mg/dl) and 2 hr plasma glucose value of 7.8 mmol/l (140mg/dl) were defined as having normal glucose tolerance (NGT) according to the WHO (606).
- 2) Common obesity was defined as BMI ≥25 according to WHO Asia Pacific Guidelines for Asians (517).

Table 10. The study objectives.

Objective 1: Determining whether each genetic variant was in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWF)		
Aims: Statistical test		1) Reason for statistical test used
	used:	2) Outcome of statistical test used
		3) covariates (when appropriate)
1a) Assess whether the	Chi-Squared test	1) Reason for test: Comparing the observed
observed genotype		genotype frequencies with the expected values
frequencies are in HWE		under Hardy-Weinberg
		2) Outcome of statistical test: Determining
		whether a population is in HWE at a specific locus
		(239)
Objective 2: To generate descriptive statistics of the study participants.		
2a) To define the descriptive	Descriptive	1. Reason for statistical test used: Determining the
statistics of the study	statistics:	demographic, dietary, biochemical and
participants		anthropometric measures of the targeted
	-Descriptive for	outcomes in all the study participants (239, 573).
	continuous	
	variables	2. Outcome of statistical test used:

		-Determining the means and standard deviations
	-Frequencies for	and the frequencies of the collected demographic
	categorical	dietary biochemical and anthronometric
	variables	variables.
	variables	
		$\mathbf{PMI} (1/a/m^2)$
		• $\text{DWI}(\text{kg/III2})$
		• WC ($cini$)
		• HBAIC $(\%)$
		• FPG (mg/dl)
		 Fasting Insulin (μIU/ml)
		• Energy (kcal/day)
		• Protein (%)
		• Animal protein (g/day)
		• Plant protein (g/day)
		• Fat (%)
		• Carbohydrate (%)
		• Dietary fibre (g)
		• Total SFA (g)
		• Total MUFA (g)
		• Total PLIFA (g)
		- Determining the frequency for the categorical
		variable.
		• Sex (%)
2b) The descriptive statistics	-Students t-test for	1 Reason for statistical test used: Comparing the
table was then categorised	continuous	means and standard deviations as well as the
into two groups. NGT and	variables	frequency of demographic dietary and
DM	variables	anthropometric variables between the two groups
	-Chi-square for	(NGT and DM)
	categorical	2 Outcome of statistical test used: Detecting if the
	variables	demographic anthropometric biochemical and
	variables	dietary variables were significantly different
		between the two groups (241–441)
Objective 3: To test the assoc	iations of the 7-SNI	P and 3-SNP GRS with metabolic traits: BML
WC. HBA1C. FPG (mg/dl) a	nd fasting insulin.	
3a) To test for the association	Univariate linear	1) Reason for test: The exposure variables (GRSs)
between the 7-SNP and 3-	regression	are categorical variables, and the outcome
SNP GRS and metabolic traits	0	variables (metabolic traits) are continuous
		variables.
		2) Outcome of test: Identifying the impact of the
		GRSs on metabolic traits (573, 574).
		3) Covariates to be adjusted: ex. age. T2D. anti-
		diabetic medication and additionally for BMI.
		when BMI is not an outcome (258)
Objective 4: To test the assoc	iations of the 7-SNI	and 3-SNP GRS with DM.

4a) To test for the association	Logistic		1) Reason for test: The exposure variables (GRSs)
between the 7-SNP and 3-	regression		are categorical variables and the outcome
SNP GRS and DM	regression		variables (DM) is a categorical variable
			2) Outcome of test: identifying the impact of the
			GRSs on obesity-related traits
			3) Covariates to be adjusted: say age anti-
			diabatic modication and PMI (258)
Objective 5: Testing the int	oraction boty	voon 7	SNP and 3 SNP CPS and diatary intake on
metabolic traits	craction betw	veen /	-5141 and 5-5141 GRS, and dictary intake on
5a) Testing the interaction	Univariate	linear	1) Reason for test: The exposure variables (GRSs)
between dietery intake and 7	regression	mear	are categorical variables and the outcome
SND and 3 SND GDS on	regression		variables (metabolic traits) are continuous
motobolio troito			variables (includone traits) are continuous
metabolic traits.			2) Outcome of test: Finding the effect of the CDS
			2) Outcome of test. Finding the effect of the GRSs
			and dietary intakes of fai, protein and
			carbonydrate (% of TEI) on metabolic traits (261,
			3) Covariates to be adjusted: Sex, age, 12D,
			antidiabetic medications and additionally for
	T T • • / 1	1.	BMI, when BMI is not an outcome (529).
5b) Determining whether the	Univariate	linear	1) Reason for test: The exposure variables (GRSs)
below or above the median	regression		are categorical variables, and the outcome
intake of these macronutrients			variables (metabolic traits) are continuous
are causing the observed			variables.
interactions			2) Outcome of test: Detecting the effect of GRSs
			and the intake of various quantities of
			macronutrients on metabolic traits.
			3) Covariates to be adjusted: age, sex, total energy
			intake and additionally for BMI when BMI is not
			an outcome (576).
SPECIAL NOTES:			
When investigating the effect	Compute		
of macronutrients in grams,	variables		• For carbohydrate interactions:
the analysis should be			1g of carbohydrates = 4kcal
adjusted for Kcal. However,			
no adjustment for Kcal is			• For fat interactions:
needed when testing			1g=9 kcal
interactions with the			
percentage energy intake of			• For protein interactions:
the macronutrients because			1g = 4kcal (577)
adjustment has already been			
performed.			
Significant GRS*nutrient	Univariate	linear	For protein interactions:
interactions were analysed in	regression		Significant interactions with protein intake were
more depth according to the			analysed in more depth according to dietary
specific type of macronutrient			sources of protein (animal and plant protein),
showing the interaction			where individuals were classified into two groups
			according to the sample median intake of plant
			(39g/day) and animal protein (19g/day): below
			and above median groups. Individuals who
consumed below the median were categorised as			

those who had low intakes of plant and animal			
protein, respectively, whereas individuals who			
consumed above the median were categorised as			
those who had high intakes of plant and animal			
protein, respectively.			

GRS genetic risk score; SNP single nucleotide polymorphisms; HWE, Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium; BMI, body

mass index; WC, waist circumference; HbA1c: glycated haemoglobin; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; SFA,

saturated fatty acids; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; NGT; normal

glucose tolerance; DM diabetes mellites; TEI, total energy intake.





Article Lower Dietary Intake of Plant Protein Is Associated with Genetic Risk of Diabetes-Related Traits in Urban Asian Indian Adults

Sooad Alsulami ^{1,2}, Dhanasekaran Bodhini ³, Vasudevan Sudha ⁴, Coimbatore Subramanian Shanthi Rani ⁵, Rajendra Pradeepa ⁶, Ranjit Mohan Anjana ⁶, Venkatesan Radha ³, Julie A. Lovegrove ¹, Rajagopal Gayathri ⁴, Viswanathan Mohan ⁶ and Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran ^{1,7,*}

- ¹ Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition, Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences, University of Reading, Reading RG6 6DZ, UK; s.alsulami@student.reading.ac.uk (S.A.); j.a.lovegrove@reading.ac.uk (J.A.L.)
- ² Department of Clinical Nutrition, Faculty of Applied Medical Sciences, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah 21589, Saudi Arabia
- ³ Department of Molecular Genetics, Madras Diabetes Research Foundation, Chennai 603103, India; bodhinid@gmail.com (D.B.); radharv@yahoo.co.in (V.R.)
- ⁴ Department of Foods, Nutrition and Dietetics Research, Madras Diabetes Research Foundation, Chennai 600086, India; s2r_7@mdrf.in (V.S.); gayathri@mdrf.in (R.G.)
- ⁵ Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Madras Diabetes Research Foundation, Chennai 600086, India; kshan_rany@yahoo.com
- Department of Diabetology, Madras Diabetes Research Foundation & Dr. Mohan's Diabetes Specialities Centre, WHO Collaborating Centre for Non-Communicable Diseases Prevention and Control, ICMR Centre for Advanced Research on Diabetes, Gopalapuram, Chennai 600086, India; guhapradeepa@gmail.com (R.P.); dranjana@drmohans.com (R.M.A.); drmohans@diabetes.ind.in (V.M.)
- ⁷ The Institute for Food, Nutrition, and Health (IFNH), University of Reading, Reading RG6 6AP, UK
 - Correspondence: v.karani@reading.ac.uk; Tel.: +44-(0)-118-378-8702

Abstract: The increasing prevalence of type 2 diabetes among South Asians is caused by a complex interplay between environmental and genetic factors. We aimed to examine the impact of dietary and genetic factors on metabolic traits in 1062 Asian Indians. Dietary assessment was performed using a validated semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire. Seven single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) from the Transcription factor 7-like 2 and fat mass and obesity-associated genes were used to construct two metabolic genetic risk scores (GRS): 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRSs. Both 7-SNP GRS and 3-SNP GRS were associated with a higher risk of T2D (p = 0.0000134 and 0.008, respectively). The 3-SNP GRS was associated with higher waist circumference (p = 0.010), fasting plasma glucose (FPG) (p = 0.002) and glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) (p = 0.000066). There were significant interactions between 3-SNP GRS and protein intake (% of total energy intake) on FPG (Pinteraction = 0.011) and HbA1c ($P_{interaction} = 0.007$), where among individuals with lower plant protein intake (<39 g/day) and those with >1 risk allele had higher FPG (p = 0.001) and HbA1c (p = 0.00006) than individuals with ≤ 1 risk allele. Our findings suggest that lower plant protein intake may be a contributor to the increased ethnic susceptibility to diabetes described in Asian Indians. Randomised clinical trials with increased plant protein in the diets of this population are needed to see whether the reduction of diabetes risk occurs in individuals with prediabetes.

Keywords: genetic risk score; metabolic traits; urban Asian Indian; dietary protein intake; gene–diet interaction; T2D

1. Introduction

South Asian populations have a 50% higher risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D) than other populations [1,2] and this has significant implications, as patients with T2D have a 2–4 times increased risk of cardiovascular diseases [1]. The Asian Indian population have a unique phenotype characterised by abdominal and truncal adiposity, as indicated by larger waist



Citation: Alsulami, S.; Bodhini, D.; Sudha, V.; Shanthi Rani, C.S.; Pradeepa, R.; Anjana, R.M.; Radha, V.; Lovegrove, J.A.; Gayathri, R.; Mohan, V.; et al. Lower Dietary Intake of Plant Protein Is Associated with Genetic Risk of Diabetes-Related Traits in Urban Asian Indian Adults. *Nutrients* **2021**, *13*, 3064. https://doi.org/10.3390/ nu13093064

Academic Editors: Antonio Brunetti and Louise Deldicque

Received: 16 June 2021 Accepted: 27 August 2021 Published: 31 August 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). to hip ratios and waist circumference (WC), higher concentrations of plasma insulin, greater insulin resistance, impaired function of pancreatic β -cell and a genetic susceptibility to diabetes, which ultimately leads to significantly increased diabetes risk [3–5]. The burden of T2D is increasing globally, with India being a major contributor to the worldwide burden [6]. The number of diabetic individuals in India rose from 26.0 million in 1990 to 65.0 million in 2016 [7].

The increasing prevalence of T2D among Asian Indians is caused by a complex interplay between environmental and genetic factors, including urbanisation, which plays a large role [8–10]. Urbanisation in India is associated with increased consumption of processed foods and dietary fats, decreased level of physical activity and increased mental stress, amplifying the effects of abdominal obesity and insulin resistance [4,5,11]. Furthermore, the urban areas in India reported higher intake of protein from pulses and animal sources (including meat, fish, eggs and milk) than rural areas [12]. Several large longitudinal studies showed that the intake of animal protein was significantly associated with the risk of T2D [13–17]. In the context of rapid urbanisation and nutrition transition, interactions between Westernised diet, lifestyle and genetic factors have further escalated T2D prevalence in Asia [18,19]. In South Asians, several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have been associated with adiposity [20–23], insulin resistance [24], pancreatic β-cell function [20,25,26] and T2D [20,22,23,26,27]. The fat mass and obesity-associated (FTO) gene has been recognised as one of the strongest obesity-related genes. The FTO SNPs, rs1588413, rs9939609 and rs8050136, have been shown to increase obesity risk by 1.27, 1.15 and 2.06 times among Indians, respectively [22,28]. Studies have reported strong associations of the Transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) SNPs, rs7903146 and rs12255372, with T2D risk in Asian Indians [29–31]. To date, evidence has identified 243 genetic loci to be associated with T2D risk in South Asians, East Asians, Europeans, African Americans and Hispanics [32–35]. Single genetic variants have only a small to moderate effect on disease risk, thus combining effects of several SNPs into a genetic risk score (GRS) is required for better detection of individuals with high risk of diabetes [36].

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have discovered a large number of genetic variants associated with metabolic diseases and related traits; however, these SNPs describe only a small proportion of estimated heritability. Risk prediction of metabolic diseases is complicated by interactions between dietary and genetic factors, which may partly explain the missing heritability of diseases [37]. Investigating gene–diet interaction is important in understanding pathophysiology of metabolic diseases, which can lead to the development of 'personalised' nutrition focusing on tailoring dietary interventions according to individual genotypic makeup to prevent and treat metabolic diseases [38,39]. The effect of genetic factors on metabolic traits have been shown to be modified by dietary intake in several populations [40–44]. However, studies investigating GRS–diet interaction in the Indian population are still sparse. To help fill this gap in knowledge, we assessed the combined effect of seven genetic variants, as a GRS, on T2D and metabolic traits, and the extent to which dietary intake can influence these genetic associations among 1062 urban Asian Indians.

2. Methods

2.1. Study Participants

The present study included individuals from the urban area of the Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study (CURES), which is a cross-sectional epidemiological study performed on a representative sample of Chennai city (formerly Madras) in southern India. The design and procedures of the CURES have been explained in detail previously [45]. In phase 1, a total of 26,001 adult subjects, of which 1529 were 'self-reported' or 'known diabetic' individuals, were recruited using a method of systematic random sampling. In phase 2, diabetic individuals were invited to the study centre for further investigation, of whom 1382 responded. In phase 3, every 10th individual of the total sample (n = 26,001 subjects), excluding individuals with self-reported diabetes, were

screened using an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT). Individuals with fasting plasma glucose (FPG) < 5.6 mmol/L (100 mg/dL) and 2 h plasma glucose value of 7.8 mmol/L (140 mg/dL) were defined as having normal glucose tolerance (NGT) [46]. Those who had 2 h plasma glucose value of 11.1 mmol/L (200 mg/dL) were categorised as 'newly detected diabetic subjects' (n = 222) (Figure S1). The total sample of present study is 1062 individuals; the NGT individuals were chosen from Phase 3 (n = 496) and T2D individuals were chosen from Phase 3 (n = 566). The study was approved by the Madras Diabetes Research Foundation Institutional Ethics Committee and written informed consent was obtained from all study participants.

2.2. Anthropometric and Biochemical Measurements

Anthropometric variables including WC, weight and height were measured using standardised methods. The body mass index (BMI) was calculated with the formula of weight (in kilograms) divided by the square of height (in metres), with obesity being defined as BMI \geq 25 according to World Health Organisation Asia Pacific Guidelines for Asians [47].

Biochemical tests were carried out using a Hitachi-912 Auto Analyzer (Hitachi, Mannheim, Germany), with kits provided by Roche Diagnostics (Mannheim). Glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) was measured using high-performance liquid chromatography on a Variant machine (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). FPG and serum insulin were measured using glucose oxidase-peroxidase and an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark), respectively.

2.3. Dietary Assessments

Participants' habitual food intake over the previous year was measured using a validated semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) administered by an interviewer [48]. The FFQ consists of 222 food items and individuals were asked to estimate the usual portion size and frequency (number of times per day, week, month or year/never) of food items listed in the FFQ. Participants were shown common household measures and photographic atlas of different sizes of fruits to help them in estimating portion sizes. The EpiNu[®] software was used to analyse the recorded data and estimate the intake of energy and macronutrients. The reported intake of various food groups was also estimated. The EpiNu software also provided the source of protein from various food groups. Animal protein intake was summed up using protein intake (g/day from FFQ) from animal food groups such as meat, poultry, fish, egg and dairy products. Similarly, plant protein intake was estimated from food groups such as cereals, millets, pulses and legumes, tubers, nuts, oilseeds, vegetables and fruits. In addition, dairy protein was estimated separately using dairy products such as milk products and fermented and unfermented milk.

2.4. SNP Selection and GRS Construction

A total of 7 metabolic disease-associated SNPs which have been extensively studied in various populations, including Asian Indians, were selected for the study [20–27,29]. The selected SNPs included *TCF7L2* SNPs, rs12255372 and rs7903146, and *FTO* SNPs, rs8050136, rs918031, rs1588413, rs7193144 and rs1076023. Details regarding these SNPs are summarised in Table S1. Each SNP was coded with the expected number of metabolic diseases-associated risk alleles. Consistent with previous studies [41,49,50], we used an unweighted method to construct the GRSs by summing the number of risk alleles of each SNP for each participant. The seven SNPs were used to generate a 7-SNP GRS that ranges from 1 to 11 risk alleles. The GRS was divided into 2 categories according to the median number of risk alleles: "GRS < 6 risk alleles" and "GRS \geq 6 risk alleles", indicating individuals with lower and higher risk alleles of the SNPs, respectively. In addition, we constructed a GRS of 3 SNPs (*FTO*SNP rs8050136 and *TCF7L2*SNPs rs12255372 and rs7903146) that have shown consistent associations with metabolic disease-related outcomes across various ethnicities, including Asians [51–54]. The 3-SNP GRS ranges from

4 of 15

0 to 6 risk alleles and was divided into 2 categories according to the median number of risk alleles: "GRS \leq 1 risk allele" group and "GRS > 1 risk allele" group, indicating individuals with lower and higher risk alleles of the SNPs, respectively.

2.5. Genotyping

The genotyping methodologies have been previously published [22,30]. The phenolchloroform technique was used to extract DNA from whole blood. Genotyping was performed using restriction fragment length polymorphism and confirmed by direct sequencing in which duplicate samples (n = 200; 20%) were genotyped with 100% concordance, suggesting high genotyping accuracy.

2.6. Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics of continuous variables are provided as means with standard deviations (SDs) and compared between T2D and controls using an independent sample t-test. Normality tests were performed and variables with no-normal distribution were log transformed. For each individual SNP, genotype counts were assessed for Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) using a goodness-of-fit chi-square test. As shown in Table S1, all SNPs were in HWE (p > 0.092, for all comparisons). General linear models were utilised to analyse the main associations of the GRS with metabolic traits. Interactions of the GRS with dietary intake were investigated by including the interaction term (GRS*dietary intake) in the models. Furthermore, significant interactions with protein intake were analysed in more depth according to dietary sources of protein (animal and plant protein), where individuals were classified into two groups according to the sample median intake of plant (39 g/day) and animal protein (19 g/day): below and above median groups. Individuals who consumed below the median were categorised as those who had lower intakes of plant and animal protein, respectively, whereas individuals who consumed above the median were categorised as those who had higher intakes of plant and animal protein, respectively. Dietary intakes as percentage of total energy intake (TEI) included intake of protein, carbohydrate and fat. Models were adjusted for sex, age, T2D, anti-diabetic medication and BMI (when BMI is not an outcome). Furthermore, as part of the sensitivity analysis, we further adjusted for duration of diabetes, dairy protein intake, physical activity level, smoking, alcohol consumption and fibre intake. Statistical analyses were carried out using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software (version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA), with a significance level of 0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Characteristics of Study Participants

As shown in Table 1, individuals with T2D were significantly older and had higher BMI, WC, HbA1c, FPG and insulin, compared to individuals with NGT (p < 0.05 for all). Moreover, diabetic individuals had significantly higher intakes of total protein and carbohydrate than individuals with NGT (p < 0.05 for all).

	Total		NG	T Controls	T	2D Cases	– <i>n</i> Value	
	п		п		n		<i>p</i> value	
Sex								
Men (%)	591	56	278	56	313	55	0.807 **	
Women (%)	471	44	218	44	253	45		
Age (years)	1062	45 ± 12	496	38 ± 10	566	51 ± 11	$1.160 imes 10^{-71}$ *	
Diabetes duration	-	-	-	-	566	5.20 ± 5.29	-	
Anti-diabetic medication	-	-	-	-	164	15.4%	-	
BMI (kg/m^2)	1061	24.6 ± 4.56	496	23.5 ± 4.64	565	25.5 ± 4.30	$1.480 imes 10^{-12}$ *	
WC (cm)	1022	87 ± 12	479	83 ± 12	543	91 ± 10	$5.692 imes 10^{-33} imes$	
HBA1C (%)	1056	7.3 ± 2.4	492	5.6 ± 0.47	564	8.8 ± 2.4	$1.480 imes 10^{-14}$ *	
FPG (mg/dL)	1060	126 ± 64	495	85 ± 8	565	162 ± 69	$1.392 imes 10^{-127} *$	
Fasting Insulin (µIU/mL)	699	9 ± 7	448	8 ± 6	251	12 ± 7	$6.386 imes 10^{-101} *$	
Energy (kcal/day)	1062	2536 ± 805	496	2685 ± 708	566	2406 ± 861	$8.773 imes 10^{-9}$ *	
Protein (%)	1062	11 ± 1	496	11.27 ± 1.17	566	11.45 ± 1.23	0.014 *	
Animal protein (g/day)	1062	22 ± 12	496	25 ± 13	566	19 ± 11	$3.787 imes 10^{-14}$ *	
Plant protein (g/day)	1062	40 ± 14	496	42 ± 15	566	39 ± 13	0.006 *	
Fat (%)	1062	23 ± 5	496	24 ± 5	566	23 ± 5	0.113 *	
Carbohydrate (%)	1062	65 ± 6	496	64 ± 6	566	65 ± 6	0.003 *	
Dietary fibre (g)	1062	32 ± 11	496	32 ± 10	566	31 ± 12	0.150 *	
Total SFA (g)	1062	24 ± 10	496	27 ± 10	566	22 ± 10	$2.295 imes 10^{-12} imes$	
Total MUFA (g)	1062	20 ± 8	496	21 ± 8	566	18 ± 8	$3.943 imes 10^{-9} *$	
Total PUFA (g)	1062	18 ± 10	496	19 ± 9	566	18 ± 10	0.184 *	
Physical activity level								
Sedentary	695	71%	335	73%	360	70%		
Moderate	223	23%	110	24%	113	22%	0.001 **	
Vigorously active	58	6%	13	3%	45	8%		
Smoking								
Non-smokers	865	81.5%	396	79.8%	469	82.9%	0.206 **	
Smokers	197	18.5%	100	20.2%	97	17.1%		
Alcohol consumption								
Non-alcoholics	793	74.7%	358	72.2%	435	76.9%	0.080 **	
Alcoholics	269	25.3%	138	27.8%	131	23.1%		

Table 1. Characteristics of study participants.

Data presented as Mean \pm SD. * *p* values are for the mean differences between controls and T2D cases using an independent sample *t*-test. ** *p* values are from the Chi-squared test. Frequency of men and women between controls and cases was compared using a chi-square test. Abbreviations: NGT, normal glucose tolerance; T2D, type 2 diabetes; BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; SFA, saturated fatty acids; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids.

3.2. Association between Metabolic GRS and Metabolic Traits

After adjusting for the potential confounders there were no significant associations between the 7-SNP GRS and metabolic traits (Table 2).

		7-SNP GRS				3-SNP GRS				
	n	GRS < 6	n	$\mathbf{GRS} \geq 6$	p Value	n	$\text{GRS} \leq 1$	n	GRS > 1	p Value *
BMI (kg/m ²) WC (cm) HBA1C (%) FPG (mg/dL) Fasting insulin	526 508 524 526	$24.5 \pm 0.2 \\ 86.7 \pm 0.5 \\ 7.1 \pm 0.1 \\ 119.9 \pm 2.6$	535 514 532 534	$\begin{array}{c} 24.7 \pm 0.2 \\ 87.4 \pm 0.5 \\ 7.4 \pm 0.1 \\ 131.6 \pm 2.9 \end{array}$	0.572 0.668 0.935 0.181	645 620 640 644	$\begin{array}{c} 24.7 \pm 0.2 \\ 87.0 \pm 0.47 \\ 7.0 \pm 0.1 \\ 120.0 \pm 2.35 \end{array}$	416 402 416 416	$\begin{array}{c} 24.5 \pm 0.2 \\ 88.0 \pm 0.57 \\ 7.7 \pm 0.1 \\ 135.0 \pm 3.39 \end{array}$	0.572 0.010 0.000066 0.002
(µIU/mL)	373	9.5 ± 0.4	326	9.4 ± 0.3	0.767	419	10.0 ± 0.36	280	9.0 ± 0.33	0.171

Table 2. Associations of 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRS and with metabolic traits.

Data are Mean \pm standard error of the mean. * *p* values adjusted for sex, age, T2D, anti-diabetic medication and additionally for BMI, when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was carried out using log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: GRS, genetic risk score; BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin; FPG, fasting plasma glucose.

In the 3-SNP GRS analysis, significant associations were found with WC (p = 0.010), FPG (p = 0.002) and HbA1c (p = 0.000066), where individuals with >1 risk allele had higher

WC, FPG and HbA1c compared to individuals with ≤ 1 risk allele (Table 2). Both 7-SNP GRS and 3-SNP GRS were associated with a higher risk of T2D (p = 0.0000134 and 0.008, respectively) (Table 3).

Table 3. Association of 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRSs with T2D.

	0.0	95% CI		
GKS	OR	Lower	Upper	<i>p</i> value
7-SNP GRS 3-SNP GRS	2.083 1.559	1.496 1.121	2.898 2.170	0.0000134 0.008

* *p* values were obtained from the logistic regression models adjusted for sex, age, anti-diabetic medication and BMI. Abbreviations: GRS, genetic risk score; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; T2D, type 2 diabetes; OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; BMI, body mass index.

3.3. Interaction of 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRSs with Dietary Factors on Metabolic Traits

As shown in Table 4, there were significant interactions between the 3-SNP GRS and total protein intake (% of TEI) on FPG ($P_{interaction} = 0.011$) and HbA1c ($P_{interaction} = 0.007$). Among individuals with lower intake of plant protein (<39 g/day), those with >1 risk allele had higher FPG (p = 0.001) and HbA1c (p = 0.00006) than individuals with ≤ 1 risk allele (Figure 1). Furthermore, among individuals with higher intake of animal protein (>19 g/day), those with >1 risk allele had higher FPG (p = 0.001) and HbA1c (p = 0.008) and HbA1c (p = 0.001) than individuals with >1 risk allele had higher FPG (p = 0.008) and HbA1c (p = 0.001) than individuals with >1 risk allele (Figure S2). None of the interactions were significant between the 7-SNP GRS and dietary intakes on metabolic traits except for the interactions between 7-SNP GRS and protein intake on HbA1c ($P_{interaction} = 0.032$), and 7-SNP GRS and carbohydrate intake ($P_{interaction} = 0.04$) on fasting insulin. However, these interactions were not significant after stratifying based on animal and plant protein.

Table 4. Interactions of 7-SNP and 3-SNP GRSs with dietary factors on metabolic traits.

	7-SNP GRS			3-SNP GRS			
	Protein	Fat	Carbohydrate	Protein	Fat	Carbohydrate	
	(% of TEI)	(% of TEI)	(% of TEI)	(% of TEI)	(% of TEI)	(% of TEI)	
BMI (kg/m ²)	0.176	0.388	0.195	0.36	0.653	0.805	
WC (cm)	0.852	0.786	0.892	0.638	0.958	0.914	
HBA1C (%)	0.032	0.629	0.618	0.007	0.677	0.756	
FPG (mg/dL)	0.249	0.489	0.507	0.011	0.367	0.231	
Fasting insulin (µIU/mL)	0.952	0.085	0.04	0.299	0.567	0.999	
T2D	0.956	0.214	0.152	0.764	0.508	0.365	

Data are P_{interaction} values adjusted for sex, age, T2D, antidiabetic medications and additionally for BMI, when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was carried out using log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: GRS, genetic risk score; TEI, total energy intake; BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; T2D, type 2 diabetes.



Figure 1. Interaction between 3-SNP GRS and plant protein intake on fasting plasma glucose and glycated haemoglobin. White bars refer to individuals with GRS ≤ 1 risk allele; the black bars refer to individuals with GRS > 1 risk allele. (a) Individuals with >1 risk allele had a significantly higher FPG compared to those with ≤ 1 risk allele, among those with lower intake of plant protein (<39 g/day) (p = 0.001). (b) Individuals with >1 risk allele had a significantly higher HbA1c compared to those with ≤ 1 risk allele, among those with lower intake of plant protein (<39 g/day) (p = 0.0001). (b) Individuals with >1 risk allele had a significantly higher HbA1c compared to those with ≤ 1 risk allele, among those with lower intake of plant protein (<39 g/day) (p = 0.00006). p values were adjusted for age, sex, T2D, BMI, anti-diabetic medication, total fat intake (%) and TEI. Abbreviations: GRS, genetic risk score; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin; TEI, total energy intake.

3.4. Sensitivity Analyses

We subjected our regression results to a wide range of robustness checks. First, we adjusted for duration of diabetes, and the association of 3-SNP GRS with HbA1c and FPG (p = 0.010 and 0.040, respectively) and the interaction of 3-SNP GRS with protein intake (%) (P_{interaction} = 0.025 and 0.019 for HbA1c and FPG, respectively) were still significant. Second, we excluded individuals with diabetes, and this resulted in a small sample size of 496 NGTs. However, a significant association of 3-SNP GRS with HbA1c (p = 0.012) was still observed, but none of the interactions were statistically significant (p = 0.126 and 0.405 for HbA1c and FPG, respectively). Third, given the association between dietary fat intake and T2D traits, we adjusted for total dietary fat intake and found that the interaction of 3-SNP GRS with protein intake (%) (Pinteraction = 0.007 and 0.009 for HbA1c and FPG, respectively) was still significant. Fourth, we tested for the interaction between 3-SNP GRS and dairy protein intake to see if the interactions with the animal protein intake were driven by the intake of dairy protein. We found that the interactions between 3-SNP GRS and dairy protein intake were not statistically significant (P_{interaction} = 0.439 and 0.597 for HbA1c and FPG, respectively), suggesting that dairy protein intake is unlikely to confound the GRS-animal protein intake interaction on diabetes traits. Fifth, in addition to the aforementioned factors, we adjusted for other possible confounders such as physical activity level, smoking, alcohol consumption and fibre intake, and found that the interactions between the 3-SNP GRS and protein intake on HbA1c and FPG were still significant (Pinteraction = 0.009 and 0.008, on HbA1c and FPG, respectively).

4. Discussion

The current research provides evidence for the GRS–protein intake interaction on T2D-related traits in Asian Indians. We found that individuals with >1 risk allele had higher FPG and HbA1c levels than those with \leq 1 risk allele among individuals with lower intake of plant protein (<39 g/day). Given that the prevalence of obesity, high FPG and T2D has increased in India from 1990 to 2016 [55], our findings are of importance in terms of public health. Our study suggests that increasing the intake of plant protein might be an effective strategy towards better management of blood glucose levels, especially in Asian Indians with a higher genetic susceptibility for T2D.

In the present study, the 3-SNP GRS was associated with higher WC, which is in accordance with the findings in 7067 individuals from the Indian Migrant Study where a combined risk score of eight variants was observed to be nominally associated with higher WC (p = 0.02) [56]. The 3-SNP GRS was also associated with FPG and HbA1c, where individuals with higher GRS had higher FPG and HbA1c. Similarly, a large GWAS in 159,940 individuals of African, South Asian, East Asian and European ancestries identified 60 genetic variants influencing HbA1c [57], including SNPs located in the FTO and TCF7L2 genes. An association of 8-SNP GRS with T2D was found in a case-control study of 5,148 Indians (including 1808 individuals with T2D and 1549 controls) from in and around Pune in western India [25]. A case-control study of 3357 Indian adults (including 2486 individuals with T2D and 2678 controls) also found that individuals with a higher GRS, derived from 32 SNPs, were at a higher T2D risk compared to those with lower GRS [58]. The EpiDREAM prospective cohort study (n = 15,466 individuals) has shown that South Asians might have a greater genetic load for T2D than Latinos and Europeans [59]. If our study findings are confirmed in larger cohorts, our 3-SNP GRS might serve as a diagnostic marker for investigating the cumulative effect of SNPs on diabetes-related traits and identifying Asian Indians with a high genetic risk of T2D.

Increasing evidence has shown that certain dietary factors might interact with genetic susceptibility in relation to the risk of diabetes and related traits [40-42,44,60]. In our study, individuals with higher 3-SNP GRS had higher fasting glucose and HbA1c concentrations than individuals with lower GRS among individuals with lower intake of plant protein. The results of the current analysis are in agreement with a recent study among Southeast Asian women (n = 110) showing significant interactions between a 15-SNP GRS and total

protein intake. The study found that consuming a low protein diet (13.51 \pm 1.18% of TEI) was associated with lower WC and triacylglycerol concentrations, particularly in individuals with high genetic risk [60]. Moreover, significant interactions of the FTO SNPs (rs8044769 (C>T), rs3751812 (G>T) and rs8050136 (A>C)) with protein intake on blood glucose were observed in 819 Polish adults, where higher protein intake (>18% of TEI) was associated with higher blood glucose in individuals with the TT genotype of rs8044769, CC genotype of rs8050136 and GG genotype of rs3751812 [61]. However, the effect of protein sources was not analysed in the abovementioned studies, thus a direct comparison between these studies and our findings cannot be performed. In contrast to our study, a large prospective case-cohort study from eight European countries (n = 21,900) found no significant interactions between intake of protein and metabolic GRSs on T2D [62]. Similarly, no interaction was found between protein intake and a 10-SNP GRS on T2D risk among 8842 Korean adults [42]. These discrepancies in the findings might be due to differences in ethnicity, dietary assessments, dietary patterns, relative proportions of different macronutrients, protein sources, sample sizes and GRS construction methods; hence, larger studies in multiple ethnic groups are needed to confirm the GRS-protein intake interactions.

Previous studies have examined the relationship between protein intake and T2D in South Indians. A cross-sectional study of 900 urban South Indians from Chennai demonstrated that individuals with known T2D had significantly higher protein intake (15.9%) than controls (14%) [63]. Another study in Asian Indians from different parts of India reported similar findings, where diabetic individuals (n = 385) had higher protein intake (14%) than controls (12%) (n = 409) [64]. A cohort including 146 Asian Indians living in San Francisco found that individuals were at increased T2D risk when the protein intake was high. The same study also reported that the intake of animal protein (32 ± 15 g/day) was more likely to be associated with diabetes risk (p = 0.07) in comparison with the intake of vegetable protein ($38 \pm 8 \text{ g/day}$; p = 0.26) [65]. Even though consuming diets high in protein has been one of the most popular strategies for losing weight and the management of overweight and obesity [66-68], the health impacts of diets high in protein on T2D are inconsistent. Higher animal protein intake, but not plant protein, showed significant association with a higher risk of T2D in 38,094 individuals (median intake of animal protein = 62 g/day; 10-year follow-up period) from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition-Netherlands (EPIC-NL) study [13], and in 37,309 women from the US (median intake of total meat in the highest quintiles = 53.5 serving/day; 8.8 year follow-up period) from the Women's Health Study [14]. Moreover, a large case-cohort study including 28,557 European individuals reported that higher animal protein intake was associated with higher incidence of T2D (per 10 g: 1.05 (1.02-1.08), $P_{trend} = 0.001$) over an average follow-up period of 12 years [16]. Furthermore, the higher intake of animal protein (5% increase in consumption of protein derived from meat and meat products) was shown to be associated with a 34% increased risk of T2D, whereas the intake of plant protein was shown to have a considerable protective effect in 1190 elderly participants from the Mediterranean islands [17]. A large study of 92,088 women and 40,722 men from the United States found that substituting 5% of energy intake from animal protein with plant protein was associated with a decrease in T2D risk by 23% [69]. Moreover, a systematic review and meta-analysis of thirteen randomised controlled trials (n = 280 middle-aged adults from Iran, Denmark, United States, Germany, Canada and Greece) found significant decreases in HbA1c, fasting insulin and fasting glucose in diets that substituted animal protein with plant protein at a median level of ~35% of total protein intake/day [70]. Another systematic review and meta-analysis of eleven cohort studies, including individuals from the United States, Europe, Asia, Melbourne and Finland (52,637 cases among 483,174 individuals), showed that the intakes of total protein and animal protein increased T2D risk in both men and women, whereas plant protein intake decreased T2D risk in women [71]. Previous cohort studies in the United States (90,239 women and 40,539 men) and in the Netherlands (6798 individuals) found that an association between the higher adherence to a plantbased diet and a lower risk of T2D [72,73]. In contrast, other prospective cohort studies (n = 8370-38,094 individuals) observed no significant associations [13,74,75]. It is possible that the interactions between genetic factors and protein intake might be one of the reasons for the discrepancies in the effect of dietary protein intake on the risk of T2D and its related traits.

The dietary patterns across different parts of India have been significantly affected by urbanisation. Given that food availability and purchasing power are higher in urban than rural areas, diets of both residents tend to differ significantly [12,76]. Protein intake has been shown to be positively related to an individual's income, where the demand for animal protein increased with the disposable income [12]. Higher protein intake has also been reported in urban areas in India, with the overall mean intake of protein being the highest in the high-income group (73.1 g/day) followed by the middle-income group (63.2 g/day), industrial labourer (59.4 g/day) and low-income group (57.8 g/day) [77,78]. The present study included urban residents and the mean protein intake is 71.6 \pm 22.7 g/day, which is higher than dietary protein recommendations for Asian Indians (55-60 g/day) [79]. However, the mean protein intake is only 11% (percentage calories coming from the protein), which is similar to the previous large studies, such as the National Family Health and National Nutrition Monitoring Bureau surveys that were conducted in the Indian population [80,81]. A study in 6907 adults from South India aged >20 years showed that the consumption of pulses was lower in rural compared to urban Indian adults [82] and a cross-sectional study including 56,742 men and 99,574 women aged 20-49 years also demonstrated that inverse association between daily or weekly legumes and the presence of diabetes [83]. A recent study in 1033 Indian adults also showed that a significant decrease in the risk of T2D was observed among those having higher intakes of legumes and pulses [84]. In the same population, a study in 2042 individuals reported that pulses and legumes contributed to only 17.2% of the daily protein suggesting a reduced intake of plant protein [85]. Hence, according to the findings from the previous studies and the GRS-plant protein intake interaction from the present study, increasing the intake of plant protein might be an effective strategy to arrest the rising epidemic of T2D among Indian adults.

The strength of this study is the use of a representative sample of the urban Chennai population. Given that diabetes prevalence continues to be higher in urban residents compared to rural residents in India [2,86,87], understanding gene-diet interactions on T2D in urban areas would improve diabetes prevention strategies among urban Indians. Our study used unweighted GRSs to analyse the combined effect of several SNPs, which is an effective approach to study polygenic diseases such as T2D and obesity, providing a better knowledge of disease risk compared to a single-SNP analysis [36]. A comprehensive and validated semi-quantitative FFQ was used for analysing dietary intakes [48]. Furthermore, anthropometric outcomes were assessed by qualified staff rather than self-reported to improve the accuracy of anthropometric measurements. However, the study has several limitations. First, the study has a small sample size suggesting that we might have had insufficient power for our analysis. To maximise power, we used a GRS approach, which has an advantage over single-SNP analysis, and significant associations and interactions were found. Second, the observational nature of the study design cannot explain causal relationships or exclude residual confounding; however, sensitivity analyses were carried out where adjustment was performed for additional confounding factors such as diabetes duration, total fat intake, physical activity level, anti-diabetic medication, alcohol consumption, smoking and fibre intake. Third, dietary intake was assessed using self-reported FFQ, which might have introduced recall and measurement bias. Finally, SNPs contributing to our GRSs represent only a small proportion of the increasing number of identified metabolic disease-associated variants in Asian Indians; however, we have chosen SNPs in TCF7L2 and FTO genes that have presented the most consistent and strongest associations with T2D and obesity, respectively, in several populations [32,88].

5. Conclusions

In summary, the current study has found a novel GRS–protein intake interaction where individuals with >1 risk allele and lower intake of plant protein (<39 g/day) had higher FPG and HbA1c levels. This suggests that increasing the intake of plant protein may be an effective approach to overcome the genetic risk of diabetes in urban Asian Indians. To prove this hypothesis, appropriate randomised clinical trials with diets of higher and lower plant protein intake need to be performed. Moreover, there is a need for studies with larger sample sizes to confirm gene–diet interactions. Ultimately, there is a need for the assessment of the clinical benefit of targeted interventions based on an individual's underlying genetic risk.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/10 .3390/nu13093064/s1, Table S1: Genotype distribution of the seven SNPs that were chosen for our study (n = 1062), Figure S1: Methodology of the Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study (CURES), Figure S2: Interaction between 3-SNP GRS and animal protein intake (%) on fasting plasma glucose and glycated haemoglobin after adjusting for anti-diabetic medication.

Author Contributions: Conceptualisation, K.S.V.; methodology, K.S.V., V.S., R.G. and S.A.; software, S.A. and R.G.; validation, K.S.V. and S.A.; formal analysis, S.A.; investigation, D.B.; resources, V.S., R.P. and J.A.L.; data curation, V.S., R.P. and D.B.; writing—original draft preparation, S.A. and K.S.V.; writing—review and editing, S.A., R.G., C.S.S.R., V.S., R.M.A., R.P., J.A.L., V.M., V.R. and K.S.V.; visualisation, V.M. and K.S.V.; supervision, V.M., V.R., J.A.L. and K.S.V.; project administration, V.M., V.R. and K.S.V.; funding acquisition, V.M., V.R. and K.S.V. All authors have read, edited, and approved the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Acknowledgments: We thank all the participants from CURES for their cooperation. The Chennai Willingdon Corporate Foundation supported the CURES field studies, and this is the 160th paper from CURES (CURES-160). Karani S. Vimaleswaran acknowledges support from the Ministry of Higher Education of Saudi Arabia for the scholarship given to Sooad Alsulami. We thank Ramya Kandasamy for her technical assistance with the genotyping analysis.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Khan, N.A.; Wang, H.; Anand, S.; Jin, Y.; Campbell, N.R.; Pilote, L.; Quan, H. Ethnicity and sex affect diabetes incidence and outcomes. *Diabetes Care* **2011**, *34*, 96–101. [CrossRef]
- Mohan, V.; Mathur, P.; Deepa, R.; Deepa, M.; Shukla, D.K.; Menon, G.R.; Anand, K.; Desai, N.G.; Joshi, P.P.; Mahanta, J.; et al. Urban rural differences in prevalence of self-reported diabetes in India—The WHO-ICMR Indian NCD risk factor surveillance. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 2008, *80*, 159–168. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Chan, J.C.; Malik, V.; Jia, W.; Kadowaki, T.; Yajnik, C.S.; Yoon, K.H.; Hu, F.B. Diabetes in Asia: Epidemiology, risk factors, and pathophysiology. *JAMA* 2009, *301*, 2129–2140. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Mohan, V. Why are Indians more prone to diabetes? J. Assoc. Physicians India 2004, 52, 468-474.
- 5. Ramachandran, A.; Ma, R.C.; Snehalatha, C. Diabetes in Asia. Lancet 2010, 375, 408–418. [CrossRef]
- 6. Diabetes Atlas 9th Edition. Available online: https://www.diabetesatlas.org/en/ (accessed on 16 January 2021).
- Tandon, N.; Anjana, R.M.; Mohan, V.; Kaur, T.; Afshin, A.; Ong, K.; Mukhopadhyay, S.; Thomas, N.; Bhatia, E.; Krishnan, A.; et al. The increasing burden of diabetes and variations among the states of India: The Global Burden of Disease Study 1990–2016. *Lancet Glob. Health* 2018, 6, e1352–e1362. [CrossRef]
- Bodhini, D.; Gaal, S.; Shatwan, I.; Ramya, K.; Ellahi, B.; Surendran, S.; Sudha, V.; Anjana, M.R.; Mohan, V.; Lovegrove, J.A.; et al. Interaction between TCF7L2 polymorphism and dietary fat intake on high density lipoprotein cholesterol. *PLoS ONE* 2017, 12, e0188382. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 9. Vimaleswaran, K.S.; Bodhini, D.; Lakshmipriya, N.; Ramya, K.; Anjana, R.M.; Sudha, V.; Lovegrove, J.A.; Kinra, S.; Mohan, V.; Radha, V. Erratum to: Interaction between FTO gene variants and lifestyle factors on metabolic traits in an Asian Indian population. *Nutr. Metab.* **2016**, *13*, 41. [CrossRef]
- 10. Gassasse, Z.; Smith, D.; Finer, S.; Gallo, V. Association between urbanisation and type 2 diabetes: An ecological study. *BMJ Glob. Health* **2017**, 2, e000473. [CrossRef]
- 11. Ramachandran, A.; Snehalatha, C.; Latha, E.; Manoharan, M.; Vijay, V. Impacts of urbanisation on the lifestyle and on the prevalence of diabetes in native Asian Indian population. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* **1999**, *44*, 207–213. [CrossRef]

- Rampal, P. An Analysis of Protein Consumption in India Through Plant and Animal Sources. *Food Nutr. Bull.* 2018, 39, 564–580. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 13. Sluijs, I.; Beulens, J.W.; van der, A.D.; Spijkerman, A.M.; Grobbee, D.E.; van der Schouw, Y.T. Dietary intake of total, animal, and vegetable protein and risk of type 2 diabetes in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-NL study. *Diabetes Care* **2010**, *33*, 43–48. [CrossRef]
- 14. Song, Y.; Manson, J.E.; Buring, J.E.; Liu, S. A prospective study of red meat consumption and type 2 diabetes in middle-aged and elderly women: The women's health study. *Diabetes Care* **2004**, *27*, 2108–2115. [CrossRef]
- 15. Ericson, U.; Sonestedt, E.; Gullberg, B.; Hellstrand, S.; Hindy, G.; Wirfält, E.; Orho-Melander, M. High intakes of protein and processed meat associate with increased incidence of type 2 diabetes. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2013**, *109*, 1143–1153. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- van Nielen, M.; Feskens, E.J.; Mensink, M.; Sluijs, I.; Molina, E.; Amiano, P.; Ardanaz, E.; Balkau, B.; Beulens, J.W.; Boeing, H.; et al. Dietary protein intake and incidence of type 2 diabetes in Europe: The EPIC-InterAct Case-Cohort Study. *Diabetes Care* 2014, 37, 1854–1862. [CrossRef]
- 17. Pounis, G.D.; Tyrovolas, S.; Antonopoulou, M.; Zeimbekis, A.; Anastasiou, F.; Bountztiouka, V.; Metallinos, G.; Gotsis, E.; Lioliou, E.; Polychronopoulos, E.; et al. Long-term animal-protein consumption is associated with an increased prevalence of diabetes among the elderly: The Mediterranean Islands (MEDIS) study. *Diabetes Metab.* **2010**, *36*, 484–490. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 18. Abdullah, N.; Attia, J.; Oldmeadow, C.; Scott, R.J.; Holliday, E.G. The architecture of risk for type 2 diabetes: Understanding Asia in the context of global findings. *Int. J. Endocrinol.* **2014**, 2014, 593982. [CrossRef]
- 19. Raj, S.M.; Pei, A.; Foll, M.; Schlamp, F.; Excoffier, L.; Fuller, D.Q.; Kivisild, T.; Clark, A.G. Reconstruction of nine thousand years of agriculture-based diet and impact on human genetic diversity in Asia. *bioRxiv* 2019, 747709. [CrossRef]
- 20. Sanghera, D.K.; Ortega, L.; Han, S.; Singh, J.; Ralhan, S.K.; Wander, G.S.; Mehra, N.K.; Mulvihill, J.J.; Ferrell, R.E.; Nath, S.K.; et al. Impact of nine common type 2 diabetes risk polymorphisms in Asian Indian Sikhs: PPARG2 (Pro12Ala), IGF2BP2, TCF7L2 and FTO variants confer a significant risk. *BMC Med. Genet.* **2008**, *9*, 59. [CrossRef]
- 21. Chauhan, G.; Tabassum, R.; Mahajan, A.; Dwivedi, O.P.; Mahendran, Y.; Kaur, I.; Nigam, S.; Dubey, H.; Varma, B.; Madhu, S.V.; et al. Common variants of FTO and the risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes in Indians. *J. Hum. Genet.* **2011**, *56*, 720–726. [CrossRef]
- 22. Ramya, K.; Radha, V.; Ghosh, S.; Majumder, P.P.; Mohan, V. Genetic variations in the FTO gene are associated with type 2 diabetes and obesity in south Indians (CURES-79). *Diabetes Technol. Ther.* **2011**, *13*, 33–42. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Yajnik, C.S.; Janipalli, C.S.; Bhaskar, S.; Kulkarni, S.R.; Freathy, R.M.; Prakash, S.; Mani, K.R.; Weedon, M.N.; Kale, S.D.; Deshpande, J.; et al. FTO gene variants are strongly associated with type 2 diabetes in South Asian Indians. *Diabetologia* 2009, 52, 247–252. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kooner, J.S.; Saleheen, D.; Sim, X.; Sehmi, J.; Zhang, W.; Frossard, P.; Been, L.F.; Chia, K.S.; Dimas, A.S.; Hassanali, N.; et al. Genome-wide association study in individuals of South Asian ancestry identifies six new type 2 diabetes susceptibility loci. *Nat. Genet.* 2011, 43, 984–989. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 25. Chauhan, G.; Spurgeon, C.J.; Tabassum, R.; Bhaskar, S.; Kulkarni, S.R.; Mahajan, A.; Chavali, S.; Kumar, M.V.; Prakash, S.; Dwivedi, O.P.; et al. Impact of common variants of PPARG, KCNJ11, TCF7L2, SLC30A8, HHEX, CDKN2A, IGF2BP2, and CDKAL1 on the risk of type 2 diabetes in 5164 Indians. *Diabetes* **2010**, *59*, 2068–2074. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 26. Rees, S.D.; Hydrie, M.Z.; Shera, A.S.; Kumar, S.; O'Hare, J.P.; Barnett, A.H.; Basit, A.; Kelly, M.A. Replication of 13 genome-wide association (GWA)-validated risk variants for type 2 diabetes in Pakistani populations. *Diabetologia* 2011, 54, 1368–1374. [CrossRef]
- 27. Humphries, S.E.; Gable, D.; Cooper, J.A.; Ireland, H.; Stephens, J.W.; Hurel, S.J.; Li, K.W.; Palmen, J.; Miller, M.A.; Cappuccio, F.P.; et al. Common variants in the TCF7L2 gene and predisposition to type 2 diabetes in UK European Whites, Indian Asians and Afro-Caribbean men and women. *J. Mol. Med.* **2006**, *84*, 1005–1014. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Vasan, S.K.; Karpe, F.; Gu, H.F.; Brismar, K.; Fall, C.H.; Ingelsson, E.; Fall, T. FTO genetic variants and risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis of 28,394 Indians. *Obesity* 2014, 22, 964–970. [CrossRef]
- Chandak, G.R.; Janipalli, C.S.; Bhaskar, S.; Kulkarni, S.R.; Mohankrishna, P.; Hattersley, A.T.; Frayling, T.M.; Yajnik, C.S. Common variants in the TCF7L2 gene are strongly associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus in the Indian population. *Diabetologia* 2007, 50, 63–67. [CrossRef]
- 30. Bodhini, D.; Radha, V.; Dhar, M.; Narayani, N.; Mohan, V. The rs12255372(G/T) and rs7903146(C/T) polymorphisms of the TCF7L2 gene are associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Asian Indians. *Metabolism* **2007**, *56*, 1174–1178. [CrossRef]
- 31. Tong, Y.; Lin, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Yang, J.; Zhang, Y.; Liu, H.; Zhang, B. Association between TCF7L2 gene polymorphisms and susceptibility to type 2 diabetes mellitus: A large Human Genome Epidemiology (HuGE) review and meta-analysis. *BMC Med. Genet.* **2009**, *10*, 15. [CrossRef]
- 32. Fuchsberger, C.; Flannick, J.; Teslovich, T.M.; Mahajan, A.; Agarwala, V.; Gaulton, K.J.; Ma, C.; Fontanillas, P.; Moutsianas, L.; McCarthy, D.J.; et al. The genetic architecture of type 2 diabetes. *Nature* **2016**, *536*, 41–47. [CrossRef]
- Morris, A.P.; Voight, B.F.; Teslovich, T.M.; Ferreira, T.; Segrè, A.V.; Steinthorsdottir, V.; Strawbridge, R.J.; Khan, H.; Grallert, H.; Mahajan, A.; et al. Large-scale association analysis provides insights into the genetic architecture and pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes. *Nat. Genet.* 2012, 44, 981–990. [PubMed]
- Scott, R.A.; Scott, L.J.; Mägi, R.; Marullo, L.; Gaulton, K.J.; Kaakinen, M.; Pervjakova, N.; Pers, T.H.; Johnson, A.D.; Eicher, J.D.; et al. An Expanded Genome-Wide Association Study of Type 2 Diabetes in Europeans. *Diabetes* 2017, 66, 2888–2902. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Mahajan, A.; Taliun, D.; Thurner, M.; Robertson, N.R.; Torres, J.M.; Rayner, N.W.; Payne, A.J.; Steinthorsdottir, V.; Scott, R.A.; Grarup, N.; et al. Fine-mapping type 2 diabetes loci to single-variant resolution using high-density imputation and islet-specific epigenome maps. *Nat. Genet.* 2018, *50*, 1505–1513. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Udler, M.S.; McCarthy, M.I.; Florez, J.C.; Mahajan, A. Genetic Risk Scores for Diabetes Diagnosis and Precision Medicine. *Endocr. Rev.* 2019, 40, 1500–1520. [CrossRef]
- 37. Manolio, T.A.; Collins, F.S.; Cox, N.J.; Goldstein, D.B.; Hindorff, L.A.; Hunter, D.J.; McCarthy, M.I.; Ramos, E.M.; Cardon, L.R.; Chakravarti, A.; et al. Finding the missing heritability of complex diseases. *Nature* **2009**, *461*, 747–753. [CrossRef]
- Ordovas, J.M.; Ferguson, L.R.; Tai, E.S.; Mathers, J.C. Personalised nutrition and health. *Bmj* 2018, 361, bmj–k2173. [CrossRef]
 [PubMed]
- 39. Dietrich, S.; Jacobs, S.; Zheng, J.S.; Meidtner, K.; Schwingshackl, L.; Schulze, M.B. Gene-lifestyle interaction on risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review. *Obes. Rev.* 2019, 20, 1557–1571. [CrossRef]
- 40. Wang, T.; Huang, T.; Zheng, Y.; Rood, J.; Bray, G.A.; Sacks, F.M.; Qi, L. Genetic variation of fasting glucose and changes in glycemia in response to 2-year weight-loss diet intervention: The POUNDS LOST trial. *Int. J. Obes.* **2016**, *40*, 1164–1169. [CrossRef]
- Eriksen, R.; Gibson, R.; Aresu, M.; Heard, A.; Chan, Q.; Evangelou, E.; Gao, H.; Elliott, P.; Frost, G. Gene-diet quality interactions on haemoglobin A1c and type 2 diabetes risk: The Airwave Health Monitoring Study. *Endocrinol. Diabetes Metab.* 2019, 2, e00074. [CrossRef]
- 42. Kim, D.S.; Kim, B.C.; Daily, J.W.; Park, S. High genetic risk scores for impaired insulin secretory capacity doubles the risk for type 2 diabetes in Asians and is exacerbated by Western-type diets. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* **2018**, *34*, e2944. [CrossRef]
- 43. Qi, L.; Cornelis, M.C.; Zhang, C.; van Dam, R.M.; Hu, F.B. Genetic predisposition, Western dietary pattern, and the risk of type 2 diabetes in men. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2009**, *89*, 1453–1458. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Zheng, J.S.; Li, K.; Huang, T.; Chen, Y.; Xie, H.; Xu, D.; Sun, J.; Li, D. Genetic Risk Score of Nine Type 2 Diabetes Risk Variants that Interact with Erythrocyte Phospholipid Alpha-Linolenic Acid for Type 2 Diabetes in Chinese Hans: A Case-Control Study. *Nutrients* 2017, *9*, 376. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Deepa, M.; Pradeepa, R.; Rema, M.; Mohan, A.; Deepa, R.; Shanthirani, S.; Mohan, V. The Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study (CURES)-study design and methodology (urban component) (CURES-I). *J. Assoc. Physicians India* **2003**, *51*, 863–870.
- 46. Alberti, K.G.; Zimmet, P.Z. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. *Diabet. Med.* **1998**, *15*, 539–553. [CrossRef]
- 47. Regional Office for the Western Pacific. The Asia-Pacific Perspective. Redefining Obesity and Its Treatment. Sydney: Health Communications Australia. Available online: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/206936 (accessed on 5 June 2021).
- Sudha, V.; Radhika, G.; Sathya, R.M.; Ganesan, A.; Mohan, V. Reproducibility and validity of an interviewer-administered semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire to assess dietary intake of urban adults in southern India. *Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr.* 2006, 57, 481–493. [CrossRef]
- Fretts, A.M.; Follis, J.L.; Nettleton, J.A.; Lemaitre, R.N.; Ngwa, J.S.; Wojczynski, M.K.; Kalafati, I.P.; Varga, T.V.; Frazier-Wood, A.C.; Houston, D.K.; et al. Consumption of meat is associated with higher fasting glucose and insulin concentrations regardless of glucose and insulin genetic risk scores: A meta-analysis of 50,345 Caucasians. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 2015, 102, 1266–1278. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Li, H.; Khor, C.C.; Fan, J.; Lv, J.; Yu, C.; Guo, Y.; Bian, Z.; Yang, L.; Millwood, I.Y.; Walters, R.G.; et al. Genetic risk, adherence to a healthy lifestyle, and type 2 diabetes risk among 550,000 Chinese adults: Results from 2 independent Asian cohorts. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 2020, 111, 698–707. [CrossRef]
- 51. Scuteri, A.; Sanna, S.; Chen, W.M.; Uda, M.; Albai, G.; Strait, J.; Najjar, S.; Nagaraja, R.; Orru, M.; Usala, G.; et al. Genome-wide association scan shows genetic variants in the FTO gene are associated with obesity-related traits. *PLoS Genet.* 2007, *3*, e115. [CrossRef]
- Liu, Y.; Liu, Z.; Song, Y.; Zhou, D.; Zhang, D.; Zhao, T.; Chen, Z.; Yu, L.; Yang, Y.; Feng, G.; et al. Meta-analysis added power to identify variants in FTO associated with type 2 diabetes and obesity in the Asian population. *Obesity* 2010, *18*, 1619–1624. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 53. Peng, S.; Zhu, Y.; Lü, B.; Xu, F.; Li, X.; Lai, M. TCF7L2 gene polymorphisms and type 2 diabetes risk: A comprehensive and updated meta-analysis involving 121,174 subjects. *Mutagenesis* **2013**, *28*, 25–37. [CrossRef]
- 54. Tönjes, A.; Zeggini, E.; Kovacs, P.; Böttcher, Y.; Schleinitz, D.; Dietrich, K.; Morris, A.P.; Enigk, B.; Rayner, N.W.; Koriath, M.; et al. Association of FTO variants with BMI and fat mass in the self-contained population of Sorbs in Germany. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet. EJHG* **2010**, *18*, 104–110. [CrossRef]
- 55. Prabhakaran, D.; Jeemon, P.; Sharma, M.; Roth, G.A.; Johnson, C.; Harikrishnan, S.; Gupta, R.; Pandian, J.D.; Naik, N.; Roy, A. The changing patterns of cardiovascular diseases and their risk factors in the states of India: The Global Burden of Disease Study 1990–2016. *Lancet Glob. Health* 2018, 6, e1339–e1351. [CrossRef]
- 56. Gupta, V.; Vinay, D.G.; Sovio, U.; Rafiq, S.; Kranthi Kumar, M.V.; Janipalli, C.S.; Evans, D.; Mani, K.R.; Sandeep, M.N.; Taylor, A.; et al. Association study of 25 type 2 diabetes related Loci with measures of obesity in Indian sib pairs. *PLoS ONE* **2013**, *8*, e53944.
- 57. Wheeler, E.; Leong, A.; Liu, C.T.; Hivert, M.F.; Strawbridge, R.J.; Podmore, C.; Li, M.; Yao, J.; Sim, X.; Hong, J.; et al. Impact of common genetic determinants of Hemoglobin A1c on type 2 diabetes risk and diagnosis in ancestrally diverse populations: A transethnic genome-wide meta-analysis. *PLoS Med.* **2017**, *14*, e1002383. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 58. Janipalli, C.S.; Kumar, M.V.; Vinay, D.G.; Sandeep, M.N.; Bhaskar, S.; Kulkarni, S.R.; Aruna, M.; Joglekar, C.V.; Priyadharshini, S.; Maheshwari, N.; et al. Analysis of 32 common susceptibility genetic variants and their combined effect in predicting risk of Type 2 diabetes and related traits in Indians. *Diabet. Med.* 2012, 29, 121–127. [CrossRef]
- 59. Anand, S.S.; Meyre, D.; Pare, G.; Bailey, S.D.; Xie, C.; Zhang, X.; Montpetit, A.; Desai, D.; Bosch, J.; Mohan, V.; et al. Genetic information and the prediction of incident type 2 diabetes in a high-risk multiethnic population: The EpiDREAM genetic study. *Diabetes Care* **2013**, *36*, 2836–2842. [CrossRef]
- Alsulami, S.; Aji, A.S.; Ariyasra, U.; Sari, S.R.; Tasrif, N.; Yani, F.F.; Lovegrove, J.A.; Sudji, I.R.; Lipoeto, N.I.; Vimaleswaran, K.S. Interaction between the genetic risk score and dietary protein intake on cardiometabolic traits in Southeast Asian. *Genes Nutr.* 2020, 15, 19. [CrossRef]
- 61. Czajkowski, P.; Adamska-Patruno, E.; Bauer, W.; Fiedorczuk, J.; Krasowska, U.; Moroz, M.; Gorska, M.; Kretowski, A. The Impact of FTO Genetic Variants on Obesity and Its Metabolic Consequences is Dependent on Daily Macronutrient Intake. *Nutrients* **2020**, *12*, 3255. [CrossRef]
- 62. Li, S.X.; Imamura, F.; Schulze, M.B.; Zheng, J.; Ye, Z.; Agudo, A.; Ardanaz, E.; Aune, D.; Boeing, H.; Dorronsoro, M.; et al. Interplay between genetic predisposition, macronutrient intake and type 2 diabetes incidence: Analysis within EPIC-InterAct across eight European countries. *Diabetologia* **2018**, *61*, 1325–1332. [CrossRef]
- 63. Shobana, R.; Snehalatha, C.; Latha, E.; Vijay, V.; Ramachandran, A. Dietary profile of urban south Indians and its relations with glycaemic status. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* **1998**, *42*, 181–186. [CrossRef]
- 64. Joshi, S.R.; Bhansali, A.; Bajaj, S.; Banzal, S.S.; Dharmalingam, M.; Gupta, S.; Mukhopadhyay, S.; Shah, P.R.; Sahay, R.; Sarkar, S.; et al. Results from a dietary survey in an Indian T2DM population: A STARCH study. *BMJ Open* **2014**, *4*, e005138. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wang, E.T.; de Koning, L.; Kanaya, A.M. Higher protein intake is associated with diabetes risk in South Asian Indians: The Metabolic Syndrome and Atherosclerosis in South Asians Living in America (MASALA) study. J. Am. Coll. Nutr. 2010, 29, 130–135. [CrossRef]
- 66. Dong, J.Y.; Zhang, Z.L.; Wang, P.Y.; Qin, L.Q. Effects of high-protein diets on body weight, glycaemic control, blood lipids and blood pressure in type 2 diabetes: Meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2013**, *110*, 781–789. [CrossRef]
- 67. Hession, M.; Rolland, C.; Kulkarni, U.; Wise, A.; Broom, J. Systematic review of randomized controlled trials of low-carbohydrate vs. low-fat/low-calorie diets in the management of obesity and its comorbidities. *Obes. Rev.* 2009, *10*, 36–50. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Santesso, N.; Akl, E.A.; Bianchi, M.; Mente, A.; Mustafa, R.; Heels-Ansdell, D.; Schünemann, H.J. Effects of higher- versus lower-protein diets on health outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 2012, *66*, 780–788. [CrossRef]
- 69. Malik, V.S.; Li, Y.; Tobias, D.K.; Pan, A.; Hu, F.B. Dietary Protein Intake and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in US Men and Women. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* **2016**, *183*, 715–728. [CrossRef]
- 70. Viguiliouk, E.; Stewart, S.E.; Jayalath, V.H.; Ng, A.P.; Mirrahimi, A.; de Souza, R.J.; Hanley, A.J.; Bazinet, R.P.; Blanco Mejia, S.; Leiter, L.A.; et al. Effect of Replacing Animal Protein with Plant Protein on Glycemic Control in Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Nutrients* 2015, 7, 9804–9824. [CrossRef]
- 71. Tian, S.; Xu, Q.; Jiang, R.; Han, T.; Sun, C.; Na, L. Dietary Protein Consumption and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Cohort Studies. *Nutrients* **2017**, *9*, 982.
- 72. Satija, A.; Bhupathiraju, S.N.; Rimm, E.B.; Spiegelman, D.; Chiuve, S.E.; Borgi, L.; Willett, W.C.; Manson, J.E.; Sun, Q.; Hu, F.B. Plant-Based Dietary Patterns and Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes in US Men and Women: Results from Three Prospective Cohort Studies. *PLoS Med.* **2016**, *13*, e1002039. [CrossRef]
- Chen, Z.; Zuurmond, M.G.; van der Schaft, N.; Nano, J.; Wijnhoven, H.A.H.; Ikram, M.A.; Franco, O.H.; Voortman, T. Plant versus animal based diets and insulin resistance, prediabetes and type 2 diabetes: The Rotterdam Study. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 2018, 33, 883–893. [CrossRef]
- 74. Alhazmi, A.; Stojanovski, E.; McEvoy, M.; Garg, M.L. Macronutrient intake and type 2 diabetes risk in middle-aged Australian women. Results from the Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health. *Public Health Nutr.* **2014**, *17*, 1587–1594. [CrossRef]
- Nanri, A.; Mizoue, T.; Kurotani, K.; Goto, A.; Oba, S.; Noda, M.; Sawada, N.; Tsugane, S. Low-carbohydrate diet and type 2 diabetes risk in Japanese men and women: The Japan Public Health Center-Based Prospective Study. *PLoS ONE* 2015, 10, e0118377. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 76. Kumar, P.; Mathur, V. Structural changes in demand for food in India. J. Agric. Econ. 1996, 51, 664–673.
- 77. National Nutrition Monitoring Bureau (1984) Report on Urban Population (1975–1980). Available online: https://www.nin.res. in/downloads/Report_Of_Urban_Population_75-80.pdf (accessed on 16 April 2021).
- 78. Swaminathan, S.; Vaz, M.; Kurpad, A.V. Protein intakes in India. Br. J. Nutr. 2012, 108, S50–S58. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 79. Indian Council of Medical Research (ICMR). Dietary Guidelines for Indians. Available online: https://www.nin.res.in/ downloads/DietaryGuidelinesforNINwebsite.pdf (accessed on 5 June 2021).
- 80. National Family Health Survey (NFHS-4). International Institute of Population Science (IIPS). Available online: http://rchiips. org/nfhs/factsheet_nfhs-4.shtml (accessed on 5 June 2021).
- 81. Indian Council of Social Science Research (ICSSR). Available online: http://www.icssrdataservice.in/datarepository/index.php/ catalog/91 (accessed on 5 June 2021).

- 82. Sowmya, N.; Lakshmipriya, N.; Arumugam, K.; Venkatachalam, S.; Vijayalakshmi, P.; Ruchi, V.; Geetha, G.; Anjana, R.M.; Mohan, V.; Krishnaswamy, K.; et al. Comparison of dietary profile of a rural south Indian population with the current dietary recommendations for prevention of non-communicable diseases (CURES 147). *Indian J. Med Res.* **2016**, *144*, 112–119. [PubMed]
- 83. Agrawal, S.; Ebrahim, S. Association between legume intake and self-reported diabetes among adult men and women in India. BMC Public Health **2013**, *13*, 706. [CrossRef]
- 84. Lakshmi Priya, N.; Gayathri, R.; Sudha, V.; Geetha, G.; Gayathri, N.; Shilpa, B.; Shanthi Rani, C.; Kamala, K.; Anjana, R.; Ranjit, U.; et al. Prospective associations between a food-based Indian Diet Quality Score and type 2 diabetes risk among South Indian adults (CURES-154). *J. Diabetol.* **2020**, *11*, 115–124.
- 85. Radhika, G.; Sathya, R.M.; Ganesan, A.; Saroja, R.; Vijayalakshmi, P.; Sudha, V.; Mohan, V. Dietary profile of urban adult population in South India in the context of chronic disease epidemiology (CURES-68). *Public Health Nutr.* **2011**, *14*, 591–598. [CrossRef]
- Anjana, R.M.; Deepa, M.; Pradeepa, R.; Mahanta, J.; Narain, K.; Das, H.K.; Adhikari, P.; Rao, P.V.; Saboo, B.; Kumar, A.; et al. Prevalence of diabetes and prediabetes in 15 states of India: Results from the ICMR-INDIAB population-based cross-sectional study. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 2017, 5, 585–596. [CrossRef]
- 87. Deepa, M.; Anjana, R.M.; Manjula, D.; Narayan, K.M.; Mohan, V. Convergence of prevalence rates of diabetes and cardiometabolic risk factors in middle and low income groups in urban India: 10-year follow-up of the Chennai Urban Population Study. *J. Diabetes Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *5*, 918–927. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 88. Goodarzi, M.O. Genetics of obesity: What genetic association studies have taught us about the biology of obesity and its complications. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* **2018**, *6*, 223–236. [CrossRef]

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Effect of dietary fat intake and genetic risk on glucose and insulin-related traits in Brazilian young adults

Sooad Alsulami^{1,2} · Nathália Teixeira Cruvinel³ · Nara Rubia da Silva³ · Ana Carolina Antoneli³ · Julie A. Lovegrove^{1,4} · Maria Aderuza Horst³ · Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran^{1,4,5}

Received: 10 May 2021 / Accepted: 16 July 2021 © The Author(s) 2021

Abstract

Purpose The development of metabolic diseases such as type 2 diabetes (T2D) is closely linked to a complex interplay between genetic and dietary factors. The prevalence of abdominal obesity, hyperinsulinemia, dyslipidaemia, and high blood pressure among Brazilian adolescents is increasing and hence, early lifestyle interventions targeting these factors might be an effective strategy to prevent or slow the progression of T2D.

Methods We aimed to assess the interaction between dietary and genetic factors on metabolic disease-related traits in 200 healthy Brazilian young adults. Dietary intake was assessed using 3-day food records. Ten metabolic disease-related single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) were used to construct a metabolic-genetic risk score (metabolic-GRS).

Results We found significant interactions between the metabolic-GRS and total fat intake on fasting insulin level $(P_{interaction} = 0.017)$, insulin-glucose ratio $(P_{interaction} = 0.010)$ and HOMA-B $(P_{interaction} = 0.002)$, respectively, in addition to a borderline GRS-fat intake interaction on HOMA-IR $(P_{interaction} = 0.051)$. Within the high-fat intake category [37.98±3.39% of total energy intake (TEI)], individuals with ≥ 5 risk alleles had increased fasting insulin level (P=0.021), insulin-glucose ratio (P=0.010), HOMA-B (P=0.001) and HOMA-IR (P=0.053) than those with < 5 risk alleles.

Conclusion Our study has demonstrated a novel GRS-fat intake interaction in young Brazilian adults, where individuals with higher genetic risk and fat intake had increased glucose and insulin-related traits than those with lower genetic risk. Large intervention and follow-up studies with an objective assessment of dietary factors are needed to confirm our findings.

Keywords Genetic risk score · Metabolic traits · Brazil · Fat intake · Gene-diet interaction

Maria Aderuza Horst, Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran have contributed equally to this work.

Maria Aderuza Horst aderuza@ufg.br

- Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran v.karani@reading.ac.uk
- ¹ Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences, Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition, University of Reading, Reading RG6 6DZ, UK
- ² Department of Clinical Nutrition, Faculty of Applied Medical Sciences, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia
- ³ Nutritional Genomics Research Group, Faculty of Nutrition, Federal University of Goiás (UFG), Goiania, Goiás, Brazil
- ⁴ Institute for Cardiovascular and Metabolic Research, University of Reading, Reading, UK
- ⁵ Institute for Food, Nutrition, and Health, University of Reading, Reading, UK

Published online: 13 August 2021

Introduction

Metabolic diseases, such as type 2 diabetes (T2D), have been recognised as a significant public health problem worldwide [1, 2], playing a critical role in medical impoverishment [3–6]. T2D is a major contributor to morbidity and mortality and individuals with T2D have a five-fold increased risk of developing cardiovascular diseases (CVD) [7]. The prevalence of diabetes has increased globally (over 463 million adults) [8] but at a faster rate in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) [9]. In Brazil, the prevalence of T2D has increased by 24% between 2006 and 2019 [10] and an estimate of 65,581 deaths have been shown to be caused by diabetes among adults aged 35–80 years [11]. It has been reported that the prevalence of prediabetes and T2D among Brazilian adolescents were 22.0% and 3.3%, respectively [12]. Studies have also demonstrated the occurrence of cardiometabolic risk factors including abdominal obesity, high insulin levels, dyslipidaemia, and high blood pressure among Brazilian adolescents [12–14]. Hence, early interventions targeting these factors might be an effective strategy to prevent or slow the progression of T2D and decrease the risk of CVD and associated premature mortality [8].

Much of the increase in the prevalence of metabolic diseases in Brazil is attributed to an epidemiological transition characterised by changes in Brazilian age structure, population ageing, reduced rates of infant mortality and fertility and increased low birth weight [15–19]. Changes in the cultural and socioeconomic patterns, for instance, increasing urbanisation and economic improvement, have led to negative changes in lifestyle behaviours, including physical inactivity and unhealthy diet, in the Brazilian adolescent/ young adult population [20]. A previous study has shown that the intake of saturated fatty acids (SFA) was higher in adolescents than adults in Brazil [21]. Animal and human studies have demonstrated an association between increased dietary fat intake and increased insulin resistance [22-24]. In addition, the dietary behaviours of Brazilian young adults have been shown to be characterised by higher intakes of unhealthy foods than middle-aged and older adults, highlighting the need for age-specific public health interventions [25].

The development of metabolic diseases such as T2D is closely linked to a complex interplay between genetic and lifestyle factors, such as diet. Numerous genetic loci have been shown to be associated with T2D [26-29] and related traits [30, 31] and, to date, 243 genetic loci have been identified to be associated with the risk of T2D in multiple ethnic groups [26–29]. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have only a modest effect on disease risk, thus, generating a genetic risk score (GRS) combining several SNPs across the genome is necessary for increasing power to identify disease predisposition patterns of an individual [32]. Evidence has suggested that the genetic risk of metabolic diseases can be modified by dietary intake [33-37]. There are a few genediet interaction studies in Brazilians; however, the studies have focused only on cardiovascular disease related traits [38-40]. To date, there are no GRS-diet interaction studies on metabolic traits in Brazilians. Hence, we aimed to investigate the interaction of 10 metabolic disease-related SNPs, as a GRS, with dietary intake on metabolic traits in 200 healthy Brazilian young adults.

Methodology

Study population

Obesity, Lifestyle and Diabetes in Brazil (BOLD) is a crosssectional study of Brazilian healthy young adults aged 19–24 years recruited at the Federal University of Goiás (UFG) between March and June 2019. This study was conducted as part of the ongoing GeNuIne (gene-nutrient interactions) Collaboration, which aims to investigate the impact of genes and lifestyle factors on chronic diseases using data from multiple ethnic groups [41, 42]. All participants completed baseline questionnaires regarding health status, demographics, and socioeconomic status. The study exclusion criteria included those who are 1) using lipid-lowering or hypoglycemic drugs and mineral or vitamin supplements, 2) undergoing dietary interventions in the last 6 months, 3) having acute clinical conditions such as infection, inflammation, fever or diarrhoea, or confirmed diagnosis of chronic diseases such as diabetes mellitus, moderate/severe hypertension, cancer, rheumatoid arthritis and cardiovascular complications, 4) doing vigorous physical activity. In total, 416 individuals showed interest in participating in the study. However, 207 participants met the inclusion criteria and only 200 completed the study (Fig. 1). Out of the 200 participants, only 194 had information on genetic and phenotypic measurements as DNA samples were not available for 6 participants. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Federal University of Goiás (protocol number 3.007.456, 08/11/2018), and performed according to the ethical principles in the Declaration of Helsinki. All participants gave written informed consent for study participation.

Anthropometric and biochemical measurements

Body weight, height and waist circumference (WC) were measured using standardized methods. The weighing was performed on a Tanita® portable electronic scale, with a maximum capacity of 150 kg. For height, a stadiometer with a movable rod was used. WC was measured using an inelastic measuring tape. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters² and WC measurement was taken using a non-extensible measuring tape with partici-pants in light clothing [43]. Body composition was performed by Dual Energy Radiological Absorptiometry (DXA), using the Lunar DPX NT model (General Electric Medical Systems Lunar®; Madison, USA).

Blood samples were collected by peripheral venous puncture in the morning after a 12-h fast and the volunteers were advised not to consume alcohol 72 h before the blood collection. Samples were immediately processed after the collection at the Romulo Rocha Laboratory (Goiânia, Brazil). Fasting serum glucose and insulin were collected in BD Vacutainer® tube and determined by the enzymatic colorimetric method, with an automatic System Vitros Chemistry 950 XRL (Johnson & Johnson, New Brunswick, NJ, USA). Plasma glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) was collected in an ethylene-diamine-tetraacetic acid (EDTA) tubes BD Vacutainer® and measured using high-pressure chromatography (HPLC-Bio-Rad



Fig. 1 Flow chart showing the participant recruitment process in the BOLD study. In total, 416 individuals were initially screened. After excluding participants based on the exclusion criteria, 207 were included in the study. However, only 200 completed the study. *BMI* body mass index, *WC* waist circumference, *HbA1c* glycated haemo-globin A1c, *HOMA-IR* homeostasis model assessment estimate of

Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Plasma samples were obtained by centrifugation at 3500 rpm for ten minutes at 4 °C. The homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) was used to assess the degree of insulin resistance (IR) (HOMA-IR) and β -cell function (HOMA-B). HOMA-IR and HOMA-B were calculated as follows: [fasting insulin levels (mU/l) × fasting glucose levels (mmol/l)/22.5] and [20×fasting insulin levels)/(fasting glucose levels – 3.5], respectively [44].

Dietary assessment

Food intake was assessed by trained nutritionists using nonconsecutive 3-day food records, including a weekend day [45]. Individuals were provided with measuring cups and spoons of different sizes to assist them in estimating portion size for each food. Foods consumed were converted into grams using the Avanutri Online® diet calculation software (Avanutri Informática Ltda, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil).

insulin resistance, *HOMA-B* homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion, *TCF7L2* Transcription factor 7-like 2, *MC4R* melanocortin 4 Receptor, *PPARG* Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma, *FTO* fat mass and obesity-associated, *CDKN2A/2B* Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B, *KCNQ1* Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1 and *CAPN10* Calpain 10

Genotyping

The blood samples (3 ml each) were collected in an EDTA tubes BD Vacutainer® tubes and transported at a controlled temperature (- 80°C) by the World Courier Company to perform genotyping at LGC Genomics (http://www.lgcgroup. com/services/genotyping), employing the competitive allele-specific PCR-KASP® assay.

SNP selection and GRS calculation

We selected 12 SNPs that have shown associations with metabolic traits in multiple ethnic groups [26–31]. The detailed information of these SNPs is shown in Table S1. Two SNPs were excluded from the current analysis, as the Calpain 10 (*CAPN10*) rs2975760 SNP was not in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) and the melanocortin 4 Receptor (*MC4R*) rs2229616 SNP had a minor allele frequency (MAF) of less than 1%. Unweighted metabolic-GRS was calculated by summing the number of risk alleles

present in each individual. The GRS was generated from the following SNPs: rs12255372, rs7903146 of the Transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) gene, rs17782313 of the MC4R gene, rs8050136 and rs10163409 of the fat mass and obesity-associated (FTO), rs2237892 and rs2237895 of the Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1(KCNQ1) gene, rs10811661 of the Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B (CDKN2A/2B) gene, rs5030952 of the CAPN10 gene, and rs1801282 of the Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARG) gene. Genotypes were coded as 0, 1, or 2 according to the number of metabolic-associated risk alleles that are defined based on the literature. These values were then calculated by summing the number of risk alleles for each variant. The GRS was then categorised based on the median risk alleles into two categories: "GRS < 5 risk alleles" and "GRS ≥ 5 risk alleles".

Statistical analysis

Descriptive characteristics of the study population stratified by sex were presented as means and standard deviation (SDs) for continuous variables and compared using an independent samples t-test. Variables were tested for normality using Shapiro-Wilk's W test and non-normally distributed variables were log-transformed including BMI, WC, body fat mass percentage, HbA1c, fasting glucose, fasting insulin, HOMA-IR, HOMA-B, insulin to glucose ratio, total energy intake (TEI), carbohydrate %, protein %, SFA %, and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) %. We investigated the effects of metabolic-GRS on metabolic traits using general linear models. To test the interactions of the metabolic-GRS with dietary factors on metabolic traits, we included the interaction term (e.g., GRS*fat intake) in the models. The dietary factors investigated in our study included the total dietary intake of fat, protein, and carbohydrate (percentages of TEI). Significant interactions between the GRS and the total fat intake were analysed in more depth to determine the effect of fat subtypes including SFA, monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), and PUFA. The GRS-nutrient interactions that reached statistical significance (p < 0.05) were tested for the effects of the GRSs on metabolic traits according to tertiles of dietary intakes (low, medium and high intake) using general linear models. All models were adjusted for age, sex and BMI (when BMI is not an outcome). Given that insulin levels are influenced by both the capacity for insulin secretion and IR [46, 47], analysis of HOMA-B was performed with and without adjustment for IR to improve the accuracy of pancreatic β -cell function estimate. All statistical tests were two-sided, and analyses were performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software (version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

Results

Characteristics of the study participants

Table 1 summarises the characteristics of individuals in this study according to sex. Men had higher BMI, WC, fasting glucose, and lower fat mass % compared to women (P < 0.05 for all). Men also reported higher intakes of total energy and protein than women (P < 0.05 for all).

Associations between metabolic-GRS and metabolic traits

None of the associations between metabolic-GRS and metabolic-disease related traits was statistically significant except for the association with BMI (P = 0.008) (Table 2).

Interactions of metabolic-GRS with dietary factors on metabolic traits

As shown in Table 3, there were statistically significant interactions between the metabolic-GRS and total fat intake (% of TEI) on fasting insulin level ($P_{interaction} = 0.017$), insulin-glucose ratio (P_{interaction} = 0.010) and HOMA-B $(P_{interaction} = 0.002)$ and a borderline interaction on HOMA-IR ($P_{interaction} = 0.051$). Among those in the highest tertile of fat intake $(37.98 \pm 3.39\% \text{ of TEI})$, individuals with ≥ 5 risk alleles had higher fasting insulin level (P = 0.021), insulin-glucose ratio (P = 0.010), HOMA-B (P = 0.001) and HOMA-IR (P = 0.053), compared to those with < 5risk alleles (Figs. 2 and 3). Interaction on HOMA-B was still significant after adjusting the analysis for HOMA-IR ($P_{interaction} = 0.016$), Figure S1. We further examined interactions with fat subtypes on these traits. Significant interactions were detected between the metabolic-GRS and MUFA intake on fasting insulin ($P_{interaction} = 0.021$), HOMA-IR ($P_{interaction} = 0.021$) and insulin to glucose ratio $(P_{interaction} = 0.031)$, however, none of these interactions was statistically significant after tertile analysis. Significant interactions were also observed between the metabolic-GRS and intakes of total fat, PUFA and MUFA on percentage of body fat mass (P_{interaction}=0.009, 0.033 and 0.038, respectively).

Discussion

The present study investigated the potential interplay between metabolic-GRS and dietary macronutrient intake on metabolic traits in a Brazilian young adult population. Our results provide evidence of significant GRS-fat intake interactions on glucose and insulin-related traits, where

 Table 1
 Characteristics of study

 participants
 Participants

Parameters	Total (n=200)	Women $(n = 147)$	Men (n=53)	p-Value
Age (years)	21.35 ± 1.67	21.33 ± 1.70	21.40 ± 1.61	0.815
BMI (kg/m2)	23.35 ± 4.42	22.81 ± 3.97	24.86 ± 5.23	0.004
WC (cm)	74.55 ± 13.56	71.10 ± 12.05	84.13 ± 13.01	0.000
Body fat mass (%)	33.91 ± 10.72	37.17 ± 8.77	24.84 ± 10.48	0.000
HbA1c (%)	4.73 ± 0.25	4.71 ± 0.25	4.78 ± 0.26	0.103
Fasting serum glucose (mg/dL)	87.18 ± 6.84	86.43 ± 6.78	89.26 ± 6.60	0.009
Fasting serum insulin (uU/mL)	8.74 ± 3.80	8.69 ± 3.37	8.88 ± 4.82	0.784
HOMA-IR	1.89 ± 0.88	1.86 ± 0.76	1.98 ± 1.15	0.513
HOMA-B	138.32 ± 65.75	142.47 ± 65.65	126.81 ± 65.25	0.137
Insulin to glucose ratio	0.10 ± 0.04	0.10 ± 0.04	0.10 ± 0.05	0.944
Energy (Kcal/day)	1827.81 ± 597.94	1741.52 ± 558.82	2067.15 ± 641.91	0.001
Protein (energy %)	17.11 ± 3.63	16.74 ± 3.33	18.14 ± 4.24	0.016
Carbohydrate (energy %)	51.09 ± 7.11	51.11 ± 7.01	51.05 ± 7.44	0.961
Fat (energy %)	31.66 ± 5.83	32.12 ± 5.69	30.38 ± 6.08	0.061
SFA (%)	9.43 ± 5.43	9.54 ± 6.030	9.14 ± 3.25	0.652
PUFA (%)	5.13 ± 2.27	5.08 ± 2.38	5.26 ± 1.92	0.628
MUFA (%)	7.72 ± 2.63	7.55 ± 2.55	8.19 ± 2.79	0.129

Data presented as the mean \pm SDs. *P* values for the differences in the means between men and women were calculated using the independent samples t-test. *BMI* body mass index, *WC* waist circumference, *HbA1c* glycated haemoglobin, *HOMA-IR* homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance, *HOMA-B* homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion, *SFA* saturated fatty acids, *MUFA* monounsaturated fatty acids, *PUFA* polyunsaturated fatty acids

Parameters	GRS < 5 (n = 93)	$GRS \ge 5 (n = 101)$	<i>p</i> -Value
BMI (kg/m2)	23.90 ± 0.43	22.60 ± 0.43	0.008
WC (cm)	75.53 ± 1.27	73.93 ± 1.26	0.967
Body fat mass (%)	35.80 ± 1.05	31.91 ± 1.10	0.663
HbA1c (%)	4.72 ± 0.03	4.73 ± 0.03	0.964
Fasting glucose (mg/dL)	87.54 ± 0.68	86.74 ± 0.72	0.419
Fasting insulin (uU/mL)	8.91 ± 0.43	8.52 ± 0.34	0.542
HOMA-IR	1.93 ± 0.10	1.84 ± 0.08	0.663
HOMA-B	138.76 ± 7.15	138.17 ± 6.32	0.234
HOMA-B adjusted for HOMA-IR	138.76 ± 7.15	138.17 ± 6.32	0.235
Insulin to glucose ratio	0.10 ± 0.00	0.10 ± 0.00	0.477

Data are Mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). *P* values obtained from the linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. *GRS* genetic risk score, *BMI* body mass index, *WC* waist circumference, *HbAIc* glycated haemoglobin, *HOMA-IR* homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance, *HOMA-B* homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion

individuals with ≥ 5 risk alleles had higher fasting insulin level, insulin-glucose ratio, HOMA-IR and HOMA-B than those with < 5 risk alleles among those in the high fat intake group (37.98 \pm 3.39% of TEI). These findings suggest that individuals with ≥ 5 risk alleles are sensitive to dietary fat with respect to glucose and insulin-related traits and that these individuals may derive the most benefit from following the Brazilian dietary guidelines which aim at reducing fat intake to less than 30% of TEI [48]. This could have significant implication for public health in terms of providing early intervention to young adults with high genetic risk before the onset of disease, which might help halt the development of T2D.

In the present study, the metabolic-GRS was found to be associated with lower BMI, which contradicts the findings of the previous GRS-related studies in European populations [49–52]. However, the Brazilian population has a mixed genetic ancestry that originates from Europeans, Africans and Native Amerindians, which might explain the discrepancies between our findings and genetic association

 Table 2
 Associations of metabolic-GRS with metabolic traits

Table 3 Interactions of themetabolic-GRS with dietaryfactors on metabolic traits

	Protein (%)	Carbohydrate (%)	Fat (%)	SFA (%)	PUFA (%)	MUFA (%)
BMI (kg/m2)	0.255	0.120	0.922	-	-	-
WC (cm)	0.124	0.303	0.979	-	-	-
Body fat mass (%)	0.451	0.311	0.009	0.255	0.033	0.038
HbA1c (%)	0.955	0.653	0.632	-	-	-
Fasting glucose (mg/dL)	0.764	0.142	0.099	-	-	-
Fasting insulin (uU/mL)	0.898	0.37	0.017	0.233	0.809	0.021
HOMA-IR	0.944	0.561	0.051	0.357	0.837	0.021
HOMA-B	0.797	0.089	0.002	0.079	0.749	0.123
HOMA-B adjusted for HOMA-IR	0.784	0.084	0.016	0.131	0.806	0.952
Insulin to glucose ratio	0.895	0.274	0.010	0.154	0.801	0.031

Data are P values of interaction which obtained from the linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. *GRS* genetic risk score, *BMI* body mass index, *WC* waist circumference, *HbA1c* glycated haemoglobin, *HOMA-IR* homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance, *HOMA-B* homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion, *SFA* saturated fatty acids, *MUFA* monounsaturated fatty acids, *PUFA* polyunsaturated fatty acids

studies in Europeans [53]. Furthermore, a large GWAS of 241,258 European adults showed that the risk allele T of *TCF7L2* rs7903146 was associated with lower BMI compared to the non-risk allele, which may provide a possible explanation of our findings [54]. Metabolic diseases are complex and multifactorial influenced by both environmental and genetic factors including dozens or even hundreds of genetic variants each contributing small effects on these traits [55, 56]. Thus, the effect of unmeasured factors on BMI might influence the observed findings.

The present study found that, within the high-fat intake category, individuals with higher metabolic-GRS showed increased fasting insulin level, insulin-glucose ratio, HOMA-IR and HOMA-B, whereas those with lower GRS showed a reduction in these traits. Although direct comparison of our study with previous gene-diet interaction studies is difficult due to differences in the methodology related to the construction of GRSs and measurement of dietary intake, sample size, study design, and ethnicity, our findings are in agreement with some of the previous studies in other populations in which fat intake was found to interact with GRS on metabolic traits [33–35]. In a recent study in 302 Ghanaian adults, a GRS of 4 metabolic-related variants was associated with higher WC among individuals with high fat intake $(34.99 \pm 5.54\%)$ TEI) [57]. Data from an intervention study in 733 European adults also reported that higher total fat intake was associated with increased fasting glucose in individuals with higher GRS of 14 fasting glucose-associated SNPs and with decreased fasting glucose among individuals with lower GRS [33]. Taken together, these observations suggest that individuals with higher genetic risk might benefit more from reducing fat intake in terms of lowering their metabolic risk.

Dietary guidelines have recommended to limit the dietary intake of total fat (between 15 and 30% of TEI) to preserve overall health and reduce the risk of developing metabolic diseases [58]. Previous studies have demonstrated that the higher intake of total fat contributes to the development of T2D by inducing IR [24, 59]. Lowering total fat intake have been reported to improve glycemic control in a systematic review of clinical trials of diabetic individuals [60]. Evidence from two previous intervention studies including individuals from various ethnic groups (n = 3,234 and 522,respectively) and with long follow-up (2.8 and 3.2 years, respectively) have also shown that decreasing fat intake (from $6.6 \pm 0.2\%$ of TEI and to < 30% of TEI, respectively) is effective in reducing the incidence of T2D by up to 58% [61, 62]. In addition, dietary intervention in 48,835 postmenopausal women from the US showed that reducing total fat intake (by~8% of TEI) and increasing carbohydrate intake (by ~8% of TEI) through increasing intake of vegetable/fruit (five servings per day) and grain (six servings per day) were associated with a reduction in glycemia and diabetes progression [63]. The dietary intake of Brazilians is characterised by unfavourable fat profile with high intakes of SFA and trans fatty acids and imbalances in the omega-6:omega-3 ratio, being compatible with a high risk of metabolic diseases [21]. In our study, the mean fat intake of the total sample $(31.66 \pm 5.8\% \text{ of TEI})$ and the high fat intake group $(37.98 \pm 3.39\% \text{ of TEI})$ were above the recommended dietary guidelines for Brazilian adults (< 30% of TEI) [64].

The mechanisms by which dietary fat influences IR and β -cell function are unclear; however, several pathways are



Fig. 2 Interaction between the metabolic-GRS and fat intake (%) on fasting insulin levels and insulin: glucose ratio. White bars indicate individuals with GRS ≤ 5 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with GRS ≥ 5 risk alleles; Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Individuals with ≥ 5 risk alleles had higher fasting insulin (**a**) and insulin to glucose ratio (**b**) compared to those with ≤ 5 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher total fat intake (37.98±3.39% of TEI). *GRS* genetic risk score, *TEI* total energy intake

biologically plausible. IR is often mediated by increased inflammation that has been shown to be induced mostly by the effect of the fatty acids composition of the diet [65]. In particular, SFA and omega-6 have pro-inflammatory effects, and omega-3 fatty acids have anti-inflammatory effects [65]. Some of the molecular mechanisms of IR include the lipidoverload hypothesis in which ceramides or diacylglycerides are accumulated leading to the inhibition of insulin signalling and oxidative stress induced by excessive generation of free radicals or endoplasmic reticulum stress induced by excessive calorie intake [66-68]. In addition to the insulinrelated traits, there was also a significant interaction between GRS and intakes of total fat, PUFA and MUFA on the percentage of body fat mass in our study. Given that adipose tissue is a central metabolic organ that stores excess fat energy in the form of lipid and secretes proinflammatory adipokines that can also influence signalling of insulin, our finding is



Fig. 3 Interaction between the metabolic-GRS and fat intake (%) on HOMA-IR and HOMA-B. White bars indicate individuals with GRS <5 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with GRS \geq 5 risk alleles; Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Individuals with \geq 5 risk alleles had higher HOMA-IR (**a**) and HOMA-B (**b**) compared to those with <5 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher total fat intake (37.98 \pm 3.39% of TEI). *GRS* genetic risk score, *TEI* total energy intake, *HOMA-IR* homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin resistance, *HOMA-B* homeostasis model assessment estimate of insulin secretion

biologically plausible [69]. It is worth observing the intake of SFA, PUFA and MUFA which were significantly higher in the high fat intake category than low and medium intake groups; this might be one of the reasons for the observed interactions with total dietary fat intake. Evidence suggests that different types of dietary fat have differential effects on IR and insulin secretion. While a cross-sectional study in 538 Spanish individuals suggested that the intake of a MUFA-rich diet was associated with increased HOMA-B [70], a meta-analysis of randomised controlled feeding trials (n=4220) demonstrated that PUFA intake showed the most consistent favourable effects in relation to improved glycaemia and insulin secretion capacity [71].

Several strengths are worth consideration. This study is the first to examine whether dietary factors interact with metabolic-GRSs on metabolic traits among the Brazilian young adult population. Early prediction of insulin sensitivity in young adults and effective intervention can be a critical factor in terms of delaying or preventing diabetes in normoglycemic individuals who are at risk of diabetes [72]. Also, a GRS analysis approach was used, which has the advantage over single-locus approach [32]. This approach is especially important for highly polygenic metabolic traits and can identify individuals at risk of metabolic diseases who might benefit from targeted interventions [32]. Furthermore, the study outcomes (metabolic traits) were measured using validated methods by trained staff which improve the accuracy of these estimates. Nevertheless, some limitations need to be acknowledged. A major limitation is the small sample size, suggesting that our analysis might be underpowered. However, the use of the GRS approach is suggested to improve the power and significant gene-diet interactions were detected in our study. As with all observational studies, causality between exposure and outcome cannot be inferred and residual confounders might have existed. Given the longitudinal dimension of the development of T2D and the complexity of gene-diet interactions, our cross-sectional study design fails to determine the temporality of the observed findings. Given that dietary intake was assessed using self-reported measures, we cannot exclude the effect of measurement bias. Another limitation is that the effect of different dietary sources of fat (including meat, dairy and plant) were not considered in the present analysis, which might have provided further explanations to our GRS-fat intake interactions [73]. In addition, our GRS was constructed based on 10 SNPs, which account for only a small proportion of the metabolic disease-related genetic variants. As HOMA is a widely validated clinical and epidemiological tool for assessing IR and β -cell function [74], like many other epidemiological studies [33, 35, 59], we also used HOMA-IR and HOMA-B as proxies for IR and insulin secretion, respectively. However, these measures are calculated only using fasting insulin and glucose values which might provide different estimates compared to methods based on dynamic measurements of insulin and glucose responses or those derived from clamp experiments [75]. Finally, given that the study was performed with relatively healthy overweight/obese young individuals with normal glucose tolerance who might have a quicker adaptation to changes in fat intake, the findings might not be applicable to those with impaired glucose metabolism or diabetes.

In conclusion, our study provides evidence of interactions between genetic predisposition and high fat intake on diabetes-related traits among Brazilian young adults. These findings encourage identifying Brazilian young adults with high genetic risk and tailoring dietary recommendations of fat intake according to their metabolic genetic risk profile for the primary prevention of adultonset T2D. In addition, devising polygenic risk score could be used to provide more insights on understanding the pathophysiology of the genetics of diabetes. However, large interventional and follow up studies with a more comprehensive and objective assessment of environmental factors are needed in Brazilians to confirm our findings and to evaluate the clinical benefit of implementing precision dietary interventions based on an individual's underlying genetic risk of metabolic diseases.

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s40200-021-00863-7

Acknowledgements We thank all the participants from the BOLD study for their cooperation. Karani S Vimaleswaran acknowledges support from the Ministry of Higher Education of Saudi Arabia for the scholarship given to Sooad Alsulami.

Author Contributions Conceptualization, K.S.V and M.A.H.; Methodology, K.S.V., M.A.H, and S.A.; Data Collection, N.T.C., N.R.S. and A.C.A.; Software, S.A.; Validation, M.A.H., K.S.V. and S.A.; Formal Analysis, M.A.H. and S.A.; Investigation, K.S.V and M.A.H..; Resources, M.A.H and K.S.V.; Data Curation, K.S.V and M.A.H.; Writing – Original Draft Preparation, S.A. and K.S.V.; Writing – Review & Editing, K.S.V. and S.A.; Supervision, K.S.V., M.A.H. and J.A.L.; Project Administration, K.S.V. and M.A.H.; Funding Acquisition, K.S.V. and M.A.H. All authors have read, edited, and approved the published version of the manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding The study was funded by the Conselho Nacional das Fundações Estaduais de Amparo à Pesquisa (CONFAP)-UK Academies Researcher Mobility award.

Data availability The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author (KSV) upon reasonable request.

Code availability Not applicable.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Ethical approval The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Federal University of Goiás (protocol number 3.007.456, 08/11/2018).

Consent to participate All participants gave written informed consent for study participation.

Consent for publication All participants gave written informed consent for the publication of study findings.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated

otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- 1. Horton R. Offline: Time to radically rethink non-communicable diseases. Lancet (London, England). 2019;393(10184):1922.
- Nugent R, Fottrell E. Non-communicable diseases and climate change: linked global emergencies. Lancet (London, England). 2019;394(10199):622–3.
- 3. Ghebreyesus TA. Acting on NCDs: counting the cost. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391(10134):1973–4.
- Jaspers L, Colpani V, Chaker L, van der Lee SJ, Muka T, Imo D, et al. The global impact of non-communicable diseases on households and impoverishment: a systematic review. Eur J Epidemiol. 2015;30(3):163–88.
- Niessen LW, Mohan D, Akuoku JK, Mirelman AJ, Ahmed S, Koehlmoos TP, et al. Tackling socioeconomic inequalities and non-communicable diseases in low-income and middle-income countries under the Sustainable Development agenda. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391(10134):2036–46.
- Nugent R, Bertram MY, Jan S, Niessen LW, Sassi F, Jamison DT, et al. Investing in non-communicable disease prevention and management to advance the Sustainable Development Goals. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391(10134):2029–35.
- WHO. Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases. 2003 [Available from: https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/ publications/trs916/en/.
- IDF. Diabetes Atlas 9th edition 2019 [Available from: https:// www.diabetesatlas.org/en/.
- Zhou B, Lu Y, Hajifathalian K, Bentham J, Cesare MD, Danaei G, et al. Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4.4 million participants. Lancet (London, England). 2016;387(10027):1513–30.
- Cohen RV, Drager LF, Petry TBZ, Santos RD. Metabolic health in Brazil: trends and challenges. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2020;8(12):937–8.
- 11. Bracco PA, Gregg EW, Rolka DB, Schmidt MI, Barreto SM, Lotufo PA, et al. A nationwide analysis of the excess death attributable to diabetes in Brazil. Journal of global health. 2020;10(1):010401.
- Telo GH, Cureau FV, Szklo M, Bloch KV, Schaan BD. Prevalence of type 2 diabetes among adolescents in Brazil: Findings from Study of Cardiovascular Risk in Adolescents (ERICA). Pediatr Diabetes. 2019;20(4):389–96.
- Bloch KV, Klein CH, Szklo M, Kuschnir MC, Abreu Gde A, Barufaldi LA, et al. ERICA: prevalences of hypertension and obesity in Brazilian adolescents. Revista de saude publica. 2016;50 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):9s.
- Kuschnir MC, Bloch KV, Szklo M, Klein CH, Barufaldi LA, Abreu Gde A, et al. ERICA: prevalence of metabolic syndrome in Brazilian adolescents. Revista de saude publica. 2016;50 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):11s.
- Goldani MZ, Mosca PRF, Portella AK, Silveira PP, Silva CHd. The impact demographic and epidemiological transition in the health of children and adolescents in Brazil. Revista HCPA. 2012;32(1):49–57.
- 16. Yusuf S, Reddy S, Ounpuu S, Anand S. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases: part I: general considerations, the

epidemiologic transition, risk factors, and impact of urbanization. Circulation. 2001;104(22):2746–53.

- 17. Magno de Carvalho JA, Rodríguez-Wong LL. The transition of the age structure of the Brazilian population in the first half of the 21st century. Saúde Pública.24(3).
- de Souza Buriol VC, Hirakata V, Goldani MZ, da Silva CH. Temporal evolution of the risk factors associated with low birth weight rates in Brazilian capitals (1996–2011). Popul Health Metrics. 2016;14:15.
- Travassos GF, Coelho AB, Arends-Kuenning MP. The elderly in Brazil: demographic transition, profile, and socioeconomic condition. Revista Brasileira de Estudos Populacionais. 2020;37:1–27.
- Ventura Barbosa Gonçalves H, Canella DS, Bandoni DH. Temporal variation in food consumption of Brazilian adolescents (2009–2015). PloS one. 2020;15(9):e0239217.
- Souza RA, Yokoo EM, Sichieri R, Pereira RA. Energy and macronutrient intakes in Brazil: results of the first nationwide individual dietary survey. Public Health Nutr. 2015;18(17):3086–95.
- Storlien LH, Baur LA, Kriketos AD, Pan DA, Cooney GJ, Jenkins AB, et al. Dietary fats and insulin action. Diabetologia. 1996;39(6):621–31.
- 23. Costacou T, Mayer-Davis EJ. Nutrition and prevention of type 2 diabetes. Annu Rev Nutr. 2003;23:147–70.
- Lovejoy JC. The influence of dietary fat on insulin resistance. Curr DiabRep. 2002;2(5):435–40.
- Nogueira Bezerra I, de Carvalho Gurgel AO, Bastos Barbosa RG, Bezerra da Silva Junior G. Dietary Behaviors among Young and Older Adults in Brazil. The journal of nutrition, health & aging. 2018;22(5):575–80.
- Fuchsberger C, Flannick J, Teslovich TM, Mahajan A, Agarwala V, Gaulton KJ, et al. The genetic architecture of type 2 diabetes. Nature. 2016;536(7614):41–7.
- Morris AP, Voight BF, Teslovich TM, Ferreira T, Segrè AV, Steinthorsdottir V, et al. Large-scale association analysis provides insights into the genetic architecture and pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes. Nat Genet. 2012;44(9):981–90.
- Scott RA, Scott LJ, Mägi R, Marullo L, Gaulton KJ, Kaakinen M, et al. An Expanded Genome-Wide Association Study of Type 2 Diabetes in Europeans. Diabetes. 2017;66(11):2888–902.
- Mahajan A, Taliun D, Thurner M, Robertson NR, Torres JM, Rayner NW, et al. Fine-mapping type 2 diabetes loci to singlevariant resolution using high-density imputation and islet-specific epigenome maps. Nat Genet. 2018;50(11):1505–13.
- Dupuis J, Langenberg C, Prokopenko I, Saxena R, Soranzo N, Jackson AU, et al. New genetic loci implicated in fasting glucose homeostasis and their impact on type 2 diabetes risk. Nat Genet. 2010;42(2):105–16.
- Scott RA, Lagou V, Welch RP, Wheeler E, Montasser ME, Luan J, et al. Large-scale association analyses identify new loci influencing glycemic traits and provide insight into the underlying biological pathways. Nat Genet. 2012;44(9):991–1005.
- Udler MS, McCarthy MI, Florez JC, Mahajan A. Genetic risk scores for diabetes diagnosis and precision medicine. Endocr Rev. 2019;40(6):1500–20.
- 33. Wang T, Huang T, Zheng Y, Rood J, Bray GA, Sacks FM, et al. Genetic variation of fasting glucose and changes in glycemia in response to 2-year weight-loss diet intervention: the POUNDS LOST trial. International journal of obesity (2005). 2016;40(7):1164–9.
- 34. Eriksen R, Gibson R, Aresu M, Heard A, Chan Q, Evangelou E, et al. Gene-diet quality interactions on haemoglobin A1c and type 2 diabetes risk: The Airwave Health Monitoring Study. Endocrinology, diabetes & metabolism. 2019;2(4):e00074.
- 35. Kim DS, Kim BC, Daily JW, Park S. High genetic risk scores for impaired insulin secretory capacity doubles the risk for type

2 diabetes in Asians and is exacerbated by Western-type diets. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2018;34(1):e2944.

- Qi L, Cornelis MC, Zhang C, van Dam RM, Hu FB. Genetic predisposition, Western dietary pattern, and the risk of type 2 diabetes in men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2009;89(5):1453–8.
- 37. Zheng JS, Li K, Huang T, Chen Y, Xie H, Xu D, et al. Genetic Risk Score of Nine Type 2 Diabetes Risk Variants that Interact with Erythrocyte Phospholipid Alpha-Linolenic Acid for Type 2 Diabetes in Chinese Hans: A Case-Control Study. Nutrients. 2017;9(4).
- 38. Fujii TMM, Norde MM, Fisberg RM, Marchioni DML, Rogero MM. Lipid metabolism genetic risk score interacts with the Brazilian Healthy Eating Index Revised and its components to influence the odds for dyslipidemia in a cross-sectional population-based survey in Brazil. Nutr Health. 2019;25(2):119–26.
- 39. Miranda AM, Steluti J, Norde MM, Fisberg RM, Marchioni DM. The association between genetic risk score and blood pressure is modified by coffee consumption: Gene-diet interaction analysis in a population-based study. Clinical nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2019;38(4):1721–8.
- 40. Surendran S, Morais C, Abdalla D, Shatwan I, et al. The influence of one-carbon metabolism gene polymorphisms and geneenvironment interactions on homocysteine, Vitamin B12, folate and lipids in a Brazilian adolescent population. Journal of Diabetology. 2019;10(3):110–22.
- Vimaleswaran KS. Gene-nutrient interactions on metabolic diseases: findings from the GeNuIne collaboration. Nutr Bull. 2017;42(1):80–6.
- 42. Vimaleswaran KS. A nutrigenetics approach to study the impact of genetic and lifestyle factors on cardiometabolic traits in various ethnic groups: findings from the GeNuIne Collaboration. Proc Nutr Soc. 2020;79(2):194–204.
- 43. World Health Organization. Waist circumference and waisthip ratio Report of a WHO expert consultation 2011 [Available from: https://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/obesity/ WHO_report_waistcircumference_and_waisthip_ratio/en/.
- Wallace TM, Levy JC, Matthews DR. Use and abuse of HOMA modeling. Diabetes Care. 2004;27(6):1487–95.
- 45. Yang YJ, Kim MK, Hwang SH, Ahn Y, Shim JE, Kim DH. Relative validities of 3-day food records and the food frequency questionnaire. Nurs Res Pract. 2010;4(2):142–8.
- 46. Bergman RN, Phillips LS, Cobelli C. Physiologic evaluation of factors controlling glucose tolerance in man: measurement of insulin sensitivity and beta-cell glucose sensitivity from the response to intravenous glucose. J Clin Investig. 1981;68(6):1456–67.
- 47. Kahn SE, Prigeon RL, McCulloch DK, Boyko EJ, Bergman RN, Schwartz MW, et al. Quantification of the relationship between insulin sensitivity and beta-cell function in human subjects. Evidence for a hyperbolic function Diabetes. 1993;42(11):1663–72.
- Sichieri R, Chiuve SE, Pereira RA, Lopes AC, Willett WC. Dietary recommendations: comparing dietary guidelines from Brazil and the United States. Cad Saude Publica. 2010;26(11):2050–8.
- Belsky DW, Moffitt TE, Sugden K, Williams B, Houts R, McCarthy J, et al. Development and evaluation of a genetic risk score for obesity. Biodemography Soc Biol. 2013;59(1):85–100.
- 50. Li S, Zhao JH, Luan J, Luben RN, Rodwell SA, Khaw KT, et al. Cumulative effects and predictive value of common obesitysusceptibility variants identified by genome-wide association studies. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010;91(1):184–90.
- 51. Peterson RE, Maes HH, Holmans P, Sanders AR, Levinson DF, Shi J, et al. Genetic risk sum score comprised of common

polygenic variation is associated with body mass index. Hum Genet. 2011;129(2):221–30.

- 52. Sandholt CH, Sparso T, Grarup N, Albrechtsen A, Almind K, Hansen L, et al. Combined analyses of 20 common obesity susceptibility variants. Diabetes. 2010;59(7):1667–73.
- 53. Kehdy FS, Gouveia MH, Machado M, Magalhães WC, Horimoto AR, Horta BL, et al. Origin and dynamics of admixture in Brazilians and its effect on the pattern of deleterious mutations. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2015;112(28):8696–701.
- 54. Justice AE, Winkler TW, Feitosa MF, Graff M, Fisher VA, Young K, et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis of 241,258 adults accounting for smoking behaviour identifies novel loci for obesity traits. Nat Commun. 2017;8:14977.
- 55. Franks PW, McCarthy MI. Exposing the exposures responsible for type 2 diabetes and obesity. Science (New York, NY). 2016;354(6308):69–73.
- Locke AE, Kahali B, Berndt SI, Justice AE, Pers TH, Day FR, et al. Genetic studies of body mass index yield new insights for obesity biology. Nature. 2015;518(7538):197–206.
- 57. Alsulami S, Nyakotey DA, Dudek K, Bawah AM, Lovegrove JA, Annan RA, et al. Interaction between metabolic genetic risk score and dietary fatty acid intake on central obesity in a ghanaian population. Nutrients. 2020;12(7).
- WHO. Healthy diet 2020 Available from: https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/healthy-diet.
- Vizzuso S, Amatruda M, Del Torto A, D'Auria E, Ippolito G, Zuccotti GV, et al. Is Macronutrients Intake a Challenge for Cardiometabolic Risk in Obese Adolescents? Nutrients. 2020;12(6).
- 60. Wheeler ML, Dunbar SA, Jaacks LM, Karmally W, Mayer-Davis EJ, Wylie-Rosett J, et al. Macronutrients, food groups, and eating patterns in the management of diabetes: a systematic review of the literature, 2010. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(2):434–45.
- Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(6):393–403.
- 62. Tuomilehto J, Lindström J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, Hämäläinen H, Ilanne-Parikka P, et al. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(18):1343–50.
- 63. Howard BV, Aragaki AK, Tinker LF, Allison M, Hingle MD, Johnson KC, et al. A low-fat dietary pattern and diabetes: a secondary analysis from the women's health initiative dietary modification trial. Diabetes Care. 2018;41(4):680–7.
- 64. Oliveira M, Santos L. Dietary guidelines for Brazilian population: an analysis from the cultural and social dimensions of food. Ciencia & saude coletiva. 2020;25(7):2519–28.
- 65. Rice Bradley BH. Dietary fat and risk for type 2 diabetes: a review of recent research. Current nutrition reports. 2018;7(4):214-26.
- Glass CK, Olefsky JM. Inflammation and lipid signaling in the etiology of insulin resistance. Cell Metab. 2012;15(5):635–45.
- 67. Taubes G. Insulin resistance. Prosperity's plague. Science (New York, NY). 2009;325(5938):256–60.
- Ussher JR, Koves TR, Cadete VJ, Zhang L, Jaswal JS, Swyrd SJ, et al. Inhibition of de novo ceramide synthesis reverses dietinduced insulin resistance and enhances whole-body oxygen consumption. Diabetes. 2010;59(10):2453–64.
- 69. Stienstra R, Duval C, Müller M, Kersten S. PPARs, Obesity, and Inflammation. PPAR Res. 2007;2007:95974.
- 70. Rojo-Martínez G, Esteva I, Ruiz de Adana MS, García-Almeida JM, Tinahones F, Cardona F, et al. Dietary fatty acids and

insulin secretion a population-based study. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2006;60(10):1195–200.

- 71. Imamura F, Micha R, Wu JH, de Oliveira Otto MC, Otite FO, Abioye AI, et al. Effects of Saturated Fat, Polyunsaturated Fat, Monounsaturated Fat, and Carbohydrate on Glucose-Insulin Homeostasis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomised Controlled Feeding Trials. PLoS Med. 2016;13(7):e1002087.
- 72. Penn L, Rodrigues A, Haste A, Marques MM, Budig K, Sainsbury K, et al. NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme in England: formative evaluation of the programme in early phase implementation. BMJ Open. 2018;8(2):e019467.
- 73. Wanders AJ, Alssema M, de Koning EJ, le Cessie S, de Vries JH, Zock PL, et al. Fatty acid intake and its dietary sources in relation with markers of type 2 diabetes risk: The NEO study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2017;71(2):245–51.

- 74. Wang C, Liu Z, Zhang P, Ma X, Che K, Wang Y. The differences in homeostasis model assessment values in type 2 diabetic patients with different lengths of history of diabetes. Archives of endocrinology and metabolism. 2019;63(3):222–7.
- 75. Gutch M, Kumar S, Razi SM, Gupta KK, Gupta A. Assessment of insulin sensitivity/resistance. Indian journal of endocrinology and metabolism. 2015;19(1):160–4.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Article

Interaction between Metabolic Genetic Risk Score and Dietary Fatty Acid Intake on Central Obesity in a Ghanaian Population

Sooad Alsulami ^{1,2}, David A. Nyakotey ³, Kamila Dudek ¹, Abdul-Malik Bawah ³, Julie A. Lovegrove ^{1,4}, Reginald A. Annan ³, Basma Ellahi ^{5,*} and Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran ^{1,4,*}

- ¹ Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition, Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences, University of Reading, Reading RG6 6AP, UK; s.alsulami@pgr.reading.ac.uk (S.A.);
- k.j.dudek@student.reading.ac.uk (K.D.); j.a.lovegrove@reading.ac.uk (J.A.L.)
 ² Department of Clinical Nutrition, Faculty of Applied Medical Sciences, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah 21589, Saudi Arabia
- ³ Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology, College of Science, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, Accra GH233, Ghana; dnyakotey@gmail.com (D.A.N.); malikbawa2008@yahoo.com (A.-M.B.); reggie@imtf.org (R.A.A.)
- ⁴ Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition and Institute for Cardiovascular and Metabolic Research, University of Reading, Reading RG6 6AP, UK
- ⁵ Faculty of Health and Social Care, University of Chester, Riverside Campus, Chester CH1 4BJ, UK
- * Correspondence: b.ellahi@chester.ac.uk (B.E.); v.karani@reading.ac.uk (K.S.V.); Tel.: +44-(0)-118-378-8702 (K.S.V.)

Received: 3 April 2020; Accepted: 24 June 2020; Published: 27 June 2020



Abstract: Obesity is a multifactorial condition arising from the interaction between genetic and lifestyle factors. We aimed to assess the impact of lifestyle and genetic factors on obesity-related traits in 302 healthy Ghanaian adults. Dietary intake and physical activity were assessed using a 3 day repeated 24 h dietary recall and global physical activity questionnaire, respectively. Twelve single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) were used to construct 4-SNP, 8-SNP and 12-SNP genetic risk scores (GRSs). The 4-SNP GRS showed significant interactions with dietary fat intakes on waist circumference (WC) (Total fat, P_{interaction} = 0.01; saturated fatty acids (SFA), P_{interaction} = 0.02; polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), P_{interaction} = 0.01 and monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), P_{interaction} = 0.01). Among individuals with higher intakes of total fat (>47 g/d), SFA (>14 g/d), PUFA (>16 g/d) and MUFA (>16 g/d), individuals with \geq 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles. This is the first study of its kind in this population, suggesting that a higher consumption of dietary fatty acid may have the potential to increase the genetic susceptibility of becoming centrally obese. These results support the general dietary recommendations to decrease the intakes of total fat and SFA, to reduce the risk of obesity, particularly in individuals with a higher genetic predisposition to central obesity.

Keywords: genetic risk score; obesity; Ghana; GONG; fat intake; gene-diet interaction

1. Introduction

Obesity is a known risk factor for several health conditions, including type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, hypertension and cancer, and hence it is considered as an increasing public health problem worldwide, including in Africa [1,2]. Obesity prevalence varies widely between African countries with a range of 5.3% in Uganda to 30% in Nigeria and 45.7% in South Africa [2]. A recent



systematic review has reported that nearly 43% of Ghanaian adults are either overweight or obese and that the prevalence of overweight and obesity was higher in women and urban dwellers [3]. While obesity is strongly affected by changes in environmental factors (such as dietary intake, sedentary lifestyle, and urbanization), the composition of the gut microbiome, the disruption of circadian rhythms, exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals and epigenetic modifications [4–9], it also has strong genetic determinants with a heritability rate from 40 to 70% [10,11]. Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) in European populations have revealed more than 100 loci to be associated with the body mass index (BMI) [12–18]. However, these genetic associations have not been consistently replicated in African populations [19–23], which could be attributed to differences in lifestyle and genetic architecture [24].

Given that single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have relatively small effect sizes on obesity, several studies have aggregated information from multiple-risk variants into a polygenic genetic risk score (GRS) [13,15,25–29]. Employing a combined risk allele score is an efficient and effective approach in maximising statistical power, decreasing the drawback of multiple testing, and widening the generalisable nature of genetic associations [25,27]. A study among a rural population of Gambia demonstrated a positive association between a GRS of 28 SNPs and BMI and adult weight, whereas no association was found with the single SNP analysis [30,31]. Although genetic research in Africans is increasing in numbers [22], only a few studies have examined the association of GRS with obesity in Africa [30,32,33], which highlights the need for further research in African populations.

Current evidence has shown that heritability estimates for obesity-related traits can be modified by lifestyle factors such as diet and physical activity. Several studies have reported significant GRS-diet interactions on obesity-related traits. Studies in European populations have shown that the genetic association with BMI was stronger with higher intakes of sugar-sweetened beverages (SSBs) and fried foods than among those with lower intakes [34,35]. Studies have also shown that genetic associations with BMI in Europeans can be modified by the levels of physical activity, television watching, and changes in sleep pattern [36,37]. In addition, higher adherence to healthy eating patterns have shown to reduce BMI in Europeans despite having increased genetic susceptibility to obesity [38]. Gene–lifestyle interaction studies have largely been conducted in populations of European ancestry, and the replication of these studies in African populations remains unknown [36,39]. Therefore, our study aimed to investigate the association of GRS with obesity-related traits and to examine whether lifestyle factors such as dietary intake and physical activity modified these associations in the Ghanaian population.

2. Methods

2.1. Study Population

The Genetics of Obesity and Nutrition in Ghana (GONG) study is a cross-sectional study that was conducted in the Oforikrom Municipality in Kumasi, Ashanti region, Ghana. The GONG study was conducted as part of the ongoing GeNuIne (Gene–Nutrient Interactions) Collaboration, the main objective of which is to investigate the effect of gene–nutrient interactions (nutrigenetics) on metabolic disease outcomes using population-based studies from various ethnic groups [40,41]. The Oforikrom Municipal Assembly is one of the five Municipal Assemblies carved out of the Kumasi Metropolitan Assembly. There are seventeen recognized communities in this Municipal Assembly, with an estimated total population of 360,254. Five communities (Ayeduase, Bomso, Ayigya, Oforikrom and Kotei) were randomly selected from the list of communities in the Oforikrom Municipal Assembly. In each community, a central point was located (a vehicle station, marketplace or other landmarks). A fieldworker entered the first house that faced either North, South, East or West of that central point, and randomly recruited one respondent from each household. Upon exiting a house, the fieldworker entered the next house, and the house-level selection process was repeated.

Three hundred and two free-living and healthy (with no physical complaints or prior diagnosis of cardiometabolic disease) adult volunteers, both men and women, were screened and recruited for the study by trained researchers. The inclusion criteria included the following: healthy individuals aged 25 to 60 years old and being Asante (both parents must be Asante). The exclusion criteria included the following: participants less than 25 years old or older than 60 years, those with existing cardiovascular complications or disease, those with a previous history of hypertension, type 2 diabetes or cardiovascular diseases, participants with any communicable or non-communicable chronic diseases, pregnant women and participants on lipid-lowering drugs, anti-diabetic drugs or anti-hypertensive drugs. A medical screening questionnaire was developed to screen participants for inclusion or exclusion from the study.

This study was approved by the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) Institutional Review Board (IRB) (Ref: RPN 003/CSIR-IRB/2018). In addition, this study was approved by the Metro Director of Health Services, Kumasi (KMHD/MPHs/13). All participants signed informed consent prior to their participation.

2.2. Data Collection

Structured questionnaires were used to elicit information about the participants' demographic characteristics, dietary intakes, physical activity levels, sleep and sunshine exposure patterns and medical history. Fieldworkers were trained before the start of data collection. Survey instruments were also pre-tested on the 10 July 2018 to enhance the field workers' understanding of questionnaires, ensure clearness and avoid ambiguity. Data collection took place from July to September 2018.

2.3. Anthropometric Measurements

Height, weight, percentage of body fat and visceral fat, waist circumference (WC) and hip circumference (HC) were measured. The measurements were taken with respondents wearing light clothing. Height was measured with a stadiometer (Seca 213 mobile stadiometer, Hamburg, Germany) to the nearest 0.1 cm with participants standing upright without shoes. Weight was measured using an OMRON Body Composition Analyzer to the nearest 0.1 kg. The same equipment provided values for BMI, percentage of body fat and visceral fat. WC and HC measurements were taken using a non-extensible measuring tape with participants in light clothing. The WC was measured just above the naval to the nearest 0.1 cm whereas the HC was measured at the level of the greater trochanter to the nearest 0.1 cm. The waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) was calculated by dividing WC by HC.

2.4. Physical Activity and Dietary Assessments

The health-related physical activity level of participants was measured using the intervieweradministered Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ) version 2 developed by the World Health Organization (WHO) for physical activity surveillance [42]. This questionnaire contains 16 questions (P1–P16) which gather information on the respondent's engagement in physical activities under three domains or settings (work-related activity, transportation and recreational activities) as well as sedentary behaviours. The total physical activity per week was calculated in Metabolic Equivalents (MET- minutes) and the respondents who had total physical activity \geq 600 MET- minutes/week were classified as active while those who had < 600 MET- minutes/week were classified as inactive [42].

A three-day repeated (two weekdays and one weekend) 24 h dietary recall method was used to elicit the information concerning the participants' dietary intake. Participants were requested to recollect all the meals taken as well as the times of the meal consumption in the previous day. Common household measures were used to estimate the actual quantities of foods and drinks consumed by the participants. The nutritional composition of the foods eaten was then analysed using the Nutrient Analysis Template (Food Science and Nutrition Department, University of Ghana, Accra, Ghana, 2010).

Fifteen SNPs near or in 8 obesity-susceptibility loci were chosen for the study based on the previous GWAS for metabolic traits [12–18]. These include Transcription factor 7-like 2 (*TCF7L2*) (rs12255372, rs7903146), melanocortin 4 Receptor (*MC4R*) (rs17782313, rs2229616), fat mass and obesity-associated (*FTO*) (rs9939609, rs10163409), adiponectin (*ADIPOQ*) (rs266729, rs17846866), Potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1(*KCNQ1*) (rs2237892, rs2237895), Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B (*CDKN2A/2B*) (rs10811661), Calpain 10 (*CAPN10*) (rs3792267, rs5030952, rs2975760) and Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (*PPARG*) (rs1801282). Three of these SNPs, *KCNQ1* (rs2237895), *ADIPOQ* (rs17846866) and *CAPN10* (rs2975760), reported significant deviations from Hardy–Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) (p < 0.05) and were excluded from the current analysis. The detailed information of the 15 SNPs is shown in Supplementary Table S1.

2.6. Genotyping

Blood samples for the measurement of DNA were transported in dry ice to the United Kingdom (UK). Genomic DNA was extracted from a 5 mL whole blood sample from each participant and genotyping was performed at the LGC Genomics (http://www.lgcgroup.com/services/genotyping), which employs the competitive allele-specific PCR-KASP[®] assay.

2.7. Construction of the Metabolic GRSs

To evaluate the combined effects of the 12 SNPs on obesity-related traits, an additive model was used to construct the unweighted metabolic GRSs (Figure 1). We did not weigh the risk alleles based on their individual effect sizes, because no previously reported effect sizes were available for these SNPs for the Ghanaian population, and it has been shown that the weighting of risk alleles may only have limited effects [43]. The unweighted metabolic GRSs were calculated by the summation of the number of risk alleles across the 12 variants. The risk alleles were defined as alleles previously associated with an increased risk of obesity in the literature. To reduce the bias caused by the missing data, only those participants without any missing data were included in our metabolic GRS analysis. Different metabolic GRSs were constructed including the 12-, 8- and the 4-SNP GRSs. The 12-SNP GRS included the following SNPs: TCF7L2 (rs12255372, rs7903146), MC4R (rs17782313, rs2229616), FTO (rs9939609, rs10163409), ADIPOQ (rs266729), KCNQ1 (rs2237892), CDKN2A/2B (rs10811661), CAPN10 (rs3792267, rs5030952) and PPARG (rs1801282), and the score ranged from 0 to 9 risk alleles. In the 12-SNP GRS analysis, no significant results were identified which might be because four of the SNPs had a minor allele frequency (MAF) of less than 5%. Therefore, we excluded the four SNPs: MC4R (rs2229616), FTO (rs10163409), CDKN2B (rs10811661) and PPAR (rs1801282) and created an 8-SNP GRS. No significant findings were observed using the 8-SNP GRS; this might be because four of the eight SNPs (ADIPOQ (rs266729), KCNQ1 (rs2237892) and CAPN10 (rs3792267, rs5030952)) have not shown consistent associations with obesity-related traits in other populations [44–49]. Hence, these four SNPs were removed and a 4-SNP GRS including the SNPs (TCF7L2 (rs12255372, rs7903146), MC4R (rs17782313), FTO (rs9939609)) that have shown consistent associations with obesity across several populations was constructed. The 4-SNP GRS ranged from 0 to 6 risk alleles and significant results were observed. Based on the median number of each GRS, the individuals were separated into two groups.

Given that there were no previously reported effect sizes available for these SNPs for the Ghanaian population, we were unable to perform sample size calculation.



Figure 1. Steps involved in the construction of the metabolic GRS. Fifteen SNPs were genotyped in our study; however, the GRS analysis was based only on 12 SNPs as 3 SNPs were not in the HWE. Three different GRSs, including the 12-SNP GRS, 8-SNP GRS and the 4-SNP GRS were constructed. In the 12-SNP GRS analysis, no significant results were identified, which could be because 4 of the SNPs had MAF of less than 5%. Therefore, the 4 SNPs were excluded, and an 8-SNP GRS was created. No significant findings were observed using the 8-SNP GRS; this could be because four of the eight SNPs have not shown a consistent association with obesity-related traits in other populations. Hence, these four SNPs were removed and a 4-SNP GRS including those SNPs that have shown consistent associations with obesity across several populations was constructed. Abbreviations: SNP: single nucleotide polymorphisms; GRS: genetic risk score; HWE: Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium; MAF: minor allele frequency.

Data analyses were performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software (version 24; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). A natural log transformation was used for the non-normally distributed variables. Unadjusted differences of descriptive characteristics between the overweight/obese and non-obese participants were calculated using an independent samples *t*-test for continuous variables. General linear models were used to examine the association between the metabolic GRSs and obesity traits. GRS-lifestyle interactions were analysed by including the interaction terms in these models. Models were adjusted for covariates including sex, age and BMI (when BMI is not an outcome). Nutrient-GRS interaction analysis was additionally adjusted for total energy intake. All GRS–lifestyle interactions reaching a nominal level of significance (p < 0.05) were investigated further using binary analysis. Based on the median intake of total fat—saturated fatty acids (SFA), monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA)--the individuals were separated into two groups: "below the median group" and "above the median group". Within each group, the association between the GRS and the outcome was examined. We also tested for GRS-sex interactions to test if sex influenced the genetic associations with obesity traits. The lifestyle factors investigated in our study included physical activity and the total dietary intake of fat, protein, carbohydrate and fibre. Significant interactions between the GRS and the total fat intake were further investigated to examine the influence of fat subtypes including saturated fatty acids (SFA), monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA). Two-tailed value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. Characteristics of the Study Participants

The anthropometric and dietary characteristics of the study participants are presented in Table 1. The mean age and BMI of the total sample were 38.17 ± 9.64 years and 26.63 ± 4.99 kg/m², respectively. Overweight/obese individuals were older than the non-obese (p < 0.05). Moreover, the dietary intakes were significantly different between the two groups. Overweight/obese individuals reported significantly lower intakes of total calories, protein, carbohydrate, total fat, fibre, SFA, MUFA and PUFA compared to the non-obese (p < 0.05). Women had significantly higher levels of BMI, body fat percentage and WHR compared to men, despite the men consuming significantly higher levels of carbohydrate, protein and fat (p < 0.05) (Supplementary Table S2).

	Total (N = 302)	Non-Obese * (N = 126)	Overweight/Obese ** (N = 176)	<i>p</i> Value ***
Age (years)	38.17 ± 9.64	35.96 ± 9.55	39.75 ± 9.42	0.001
BMI (kg/m^2)	26.63 ± 4.99	22.01 ± 1.79	29.95 ± 3.75	< 0.001
WC (cm)	88.48 ± 12.41	77.99 ± 7.13	96.00 ± 9.61	< 0.001
WHR	1.45 ± 6.96	1.55 ± 7.76	1.38 ± 6.34	0.84
Visceral fat (%)	8.02 ± 7.39	6.49 ± 10.97	9.12 ± 2.26	0.01
Body fat (%)	33.12 ± 13.90	22.05 ± 12.47	41.05 ± 8.36	< 0.001
Total energy intake (%)	1647.93 ± 685.83	1772.17 ± 723.85	1558.99 ± 644.75	0.008
Protein intake (g/day)	53.24 ± 23.73	57.38 ± 24.52	50.28 ± 22.76	0.01
Total fat intake (g/day)	51.17 ± 26.94	55.00 ± 29.29	48.42 ± 24.85	0.04
Carbohydrates intake (g/day)	239.03 ± 95.84	259.44 ± 104.01	224.42 ± 86.94	0.002
Fibre intake (g/day)	21.31 ± 10.84	23.19 ± 11.44	19.96 ± 10.21	0.01
Total SFA intake (g/day)	16.23 ± 10.36	17.41 ± 11.29	15.39 ± 9.58	0.10
Total MUFA intake (g/day)	18.08 ± 10.49	19.63 ± 11.30	16.96 ± 9.74	0.03
Total PUFA intake (g/day)	9.12 ± 5.03	10.20 ± 5.56	8.35 ± 4.47	0.002

Table 1. Characteristics of the study participants.

Data presented as the means \pm standard deviations. * Non-obese individuals refer to the individuals with a BMI < 25 Kg/m², according to the WHO classification of BMI. ** Overweight/obese cases refer to individuals with BMI \geq 25 Kg/m², according to the WHO classification of BMI. *** *p* values for the differences in the means between the two groups were calculated using the independent samples t-test. Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; WHR: waist-hip ratio; SFA: saturated fatty acids; MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids; WHO: World Health Organisation.

3.2. Effect of Metabolic GRSs on Obesity-Related Traits

We first investigated the combined effect of 12 common SNPs on obesity-related traits and no significant associations were observed (Supplementary Table S3). Similar results were found using an 8-SNP GRS (Supplementary Table S4) and a 4-SNP GRS (Table 2).

	GRS < 3 Risk Alleles (N = 123)	GRS ≥ 3 Risk Allele (N = 172)	* p Value
BMI (kg/m ²)	26.13 ± 0.45	26.85 ± 0.37	0.24
WC (cm)	87.13 ± 1.15	89.14 ± 0.92	0.19
WHR	2.27 ± 0.98	0.88 ± 0.01	0.18
Visceral fat (%)	7.89 ± 0.71	8.08 ± 0.55	0.43
Body fat (%)	31.75 ± 1.32	33.87 ± 1.02	0.15

Table 2. Associations of the 4-SNP GRS on obesity-related traits.

* *p* Values obtained from the linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism; GRS: genetic risk score; BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; WHR: waist–hip ratio.

3.3. GRS-Lifestyle Interactions on Obesity-Related Traits

There was a significant interaction of the 4-SNP GRS with dietary fat intake (g/day) on WC (Total fat, $P_{interaction} = 0.01$; SFA, $P_{interaction} = 0.02$; PUFA, $P_{interaction} = 0.01$ and MUFA, $P_{interaction} = 0.01$, Table 3). Individuals with ≥ 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles, among individuals with higher intakes of total fat (>47 g/day), SFA (>14 g/day), PUFA (>16 g/day) and MUFA (>16 g/day) (Figure 2a–d). There was also a significant interaction between 4-SNP GRS and dietary fibre intake (g/day) on body fat percentage ($P_{interaction} = 0.04$). Individuals with <3 risk alleles had a significantly lower body fat percentage compared to those with ≥ 3 risk alleles (p = 0.02), among individuals with a higher intake of fibre (>19 g/day). In addition, there was a significant interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and physical activity on WHR ($P_{interaction} = 0.002$). However, the finding was not significant after stratifying them by physical activity levels. Some significant interactions were observed between the 12- and the 8-SNP GRS and lifestyle factors on obesity-related traits (Supplementary Tables S5 and S6), however, none of these interactions were significant after binary analysis. Given the significant differences in the dietary intakes and obesity-related outcomes between men and women, interactions between the 4-SNP GRS and sex were tested but no significant results were found (Supplementary Tables S7).

	Protein (g/day)	Carbohydrate (g/day)	Fibre (g/day)	Fat (g/day)	SFA (g/day)	MUFA (g/day)	PUFA (g/day)	Physical Activity
BMI (kg/m ²)	0.45	0.22	0.12	0.15	-	-	-	0.76
WC (cm)	0.08	0.21	0.41	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.24
WHR	0.82	0.88	0.49	0.80	-	-	-	0.002
Visceral fat (%)	0.50	0.35	0.32	0.38	-	-	-	0.93

0.04

0.11

0.46

Body fat (%)

Table 3. Interactions between the 4-SNP GRS and the lifestyle factors on obesity-related traits.

Data are *p* values obtained from the linear regression analysis adjusted for age, sex, total energy intake and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables. Abbreviations: SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism; GRS: genetic risk score; BMI: body mass index; WC: waist circumference; WHR: waist–hip ratio; SFA: saturated fatty acids; MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids.

0.75

0.60



Figure 2. Interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and fat intake (g/day) on the log transformed WC. (a) Interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and the log transformed total fat intake (g/day) on WC. White bars indicate individuals with a GRS < 3 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with $GRS \ge 3$ risk alleles. Individuals with ≥ 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher total fat intake (above median group > 47 g/day): 71.28 ± 23.68 g/day (34.99 ± 5.54 % TEI); (b) the interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and the log transformed SFA intake (g/day) on the log transformed WC. White bars indicate individuals with a GRS < 3 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with $GRS \ge 3$ risk alleles. Individuals with \geq 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher SFA intake: 23.50 ± 10.08 g/day ($12.19 \pm 3.21\%$ TEI); (c) the interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and the log transformed MUFA intake (g/day) on the log transformed WC. White bars indicate individuals with a GRS < 3 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with $GRS \ge 3$ risk alleles. Individuals with ≥ 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher MUFA intake: 25.72 ± 9.58 g/day ($12.79 \pm 2.53\%$ TEI); (d) the interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and the log transformed PUFA intake (g/day) on the log transformed WC. White bars indicate individuals with a GRS < 3 risk alleles; the black bars indicate individuals with GRS \geq 3 risk alleles. Individuals with \geq 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles, among individuals with a higher PUFA intake: 12.74 ± 4.7 g/day $(6.28 \pm 1.08\%$ TEI). Abbreviations: SNP: single nucleotide polymorphisms; GRS: genetic risk score; WC: waist circumference; SFA: saturated fatty acids; MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids; TEI: total energy intake. Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean.

4. Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first nutrigenetic study investigating the interaction between metabolic GRSs and lifestyle factors on obesity-related traits in a Ghanaian population. Our study provides evidence for an interaction between the 4-SNP GRS and fat intake on WC, where individuals

with \geq 3 risk alleles had a significantly higher WC compared to those with <3 risk alleles among those who consumed a diet high in total fat, SFA, MUFA and PUFA. These results are in accordance with the general dietary recommendations, which suggest that the population decrease their intakes of total fat and SFA, to reduce the risk of obesity, and this will be more applicable in individuals with a higher genetic predisposition to obesity. Our findings are of importance to public health, considering the high consumption of foods that are rich in SFA and MUFA in the Ghanaian population [50].

Our study is the first study of its kind, investigating the effect of different metabolic GRSs (the 12-, 8- and the 4-SNP GRS) on obesity-related traits in a Ghanaian population. We found that none of the metabolic GRSs were significantly associated with obesity-related traits in the Ghanaian population, which contradicts the findings of the previous GRS-related studies in European and African populations [15,25–30,32,33]. Efforts to replicate previously reported genetic associations of individual SNPs with obesity measures in non-African populations have shown limited success among Africans [23,31,51,52], which is also in line with the findings from the present study. Several factors are likely to be involved in such discrepancies between our findings and genetic association studies in Europeans. First, the metabolic GRS in the present study was constructed based on variants strongly associated with BMI in European populations, which raises the question of the usefulness, applicability and accuracy of using this metabolic GRS in our African population. Analysing the genetic associations of such variants with obesity-related traits in African population may not be ideal because of differences in risk allele frequency and effect size across populations [53,54]. Second, the 'lead' SNPs identified in Europeans might tag smaller regions in Africans [19,20,55] and the 'true' causal polymorphisms might be at different loci [56]. A systematic review of genetic research in African samples has reported that more than 300 SNPs in 42 loci analysed in relation to obesity, but only a few positive associations were replicable in Africans [57]. Of the 36 variants previously established by GWAS in non-African populations, only the SNPs located at the FTO and MC4R loci were significantly associated with obesity in Nigerians, Ghanaians and black South Africans [58,59]. Furthermore, in a large-scale GWAS meta-analysis consisting of 71,412 individuals of African ancestry, of the 36 previously identified BMI-associated SNPs in Europeans, only five variants reached a genome-wide significant level in Africans [60]. Such inconsistencies in results are likely due, in part, to the variation in the genetic architecture between populations of different ancestry [61]. African populations are characterised by greater genetic variation, reduced patterns of linkage disequilibrium (LD) and more haplotype diversity in comparison with populations of another ancestry, which may cause difficulties in replicating previously reported genetic associations [61]. Hence, future studies with a larger sample size are needed to investigate the combined effect of a larger number of genetic variants on obesity-related traits in the Ghanaian population.

Our study has identified significant interactions between the 4-SNP GRS and intakes of total fat, SFA, PUFA and MUFA on WC, an indicator of central obesity that has been associated with the increased risk of morbidity and mortality [62,63]. Our findings suggest that dietary fatty acid consumption and composition may have the potential to influence the genetic susceptibility of becoming centrally obese. Evidence is limited concerning the GRS-diet interactions on obesity and its related traits, and most of the research has focused on the influence of a single locus [64–66], despite the genetic effects on obesity being polygenic [13]. Our results are consistent with previous findings generated from single-locus gene-diet interactions on obesity, in which fat intake is considered as an important lifestyle modulator of genetic associations with obesity-related traits. Two previous studies in 2163 participants from two independent United States (US) populations and in 28,449 individuals living in Malmö have shown significant interactions of the FTO SNP rs9939609 with total dietary fat on BMI [64,67], however, a large-scale meta-analysis of 177,330 individuals (154,439 Whites, 5776 African Americans and 17,115 Asians) failed to identify this interaction [68]. In addition, studies in 2163 participants from two US populations, 1754 French individuals and 354 Spanish children and adolescents have demonstrated a significant interaction of FTO SNP rs9939609 with SFAs [64–66] and MUFAs [64] on BMI. Furthermore, a study in 305 obese individuals in Finland reported that the high intake of
MUFA was associated with weight loss among carriers of the risk allele (A) *FTO* rs9939609 [69]. Additionally, a study in 1680 South Asians has shown a significant interaction of the risk allele 'T' of the *TCF7L2* SNP rs12255372 with fat intake on high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) [70]. Studies on GRS–diet interactions on obesity traits have mainly focused on European populations [71–73]. In agreement with our study, data from UK Biobank [72] and two studies from the US [71] have reported significant interactions between the GRS and dietary intakes of total fat and SFA on WC; the GRS was associated with a higher WC among individuals with high intakes of total fat and SFA. However, the interactions on BMI were not identified in the present study, which contradicts the previously reported findings [71,72]. Hence, larger studies are required to replicate our GRS–fat intake interactions on WC in the Ghanaian population.

Several studies have investigated the impact of dietary fat on obesity measures; however, the findings have been inconsistent [74]. For instance, prospective studies have examined the relationship between the intake of long-chain omega-3 (LC n-3)-PUFAs and adiposity, but results have been inconsistent. A study in 124 adults living in the UK found that the plasma levels of n-3 PUFA were negatively associated with anthropometric measures of obesity [75], whereas positive associations were reported in a study of 79,839 women living in the US [76]. However, no effect of n-3 LC-PUFA consumption on BMI was found in a 12 year follow-up US cohort of 43,671 men [77]. In a randomised controlled trial (RCT) of 27 women, the intake of a 3 g/d of fish oil (1.8 g n-3 PUFAs) for 2 months was associated with adiposity reduction [78]. Similar findings were reported in an RCT of 324 men and women from Iceland, Spain and Ireland, in which the intake of either lean fish $(3 \times 150 \text{ g portions of cod/week})$ or fatty fish $(3 \times 150 \text{ g portions of salmon/week})$, or fish oil (docosahexaenoic acid/eicosapentaenoic acid capsules) for 8 weeks were associated with weight loss in men [79]. However, a 6 week RCT in 195 UK adults found no differences in the anthropometric measures between three intervention diets of specific fatty acid compositions of total energy intake (TEI) (%TEI SFA:%TEI MUFA:%TEI omega-6 PUFA): SFA-rich diet (17:11:4), MUFA-rich diet (9:19:4) or omega-6 PUFA-rich diet (9:13:10) [80]. A meta-analysis of 534,906 European individuals revealed that the higher adherence to the Mediterranean diet, which is rich in MUFA, was associated with a beneficial effect on WC [81]. However, a recent 4 week intervention found no significant effect of the intake of 50 g/day of olive oil, which is rich in MUFA, on BMI or central obesity in 91 UK adults [82]. Conflicting evidence exists regarding the effects of dietary fat on obesity-related traits; this could be because of the genetic heterogeneity and the gene-diet interactions that vary across multiple ethnic groups [83]; hence, the influence of both genetic and lifestyle factors should be considered in understanding the pathophysiology of obesity.

In 2018, the WHO recommended that the intake of total fat and SFA should not exceed 30% and 10% of TEI, respectively, to avoid weight gain [84]. According to the WHO, the recommended range for PUFA for the general population is 6–11% of TEI [85]. It has been identified that the average consumption of SFA in Africa is between 8.9% and 12.5% TEI (North: 9.1%, Central: 12.2, Eastern: 10.7%, Southern: 8.9% and Western Africa: 12.5%; which is slightly higher than the \leq 10% TEI recommended by the WHO). The intake of PUFA is low in many sub-Saharan African countries, suggesting the infrequent use of vegetable oils for cooking or preparing foods [86]. The extremely low intake of n-3 long chain PUFA was also identified in Africa, which is explained by the low availability of fish in sub-Saharan Africa countries [86]. In the present study, the average consumption of total fat intake was 23.04 ± 9.13% of TEI and the average consumption of SFA, MUFA and PUFA were 8.95 ± 4.10, 9.86 ± 3.65 and 4.99 ± 1.61% of TEI, respectively, which are in accordance with general dietary recommendations. However, nearly one third of the study population had a high consumption of total fat (mean intake: 34.99 ± 5.54 g/day), the group in which the GRS showed a significant association with a higher WC. Hence, our study suggests that following the general dietary recommendations might be an effective way to overcome the genetic susceptibility to central obesity.

The strengths of our study include the analysis of gene–lifestyle interactions in a well characterized Ghanaian population and the use of different metabolic GRSs to maximise statistical power and to reduce multiple testing [25,27]. Nevertheless, some limitations need to be acknowledged. First, our analysis included an only Ghanaian population, which limits the generalisability of our results to other population groups within Africa. Second, our metabolic GRSs were constructed based on BMI-associated loci predominantly identified in Europeans, which might not truly reflect the genetic associations with BMI among Africans. Third, the food intakes were assessed using repeated 24 h dietary recall method, which is prone to reporting bias and this might have contributed to the discrepancy in the caloric consumption between overweight/obese and non-obese groups [87]. Fourth, as with any cross-sectional study design, residual confounding might exist, despite adjustments for several confounding factors. Fifth, our sample size was small; however, our study had sufficient statistical power to detect significant gene–diet interactions.

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, our study has shown that higher intakes of total fat, SFA, MUFA and PUFA can increase the genetic risk on WC in Ghanaian adults. We found that the effect of metabolic risk alleles on WC is stronger among individuals with higher intakes of total fat, SFA, MUFA, PUFA. These results give important insights into the complex interactions between dietary intake and the genetic predisposition to central obesity and highlight the importance of personalising dietary advice according to each ethnic group. Our GRS approach provides insights into cumulative genetic susceptibility; however, studies with a large sample size will be needed to confirm the findings before public health recommendations and personalized nutrition advice can be developed for the Ghanaian population.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at http://www.mdpi.com/2072-6643/12/7/1906/s1. Table S1: Genotype distribution of the fifteen SNPs that were included in the metabolic GRS; Table S2: Characteristics of the study participants stratified based on sex; Table S3: Associations of the 12-SNP GRS with obesity-related traits; Table S4: Associations of the 8-SNP GRS with obesity-related traits; Table S5: Interactions between the 12-SNP GRS and lifestyle factors on obesity-related traits; Table S6: Interactions between the 8-SNP GRS and lifestyle factors on obesity-related traits; Table S7: Interactions between the 4-SNP GRS and sex on obesity-related traits.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, K.S.V.; methodology, K.S.V. and S.A.; software, S.A., D.A.N. and A.-M.B.; validation, D.A.N. and A.-M.B.; formal analysis, S.A. and K.D.; investigation, S.A., R.A.A.; resources, K.S.V., R.A.A. and B.E.; data curation, K.S.V., S.A. and R.A.A.; writing—original draft preparation, S.A. and K.S.V.; writing—review and editing, K.S.V., S.A., D.A.N., J.A.L., R.A.A., and B.E.; supervision, K.S.V.; project training and administration, K.S.V., R.A.A., and B.E.; funding acquisition, K.S.V. and B.E. All authors have read, edited and approved the published version of the manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by Research England Global Challenge Research Fund Institutional allocation (University of Reading and University of Chester).

Acknowledgments: We thank all the participants from the GONG study for their cooperation. Karani S Vimaleswaran acknowledges support from the Ministry of Higher Education of Saudi Arabia for the scholarship given to Sooad Alsulami.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Kelly, T.; Yang, W.; Chen, C.S.; Reynolds, K.; He, J. Global burden of obesity in 2005 and projections to 2030. *Int. J. Obes. (Lond.)* 2008, 32, 1431–1437. [CrossRef]
- Ng, M.; Fleming, T.; Robinson, M.; Thomson, B.; Graetz, N.; Margono, C.; Mullany, E.C.; Biryukov, S.; Abbafati, C.; Abera, S.F.; et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet* 2014, 384, 766–781. [CrossRef]
- 3. Ofori-Asenso, R.; Agyeman, A.A.; Laar, A.; Boateng, D. Overweight and obesity epidemic in Ghana-a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health* **2016**, *16*, 1239. [CrossRef]
- 4. Nicolaidis, S. Environment and obesity. *Metabolism* 2019, 100s, 153942. [CrossRef]
- 5. Tilg, H.; Kaser, A. Gut microbiome, obesity, and metabolic dysfunction. *J. Clin. Investig.* **2011**, 121, 2126–2132. [CrossRef]

- 6. Froy, O. Metabolism and circadian rhythms-implications for obesity. Endocr. Rev. 2010, 31, 1-24. [CrossRef]
- 7. Egusquiza, R.J.; Blumberg, B. Environmental Obesogens and Their Impact on Susceptibility to Obesity: New Mechanisms and Chemicals. *Endocrinology* **2020**, *161*. [CrossRef]
- Herrera, B.M.; Keildson, S.; Lindgren, C.M. Genetics and epigenetics of obesity. *Maturitas* 2011, 69, 41–49. [CrossRef]
- 9. Parsanathan, R.; Jain, S.K. Glutathione deficiency induces epigenetic alterations of vitamin D metabolism genes in the livers of high-fat diet-fed obese mice. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, *9*, 14784. [CrossRef]
- 10. Goodarzi, M.O. Genetics of obesity: What genetic association studies have taught us about the biology of obesity and its complications. *Lancet Diabet. Endocrinol.* **2018**, *6*, 223–236. [CrossRef]
- 11. Owen, J.B. Genetic aspects of body composition. Nutrition 1999, 15, 609-613. [CrossRef]
- 12. Berndt, S.I.; Gustafsson, S.; Magi, R.; Ganna, A.; Wheeler, E.; Feitosa, M.F.; Justice, A.E.; Monda, K.L.; Croteau-Chonka, D.C.; Day, F.R.; et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis identifies 11 new loci for anthropometric traits and provides insights into genetic architecture. *Nat. Genet.* **2013**, *45*, 501–512. [CrossRef]
- Locke, A.E.; Kahali, B.; Berndt, S.I.; Justice, A.E.; Pers, T.H.; Day, F.R.; Powell, C.; Vedantam, S.; Buchkovich, M.L.; Yang, J.; et al. Genetic studies of body mass index yield new insights for obesity biology. *Nature* 2015, 518, 197–206. [CrossRef]
- Okada, Y.; Kubo, M.; Ohmiya, H.; Takahashi, A.; Kumasaka, N.; Hosono, N.; Maeda, S.; Wen, W.; Dorajoo, R.; Go, M.J.; et al. Common variants at CDKAL1 and KLF9 are associated with body mass index in east Asian populations. *Nat. Genet.* 2012, 44, 302–306. [CrossRef]
- 15. Speliotes, E.K.; Willer, C.J.; Berndt, S.I.; Monda, K.L.; Thorleifsson, G.; Jackson, A.U.; Lango Allen, H.; Lindgren, C.M.; Luan, J.; Magi, R.; et al. Association analyses of 249,796 individuals reveal 18 new loci associated with body mass index. *Nat. Genet.* **2010**, *42*, 937–948. [CrossRef]
- Wen, W.; Cho, Y.S.; Zheng, W.; Dorajoo, R.; Kato, N.; Qi, L.; Chen, C.H.; Delahanty, R.J.; Okada, Y.; Tabara, Y.; et al. Meta-analysis identifies common variants associated with body mass index in east Asians. *Nat. Genet.* 2012, 44, 307–311. [CrossRef]
- 17. Willer, C.J.; Li, Y.; Abecasis, G.R. METAL: Fast and efficient meta-analysis of genomewide association scans. *Bioinformatics* **2010**, *26*, 2190–2191. [CrossRef]
- Winkler, T.W.; Justice, A.E.; Graff, M.; Barata, L.; Feitosa, M.F.; Chu, S.; Czajkowski, J.; Esko, T.; Fall, T.; Kilpelainen, T.O.; et al. Correction: The Influence of Age and Sex on Genetic Associations with Adult Body Size and Shape: A Large-Scale Genome-Wide Interaction Study. *PLoS Genet.* 2016, *12*, e1006166. [CrossRef]
- Fesinmeyer, M.D.; North, K.E.; Ritchie, M.D.; Lim, U.; Franceschini, N.; Wilkens, L.R.; Gross, M.D.; Buzkova, P.; Glenn, K.; Quibrera, P.M.; et al. Genetic risk factors for BMI and obesity in an ethnically diverse population: Results from the population architecture using genomics and epidemiology (PAGE) study. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 2013, 21, 835–846. [CrossRef]
- 20. Hester, J.M.; Wing, M.R.; Li, J.; Palmer, N.D.; Xu, J.; Hicks, P.J.; Roh, B.H.; Norris, J.M.; Wagenknecht, L.E.; Langefeld, C.D.; et al. Implication of European-derived adiposity loci in African Americans. *Int. J. Obes.* (*Lond.*) **2012**, *36*, 465–473. [CrossRef]
- 21. Rotimi, C.; Abayomi, A.; Abimiku, A.; Adabayeri, V.M.; Adebamowo, C.; Adebiyi, E.; Ademola, A.D.; Adeyemo, A.; Adu, D.; Affolabi, D.; et al. Research capacity. Enabling the genomic revolution in Africa. *Science* **2014**, *344*, 1346–1348.
- 22. Rotimi, C.N.; Bentley, A.R.; Doumatey, A.P.; Chen, G.; Shriner, D.; Adeyemo, A. The genomic landscape of African populations in health and disease. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **2017**, *26*, 225–236. [CrossRef]
- 23. Adeyemo, A.; Chen, G.; Zhou, J.; Shriner, D.; Doumatey, A.; Huang, H.; Rotimi, C. FTO genetic variation and association with obesity in West Africans and African Americans. *Diabetes* **2010**, *59*, 1549–1554. [CrossRef]
- 24. Vimaleswaran, K.S.; Loos, R.J. Progress in the genetics of common obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Expert Rev. Mol. Med.* **2010**, *12*, e7. [CrossRef]
- 25. Belsky, D.W.; Moffitt, T.E.; Sugden, K.; Williams, B.; Houts, R.; McCarthy, J.; Caspi, A. Development and evaluation of a genetic risk score for obesity. *Biodemogr. Soc. Biol.* **2013**, *59*, 85–100. [CrossRef]
- 26. Hung, C.F.; Breen, G.; Czamara, D.; Corre, T.; Wolf, C.; Kloiber, S.; Bergmann, S.; Craddock, N.; Gill, M.; Holsboer, F.; et al. A genetic risk score combining 32 SNPs is associated with body mass index and improves obesity prediction in people with major depressive disorder. *BMC Med.* **2015**, *13*, 86. [CrossRef]

- 27. Li, S.; Zhao, J.H.; Luan, J.; Luben, R.N.; Rodwell, S.A.; Khaw, K.T.; Ong, K.K.; Wareham, N.J.; Loos, R.J. Cumulative effects and predictive value of common obesity-susceptibility variants identified by genome-wide association studies. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2010**, *91*, 184–190. [CrossRef]
- Peterson, R.E.; Maes, H.H.; Holmans, P.; Sanders, A.R.; Levinson, D.F.; Shi, J.; Kendler, K.S.; Gejman, P.V.; Webb, B.T. Genetic risk sum score comprised of common polygenic variation is associated with body mass index. *Hum. Genet.* 2011, 129, 221–230. [CrossRef]
- 29. Sandholt, C.H.; Sparso, T.; Grarup, N.; Albrechtsen, A.; Almind, K.; Hansen, L.; Toft, U.; Jorgensen, T.; Hansen, T.; Pedersen, O. Combined analyses of 20 common obesity susceptibility variants. *Diabetes* **2010**, *59*, 1667–1673. [CrossRef]
- 30. Fulford, A.J.; Ong, K.K.; Elks, C.E.; Prentice, A.M.; Hennig, B.J. Progressive influence of body mass index-associated genetic markers in rural Gambians. *J. Med. Genet.* **2015**, *52*, 375–380. [CrossRef]
- 31. Hennig, B.J.; Fulford, A.J.; Sirugo, G.; Rayco-Solon, P.; Hattersley, A.T.; Frayling, T.M.; Prentice, A.M. FTO gene variation and measures of body mass in an African population. *BMC Med. Genet.* **2009**, *10*, 21. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 32. Badsi, M.N.; Mediene-Benchekor, S.; Ouhaibi-Djellouli, H.; Lardjam-Hetraf, S.A.; Boulenouar, H.; Meroufel, D.N.; Hermant, X.; Hamani-Medjaoui, I.; Saidi-Mehtar, N.; Amouyel, P.; et al. Combined effect of established BMI loci on obesity-related traits in an Algerian population sample. *BMC Genet.* **2014**, *15*, 128. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 33. Munthali, R.J.; Sahibdeen, V.; Kagura, J.; Hendry, L.M.; Norris, S.A.; Ong, K.K.; Day, F.R.; Lombard, Z. Genetic risk score for adult body mass index associations with childhood and adolescent weight gain in an African population. *Genes Nutr.* **2018**, *13*, 24. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Qi, Q.; Chu, A.Y.; Kang, J.H.; Huang, J.; Rose, L.M.; Jensen, M.K.; Liang, L.; Curhan, G.C.; Pasquale, L.R.; Wiggs, J.L.; et al. Fried food consumption, genetic risk, and body mass index: Gene-diet interaction analysis in three US cohort studies. *BMJ* **2014**, *348*, g1610. [CrossRef]
- 35. Qi, Q.; Chu, A.Y.; Kang, J.H.; Jensen, M.K.; Curhan, G.C.; Pasquale, L.R.; Ridker, P.M.; Hunter, D.J.; Willett, W.C.; Rimm, E.B.; et al. Sugar-sweetened beverages and genetic risk of obesity. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2012**, 367, 1387–1396. [CrossRef]
- Qi, Q.; Li, Y.; Chomistek, A.K.; Kang, J.H.; Curhan, G.C.; Pasquale, L.R.; Willett, W.C.; Rimm, E.B.; Hu, F.B.;
 Qi, L. Television watching, leisure time physical activity, and the genetic predisposition in relation to body mass index in women and men. *Circulation* 2012, *126*, 1821–1827. [CrossRef]
- 37. Li, S.; Zhao, J.H.; Luan, J.; Ekelund, U.; Luben, R.N.; Khaw, K.T.; Wareham, N.J.; Loos, R.J. Physical activity attenuates the genetic predisposition to obesity in 20,000 men and women from EPIC-Norfolk prospective population study. *PLoS Med.* **2010**, *7*, e1000332. [CrossRef]
- Wang, T.; Heianza, Y.; Sun, D.; Huang, T.; Ma, W.; Rimm, E.B.; Manson, J.E.; Hu, F.B.; Willett, W.; Qi, L. Improving adherence to healthy dietary patterns, genetic risk, and long term weight gain: Gene-diet interaction analysis in two prospective cohort studies. *BMJ* 2018, *360*, 693. [CrossRef]
- 39. Kilpelainen, T.O.; Qi, L.; Brage, S.; Sharp, S.J.; Sonestedt, E.; Demerath, E.; Ahmad, T.; Mora, S.; Kaakinen, M.; Sandholt, C.H.; et al. Physical activity attenuates the influence of FTO variants on obesity risk: A meta-analysis of 218,166 adults and 19,268 children. *PLoS Med.* **2011**, *8*, e1001116. [CrossRef]
- 40. Vimaleswaran, K.S. Gene–nutrient interactions on metabolic diseases: Findings from the GeNuIne collaboration. *Nutr. Bull.* **2017**, *42*, 80–86. [CrossRef]
- Vimaleswaran, K.S. A nutrigenetics approach to study the impact of genetic and lifestyle factors on cardiometabolic traits in various ethnic groups: Findings from the GeNuIne Collaboration. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 2020, 79, 194–204. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 42. Global Physical Activity Surveillance. Available online: https://www.who.int/ncds/surveillance/steps/GPAQ/en/ (accessed on 19 March 2020).
- 43. Janssens, A.C.; Moonesinghe, R.; Yang, Q.; Steyerberg, E.W.; van Duijn, C.M.; Khoury, M.J. The impact of genotype frequencies on the clinical validity of genomic profiling for predicting common chronic diseases. *Genet. Med.* **2007**, *9*, 528–535. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bazzi, M.D.; Nasr, F.A.; Alanazi, M.S.; Alamri, A.; Turjoman, A.A.; Moustafa, A.S.; Alfadda, A.A.; Pathan, A.A.; Parine, N.R. Association between FTO, MC4R, SLC30A8, and KCNQ1 gene variants and type 2 diabetes in Saudi population. *Genet. Mol. Res.* 2014, *13*, 10194–10203. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 45. Holmkvist, J.; Banasik, K.; Andersen, G.; Unoki, H.; Jensen, T.S.; Pisinger, C.; Borch-Johnsen, K.; Sandbaek, A.; Lauritzen, T.; Brunak, S.; et al. The type 2 diabetes associated minor allele of rs2237895 KCNQ1 associates with reduced insulin release following an oral glucose load. *PLoS ONE* **2009**, *4*, e5872. [CrossRef]
- 46. Hsiao, T.J.; Lin, E. A Validation Study of Adiponectin rs266729 Gene Variant with Type 2 Diabetes, Obesity, and Metabolic Phenotypes in a Taiwanese Population. *Biochem. Genet.* **2016**, *54*, 830–841. [CrossRef]
- Kommoju, U.J.; Maruda, J.; Kadarkarai Samy, S.; Irgam, K.; Kotla, J.P.; Reddy, B.M. Association of IRS1, CAPN10, and PPARG gene polymorphisms with type 2 diabetes mellitus in the high-risk population of Hyderabad, India. *J. Diabetes* 2014, *6*, 564–573. [CrossRef]
- 48. Lu, J.F.; Zhou, Y.; Huang, G.H.; Jiang, H.X.; Hu, B.L.; Qin, S.Y. Association of ADIPOQ polymorphisms with obesity risk: A meta-analysis. *Hum. Immunol.* **2014**, *75*, 1062–1068. [CrossRef]
- 49. Martinez-Gomez, L.E.; Cruz, M.; Martinez-Nava, G.A.; Madrid-Marina, V.; Parra, E.; Garcia-Mena, J.; Espinoza-Rojo, M.; Estrada-Velasco, B.I.; Piza-Roman, L.F.; Aguilera, P.; et al. A replication study of the IRS1, CAPN10, TCF7L2, and PPARG gene polymorphisms associated with type 2 diabetes in two different populations of Mexico. *Ann. Hum. Genet.* **2011**, *75*, 612–620. [CrossRef]
- 50. Galbete, C.; Nicolaou, M.; Meeks, K.A.; de-Graft Aikins, A.; Addo, J.; Amoah, S.K.; Smeeth, L.; Owusu-Dabo, E.; Klipstein-Grobusch, K.; Bahendeka, S.; et al. Food consumption, nutrient intake, and dietary patterns in Ghanaian migrants in Europe and their compatriots in Ghana. *Food Nutr. Res.* **2017**, *61*, 1341809. [CrossRef]
- Logan, M.; Van der Merwe, M.T.; Dodgen, T.M.; Myburgh, R.; Eloff, A.; Alessandrini, M.; Pepper, M.S. Allelic variants of the Melanocortin 4 receptor (MC4R) gene in a South African study group. *Mol. Genet. Genom. Med.* 2016, 4, 68–76. [CrossRef]
- 52. Sahibdeen, V.; Crowther, N.J.; Soodyall, H.; Hendry, L.M.; Munthali, R.J.; Hazelhurst, S.; Choudhury, A.; Norris, S.A.; Ramsay, M.; Lombard, Z. Genetic variants in SEC16B are associated with body composition in black South Africans. *Nutr. Diabetes* **2018**, *8*, 43. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 53. Adeyemo, A.A.; Tekola-Ayele, F.; Doumatey, A.P.; Bentley, A.R.; Chen, G.; Huang, H.; Zhou, J.; Shriner, D.; Fasanmade, O.; Okafor, G.; et al. Evaluation of Genome Wide Association Study Associated Type 2 Diabetes Susceptibility Loci in Sub Saharan Africans. *Front. Genet.* **2015**, *6*, 335. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Chen, J.; Sun, M.; Adeyemo, A.; Pirie, F.; Carstensen, T.; Pomilla, C.; Doumatey, A.P.; Chen, G.; Young, E.H.; Sandhu, M.; et al. Genome-wide association study of type 2 diabetes in Africa. *Diabetologia* **2019**, *62*, 1204–1211. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gong, J.; Schumacher, F.; Lim, U.; Hindorff, L.A.; Haessler, J.; Buyske, S.; Carlson, C.S.; Rosse, S.; Buzkova, P.; Fornage, M.; et al. Fine Mapping and Identification of BMI Loci in African Americans. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 2013, 93, 661–671. [CrossRef]
- 56. Shriner, D.; Adeyemo, A.; Gerry, N.P.; Herbert, A.; Chen, G.; Doumatey, A.; Huang, H.; Zhou, J.; Christman, M.F.; Rotimi, C.N. Transferability and fine-mapping of genome-wide associated loci for adult height across human populations. *PLoS ONE* **2009**, *4*, e8398. [CrossRef]
- 57. Yako, Y.Y.; Echouffo-Tcheugui, J.B.; Balti, E.V.; Matsha, T.E.; Sobngwi, E.; Erasmus, R.T.; Kengne, A.P. Genetic association studies of obesity in Africa: A systematic review. *Obes. Rev.* **2015**, *16*, 259–272. [CrossRef]
- 58. Chen, G.; Doumatey, A.P.; Zhou, J.; Lei, L.; Bentley, A.R.; Tekola-Ayele, F.; Adebamowo, S.N.; Baker, J.L.; Fasanmade, O.; Okafor, G.; et al. Genome-wide analysis identifies an african-specific variant in SEMA4D associated with body mass index. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* **2017**, *25*, 794–800. [CrossRef]
- Yako, Y.Y.; Madubedube, J.H.; Kengne, A.P.; Erasmus, R.T.; Pillay, T.S.; Matsha, T.E. Contribution of ENPP1, TCF7L2, and FTO polymorphisms to type 2 diabetes in mixed ancestry ethnic population of South Africa. *Afr. Health Sci.* 2015, 15, 1149–1160. [CrossRef]
- 60. Monda, K.L.; Chen, G.K.; Taylor, K.C.; Palmer, C.; Edwards, T.L.; Lange, L.A.; Ng, M.C.; Adeyemo, A.A.; Allison, M.A.; Bielak, L.F.; et al. A meta-analysis identifies new loci associated with body mass index in individuals of African ancestry. *Nat. Genet.* **2013**, *45*, 690–696. [CrossRef]
- 61. Campbell, M.C.; Tishkoff, S.A. African genetic diversity: Implications for human demographic history, modern human origins, and complex disease mapping. *Annu. Rev. Genom. Hum. Genet.* **2008**, *9*, 403–433. [CrossRef]
- 62. Schleinitz, D.; Bottcher, Y.; Bluher, M.; Kovacs, P. The genetics of fat distribution. *Diabetologia* **2014**, *57*, 1276–1286. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 63. Wang, Y.; Rimm, E.B.; Stampfer, M.J.; Willett, W.C.; Hu, F.B. Comparison of abdominal adiposity and overall obesity in predicting risk of type 2 diabetes among men. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2005**, *81*, 555–563. [CrossRef]

- 64. Corella, D.; Arnett, D.K.; Tucker, K.L.; Kabagambe, E.K.; Tsai, M.; Parnell, L.D.; Lai, C.Q.; Lee, Y.C.; Warodomwichit, D.; Hopkins, P.N.; et al. A high intake of saturated fatty acids strengthens the association between the fat mass and obesity-associated gene and BMI. *J. Nutr.* **2011**, *141*, 2219–2225. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 65. Phillips, C.M.; Kesse-Guyot, E.; McManus, R.; Hercberg, S.; Lairon, D.; Planells, R.; Roche, H.M. High dietary saturated fat intake accentuates obesity risk associated with the fat mass and obesity-associated gene in adults. *J. Nutr.* **2012**, *142*, 824–831. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 66. Moleres, A.; Ochoa, M.C.; Rendo-Urteaga, T.; Martinez-Gonzalez, M.A.; Azcona San Julian, M.C.; Martinez, J.A.; Marti, A. Dietary fatty acid distribution modifies obesity risk linked to the rs9939609 polymorphism of the fat mass and obesity-associated gene in a Spanish case-control study of children. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2012**, *107*, 533–538. [CrossRef]
- 67. Sonestedt, E.; Roos, C.; Gullberg, B.; Ericson, U.; Wirfalt, E.; Orho-Melander, M. Fat and carbohydrate intake modify the association between genetic variation in the FTO genotype and obesity. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2009**, *90*, 1418–1425. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Qi, Q.; Kilpelainen, T.O.; Downer, M.K.; Tanaka, T.; Smith, C.E.; Sluijs, I.; Sonestedt, E.; Chu, A.Y.; Renstrom, F.; Lin, X.; et al. FTO genetic variants, dietary intake and body mass index: Insights from 177,330 individuals. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 2014, 23, 6961–6972. [CrossRef]
- 69. De Luis, D.A.; Aller, R.; Izaola, O.; de la Fuente, B.; Conde, R.; Sagrado, M.G.; Primo, D. Evaluation of weight loss and adipocytokines levels after two hypocaloric diets with different macronutrient distribution in obese subjects with rs9939609 gene variant. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* **2012**, *28*, 663–668. [CrossRef]
- 70. Bodhini, D.; Gaal, S.; Shatwan, I.; Ramya, K.; Ellahi, B.; Surendran, S.; Sudha, V.; Anjana, M.R.; Mohan, V.; Lovegrove, J.A.; et al. Interaction between TCF7L2 polymorphism and dietary fat intake on high density lipoprotein cholesterol. *PLoS ONE* **2017**, *12*, e0188382.
- 71. Casas-Agustench, P.; Arnett, D.K.; Smith, C.E.; Lai, C.Q.; Parnell, L.D.; Borecki, I.B.; Frazier-Wood, A.C.; Allison, M.; Chen, Y.D.; Taylor, K.D.; et al. Saturated fat intake modulates the association between an obesity genetic risk score and body mass index in two US populations. *J. Acad. Nutr. Diet.* 2014, 114, 1954–1966. [CrossRef]
- 72. Celis-Morales, C.A.; Lyall, D.M.; Gray, S.R.; Steell, L.; Anderson, J.; Iliodromiti, S.; Welsh, P.; Guo, Y.; Petermann, F.; Mackay, D.F.; et al. Dietary fat and total energy intake modifies the association of genetic profile risk score on obesity: Evidence from 48 170 UK Biobank participants. *Int. J. Obes. (Lond.)* 2017, 41, 1761–1768.
- 73. Rukh, G.; Sonestedt, E.; Melander, O.; Hedblad, B.; Wirfalt, E.; Ericson, U.; Orho-Melander, M. Genetic susceptibility to obesity and diet intakes: Association and interaction analyses in the Malmo Diet and Cancer Study. *Genes Nutr.* **2013**, *8*, 535–547. [PubMed]
- 74. Bray, G.A.; Paeratakul, S.; Popkin, B.M. Dietary fat and obesity: A review of animal, clinical and epidemiological studies. *Physiol. Behav.* **2004**, *83*, 549–555. [PubMed]
- 75. Micallef, M.; Munro, I.; Phang, M.; Garg, M. Plasma n-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids are negatively associated with obesity. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2009**, *102*, 1370–1374. [PubMed]
- 76. Iso, H.; Rexrode, K.M.; Stampfer, M.J.; Manson, J.E.; Colditz, G.A.; Speizer, F.E.; Hennekens, C.H.; Willett, W.C. Intake of fish and omega-3 fatty acids and risk of stroke in women. *JAMA* **2001**, *285*, 304–312. [PubMed]
- 77. He, K.; Rimm, E.B.; Merchant, A.; Rosner, B.A.; Stampfer, M.J.; Willett, W.C.; Ascherio, A. Fish consumption and risk of stroke in men. *JAMA* 2002, *288*, 3130–3136.
- 78. Kabir, M.; Skurnik, G.; Naour, N.; Pechtner, V.; Meugnier, E.; Rome, S.; Quignard-Boulange, A.; Vidal, H.; Slama, G.; Clement, K.; et al. Treatment for 2 mo with n 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids reduces adiposity and some atherogenic factors but does not improve insulin sensitivity in women with type 2 diabetes: A randomized controlled study. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2007**, *86*, 1670–1679.
- 79. Thorsdottir, I.; Tomasson, H.; Gunnarsdottir, I.; Gisladottir, E.; Kiely, M.; Parra, M.D.; Bandarra, N.M.; Schaafsma, G.; Martinez, J.A. Randomized trial of weight-loss-diets for young adults varying in fish and fish oil content. *Int. J. Obes. (Lond.)* **2007**, *31*, 1560–1566.
- 80. Weech, M.; Vafeiadou, K.; Hasaj, M.; Todd, S.; Yaqoob, P.; Jackson, K.G.; Lovegrove, J.A. Development of a food-exchange model to replace saturated fat with MUFAs and n-6 PUFAs in adults at moderate cardiovascular risk. *J. Nutr.* **2014**, *144*, 846–855.

- 81. Kastorini, C.M.; Milionis, H.J.; Esposito, K.; Giugliano, D.; Goudevenos, J.A.; Panagiotakos, D.B. The effect of Mediterranean diet on metabolic syndrome and its components: A meta-analysis of 50 studies and 534,906 individuals. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* **2011**, *57*, 1299–1313.
- Khaw, K.T.; Sharp, S.J.; Finikarides, L.; Afzal, I.; Lentjes, M.; Luben, R.; Forouhi, N.G. Randomised trial of coconut oil, olive oil or butter on blood lipids and other cardiovascular risk factors in healthy men and women. *BMJ Open* 2018, *8*, e020167. [PubMed]
- 83. Heianza, Y.; Qi, L. Gene-Diet Interaction and Precision Nutrition in Obesity. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2017, 18, 787.
- 84. Healthy Diet. Available online: https://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/nutrientrequirements/ healthydiet_factsheet/en/. (accessed on 21 January 2020).
- 85. Interim Summary of Conclusions and Dietary Recommendations on Total Fat & Fatty Acids. Available online: https://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/FFA_summary_rec_conclusion.pdf. (accessed on 21 January 2020).
- 86. Micha, R.; Khatibzadeh, S.; Shi, P.; Fahimi, S.; Lim, S.; Andrews, K.G.; Engell, R.E.; Powles, J.; Ezzati, M.; Mozaffarian, D. Global, regional, and national consumption levels of dietary fats and oils in 1990 and 2010: A systematic analysis including 266 country-specific nutrition surveys. *BMJ* 2014, 348, 2272.
- 87. Mertens, E.; Kuijsten, A.; Geleijnse, J.M.; Boshuizen, H.C.; Feskens, E.J.M.; Van't Veer, P. FFQ versus repeated 24-h recalls for estimating diet-related environmental impact. *Nutr. J.* **2019**, *18*, 2. [PubMed]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

RESEARCH

Open Access

Interaction between the genetic risk score and dietary protein intake on cardiometabolic traits in Southeast Asian



Sooad Alsulami^{1,2}, A. S. Aji^{3,4}, U. Ariyasra³, S. R. Sari³, N. Tasrif⁵, F. F. Yani⁶, J. A. Lovegrove^{2,7}, I. R. Sudji⁸, N. I. Lipoeto⁹ and K. S. Vimaleswaran^{2,7*}

Abstract

Background: Cardiometabolic diseases are complex traits which are influenced by several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). Thus, analysing the combined effects of multiple gene variants might provide a better understanding of disease risk than using a single gene variant approach. Furthermore, studies have found that the effect of SNPs on cardiometabolic traits can be influenced by lifestyle factors, highlighting the importance of analysing gene-lifestyle interactions.

Aims: In the present study, we investigated the association of 15 gene variants with cardiometabolic traits and examined whether these associations were modified by lifestyle factors such as dietary intake and physical activity.

Methods: The study included 110 Minangkabau women [aged 25–60 years and body mass index (BMI) $25.13 \pm 4.2 \text{ kg/m}^2$] from Padang, Indonesia. All participants underwent a physical examination followed by anthropometric, biochemical and dietary assessments and genetic tests. A genetic risk score (GRS) was developed based on 15 cardiometabolic disease-related SNPs. The effect of GRS on cardiometabolic traits was analysed using general linear models. GRS-lifestyle interactions on continuous outcomes were tested by including the interaction term (e.g. lifestyle factor*GRS) in the regression model. Models were adjusted for age, BMI and location (rural or urban), wherever appropriate.

Results: There was a significant association between GRS and BMI, where individuals carrying 6 or more risk alleles had higher BMI compared to those carrying 5 or less risk alleles (P = 0.018). Furthermore, there were significant interactions of GRS with protein intake on waist circumference (WC) and triglyceride concentrations ($P_{interaction} = 0.002$ and 0.003, respectively). Among women who had a lower protein intake (13.51 ± 1.18% of the total daily energy intake), carriers of six or more risk alleles had significantly lower WC and triglyceride concentrations compared with carriers of five or less risk alleles (P = 0.0118 and 0.002, respectively).

Conclusions: Our study confirmed the association of GRS with higher BMI and further showed a significant effect of the GRS on WC and triglyceride levels through the influence of a low-protein diet. These findings suggest that following a lower protein diet, particularly in genetically predisposed individuals, might be an effective approach for addressing cardiometabolic diseases among Southeast Asian women.

Keywords: GRS, BMI, WC, Triglyceride, Interaction, Indonesian

⁷Institute for Cardiovascular and Metabolic Research (ICMR), University of Reading, Reading, UK

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2020 **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

^{*} Correspondence: v.karani@reading.ac.uk

²Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition, Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences, University of Reading, PO Box 226, Whiteknights, Reading RG6 6AP, UK

Introduction

Cardiometabolic diseases such as cardiovascular diseases (CVD), obesity, hypertension and type 2 diabetes are a major cause of mortality, morbidity and healthcare spending worldwide [1, 2]. The prevalence of these diseases has significantly increased and has become a major problem given the significant economic burden that these diseases impose on lowand middle-income countries. Indonesia has the seventh largest number of diabetic patients (7.6 million), despite relatively low prevalence worldwide (4.8%) in 2012 [3]. In 2013, it was estimated that there were more than 132.8 million people with diabetes in the Western Pacific (more people than in any other region), and the number is expected to rise to 201.8 million by 2035 [4]. Furthermore, obesity is suggested to play a critical role in the development of chronic and non-communicable diseases (NCDs) in the Southeast (SE) Asia [5]. In Indonesia, NCDs are estimated to account for 73% of all deaths [6] of which, CVD contributed to 35% followed by cancers (12%) and diabetes (6%) [6].

Indonesia is the largest island country in the world, consisting of various ethnic groups distributed over 33 provinces [7]. Minangkabau community is the world's largest matrilineal society which resides mostly in West Sumatra, where the prevalence of low level of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), hypertension and central obesity is more than 50% [7]. It is reported that the Minangkabau ethnic group had a high risk of dyslipidemia, which is suggested to be driven mainly by the high intake of dietary fat from poor quality sources [8]. A study comparing lipid profiles among four ethnic groups reported that the Minangkabau ethnic group has the highest levels of plasma total cholesterol and lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) compared to other larger ethnicities including Sundanese, Javanese and Buginese [9]. Furthermore, it has been reported that the prevalence of central obesity is high among Minangkabau women [10]. Many environmental exposures contribute to the increasing prevalence of cardiometabolic diseases, but one key factor is urbanisation [11]. Countries in SE Asia have underepidemiological gone rapid and nutritional transitions over the past few decades. Furthermore, it has been reported that dietary risks, high blood pressure and tobacco smoking are the three major risk factors contributing to disease burden in Indonesia [12]. However, genetic factors also play an important role in the development of cardiometabolic diseases.

Candidate gene studies and genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) relating to cardiometabolic diseases and traits in the Asian populations [13–16]. Most cardiometabolic traits are influenced by thousands of SNPs each having a relatively small effect on the trait when present alone. Thus, analysing the combined effects of multiple gene variants might provide a better understanding of trait variability of an individual and improve risk prediction of cardiometabolic diseases than using a single variant approach [17]. Furthermore, studies have found that the effect of genetic variants on cardiometabolic traits can be influenced by lifestyle factors [18]. It has been confirmed that using genetic risk score (GRS) approaches increases the power to detect genelifestyle interactions compared to the common single variant methods [19]. Therefore, our study aimed to investigate the association of a novel GRS with cardiometabolic traits and to examine whether lifestyle factors such as dietary intake and physical activity modified these associations in 110 Minangkabau women.

Methods

Study participants

The study included healthy women who were enrolled in the Minangkabau Indonesia Study on Nutrition and Genetics (MINANG) study, a cross-sectional pilot study conducted in the city of Padang, West Sumatra, Indonesia, between December 2017 and January 2018. This study is a part of the ongoing GeNuIne (gene-nutrient interactions) Collaboration, which aims to examine the interactions between genetic and dietary factors (nutrigenetics) on cardiometabolic disease and its related traits using population-based studies from several ethnic groups [20]. The methodology of the study has been published elsewhere [21]. In brief, 133 women were recruited from community health centres in two subdistricts in Padang City including Padang Timur and Kuranji districts to represent both urban and rural areas of Padang population, respectively. The inclusion criteria included healthy women, aged 25-60 years old and with Minangkabau ethnicity. Of the 133 enrolled women, 10 were excluded from the study according to the following exclusion criteria: being pregnant or lactating (N = 0) and taking dietary or vitamin supplements (N = 0); have a previous history of hypertension, CVD or type 2 diabetes (N = 6); have a body mass index (BMI) of more than 40 kg/m² or being classified as morbidly obese by a practitioner (N = 0); being blood related to other participants in the study (N = 0); have any communicable disease (N = 4). Of the remaining 123 participants, we excluded another 5 women who did not undergo blood sampling. Thus, the final sample consisted of 118 participants, of whom seven women did not have complete genetic information about all the investigated SNPs and were excluded from the GRS analysis (N = 111). Additionally, one participant with no dietary information available was excluded from the GRS interaction analysis (N = 110).

The MINANG study was conducted according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethical Review Committee of the Medical Faculty, Andalas Univesity (No.311/KEP/FK/2017). All participants gave their written informed consent before participating and had the right to withdraw from the study at will and opt-out from any of the procedures.

Anthropometric measures

Body weight (to the nearest 100 g) and height (to the nearest mm) were measured using an electronic scale (Seca 803, Seca GmbH. Co. kg, Hamburg, Germany) and a wallmounted stadiometer (OneMed Medicom stature meter, YF.05.05. V.A.1022, Indonesia), respectively. BMI was calculated as weight (kg)/height (m)² and categorised according to the Asia-Pacific classification of BMI [22]. Waist circumference (WC) was measured in centimetre using a metal tape (Medline-OneMed Medicom, Jakarta, Indonesia) midway between the 12th rib and the superior border of the iliac crest at the end of normal expiration.

Biochemical and clinical measures

After 12 h of fasting, blood samples (5 ml) were taken to measure the concentrations of glucose, insulin, glycated haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), total cholesterol, triglycerides, LDL-C and HDL-C. Samples were assayed using the xMark Microplate Spectrophotometer (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc, Hercules, California, USA). Fasting glucose, insulin and HbA1c were measured using enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits from Bioassay Technology Laboratory (Shanghai, China). Blood lipids were analysed using enzymatic colorimetric procedures, namely GPO-PAP for triglycerides and CHOD-PAP for total cholesterol, LDL and HDL. A sphygmomanometer was used to measure systolic and diastolic blood pressures (SBP and DBP). Measurements were taken twice at 5-min intervals, and the average was recorded.

Assessment of dietary intake and physical activity

Information about dietary intake and physical activity was collected by a well-trained nutritionist in the home or in an integrated health service post. Diet was assessed using a previously validated and published semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire (SQ-FFQ) consisting of a list of 223 food items [23]. Briefly, participants were asked to report the frequency of consumption (number of times per day, week or month) and portion size of various food items. Participants were provided with portion size images of all relevant foods to enhance reporting accuracy while completing the SQ-FFQ [24]. All collected data were double-checked for accuracy and analysed with the Indonesian Food Database and Nutrisurvey (EBISpro, Germany) to estimate total energy and macronutrient intake. Values of nutrient intake were adjusted for total

energy intake using the nutrient (energy-adjusted) residual method, wherever appropriate [25].

"The Global Physical Activity Questionnaire" (GPAQ) was used to calculate an individual's level of physical activity in 3 areas (work, transport and leisure-time) and time spent in sedentary behaviour [26]. Total time spent in moderate-to-vigorous physical activity was estimated using to the World Health Organization (WHO) STEP-wise method and was expressed as metabolic equivalent minutes per day (METmins/day). Participants were defined as "active" if they did \geq 600 METmins/week or "in-active" if they accumulated < 600 METmins/week.

SNP selection and genotyping

Fifteen genetic variants located at 8 different genes were selected for the present study based on its consistent associations with cardiometabolic traits in candidate gene studies and GWAS in Asian populations [13–16, 27–36]. The selected genetic variants were Calpain 10 (*CAPN10*) rs3792267 and rs5030952; fat mass and obesity-associated (*FTO*)- rs9939609, rs10163409 and rs8050136; melanocortin 4 Receptor (*MC4R*)- rs17782313 and rs2229616; transcription factor 7-like 2 (*TCF7L2*)- rs12255372 and rs7903146; potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1 (*KCNQ1*)- rs2237895 and rs2237892; cyclindependent kinase inhibitor 2A/2B (*CDKN2A*/2B)-rs10811661; peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (*PPARG*)- rs1801282; and adiponectin (*ADIPOQ*)-rs266729 and rs17846866.

Genomic DNA was extracted from peripheral blood leukocytes using the PureLink Genomic DNA Mini Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA). Furthermore, a NanoDrop spectrophotometer was used to determine DNA concentration. The SNPs were genotyped using the competitive allele-specific PCR-KASP* assay at LGC Genomics (http://www.lgcgroup.com/services/ genotyping).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS software (version 23). Common obesity was defined based on the Asia-Pacific classification of BMI for Asians, where non-obese individuals (BMI < 23 kg/m^2) and obese individuals (BMI $\ge 23 \text{ kg/m}^2$) were classed accordingly [37]. Central obesity was defined based on WHO classification of WC (WC > 80 cm for women) [38]. The Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) was assessed using the x^2 goodness-of-fit test, and the 15 SNPs were in HWE (P > 0.05). Normality of distribution of all continuous variables was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test and those that were not normally distributed were natural log-transformed before the analysis, including glucose, insulin, HbAC1, HDL-C, LDL-C, total cholesterol, triglyceride concentrations and total dietary protein

intake (%). Continuous variables are expressed as means and standard deviations (SD), and comparisons between groups were made using the independent *t* test. The descriptive statistics for categorical variables, such as physical activity level, were obtained by determining frequency distributions and compared between individuals with and without central obesity using Pearson's chi-squared test. The association between individual SNPs and cardiometabolic traits was analysed using general linear models adjusted for age, residential area (rural or urban) and BMI when BMI is not an outcome. As the number of individuals with rare homozygous genotypes was low, a dominant model was used, where common homozygous genotypes were compared against combined rare homozygous and heterozygous genotypes.

A GRS was constructed based on 15 SNPs from 8 genes. An additive genetic model was assumed for each gene variant, assigning a score of 0, 1 and 2 to genotypes containing 0, 1 or 2 risk alleles, respectively. The GRS was then calculated for each individual by summing the number of risk alleles in the genetic variants. The count method assumed that each risk allele contributes equally and independently to the development of cardiometabolic traits. The average number of risk alleles per individual for the GRS was 5.12 (SD = 2.06), which ranged from 2 to 10. The GRS variable was then categorised into two groups based on the median of risk alleles: "low genetic risk group"—individuals with a GRS \leq 5 risk alleles (N = 69) and "high genetic risk group"—individuals with GRS > 5 risk alleles (N = 42). The effects of GRS on cardiometabolic traits were analysed using general linear models. Furthermore, GRS-lifestyle interactions on continuous outcomes were tested using linear regression models by including the interaction terms (e.g. diet*genotype) in these models. Models were adjusted for age, residential area and additionally for BMI when it is not an outcome. Lifestyle factors that were investigated in our study included dietary intake and physical activity. Carbohydrate, protein and fat intakes were expressed as a percentage of total energy intake, and fibre intake was expressed in grammes. Furthermore, statistically significant interactions were investigated in more depth, where individuals were stratified by the tertiles of dietary intake and the levels of physical activity. A *P* value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Multiple testing correction was not applied given that we had examined only one genetic instrument (i.e. GRS).

Results

Characteristics of the study participants according to the central obesity status

In the present study, 71 women (64.0%) were centrally obese and 39 (35.1%) were not. The characteristics of the participants are shown in Table 1. In general, centrally

obese participants were older and had higher SBP (P = 0.006), fasting plasma glucose (P = 0.039), serum triglycerides (P < 0.001), serum total cholesterol (P < 0.001) and LDL-C (P < 0.001) concentrations compared to participants without central obesity. There were no significant differences in fasting HDL-C, serum insulin, HbA1c, DBP, dietary intake and physical activity levels and the distribution of GRS between the two groups (P > 0.05).

Associations between GRS and cardiometabolic traits

To explore the combined effect of the 15 SNPs on various cardiometabolic traits, a GRS was calculated. There was a significant association (P = 0.018) between the GRS and BMI where individuals carrying 6 or more risk alleles of the SNPs had higher BMI compared with those carrying 5 or less risk alleles (Table 2).

Interactions between GRS and dietary intake on cardiometabolic traits

There were significant interactions between the GRS and protein intake (%) on WC and triglyceride concentrations ($P_{\text{interaction}} = 0.002$ and 0.003, respectively) (Table 3). With low protein intake (13.51 ± 1.18%), carriers of 6 or more risk alleles of SNPs had lower WC and triglyceride concentration compared to carriers of 5 or less risk alleles (P = 0.0118 and 0.002, respectively) (Figs. 1 and 2). A significant interaction between protein intake and GRS was also detected on cholesterol levels ($P_{\text{interaction}} = 0.021$). Moreover, there were no other interactions between nutrient intake and GRS on cardio-metabolic traits.

Associations between individual SNPs and cardiometabolic traits

As shown in supplementary Table 1, Additional File 1, we found that the risk alleles of the three *FTO* SNPs rs9939609, rs8050136 and rs10163409 were associated with higher BMI (P = 0.006, 0.007 and 0.047, respectively). Furthermore, SNPs rs12255372 (*TCF7L2*), rs2237892 (*KCNQ1*) and rs5030952 (*CAPN10*) were associated with increased fasting serum LDL-C concentrations (P = 0.032, 0.039 and 0.04, respectively). A significant association was also found between the risk allele of the SNP rs17782313 (*MC4R*) and higher insulin level (P = 0.036). No significant association was observed between the remaining SNPs and cardiometabolic traits in this population (P > 0.05).

Discussion

The present study aimed to investigate the effects of genetic predisposition and lifestyle factors on cardiometabolic traits in Minangkabau women. In agreement with other studies [39], we have shown that the GRS based on 8 susceptible genes for cardiometabolic diseases is a significant risk factor for higher BMI in our study

	N	Total (<i>N</i> = 111)	N	Non-centrally obese (WC \leq 80 cm) (N = 39)	N	Centrally obese (WC > 80 cm) (<i>N</i> = 71)	P value*
Age (years)	111	40.49 ± 10.18	39	37.08 ± 11.68	71	42.58 ± 8.62	0.012
BMI (kg/m²)	111	25.13 ± 4.2	39	21.85 ± 3.71	71	26.99 ± 3.24	< 0.001
WC (cm)	110	83.85 ± 10.27	39	72.79 ± 6.03	71	89.92 ± 6.26	< 0.001
Glucose (mg/dl)	111	92.53 ± 20.67	39	87.21 ± 9.78	71	95.69 ± 24.29	0.039
Insulin (mIU/L)	111	32,428.5 ± 25, 706.13	39	31,073.79 ± 28,460.35	71	33,374.28 ± 24,368.83	0.657
HbA1c (ng/ml)	111	655.59 ± 601.59	39	629.22 ± 671.07	71	666.42 ± 568.14	0.759
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	111	98.8 ± 43.47	39	78.26 ± 34.19	71	109.72 ± 44.38	< 0.001
Cholesterol (mg/dl)	111	209.31 ± 44.02	39	188.26 ± 30.04	71	221.77 ± 45.74	< 0.001
HDL-C (mg/dl)	111	59.12 ± 10.29	39	60.9 ± 10.45	71	58.14 ± 10.22	0.182
LDL-C (mg/dl)	111	128.12 ± 39.85	39	111.49 ± 25.55	71	138.2 ± 42.65	< 0.001
SBP (mmHg)	111	113.37 ± 9.07	39	110.14 ± 8.83	71	115.05 ± 8.81	0.006
DBP (mmHg)	111	77.44 ± 6.39	39	76.26 ± 8.35	71	78.06 ± 5.01	0.223
Total energy (kcal/ day)	110	1776.24 ± 611.43	39	1789.55 ± 604.31	70	1755.6 ± 613.59	0.781
Carbohydrate intake (%)	110	53.97 ± 9.44	39	52.67 ± 7.86	70	54.91 ± 10.1	0.235
Protein intake (%)	110	16.93 ± 3.32	39	17.13 ± 2.93	70	16.76 ± 3.54	0.579
Fat intake (%)	110	28.95 ± 7.99	39	30.05 ± 6.87	70	28.16 ± 8.45	0.235
Dietary fibre (g)	110	8.78 ± 4.29	39	9.11 ± 4.52	70	8.56 ± 4.19	0.521
SFA (g)	110	20.84 ± 11.22	39	21.77 ± 10.81	70	20.07 ± 11.35	0.447
MUFA (g)	110	8.18 ± 4.6	39	9.00 ± 5.08	70	7.62 ± 4.18	0.129
PUFA (g)	110	6.32 ± 3.5	39	6.67 ± 3.06	70	6.14 ± 3.76	0.541
MET (min/week)	111	1311.89 ± 1877.78	39	1114.87 ± 1625.95	71	1428.45 ± 2016.27	0.407
GRS	110	5.09 ± 2.07	39	4.77 ± 2.01	71	5.31 ± 2.03	0.189
Physical activity levels	44	Sedentary (39.64%)	18	Sedentary (46.15%)	26	Sedentary (36.62%)	0.616
	55	Moderate (49.55%)	17	Moderate (43.59%)	37	Moderate (52.11%)	
	12	Vigorous (10.81%)	4	Vigorous (10.26%)	8	Vigorous (11.27%)	

Table 1 Anthropometric and biochemical characteristics of the study participants

Data presented as means ± SD for continuous variables and as percentages for categorical variables

BMI body mass index, WC waist circumference, HbA1C glycated haemoglobin A1c, HDL-C high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-C low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, SBP systolic blood pressure, DBP diastolic blood pressure, SFA saturated fatty acids, MUFA monounsaturated fatty acids, PUFA polyunsaturated fatty

acids, MET metabolic equivalent of task, GRS genetic risk score

*P values for the differences in the means and proportions between non-centrally obese and centrally obese individuals were calculated using the independent t test and the Chi-squared test, respectively

sample and might be a useful tool in characterising Minangkabau women at high risk for obesity. We found that women carrying 6 or more alleles had significantly higher BMI compared to those carrying 5 or less risk alleles. Furthermore, we found a significant interaction between the GRS and dietary protein intake (%) on WC and triglyceride levels, where, among those who consumed a low protein diet (mean intake \pm SD 13.51 \pm 1.18%), individuals, despite carrying more than 6 risk alleles, had significantly lower WC and triglyceride levels. Given that Minangkabau women have a high risk of dyslipidemia [9] and the prevalence of common and central obesity is high among this ethnic group [10], it is important to develop effective strategies targeting these conditions to improve public health.

It has been suggested that centrally obese participants defined as normal weight based on BMI had the worst long-term survival even when compared with their overweight and obese counterparts [40]. In addition, recent data from 42,702 European participants reported that central obesity is associated with higher mortality risk even in normal-weight individuals [41]. This is of concern for Asian populations, where increased levels of visceral adiposity are observed in those with normal BMIs [42–44]. Furthermore, the combination of increased WC along with elevated triglyceride levels has been

	$\text{GRS} \leq 5$	(N = 69)	GRS > 5	(N = 42)	P value*
	N	Mean ± SE	N	Mean ± SE	
BMI (kg/m ²)	69	24.52 ± 0.52	42	26.14 ± 0.6	0.018
WC (cm)	68	84.28 ± 1.22	42	83.16 ± 1.66	0.334
Log glucose (mg/dl)	69	93.65 ± 2.98	42	90.69 ± 1.72	0.327
Log insulin (mIU/L)	69	32,365.29 ± 3199.95	42	32,532.33 ± 3782.96	0.196
Log HbA1C (ng/ml)	69	650.58 ± 71.1	42	663.81 ± 96.65	0.527
Log triglycerides (mg/dl)	69	101.07 ± 5.27	42	95.07 ± 6.67	0.142
Log cholesterol (mg/dl)	69	212.88 ± 5.59	42	203.43 ± 6.11	0.228
Log HDL-C (mg/dl)	69	58.55 ± 1.26	42	60.05 ± 1.56	0.404
Log LDL-C (mg/dl)	69	131.84 ± 4.97	42	122 ± 5.73	0.197
Log SBP (mmHg)	69	113.12 ± 1.08	42	113.77 ± 1.43	0.679
Log DBP (mmHg)	69	77.59 ± 0.86	42	77.2 ± 0.76	0.535

Table 2 Associations between GRS and cardiometabolic traits

BMI body mass index, WC waist circumference, HbA1C glycated haemoglobin A1c, HDL-C high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-C low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, SBP systolic blood pressure, DBP diastolic blood pressure

*P values obtained from linear regression analysis adjusted for age, residential area and additionally for BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables

previously defined as the 'hypertriacylglycerolaemic waist' phenotype [45]. Studies have shown that individuals with this phenotype have an increased risk of higher visceral adiposity, CVD, insulin resistance and other related outcomes [45]. Therefore, targeting this phenotype will have significant public health implications in terms of reducing NCD mortality in Asian populations.

In the present study, the average protein intake was 77 \pm 37 g/day, which exceeded the recommended dietary protein daily allowance of 57–59 g/day for Indonesian women [46, 47]. Observational studies have shown that higher protein intake was significantly associated with increases in body weight, BMI and fat mass [48–50]. These results are in contrast to the finding from

intervention studies, which have shown that high protein intake enhances weight loss and provides a better longterm maintenance of reduced intra-abdominal fat stores [37, 51]. These inconsistencies might be attributed to the sample size, genetic heterogeneity and gene-lifestyle interactions. Cross-sectional studies have demonstrated the association of several SNPs with obesity-related traits [52–55], and interaction of these SNPs with dietary intake of protein on weight change [56–58]. It has been shown that high protein diets can modulate the genetic effect of *FTO* variants on body weight, BMI and WC [59–61]. According to a 2-year weight loss intervention programme, carriers of the risk allele 'A' of the *FTO* SNP rs1558902 had a greater reduction in weight and

Table 3 Interactions between GRS and lifestyle factors on cardio-metabolic traits

	Carbohydrate (%)	Protein (%)	Fat (%)	Fibre (g)	Physical activity
BMI (kg/m²)	0.961	0.282	0.721	0.876	0.362
WC (cm)	0.224	0.002	0.577	0.614	0.297
Log glucose (mg/dl)	0.882	0.751	0.732	0.833	0.106
Log insulin (mIU/L)	0.336	0.341	0.48	0.216	0.909
Log HbA1C (ng/ml)	0.766	0.638	0.935	0.162	0.626
Log triglycerides (mg/dl)	0.066	0.003	0.355	0.262	0.479
Log cholesterol (mg/dl)	0.081	0.021	0.261	0.583	0.308
Log HDL-C (mg/dl)	0.978	0.905	0.984	0.323	0.540
Log LDL-C (mg/dl)	0.266	0.337	0.431	0.896	0.721
Log SBP (mmHg)	0.156	0.291	0.208	0.872	0.644
Log DBP (mmHg)	0.966	0.815	0.732	0.292	0.743

Data are P values obtained from linear regression analysis adjusted for age, residential area and BMI when BMI is not an outcome. The analysis was performed on log-transformed variables

BMI body mass index, *WC* waist circumference, *HbA1C* glycated haemoglobin A1c, *HDL-C* high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, *LDL-C* low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, *SBP* systolic blood pressure, *DBP* diastolic blood pressure



regional fat compared to non-carriers when high protein diets were consumed, whereas an opposite genetic effect was found on changes in fat distribution in response to a low-protein intake [60]. However, studies investigating the joint effect of genetic variants have reported conflicting results [62–64], indicating that the influence of genetic predisposition on changes in body weight and WC does not seem to be modulated by protein intake. In contrast, the present study provides evidence for GRSprotein intake interactions on WC and triglyceride concentrations, and these interactions were independent of potential confounding effects. We found that participants with 6 or more risk alleles who consumed a low protein diet (mean intake \pm SD 13.51 \pm 1.18%) had significantly lower WC and triglyceride concentrations compared to those with 5 or less risk alleles. This



difference in the findings across the studies might be due to differences in the sample size, methods used to construct GRSs (weighted vs. unweighted) and the number of SNPs included in the GRSs.

The observed interaction between GRS and dietary protein on WC and triglyceride concentrations might be driven by the source of protein consumed, which has not been analysed in our study. Different protein sources have different effects on body weight and fat mass, and the mechanisms behind this are still very speculative and need more investigation. The higher intake of protein from animal sources (protein from red and processed meat and poultry) was found to be associated with an increase in body weight in both genders, with a stronger association in women [49]. Diet rich in animal protein might reflect the western pattern diet characterised by high red meat consumption, which has shown to be associated with weight gain [65]. In contrast, a study has shown that protein from meat is associated with lower weight gain because it produces a higher 24-h energy expenditure compared to soy protein [66]. This hypothesis is, however, based on a mechanistic study, and it is still unknown whether this applies in the long run to individuals of the free-living populations. Furthermore, it has been suggested that consuming protein from dairy sources may prevent weight gain and promote abdominal fat loss [67]. Here, the suggested mechanism primarily relates to the high content of calcium, which may function synergistically in combination with bioactive compounds, such as angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and the rich concentration of branched-chain amino acids [67]. While the above-mentioned studies failed to explore the genetic aspects, our study did not investigate the type of protein that was consumed by the participants; hence, future studies examining the effect of both factors are required.

In agreement with some studies [62, 63], no interactions were detected between GRS and dietary intake of protein, fat and carbohydrate on BMI in the present study. However, a study in the European population (N = 48,170 adults) has shown that the joint effect of 93 obesity-related SNPs on BMI might be modulated by the intake of total energy, fat and saturated fat [64]. Furthermore, studies have shown that an obesogenic diet and physical inactivity with relatively high intake of sugar-sweetened beverages and prolonged television watching might exaggerate the effect of genetic factors on adiposity [18, 68]. Even though several studies have demonstrated that physical activity could attenuate the combined genetic influence of multiple SNPs on BMI and obesity risk [18, 69, 70], no such interactions were detected in the present study.

The strengths of our study include the use of a well-defined population, a validated SQ-FFQ [23] and a genetic risk score generated from the 15 genetic variants associated with cardiometabolic traits. Also, the main exposures investigated in our study were collected by well-trained staff and using validated and standardised operating procedures. Howthere are limitations that need to ever. acknowledged. Although our analysis was adjusted for several factors, the potential for confounding by unmeasured or unknown factors exist. Even though our study has a small sample size, we were still able to find significant associations and interactions suggesting that our study is well powered. Even though food intake was assessed using validated methods, recall bias and measurement errors in these selfreported FFQs cannot be fully eliminated, which could alter the true underlying interactions between dietary and genetic factors on cardiometabolic traits [71, 72]. Finally, our study was restricted to Minangkabau women, and it is unknown whether our findings could be generalised to men or other demographic or ethnic groups.

Conclusion

In the present study, we have shown a significant effect of the GRS on WC and triglyceride levels through the influence of a low protein intake, where individuals with a high genetic susceptibility can overcome the risk of higher WC and triglyceride levels by consuming a low protein diet. These findings are potentially relevant for public health; however, future trials in both genders with larger sample size and objective measures of protein intake, such as urinary nitrogen, are needed to confirm these findings.

Supplementary information

Supplementary information accompanies this paper at https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12263-020-00678-w.

Additional file 1:. Supplementary Table 1 Associations between individual SNPs and cardiometabolic traits.

Acknowledgements

We thank all study participants for their cooperation. Dr Karani S Vimaleswaran acknowledges support from the Ministry of Higher Education of Saudi Arabia for the scholarship given to Ms. Sooad Alsulami.

Authors' contributions

SA and ASA performed the statistical analyses and data interpretation; SA and KSV drafted the manuscript; KSV and ASA carried out data collection; KSV designed the nutrigenetics study; NIL, FFY and KSV conceived, supervised and designed the study; UA and SRS contributed to data collection, monitoring and evaluation of participants, and project administration; NT was involved in data collection and dietary data analysis; IRS conducted the laboratory analysis; NIL and JAL critically reviewed the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This research was funded by the British Council Newton Fund Researcher Links Travel Grant: 2016-RLTG7-10215.

Availability of data and materials

The datasets used and/or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The MINANG study was conducted according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethical Review Committee of the Medical Faculty, Andalas Univesity (No.311/KEP/FK/2017). All participants gave their written informed consent before participating.

Consent for publication

The consent for publication has been obtained from all the participants.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹Department of Clinical Nutrition, Faculty of Applied Medical Sciences, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia. ²Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition, Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences, University of Reading, PO Box 226, Whiteknights, Reading RG6 6AP, UK. ³Postgraduate Department of Biomedical Science, Faculty of Medicine, Andalas University, Padang, West Sumatra, Indonesia. ⁴Department of Nutrition, Faculty of Health Science, Universitas Alma Ata, Yogyakarta, Indonesia. ⁵Public Health Department, Faculty of Medicine, Andalas University, Padang, Indonesia. ⁶Department of Child Health, Faculty of Medicine, Andalas University, Padang, Indonesia. ⁷Institute for Cardiovascular and Metabolic Research (ICMR), University, Padang, Indonesia. ⁹Department of Nutrition, Faculty of Medicine, Andalas University, Padang, Indonesia.

Received: 5 December 2019 Accepted: 30 September 2020 Published online: 12 October 2020

References

- Leal J, Luengo-Fernandez R, Gray A, Petersen S, Rayner M. Economic burden of cardiovascular diseases in the enlarged European Union. Eur Heart J. 2006;27(13):1610–9.
- World Health Organization: Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) (2015). www. who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs317/en/index.html. Accessed 31 May 2019.
- 3. Soewondo P, Ferrario A, Tahapary DL. Challenges in diabetes management in Indonesia: a literature review. Glob Health. 2013;9:63.
- International Diabetes Federation: IDF diabetes atlas. 6th ed. (2013). https:// diabetesatlas.org/. Accessed 31 May 2019.
- Dans A, Ng N, Varghese C, Tai ES, Firestone R, Bonita R. The rise of chronic non-communicable diseases in Southeast Asia: time for action. Lancet (London, England). 2011;377(9766):680–9.
- World Health Organization: Indonesia noncommunicable diseases country profile (2010). http://www.who.int/nmh/countries/idn_en.pdf. Accessed 31 May 2019.
- Herningtyas EH, Ng TS. Prevalence and distribution of metabolic syndrome and its components among provinces and ethnic groups in Indonesia. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1):377.
- 8. Ratna Djuwita P, Sudijanto Kamso, Nutrients intake pattern of a Minangkabau ethnic group. MAKARA, KESEHATAN, 2003;7(1).
- Hatma RD. Lipid profiles among diverse ethnic groups in Indonesia. Acta Med Indones. 2011;43(1):4–11.
- Desmawati DS, Yuniar Lestari, Ulya Uti Fasrini, Afriwardi. Fat intake is associated with nutritional status in Minangkabau adult women: a crosssectional study. PakJNutr. 2019;18:387-90.
- Angkurawaranon C, Jiraporncharoen W, Chenthanakij B, Doyle P, Nitsch D. Urban environments and obesity in Southeast Asia: a systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression. PLoS One. 2014;9(11):e113547.
- Mboi N, Murty Surbakti I, Trihandini I, Elyazar I, Houston Smith K, Bahjuri Ali P, et al. On the road to universal health care in Indonesia, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2016. Lancet (London, England). 2018;392(10147):581–91.

- Cho YS, Chen CH, Hu C, Long J, Ong RT, Sim X, et al. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies identifies eight new loci for type 2 diabetes in east Asians. Nat Genet. 2011;44(1):67–72.
- Kim YJ, Go MJ, Hu C, Hong CB, Kim YK, Lee JY, et al. Large-scale genomewide association studies in east Asians identify new genetic loci influencing metabolic traits. Nat Genet. 2011;43(10):990–5.
- Unoki H, Takahashi A, Kawaguchi T, Hara K, Horikoshi M, Andersen G, et al. SNPs in KCNQ1 are associated with susceptibility to type 2 diabetes in east Asian and European populations. Nat Genet. 2008;40(9):1098–102.
- Wu Y, Gao H, Li H, Tabara Y, Nakatochi M, Chiu YF, et al. A meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies for adiponectin levels in east Asians identifies a novel locus near WDR11-FGFR2. Hum Mol Genet. 2014;23(4):1108–19.
- 17. Dudbridge F. Polygenic epidemiology. Genet Epidemiol. 2016;40(4):268-72.
- Qi Q, Qi L. Sugar-sweetened beverages, genetic risk, and obesity. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(3):286–7.
- Huls A, Kramer U, Carlsten C, Schikowski T, Ickstadt K, Schwender H. Comparison of weighting approaches for genetic risk scores in geneenvironment interaction studies. BMC Genet. 2017;18(1):115.
- 20. Vimaleswaran KS. Gene–nutrient interactions on metabolic diseases: findings from the GeNuIne collaboration. Nutr Bull. 2017;42(1):80–6.
- Surendran S, Aji AS, Ariyasra U, Sari SR, Malik SG, Tasrif N, et al. A nutrigenetic approach for investigating the relationship between vitamin B12 status and metabolic traits in Indonesian women. J Diabetes Metab Disord. 2019:1–11.
- Pan WH, Yeh WT. How to define obesity? Evidence-based multiple action points for public awareness, screening, and treatment: an extension of Asian-Pacific recommendations. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2008;17(3):370–4.
- Lipoeto NI, Agus Z, Oenzil F, Wahlqvist M, Wattanapenpaiboon N. Dietary intake and the risk of coronary heart disease among the coconutconsuming Minangkabau in West Sumatra, Indonesia. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2004;13(4):377–84.
- Kemenkes R. Buku Foto Makanan Survei Konsumsi Makanan Individu (SKMI-2014). Hipokrate: Jakarta; 2016.
- Willett WC, Howe GR, Kushi LH. Adjustment for total energy intake in epidemiologic studies. Am J Clin Nutr. 1997;65(4 Suppl):12205–8S discussion 9S-31S.
- Armstrong T, Bull F. Development of the World Health Organization global physical activity questionnaire (GPAQ). J Public Health. 2006;14(2):66–70.
- Apalasamy YD, Ming MF, Rampal S, Bulgiba A, Mohamed Z. Association of melanocortin-4 receptor gene polymorphisms with obesity-related parameters in Malaysian Malays. Ann Hum Biol. 2013;40(1):102–6.
- Chang YC, Liu PH, Yu YH, Kuo SS, Chang TJ, Jiang YD, et al. Validation of type 2 diabetes risk variants identified by genome-wide association studies in Han Chinese population: a replication study and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2014;9(4):e95045.
- Croteau-Chonka DC, Marvelle AF, Lange EM, Lee NR, Adair LS, Lange LA, et al. Genome-wide association study of anthropometric traits and evidence of interactions with age and study year in Filipino women. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2011, 19(5):1019–27.
- Illangasekera YA, Kumarasiri RP, Fernando DJ, Dalton CF. Association of FTO and near MC4R variants with obesity measures in urban and rural dwelling Sri Lankans. Obes Res Clin Pract. 2016;10(Suppl 1):S117–s24.
- Ji MJ, Ku EJ, Oh TK, Jeon HJ. Association of adiponectin 45 T/G polymorphism with diabetic cardiovascular complications in Korean type 2 diabetes. J Korean Med Sci. 2018;33(17):e124.
- Kaur H, Badaruddoza B, Bains V, Kaur A. Genetic association of ADIPOQ gene variants (-3971A>G and +276G>T) with obesity and metabolic syndrome in north Indian Punjabi population. PLoS One. 2018;13(9):e0204502.
- Kommoju UJ, Maruda J, Kadarkarai Samy S, Irgam K, Kotla JP, Reddy BM. Association of IRS1, CAPN10, and PPARG gene polymorphisms with type 2 diabetes mellitus in the high-risk population of Hyderabad, India. Journal of Diabetes. 2014;6(6):564–73.
- Lee YH, Kang ES, Kim SH, Han SJ, Kim CH, Kim HJ, et al. Association between polymorphisms in SLC30A8, HHEX, CDKN2A/B, IGF2BP2, FTO, WFS1, CDKAL1, KCNQ1 and type 2 diabetes in the Korean population. J Hum Genet. 2008;53(11-12):991–8.
- Ramya K, Radha V, Ghosh S, Majumder PP, Mohan V. Genetic variations in the FTO gene are associated with type 2 diabetes and obesity in south Indians (CURES-79). Diabetes Technol Ther. 2011;13(1):33–42.
- Vasan SK, Fall T, Neville MJ, Antonisamy B, Fall CH, Geethanjali FS, et al. Associations of variants in FTO and near MC4R with obesity traits in south Asian Indians. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2012;20(11):2268–77.
- 37. Aller EE, Larsen TM, Claus H, Lindroos AK, Kafatos A, Pfeiffer A, et al. Weight loss maintenance in overweight subjects on ad libitum diets with high or

low protein content and glycemic index: the DIOGENES trial 12-month results. International Journal of Obesity (2005). 2014;38(12):1511-7.

- World Health Organization: Waist circumference and waist-hip ratio report of a WHO expert consultation (2011). https://www.who.int/nutrition/ publications/obesity/WHO_report_waistcircumference_and_waisthip_ratio/ en/. Accessed 22 April 2019.
- Vimaleswaran KS, Loos RJ. Progress in the genetics of common obesity and type 2 diabetes. Expert Rev Mol Med. 2010;12:e7.
- Sahakyan KR, Somers VK, Rodriguez-Escudero JP, Hodge DO, Carter RE, Sochor O, et al. Normal-weight central obesity: implications for total and cardiovascular mortality. Ann Intern Med. 2015;163(11):827–35.
- 41. Hamer M, O'Donovan G, Stensel D, Stamatakis E. Normal-weight central obesity and risk for mortality. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(12):917–8.
- 42. Deurenberg-Yap M, Chew SK, Deurenberg P. Elevated body fat percentage and cardiovascular risks at low body mass index levels among Singaporean Chinese, Malays and Indians. Obesity Rev. 2002;3(3):209–15.
- McKeigue PM, Shah B, Marmot MG. Relation of central obesity and insulin resistance with high diabetes prevalence and cardiovascular risk in south Asians. Lancet (London, England). 1991;337(8738):382–6.
- Wang J, Thornton JC, Russell M, Burastero S, Heymsfield S, Pierson RN Jr. Asians have lower body mass index (BMI) but higher percent body fat than do whites: comparisons of anthropometric measurements. Am J Clin Nutr. 1994;60(1):23–8.
- 45. Tanko LB, Bagger YZ, Qin G, Alexandersen P, Larsen PJ, Christiansen C. Enlarged waist combined with elevated triglycerides is a strong predictor of accelerated atherogenesis and related cardiovascular mortality in postmenopausal women. Circulation. 2005;111(15):1883–90.
- Nutritional adequacy rate (AKG) (2013). https://bohmks.blogspot.com/2014/ 01/angka-kecukupan-gizi-akg-2013.html. Accessed 13 Nov 2019.
- WFP/FAO: Modeling the future of Indonesian food consumption (2018). https://www.wfp.org/publications/wfpfao-modeling-future-indonesian-foodconsumption-june-2018. Accessed 13 Nov 2019.
- Ankarfeldt MZ, Gottliebsen K, Angquist L, Astrup A, Heitmann BL, Sorensen TI. Dietary protein and urinary nitrogen in relation to 6-year changes in fat mass and fat-free mass. International journal of obesity (2005). 2015;39(1):162-8.
- Halkjaer J, Olsen A, Overvad K, Jakobsen MU, Boeing H, Buijsse B, et al. Intake of total, animal and plant protein and subsequent changes in weight or waist circumference in European men and women: the Diogenes project. International journal of obesity (2005). 2011;35(8):1104-13.
- Vergnaud AC, Norat T, Mouw T, Romaguera D, May AM, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, et al. Macronutrient composition of the diet and prospective weight change in participants of the EPIC-PANACEA study. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e57300.
- Due A, Toubro S, Skov AR, Astrup A. Effect of normal-fat diets, either medium or high in protein, on body weight in overweight subjects: a randomised 1-year trial. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2004;28(10):1283–90.
- Heid IM, Jackson AU, Randall JC, Winkler TW, Qi L, Steinthorsdottir V, et al. Meta-analysis identifies 13 new loci associated with waist-hip ratio and reveals sexual dimorphism in the genetic basis of fat distribution. Nat Genet. 2010;42(11):949–60.
- Loos RJ, Lindgren CM, Li S, Wheeler E, Zhao JH, Prokopenko I, et al. Common variants near MC4R are associated with fat mass, weight and risk of obesity. Nat Genet. 2008;40(6):768–75.
- Scuteri A, Sanna S, Chen WM, Uda M, Albai G, Strait J, et al. Genome-wide association scan shows genetic variants in the FTO gene are associated with obesity-related traits. PLoS Genet. 2007;3(7):e115.
- Thorleifsson G, Walters GB, Gudbjartsson DF, Steinthorsdottir V, Sulem P, Helgadottir A, et al. Genome-wide association yields new sequence variants at seven loci that associate with measures of obesity. Nat Genet. 2009;41(1):18–24.
- Fisher E, Meidtner K, Angquist L, Holst C, Hansen RD, Halkjaer J, et al. Influence of dietary protein intake and glycemic index on the association between TCF7L2 HapA and weight gain. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012;95(6):1468–76.
- Larsen LH, Angquist L, Vimaleswaran KS, Hager J, Viguerie N, Loos RJ, et al. Analyses of single nucleotide polymorphisms in selected nutrient-sensitive genes in weight-regain prevention: the DIOGENES study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012;95(5):1254–60.
- Stocks T, Angquist L, Hager J, Charon C, Holst C, Martinez JA, et al. TFAP28 -dietary protein and glycemic index interactions and weight maintenance after weight loss in the DiOGenes trial. Hum Hered. 2013;75(2-4):213–9.
- 59. de Luis DA, Aller R, Izaola O, Primo D, Urdiales S, Romero E. Effects of a high-protein/low-carbohydrate diet versus a standard hypocaloric diet on

weight and cardiovascular risk factors: role of a genetic variation in the rs9939609 FTO gene variant. J Nutrigenet Nutrigenomics. 2015;8(3):128–36.

- Zhang X, Qi Q, Zhang C, Smith SR, Hu FB, Sacks FM, et al. FTO genotype and 2-year change in body composition and fat distribution in response to weight-loss diets: the POUNDS LOST trial. Diabetes. 2012;61(11):3005–11.
- 61. Merritt DC, Jamnik J, El-Sohemy A. FTO genotype, dietary protein intake, and body weight in a multiethnic population of young adults: a crosssectional study. Genes Nutr. 2018;13:4.
- Ankarfeldt MZ, Larsen SC, Angquist L, Husemoen LL, Roswall N, Overvad K, et al. Interaction between genetic predisposition to adiposity and dietary protein in relation to subsequent change in body weight and waist circumference. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e110890.
- Rukh G, Sonestedt E, Melander O, Hedblad B, Wirfalt E, Ericson U, et al. Genetic susceptibility to obesity and diet intakes: association and interaction analyses in the Malmo diet and cancer study. Genes Nutr. 2013;8(6):535–47.
- 64. Celis-Morales CA, Lyall DM, Gray SR, Steell L, Anderson J, Iliodromiti S, et al. Dietary fat and total energy intake modifies the association of genetic profile risk score on obesity: evidence from 48 170 UK Biobank participants. International journal of obesity (2005). 2017;41(12):1761-8.
- Schulze MB, Fung TT, Manson JE, Willett WC, Hu FB. Dietary patterns and changes in body weight in women. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2006;14(8):1444–53.
- Mikkelsen PB, Toubro S, Astrup A. Effect of fat-reduced diets on 24-h energy expenditure: comparisons between animal protein, vegetable protein, and carbohydrate. Am J Clin Nutr. 2000;72(5):1135–41.
- 67. Zemel MB. The role of dairy foods in weight management. J Am Coll Nutr. 2005;24(6 Suppl):537 s–46 s.
- Li S, Zhao JH, Luan J, Ekelund U, Luben RN, Khaw KT, et al. Physical activity attenuates the genetic predisposition to obesity in 20,000 men and women from EPIC-Norfolk prospective population study. PLoS medicine. 2010;7(8).
- Kilpelainen TP, Qi L, Brage S, Sharp SJ, Sonestedt E, Demerath E, et al. Physical activity attenuates the influence of FTO variants on obesity risk: a meta-analysis of 218,166 adults and 19,268 children. PLoS Med. 2011;8(11):e1001116.
- Qi Q, Li Y, Chomistek AK, Kang JH, Curhan GC, Pasquale LR, et al. Television watching, leisure time physical activity, and the genetic predisposition in relation to body mass index in women and men. Circulation. 2012;126(15):1821–7.
- Rimm EB, Giovannucci EL, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Litin LB, Willett WC. Reproducibility and validity of an expanded self-administered semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire among male health professionals. Am J Epidemiol. 1992;135(10):1114–26 discussion 27-36.
- Willett WC, Sampson L, Stampfer MJ, Rosner B, Bain C, Witschi J, et al. Reproducibility and validity of a semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire. Am J Epidemiol. 1985;122(1):51–65.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions





International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition



ISSN: (Print) (Online) Journal homepage: https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/iijf20

FTO gene–lifestyle interactions on serum adiponectin concentrations and central obesity in a Turkish population

Kubra Isgin-Atici , Sooad Alsulami , Busra Turan-Demirci , Shelini Surendran , Suleyman Nahit Sendur , Incilay Lay , Erdem Karabulut , Basma Ellahi , Julie A. Lovegrove , Mehmet Alikasifoglu , Tomris Erbas , Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran & Zehra Buyuktuncer

To cite this article: Kubra Isgin-Atici , Sooad Alsulami , Busra Turan-Demirci , Shelini Surendran , Suleyman Nahit Sendur , Incilay Lay , Erdem Karabulut , Basma Ellahi , Julie A. Lovegrove , Mehmet Alikasifoglu , Tomris Erbas , Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran & Zehra Buyuktuncer (2020): *FTO* gene–lifestyle interactions on serum adiponectin concentrations and central obesity in a Turkish population, International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition, DOI: <u>10.1080/09637486.2020.1802580</u>

To link to this article: https://doi.org/10.1080/09637486.2020.1802580



Published online: 04 Aug 2020.

C	
L	01
~	

Submit your article to this journal 🕝

Article views: 79

1	
k	\mathbf{O}
	5

View related articles 🗹



View Crossmark data 🗹

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Taylor & Francis

Check for updates

FTO gene–lifestyle interactions on serum adiponectin concentrations and central obesity in a Turkish population

Kubra Isgin-Atici^a*, Sooad Alsulami^{b,c}*, Busra Turan-Demirci^a, Shelini Surendran^b, Suleyman Nahit Sendur^d, Incilay Lay^{e,f} , Erdem Karabulut^{g,h}, Basma Ellahiⁱ, Julie A. Lovegrove^b, Mehmet Alikasifoglu^{j,k}, Tomris Erbas^d, Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran^b* and Zehra Buyuktuncer^a*

^aDepartment of Nutrition and Dietetics, Faculty of Health Sciences, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey; ^bDepartment of Food and Nutritional Sciences, University of Reading, Whiteknights, Reading, UK; ^cDepartment of Clinical Nutrition, Faculty of Applied Medical Sciences, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia; ^dDepartment of Endocrinology and Metabolism, School of Medicine, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey; ^eDepartment of Medical Biochemistry, School of Medicine, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey; ^eDepartment of Medical Biochemistry, School of Medicine, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey; ^fClinical Pathology Laboratory, Hacettepe University Hospitals, Ankara, Turkey; ^gDepartment of Biostatistics, School of Medicine, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey; ^hDepartment of Bioinformatics, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey; ⁱFaculty of Health and Social Care, University of Chester, Chester, UK; ^jDepartment of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, Hacettepe University Ankara, Turkey; ^kGenetics Diagnostic Centre, DAMAGEN, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

The aim of the study was to investigate whether lifestyle factors modify the association between fat mass and obesity-associated (*FTO*) gene single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and obesity in a Turkish population. The study included 400 unrelated individuals, aged 24-50 years recruited in a hospital setting. Dietary intake and physical activity were assessed using 24-hour dietary recall and self-report questionnaire, respectively. A genetic risk score (GRS) was developed using *FTO* SNPs, rs9939609 and rs10163409. Body mass index and fat mass index were significantly associated with *FTO* SNP rs9939609 (p = 0.001 and p = 0.002, respectively) and GRS (p = 0.002 and p = 0.003, respectively). The interactions between SNP rs9939609 and physical activity on adiponectin concentrations, and SNP rs10163409 and dietary protein intake on increased waist circumference were statistically significant ($P_{interaction} = 0.027$ and $P_{interaction} = 0.044$, respectively). Our study has demonstrated that the association between *FTO* SNPs and central obesity might be modified by lifestyle factors in this Turkish population.

ARTICLE HISTORY

Received 11 May 2020 Revised 7 July 2020 Accepted 23 July 2020

KEYWORDS

FTO gene variant; obesity; gene-diet interaction; adiponectin; genetic risk score; physical activity

Introduction

Obesity has been recognised as a worldwide public health problem due to its rising prevalence and concomitant health problems. The prevalence of overweight and obesity in Turkey were reported as 64.4% and 28.8%, respectively, by WHO (2018). Obesity can lead to other chronic diseases including type 2 diabetes (T2D), cardiovascular diseases (CVD), hypertension, cancer and osteoarthritis (Forse et al. 2020). A combination of interactions between genetic and environmental factors is required for the development of a complex disease such as obesity (Franks and McCarthy 2016; Milagro et al. 2020). Studies have identified approximately 140 genes to be associated with obesity, and the fat mass and obesity-associated (*FTO*) gene has been reported to be the strongest susceptibility gene for human obesity (Pigeyre et al. 2016).

The *FTO* gene is located on chromosome 16q12.2 and codes for a protein with 2-oxoglutarate dependent nucleic acid demethylase activity which is involved in DNA repair and the accumulation of fat in the body (Clifton et al. 2006; Chen and Du 2019). *FTO* is highly expressed in the brain, including the hypothalamus, adipocytes, pancreatic islet cells, and adrenal glands (Frayling et al. 2007). *FTO* gene has been suggested to control energy homeostasis and food intake (Abete et al. 2020). Previous studies have shown that, of the various obesity susceptibility genes, singlenucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) located in the first intron of *FTO* gene has provided the strongest evidence for genetic predisposition to obesity (Frayling et al. 2007; Scuteri et al. 2007; Speliotes et al. 2010;

CONTACT Zehra Buyuktuncer Zehra Buyuktuncer zehra Buyuktuncer zehra Buyuktuncer beatten in the period of Nutrition and Dietetics, Faculty of Health Sciences, Hacettepe University, 06230, Ankara, Turkey; Vimaleswaran Karani Santhanakrishnan v.karani@reading.ac.uk Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences, University of Reading, PO Box 226, Whiteknights, ReadingRG6 6AP, UK. *These authors contributed equally to this work.

These dutions contributed equally to a

 $[\]ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2020 Taylor & Francis Group, LLC

Loos and Yeo 2014; Babenko et al. 2019; Fonseca et al. 2020). The minor allele "A" of the FTO SNP rs9939609 has been consistently associated with higher BMI in various populations (Frayling et al. 2007; Hertel et al. 2011; Peng et al. 2011; Corella et al. 2012; Li et al. 2012; Qi et al. 2014; Wang et al., 2020; Schlauch et al. 2020). Furthermore, a meta-analysis reported that the association between the SNP rs9939609 and BMI was replicated in 13 cohorts with 38,759 participants, where individuals with the "AA" genotype had 1.67-time higher odds of obesity than those with the "TT" genotype (Frayling et al. 2007). In the Turkish population, the risk alleles of the FTO rs1421085 and rs9939609 polymorphisms were shown to have significant associations with the risk of obesity in women and metabolic syndrome (MetS) in men (Guclu-Geyik et al. 2016).

Turkish adults are characterised with low levels of total and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and high risk of CVD, that distinguish them from Europeans (Onat 2001). They have also increased susceptibility to impaired glucose tolerance and MetS primarily driven by obesity (Onat and Can 2014). Among the non-communicable diseases (NCDs) that accounted for 88.0% of deaths in Turkey, CVD has shown to contribute to 47.73% of overall deaths (WHO, 2018). Targeting modifiable risk factors for NCDs including obesity could prevent many deaths. Therefore, several health promotion campaigns such as "Reducing Portion Sizes" and "Move for Health" have been implemented for the prevention of obesity in Turkey (WHO 2016; OECD 2017). However, obesity is a multifactorial disorder, and identifying geneenvironment interactions are needed to understand the aetiology and pathophysiology of obesity and also to develop more effective personalised preventative strategies (Castillo et al. 2017; Dahlman and Rydén 2020). To date, several FTO-dietary intake interactions on obesity-related outcomes have been examined in different populations (Grau et al. 2009; Sonestedt et al. 2009; Lappalainen et al. 2012; Ortega-Azorin et al. 2012; Phillips et al. 2012; Vimaleswaran et al. 2012; Qi et al. 2014; Merritt et al. 2018; Saber-Ayad et al. 2019); however, there are no such studies to date in a Turkish population. The investigations of the gene-diet interactions in different ethnic groups are crucial to develop personalised nutrition strategies for each ethnic group due to the genetic heterogeneity (Vimaleswaran 2017). The FTO SNP rs9939609 has been associated with several dietary components including dietary protein intake (Lappalainen et al. 2012; Qi et al. 2014; Merritt et al. 2018) and the SNP

rs10163409 in *FTO* was among the top associations in a large genome-wide meta-analysis study (GWAS) for total caloric intake (Chu et al. 2013). Therefore, this study aimed to assess whether *FTO* variants, rs9939609 and rs10163409, are associated with obesity in 400 Turkish individuals and to determine whether these SNPs interact with dietary intake and physical activity on obesity outcomes.

Materials and methods

Study population

A total of 400 unrelated individuals, aged 24-50 years, were recruited from the outpatient clinic of Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism at the Hacettepe University Hospitals, Ankara, Turkey. This study was conducted as part of the GeNuIne Collaboration that investigates the interactions between genetic and dietary factors on metabolic diseases in different ethnic groups (Vimaleswaran 2017). The study participants were screened based on the following inclusion criteria: (1) routine visits to the outpatient clinic, (2) aged 18-50 years, and (3) having a BMI $\geq 18.50 \text{ kg/m}^2$. The exclusion criteria were: (1) having specific health problems including, liver and kidney diseases, mental and psychological disorders, history of cancer, and serious endocrine disorders (hypothyroidism, hyperthyroidism or hypopituitarism), (2) history of bariatric surgery, (3) being pregnant or lactating, (4) using drugs that affect body weight. Researchers informed and invited the eligible participants for their participation in to the study. The study was approved by the local ethics committee of Hacettepe University (GO 15/612-11), and all the participants provided the signed written consent.

Study design

A cross-sectional case-control study design was used, where participants were divided into two groups: obese (BMI $\geq 25.00 \text{ kg/m}^2$, n = 200) and non-obese (BMI = 18.50–24.99 kg/m², n = 200). All participants underwent a physical examination by the research endocrinologists, followed by clinical, biochemical and lifestyle assessments, and genetic analysis of *FTO* SNPs rs9939609 and rs10163409.

Anthropometrical measurements

Body weight and height were measured by standard methods using a calibrated digital scale (Seca 220 Scale, Germany). BMI calculation was based on the body weight (in kilograms) divided by the square of height (in meter) (WHO 2020). BMI classification of the WHO was used to classify the individuals as nonobese (BMI $< 25.00 \text{ kg/m}^2$) and obese (BMI \geq 25.00 kg/m²) (WHO 2005). The waist circumference (WC) was measured by a standard method (WHO, 2011). Increased WC (central obesity) was defined based on cut-points established for Turkish adults (WC \geq 90 cm for men / \geq 80 cm for women) (Sonmez et al. 2013). Body composition was analysed by bioelectrical impedance using the Tanita MC-980 MA Multi Frequency Segmental Body Composition Analyser (USA). Fat mass index (FMI) was calculated based on the fat mass (kg) divided by the square of height (in meter) (Peltz et al. 2010). All anthropometrical measurements were taken by the research dieticians.

Biochemical and clinical measures

Serum adiponectin was analysed by ELISA kits (Ebioscience, Austria) at Hacettepe University Hospitals, Clinical Pathology Laboratory. The physical examination included the measurement of systolic (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) using a stethoscope and sphygmomanometer in the right arm of the participants after sitting in a comfortable position in a quiet room for at least 15 min. Both blood pressures were measured twice at 5-minute intervals and recorded on average (Frese et al. 2011).

Dietary assessment

Dietary intake was assessed using 24-hour dietary recall method that was carried out by trained research dieticians. A photographic atlas of food portion sizes and common household measures were used to facilitate the quantification of the amount of food consumed. Total energy, macro- and micronutrient intakes of participants were analysed from the records using BeBIS software (BeBIS, Nutrition Information System, Version 8).

Other lifestyle factors

The socio-demographic characteristics, family and medical history, smoking and alcohol consumption were recorded. The physical activity level was assessed using the Turkish version of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) (Saglam et al. 2010).

SNPs selection and genotyping

FTO gene was selected based on its consistent and strong associations with obesity traits in large-scale GWASs (Frayling et al. 2007). The SNP rs9939609 is the most commonly studied variant and consistently associated with obesity phenotypes across multiple ethnicities (Frayling et al. 2007; Hertel et al. 2011; Peng et al. 2011; Corella et al. 2012; Li et al. 2012; Loos and Yeo 2014; Qi et al. 2014) and SNP rs10163409 has been shown to be associated with dietary energy intake from macronutrients (Chu et al. Therefore, FTO SNPs, rs9939609 and 2013). rs10163409, which have been shown to be associated with obesity traits and dietary intake in large GWASs, were genotyped. The genotype frequencies of the FTO rs9939609 and rs10163409, SNPs, were in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium (p > 0.05).

The genomic DNA was extracted from the whole blood in K2EDTA containing tubes by the salting out method. Genotyping of the SNPs, rs9939609 and rs10163409, were performed using KASP assay (a competitive allele-specific polymerase chain reaction that incorporates a fluorescent resonance energy transfer quencher cassette), and the KASP primers were designed using Kraken software system (LGC, https://www.lgcgroup.com). Genotyping assays were carried out according to the manufacturer's instructions with a 7500 Real time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). The following thermal cycling profile were used: 15 min at 94 °C; 10 cycles of 20 s at 94 °C, 60 s at 61 °C with decrement -0.6 °C/per cycle and 26 cycles of 20 s at 94 °C, 60 s at 55 °C; 60 s at 37 °C.

Statistical analysis

SPSS software (version 23.0) was used for statistical analysis. The Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium was assessed using the χ^2 goodness-of-fit test. Genotype frequencies and distribution in groups were compared using Pearson's chi-squared test. Continuous variables are presented as means and standard deviations (SD), and groups were compared using the independent *t*-test.

As the number of individuals with rare homozygous genotypes was low, a dominant model was used, where common homozygous genotypes were compared to combined rare homozygous and heterozygous genotypes. A genetic risk score (GRS) was created from both the *FTO* SNPs where the presence of one risk allele of any of the variants was scored as one point. This GRS ranged from 0 (homozygous individuals for non-risk alleles) to 4 points (homozygous individuals for the risk alleles of both *FTO* polymorphisms). The GRS variable was then categorised into two groups based on the number of points; 1st group: individuals with scores of <2 points; 2nd group: individuals with scores of ≥ 2 points.

The independent and joint effects of FTO SNPs on the risk of obesity were assessed using the odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) that were calculated by logistic regression models. Also, the associations between FTO polymorphisms (separately and joint) and the continuous outcomes were tested using general linear models. Models were adjusted for age, gender, hypertension, CVD and obesity status wherever appropriate. Furthermore, FTO gene-environment interactions on continuous and categorical outcomes were tested using linear and logistic regression models, respectively. Interactions were investigated by including the interaction terms (e.g. carbohydrate*genotype) in the regression models. Environmental factors that were investigated included dietary intake (carbohydrate, protein, fibre and fat intakes in grams/day) and physical activity. Furthermore, statistically significant interactions were investigated in more depth, where individuals were stratified by the tertiles of the lifestyle factor.

Results

Characteristics of the participants

Obese individuals were older, and had higher BMI, WC and FMI and lower adiponectin levels than the controls (p < 0.001, for each). The cases and controls were not statistically different in terms of their food intake and physical activity levels (p > 0.05) (Table 1).

Associations between FTO variants and obesityrelated traits

Genotype distributions and minor allele frequencies (MAFs) for both SNPs are shown in Table 2. The MAFs of the SNPs, rs10163409 and rs9939609, were T = 0.37 and A = 0.39, respectively. The associations between SNP rs9939609 and BMI (p = 0.001) and FMI (p = 0.002) were found significant where the "A" (AT/ AA) allele carriers had significantly higher BMI and FMI than "TT" homozygotes (Table 3). Furthermore, "A" allele carriers had significantly higher WC (p = 0.007) and lower adiponectin levels (p = 0.031) compared to non-carriers. The *FTO* SNP rs10163409 did not show any significant association with obesity traits (Table 3).

Interactions between FTO variants and dietary intake on obesity-related traits

FTO gene-dietary protein intake interactions

The significant interactions between SNP rs10163409 and protein intake on the risk of increased WC $(P_{\text{interaction}} = 0.044)$ and WC as a continuous variable $(P_{\text{interaction}} = 0.007)$ were observed. Stratification of the dietary protein intake into tertiles showed that, in the highest tertile group with a mean ± SD of 138 ± 38 g/day protein intake, "T" allele carriers of the SNP rs10163409 had a significantly higher risk of central obesity [OR = 3.3 (95% CI: 1.149–9.478), p = 0.027] than those with "AA" genotype (Figure 1).

Interactions between FTO variants and physical activity on obesity-related traits

The interaction between the SNP rs9939609 and physical activity levels on adiponectin concentrations was statistically significant ($P_{\text{interaction}} = 0.027$), where, among those with lowest levels of physical activity, the adiponectin concentrations were significantly lower in the allele "A" carriers compared to individuals with "TT" genotype (p = 0.006) (Figure 2).

Associations between GRS and obesityrelated traits

The GRS was significantly associated with BMI (p=0.002), FMI (p=0.003) and increased WC (p=0.02) (Figures 3(a-c)). However, the interactions between GRS and lifestyle factors on obesity traits were not found statistically significant.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study that has investigated the interaction between FTO SNPs and dietary intake on obesity traits in a Turkish population. This study has identified the associations of the FTO SNP rs9939609 and GRS with obesity traits, and also showed that the physical activity level can modify the effect of the minor allele "A" of the FTO SNP rs9939609 on adiponectin concentrations, a biomarker of metabolic syndrome (Stojanovic et al. 2015). Furthermore, our study has demonstrated that the higher protein intake was associated with a higher risk of central obesity among the "T" allele carriers of the FTO SNP rs10163409 compared to non-carriers. Since Turkish adults have a sedentary lifestyle (WHO 2018), our findings contribute to the development of effective public health strategies focussing on the prevention

		Non-obese	a			Obese			
	Total (N=200)	Men (N = 100)	Women ($N = 100$)	p value *	Total ($N = 200$)	Men (N = 108)	Women ($N = 92$)	p value st	<i>p</i> value**
Age (year)	33.29 ± 6.83	32.64±6.04	33.93 ± 7.51	0.182	36.37±7	36.09 ± 6.78	36.68±7.27	0.552	<0.001
BMI (kg/m ²)	22.56 ± 1.78	22.83 ± 1.73	22.3 ± 1.79	0.035	29.04 ± 3.38	28.8 ± 3.22	29.33 ± 3.55	0.274	<0.001
WC (cm)	80.68 ± 7.96	85.62 ± 6.52	75.75 ± 5.98	<0.001	95.49 ± 9.84	99.41 ± 8.15	90.89 ± 9.7	<0.001	<0.001
FMI	5.12 ± 1.69	3.97 ± 1.16	6.27 ± 1.31	<0.001	8.72 ± 2.79	7.3 ± 2.16	10.39 ± 2.52	<0.001	<0.001
Adiponectin (ng/ml)	11880.63 ± 6838.36	9095.15 ± 4929.39	14666.11 ± 7350.18	< 0.001	9115.13 ± 5766.48	6716.49 ± 3777.58	11930.93 ± 6410.41	<0.001	<0.001
Energy (kcal/day)	2416.44 ± 1064.1	2888.13 ± 1155.72	1944.76 ± 700.65	< 0.001	2365.08 ± 1012.1	2728.68 ± 1057.45	1938.23 ± 764.28	<0.001	0.621
Protein (g)	91.34 ± 42.91	106.32 ± 46.98	76.37 ± 32.27	< 0.001	87.55 ± 43.81	97.85 ± 50.48	75.45 ± 30.44	<0.001	0.382
Fat (g)	105.31 ± 48	119.48 ± 51.92	91.15 ± 39.13	<0.001	100.8 ± 51.56	113.32 ± 56.41	86.1 ± 40.84	<0.001	0.366
Carbohydrate (g)	270.28 ± 142.83	339.26 ± 157.55	201.29 ± 81.06	<0.001	271.34 ± 128.5	322.74 ± 132.03	211 ± 93.78	<0.001	0.938
Fibre (g)	23.49 ± 10.65	26.71 ± 11.66	20.27 ± 8.43	<0.001	24.03 ± 11.59	26.59 ± 12.84	21.04 ± 9.13	0.001	0.627
SFA (g)	31.13 ± 15.25	33.67 ± 16.56	28.58 ± 13.42	0.018	29.66 ± 16.2	31.87 ± 17.87	27.07 ± 13.64	0.036	0.352
MUFA (g)	35.58 ± 17.78	39.88 ± 19.57	31.27 ± 14.68	0.001	35.12 ± 20.23	39.71 ± 22.78	29.72 ± 15.17	<0.001	0.809
PUFA (g)	28.79 ± 17.35	34.88 ± 19.04	22.7 ± 12.95	<0.001	27.02 ± 16.51	31.57 ± 17.9	21.67 ± 12.88	<0.001	0.296
PAL levels n (%)				0.617					
Sedentary	153 (76.5)	78 (78)	75 (75)		165 (82.5)	90 (83.3)	75 (81.5)		
Active	47 (23.5)	22 (22)	25 (25)		35 (17.5)	18 (16.7)	17 (18.5)	0.737	0.137
BMI: Body Mass Index;	WC:Waist Circumference;	; FMI: Fat Mass Index; SI	FA: Saturated fatty acids;	MUFA: Monou	insaturated fatty acids;	PUFA: Polyunsaturated fa	tty acids; PAL: Physical	activity level. Va	lues are pre-
sented as mean ± SD an	nd percentages.								
*p values obtained fron	n independent t-test and	l chi square tests compa	ring continuous and cate	gorical variable	is between men and wo	omen within obese and n	on-obese categories.		
** p values obtained fr	om independent t-test an	nd chi square tests com	paring continuous and ca	itegorical variak	oles between total obes	ie and total non-obese.	ŀ		

able 1. Anthropometric and biochemical characteristic of the study participants.

and management of central obesity and CVD in the Turkish population (IHME 2017).

This study has shown that the risk allele "A" of the FTO SNP rs9939609 was significantly associated with higher BMI and FMI, in agreement with the findings from other populations (Frayling et al. 2007; Do et al. 2008; Hertel et al. 2011; Peng et al. 2011; Corella et al. 2012; Li et al. 2012; Muc et al. 2015; Merra et al. 2020). A meta-analysis performed on 177,330 individuals from multiple ethnicities have demonstrated an association between FTO rs9939609 genotype and BMI, suggesting a higher BMI in "A" allele carriers (effect per allele = $0.30 [0.30, 0.35] \text{ kg/m}^2$, $P = 3.6 \times 10^{-107}$) (Qi et al. 2014). The reported FTOrelated genetic associations with BMI have also been confirmed in a study in the Turkish population (Guclu-Geyik et al. 2016), where the FTO risk allele, "C", carriers of the SNP rs1421085, which is in a high-linkage disequilibrium (LD) (D' = 0.967, $r^2 = 0.85$) with the SNP rs9939609, had significantly increased BMI. Furthermore, parallel to the findings of other studies (Vimaleswaran et al. 2012; De Luis et al. 2016; Saucedo et al. 2017), we have also found that the FTO SNP rs9939609 was significantly associated with higher WC and lower adiponectin concentrations. On the contrary, there was no significant association between SNP rs10163409 and obesity. This could be explained by the fact that the SNP rs10163409 is not in LD with other FTO variants that have shown significant associations with BMI (Chu et al. 2013).

Our study has provided evidence for gene-diet interaction in the Turkish population. We have demonstrated that, among those in the highest tertile of dietary protein intake, the risk of increased WC/central obesity was higher for the minor allele, "T", carriers of the FTO SNP rs10163409 compared to those with AA genotype. To date, this is the first study analysing gene-diet interactions of the SNP rs10163409, suggesting that high intake of dietary protein might negatively affect WC in genetically susceptible individuals. However, studies investigating other FTO SNPs (rs1558902 and rs9939609) have reported conflicting results (Zhang et al. 2012; de Luis et al. 2015; Merritt et al. 2018). It has been suggested that following a high protein diet can modulate the genetic effect of FTO variants on obesity traits (Zhang et al. 2012; de Luis et al. 2015; Merritt et al. 2018). According to a 2year weight loss intervention programme, carriers of the risk allele "A" of the FTO rs1558902 had a greater weight loss compared to non-carriers when high protein diets were consumed, whereas a negative genetic

effect was found in response to a low-protein intake (Huang et al. 2014). The potential mechanism of FTO variants - protein intake interaction is still unclear, however, the regulation of food intake and appetite could be influenced. It has been found that the risk allele "A" of the SNP rs9939609 was significantly associated with a greater reduction in food cravings and appetite scores among individuals who consumed high-protein diet but not in those in the low-protein diet (Huang et al. 2014). Regarding the SNP rs9939609, there were no significant interactions between the FTO variants and any of the dietary components on obesity traits. In agreement with our findings, a study of 11,091 adults from five Europeans countries have found no interactions between the rs9939609 variant and the dietary intake of carbohydrate, glycaemic index, protein or fat on BMI, WC, weight gain and risk of obesity (Vimaleswaran et al. 2012). Furthermore, a meta-analysis of 40 populationbased studies reported that the total energy or macronutrient intakes had no effect on the association between the SNP rs9939609 and BMI (Qi et al. 2014). In contrast to our finding, a few large-scale studies

 Table 2. Genotype frequencies of FTO SNPs among cases and controls.

	Non-obese	Obese	Total	*p value
FTO rs9939609 SN	Р			
Additive n (%)				0.217
TT	77 (38.5)	61 (30.5)	138 (34.5)	
AT	99 (49.5)	115 (57.5)	214 (53.5)	
AA	24 (12)	24 (12)	48 (12)	
Dominant n (%)				0.092
TT	77 (38.5)	61 (30.5)	138 (34.5)	
AT + AA	123 (61.5)	139 (69.5)	262 (65.5)	
HWE	0.36	0.007	0.011	
MAF	0.37	0.41	0.39	
FTO rs10163409 S	NP			
Additive n (%)				0.772
AA	85 (42.5)	79 (39.5)	164 (41)	
AT	88 (44)	90 (45)	178 (44.5)	
TT	27 (13.5)	31 (15.5)	58 (14.5)	
Dominant n (%)				0.542
AA	85 (42.5)	79 (39.5)	164 (41)	
TA + TT	115 (57.5)	121 (60.5)	236 (59)	
HWE	0.58	0.525	0.392	
MAF	0.36	0.38	0.37	

MAF: Minor Allele Frequency; HWE: Hardy–Weinberg Equilibrium. *p values obtained from Pearson's chi-squared test comparing genotype frequencies between cases and control. demonstrated significant interactions between dietary macronutrient intakes and FTO variants in determining BMI (Grau et al. 2009; Sonestedt et al. 2009; Corella et al. 2011; Lappalainen et al. 2012; Ortega-Azorin et al. 2012; Phillips et al. 2012). A cross-sectional study conducted on 4839 Swedish participants reported an association between the risk allele of the SNP rs9939609 and higher BMI only in individuals with high fat and low carbohydrate consumption (Sonestedt et al. 2009). A similar interaction between the rs9939609 variant and saturated fatty acids (SFA) intake has been detected in 2163 individuals from two independent populations of the United States, where individuals homozygous for the risk allele "AA" had a higher BMI compared to other genotypes, only when the intake of SFA was high (Corella et al. 2011). Furthermore, the FTO SNP rs8050136, in LD with rs9939609, significantly interacted with carbohydrate



Figure 1. Interactions of the *FTO* rs10163409 with tertiles of protein intake (g) on increased WC. Black bars implicate the "T" allele carriers (TA + TT). *FTO* SNP rs10163409 showed a significant interaction with protein intake (g) on the risk of increased WC ($P_{\text{interaction}} = 0.044$). Among those in the highest tertile of protein intake (mean ± SD: 138 ± 38 g/day), the minor 'T' allele carriers of the SNP rs10163409 had a significantly higher risk of increased WC [OR= 3.3 (95% CI: 1.149–9.478), p = 0.027] than those carrying 'AA' genotype. WC: Waist Circumference. *Odds ratio adjusted for age, gender, hypertension, cardiovascular diseases, total energy intake and obesity status.

		FTO rs9939609			FTO rs10163409	
	TT	AT + AA	*p value	AA	TA + TT	*p value
	(n = 138)	(n = 262)		(<i>n</i> = 164)	(n = 236)	
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.81 ± 3.65	26.33 ± 4.41	0.001	25.49 ± 4.03	26.02 ± 4.34	0.212
FMI	6.23 ± 2.61	7.29 ± 3.02	0.002	6.72 ± 2.57	7.06 ± 3.15	0.251
WC (cm)	86.08 ± 10.62	89.14 ± 11.99	0.007	87.26 ± 11.47	88.66 ± 11.7	0.234
Adiponectin (ng/ml)	11,306.18±7130.97	10,072.14 ± 6059.63	0.031	10,865.59±6526.36	10,242.35 ± 6427.19	0.377

BMI: Body Mass Index; WC: Waist Circumference; FMI: Fat Mass Index. Values are presented as mean ± SD.

*p values obtained from linear regression analysis adjusted for gender, age, hypertension, cardiovascular diseases and obesity status.

intake on obesity risk among Asian Indian population (Vimaleswaran et al. 2016).

Regarding genetic interactions with physical activity, a previous study conducted among 200 Turkish adults found that BMI was higher in homozygous risk allele "A" carriers of the SNP rs9939609 than the homozygote the "T" allele carriers among physically inactive individuals (Kirac et al. 2016). The same interaction but on a biochemical measure of obesity



Figure 2. Interactions between *FTO* rs9939609 variant and physical activity on adiponectin levels. White bars indicate carriers of "TT" genotype. Black bars implicate the risk allele, "A", carriers (AT + AA). The regression model was adjusted for age, gender, hypertension, cardiovascular diseases and obesity status. There was a significant interaction between the *FTO* SNP rs9939609 and physical activity on adiponectin levels ($P_{\text{interaction}} = 0.027$), where, among those with low physical activity levels, carriers of the "A" allele had significantly lower adiponectin levels compared to those with "TT" genotype (p = 0.006).

(i.e., adiponectin level), rather than BMI, was replicated in our study using a larger sample size. We found that, among those with lowest levels of physical activity, the adiponectin concentrations were significantly lower in the carriers of the risk allele "A" of the FTO rs9939609 than "TT" homozygotes. Adiponectin is a hormone produced and secreted by adipose tissue and commonly known for its antihyperglycemic, anti-inflammatory, antiatherogenic, and cardioprotective effects (Richard et al. 2020; Esmaili et al. 2020; Lee and Shao 2014). Studies have reported a strong correlation between the dysregulation of adipokine production and the onset of several metabolic abnormalities including CVD and cancer (Avogaro and de Kreutzenberg 2005; De Pergola and Silvestris 2013; Xiang et al. 2019). The positive correlation between adiponectin levels and physical activity has been demonstrated in several studies (St-Pierre et al. 2006; Jurimae et al. 2010; Sirico et al. 2018), where higher levels of physical activity have been shown to reduce adiposity which decreases the production of insulin and leptin, and increases adiponectin production (Nurnazahiah et al. 2016). Indeed, it has been reported that serum concentrations of adiponectin are inversely related to BMI, visceral body fat and blood concentrations of glucose, insulin, and triglycerides (De Rosa et al. 2013; Frithioff-Bøjsøe et al. 2020). An intervention study conducted in 400 obese women showed that a weight reduction programme resulted in a significant increase in adiponectin levels (Mavri et al. 2011). Given that this is the first study to report an interaction between FTO variant and physical



Genetic Risk Score (rs993609 and rs10163409)

Figure 3. Association between the genetic risk score of the *FTO* SNPs, rs9939609 and rs10163409s and anthropometric measures of obesity. BMI: Body Mass Index; FMI: Fat Mass Index; WC: Waist Circumference. White bars: means of individuals with genetic risk score (GRS) of <2 risk alleles. Black bars: means of individuals with GRS of \geq 2 risk alleles. The GRS was significantly associated with BMI (a), FMI (b) and WC (c). (a) Carriers of \geq 2 risk alleles of the *FTO* variants (rs9939609 and rs10163409) had higher BMI (P = 0.002) compared to individuals carrying <2 risk alleles. (b) Carriers of \geq 2 risk alleles of the *FTO* variants (rs9939609 and rs10163409) had higher BMI (rs9939609 and rs10163409) had higher FMI (P = 0.003) compared to individuals carrying <2 risk alleles. (c) Carriers of \geq 2 risk alleles of the *FTO* variants (rs9939609 and rs10163409) had higher WC (P = 0.020) compared to individuals carrying <2 risk alleles. (c) Carriers of \geq 2 risk alleles. *p* values were obtained from linear regression analysis and adjusted for age, gender, hypertension, cardiovascular diseases and obesity status.

activity on adiponectin concentrations, the findings need to be replicated in a larger Turkish cohort.

The main strengths of this study include the use of a biochemical marker of obesity (i.e., adiponectin) and a well-characterised population. Nevertheless, there are some limitations which include the small sample size and the use of self-reported measurements in the assessment of dietary intake and physical activity. However, this study has still confirmed the associations between FTO SNP rs9939609 and obesity traits which were also reported in previous studies (Frayling et al. 2007; Hertel et al. 2011; Peng et al. 2011; Corella et al. 2012; Li et al. 2012; Merra et al. 2020; Schlauch et al. 2020). Given that obesity is a multifactorial condition, several genetic factors and lifestyle behaviours provide a predisposition to obesity; even though we have focussed on the two important lifestyle factors, diet and physical activity, only two genetic variants were examined. However, to date, the FTO gene has been shown to be the strongest susceptibility gene for common obesity (Frayling et al. 2007; Scuteri et al. 2007; Speliotes et al. 2010; Loos and Yeo 2014). Furthermore, the cross-sectional design of this study limits the proof of causality. Even though our analysis was adjusted for several confounders, we cannot rule out the residual confounding caused by unknown factors. Therefore, the observed interactions needed to be confirmed in further studies with larger sample sizes.

Conclusion

In summary, this study has confirmed the associations between the risk allele "A" of the FTO rs9939609 and GRS, with obesity-related traits including BMI and FMI in this Turkish population. Our study suggests that the impact of the FTO polymorphisms, rs10163409 and rs9939609, on obesity among Turkish adults might be affected by dietary protein intake and physical activity levels, respectively, suggesting that increased consumption of protein-rich foods and sedentary lifestyle could possibly increase the genetic risk of central obesity. Our results provide significant public health implications, given that the rising prevalence of central obesity is a major public health problem in Turkey (Pekcan et al. 2018; WHO 2018). Further studies with large sample size and objective measures of environmental factors are required to provide a better understanding of how these variants interact with lifestyle factors to develop effective prevention and treatment strategies for obesity.

Acknowledgments

We thank all study participants for their cooperation. Dr Karani S Vimaleswaran acknowledges support from the British Nutrition Foundation, and also from the Ministry of Higher Education of Saudi Arabia for the scholarship given to Sooad Alsulami. Dr Buyuktuncer acknowledges the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) and Council of Higher Education of Turkey for the scholarship given to Kubra Isgin-Atici. The preliminary results of the study were presented at the Nutrition Society Spring Conference in 1–2 April 2019.

Disclosure statement

No potential conflict of interest was reported by the author(s).

Funding

This work was supported by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) under Grant 216S272.

ORCID

Incilay Lay (b) http://orcid.org/0000-0002-1466-5746

References

- Abete I, Navas-Carretero S, Zulet MA, Martinez JA. 2020. Genetic regulation of energy homeostasis: obesity implications. In: Caterina RDE, Martinez JA, Kohlmeier M, editors. Principles of nutrigenetics and nutrigenomics. London and Oxford (UK); San Diego (CA) and Cambridge (MA): Academic Press; p. 175–180.
- Avogaro A, de Kreutzenberg SV. 2005. Mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction in obesity. Clin Chim Acta. 360(1-2):9-26.
- Babenko V, Babenko R, Gamieldien J, Markel A. 2019. *FTO* haplotyping underlines high obesity risk for European populations. BMC Med Genomics. 12(Suppl 2):46.
- Castillo JJ, Orlando RA, Garver WS. 2017. Gene-nutrient interactions and susceptibility to human obesity. Genes Nutr. 12:29.
- Chen J, Du B. 2019. Novel positioning from obesity to cancer: *FTO*, an m(6)A RNA demethylase, regulates tumour progression. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 145(1):19–29.
- Chu AY, Workalemahu T, Paynter NP, Rose LM, Giulianini F, Tanaka T, Ngwa JS, Qi Q, Curhan GC, Rimm EB, et al. 2013. Novel locus including FGF21 is associated with dietary macronutrient intake. Hum Mol Genet. 22(9):1895–1902.
- Clifton IJ, McDonough MA, Ehrismann D, Kershaw NJ, Granatino N, Schofield CJ. 2006. Structural studies on 2oxoglutarate oxygenases and related double-stranded beta-helix fold proteins. J Inorg Biochem. 100(4): 644–669.

- Corella D, Arnett DK, Tucker KL, Kabagambe EK, Tsai M, Parnell LD, Lai CQ, Lee YC, Warodomwichit D, Hopkins PN, et al. 2011. A high intake of saturated fatty acids strengthens the association between the fat mass and obesity-associated gene and BMI. J Nutr. 141(12): 2219–2225.
- Corella D, Carrasco P, Sorli JV, Coltell O, Ortega-Azorin C, Guillen M, Gonzalez JI, Saiz C, Estruch R, Ordovas JM. 2012. Education modulates the association of the *FTO* rs9939609 polymorphism with body mass index and obesity risk in the Mediterranean population. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 22(8):651–658.
- Dahlman I, Rydén M. 2020. Gene-environment interaction and individual susceptibility to metabolic disorders. In: Teperino R, Castillo JJ, Orlando RA, Garver WS, editors. Beyond our genes. Switzerland: Springer; p. 81–94.
- De Luis DA, Aller R, Izaola O, Primo D, Romero E. 2016. Association of the rs9939609 gene variant in *FTO* with insulin resistance, cardiovascular risk factor and serum adipokine levels in obese patients. Nutr Hosp. 33(5):573.
- De Luis DA, Aller R, Izaola O, Primo D, Urdiales S, Romero E. 2015. Effects of a high-protein/low-carbohydrate diet versus a standard hypocaloric diet on weight and cardiovascular risk factors: role of a genetic variation in the rs9939609 *FTO* gene variant. J Nutrigenet Nutrigenomics. 8(3):128–136.
- De Pergola G, Silvestris F. 2013. Obesity as a major risk factor for cancer. J Obes. 2013:291546
- De Rosa A, Monaco ML, Capasso M, Forestieri P, Pilone V, Nardelli C, Buono P, Daniele A. 2013. Adiponectin oligomers as potential indicators of adipose tissue improvement in obese subjects. Eur J Endocrinol. 169(1): 37–43.
- Do R, Bailey SD, Desbiens K, Belisle A, Montpetit A, Bouchard C, Perusse L, Vohl MC, Engert JC. 2008. Genetic variants of *FTO* influence adiposity, insulin sensitivity, leptin levels, and resting metabolic rate in the Quebec Family Study. Diabetes. 57(4):1147–1150.
- Esmaili S, Hemmati M, Karamian M. 2020. Physiological role of adiponectin in different tissues: a review. Arc Physiol Biochem. 126(1):67–73.
- Fonseca ACPD, Marchesini B, Zembrzuski VM, Voigt DD, Ramos VG, Carneiro JRI, Nogueira Neto JF, Cabello GMK, Cabello PH. 2020. Genetic variants in the fat mass and obesity-associated (*FTO*) gene confer risk for extreme obesity and modulate adiposity in a Brazilian population. Genet Mol Biol. 643(1):e20180264.
- Forse RA, Betancourt-Garcia MM, Mc K. 2020. Epidemiology and discrimination in obesity. In: Nguyen N, Brethauer S, Morton J, Ponce J, Rosenthal R, editors. The ASMBS textbook of bariatric surgery. New York, NY: Springer; p. 3–14.
- Franks PW, McCarthy MI. 2016. Exposing the exposures responsible for type 2 diabetes and obesity. Science. 354(6308):69–73.
- Frayling TM, Timpson NJ, Weedon MN, Zeggini E, Freathy RM, Lindgren CM, Perry JR, Elliott KS, Lango H, Rayner NW, et al. 2007. A common variant in the *FTO* gene is associated with body mass index and predisposes to childhood and adult obesity. Science. 316(5826):889–894.

- Frese EM, Fick A, Sadowsky HS. 2011. Blood pressure measurement guidelines for physical therapists. Cardiopulm Phys Ther J. 22(2):5–12.
- Frithioff-Bøjsøe C, Lund MAV, Lausten-Thomsen U, Hedley PL, Pedersen O, Christiansen M, Baker JL, Hansen T, Holm J-C. 2020. Leptin, adiponectin, and their ratio as markers of insulin resistance and cardiometabolic risk in childhood obesity. Pediatr Diabetes. 21(2): 194–202.
- Grau K, Hansen T, Holst C, Astrup A, Saris WH, Arner P, Rossner S, Macdonald I, Polak J, Oppert JM, et al. 2009. Macronutrient-specific effect of *FTO* rs9939609 in response to a 10-week randomized hypo-energetic diet among obese Europeans. Int J Obes (Lond)). 33(11): 1227–1234.
- Guclu-Geyik F, Onat A, Yuzbasiogullari AB, Coban N, Can G, Lehtimaki T, Erginel-Unaltuna N. 2016. Risk of obesity and metabolic syndrome associated with *FTO* gene variants discloses clinically relevant gender difference among Turks. Mol Biol Rep. 43(6):485–494.
- Hertel JK, Johansson S, Sonestedt E, Jonsson A, Lie RT, Platou CG, Nilsson PM, Rukh G, Midthjell K, Hveem K, et al. 2011. *FTO*, type 2 diabetes, and weight gain throughout adult life: a meta-analysis of 41,504 subjects from the Scandinavian HUNT, MDC, and MPP studies. Diabetes. 60(5):1637–1644.
- Huang T, Qi Q, Li Y, Hu FB, Bray GA, Sacks FM, Williamson DA, Qi L. 2014. *FTO* genotype, dietary protein, and change in appetite: the preventing overweight using novel dietary strategies trial. Am J Clin Nutr. 99(5): 1126–1130.
- IHME 2017. Measuring what matters [Internet]. The Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; [cited 2020 July 1]. http://www.healthdata.org/turkey.
- Jurimae J, Kums T, Jurimae T. 2010. Plasma adiponectin concentration is associated with the average accelerometer daily steps counts in healthy elderly females. Eur J Appl Physiol. 109(5):823–828.
- Kirac D, Kasimay Cakir O, Avcilar T, Deyneli O, Kurtel H, Yazici D, Kaspar EC, Celik N, Guney AI. 2016. Effects of MC4R, *FTO*, and NMB gene variants to obesity, physical activity, and eating behavior phenotypes. IUBMB Life. 68(10):806–816.
- Lappalainen T, Lindstrom J, Paananen J, Eriksson JG, Karhunen L, Tuomilehto J, Uusitupa M. 2012. Association of the fat mass and obesity-associated (*FTO*) gene variant (rs9939609) with dietary intake in the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. Br J Nutr. 108(10): 1859–1865.
- Lee B, Shao J. 2014. Adiponectin and energy homeostasis. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 15(2):149–156.
- Li H, Kilpeläinen TO, Liu C, Zhu J, Liu Y, Hu C, Yang Z, Zhang W, Bao W, Cha S, et al. 2012. Association of genetic variation in *FTO* with risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes with data from 96,551 East and South Asians. Diabetologia. 55(4):981–995.
- Loos RJF, Yeo GSH. 2014. The bigger picture of FTO: the first GWAS-identified obesity gene. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 10(1):51-61.
- Mavri A, Poredos P, Suran D, Gaborit B, Juhan-Vague I, Poredos P. 2011. Effect of diet-induced weight loss on

endothelial dysfunction: early improvement after the first week of dieting. Heart Vessels. 26(1):31–38.

- Merra G, Gualtieri P, Cioccoloni G, Falco S, Bigioni G, Tarsitano MG, Capacci A, Piccioni A, Costacurta M, Franceschi F, et al. 2020. *FTO* rs9939609 influence on adipose tissue localization in the Italian population. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 24(6):3223–3235.
- Merritt DC, Jamnik J, El-Sohemy A. 2018. *FTO* genotype, dietary protein intake, and body weight in a multiethnic population of young adults: a cross-sectional study. Genes Nutr. 13(1):4.
- Milagro FI, Moreno-Aliaga MJ, Martínez JA. 2020. Nutrients, Obesity and Gene Expression. In: Caterina RDE, Martinez JA, Kohlmeier M, editors. Principles of nutrigenetics and nutrigenomics. Academic Press; p. 431-440.
- Muc M, Padez C, Manco L. 2015. Influence of physical activity on the association between the *FTO* variant rs9939609 and adiposity in young adults. Am J Hum Biol. 27(5):734–738.
- Nurnazahiah A, Lua PL, Shahril MR. 2016. Adiponectin, leptin and objectively measured physical activity in adults: a narrative review. Malays J Med Sci. 23(6):7–24.
- OECD. 2017. Obesity update [Internet]. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development; [cited 2020 July 2]. http://www.oecd.org/health/obesity-update.htm.
- Onat A. 2001. Risk factors and cardiovascular disease in Turkey. Atherosclerosis. 156(1):1–10.
- Onat A, Can G. 2014. Enhanced proinflammatory state and autoimmune activation: a breakthrough to understanding chronic diseases. Curr Pharm Des. 20(4):575–584.
- Ortega-Azorin C, Sorli JV, Asensio EM, Coltell O, Martinez-Gonzalez MA, Salas-Salvado J, Covas MI, Aros F, Lapetra J, Serra-Majem L, et al. 2012. Associations of the *FTO* rs9939609 and the MC4R rs17782313 polymorphisms with type 2 diabetes are modulated by diet, being higher when adherence to the Mediterranean diet pattern is low. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 11:137.
- Pekcan AG, Samur G, Dikmen D, Kızıl M, Rakıcıoğlu N, Yıldız EA, Özel HG, Mercanlıgil SM, Ersoy G, Karaağaoğlu N, et al. 2018. Population based study of obesity in Turkey: results of the Turkey Nutrition and Health Survey (TNHS)-2010. Prog Nutr. 19(3):248–256.
- Peltz G, Aguirre MT, Sanderson M, Fadden MK. 2010. The role of fat mass index in determining obesity. Am J Hum Biol. 22(5):639–647.
- Peng S, Zhu Y, Xu F, Ren X, Li X, Lai M. 2011. FTO gene polymorphisms and obesity risk: a meta-analysis. BMC Med. 9:71–71.
- Phillips CM, Kesse-Guyot E, McManus R, Hercberg S, Lairon D, Planells R, Roche HM. 2012. High dietary saturated fat intake accentuates obesity risk associated with the fat mass and obesity-associated gene in adults. J Nutr. 142(5):824–831.
- Pigeyre M, Yazdi FT, Kaur Y, Meyre D. 2016. Recent progress in genetics, epigenetics and metagenomics unveils the pathophysiology of human obesity. Clin Sci. 130(12): 943–986.
- Qi Q, Kilpeläinen TO, Downer MK, Tanaka T, Smith CE, Sluijs I, Sonestedt E, Chu AY, Renström F, Lin X, et al. 2014. *FTO* genetic variants, dietary intake and body mass

index: insights from 177,330 individuals. Hum Mol Genet. 23(25):6961–6972.

- Richard AJ, White U, Elks CM, Stephens JM. 2020. Adipose tissue: physiology to metabolic dysfunction. Endotext; [cited 2020 July 2]. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK555602/.
- Saber-Ayad M, Manzoor S, Radwan H, Hammoudeh S, Wardeh R, Ashraf A, Jabbar H, Hamoudi R. 2019. The FTO genetic variants are associated with dietary intake and body mass index amongst Emirati population. PLOS One. 14(10):e0223808.
- Saglam M, Arikan H, Savci S, Inal-Ince D, Bosnak-Guclu M, Karabulut E, Tokgozoglu L. 2010. International physical activity questionnaire: reliability and validity of the Turkish version. Percept Mot Skills. 111(1):278–284.
- Saucedo R, Valencia J, Gutierrez C, Basurto L, Hernandez M, Puello E, Rico G, Vega G, Zarate A. 2017. Gene variants in the *FTO* gene are associated with adiponectin and TNF-alpha levels in gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetol Metabol Syndr. 9:32–32.
- Schlauch KA, Read RW, Lombardi VC, Elhanan G, Metcalf WJ, Slonim AD, Grzymski JJ. 2020. A comprehensive genome-wide and phenome-wide examination of BMI and obesity in a Northern Nevadan Cohort. G3 (Bethesda). 10(2):645–664.
- Scuteri A, Sanna S, Chen WM, Uda M, Albai G, Strait J, Najjar S, Nagaraja R, Orru M, Usala G, et al. 2007. Genome-wide association scan shows genetic variants in the *FTO* gene are associated with obesity-related traits. PLOS Genet. 3(7):e115.
- Sirico F, Bianco A, D'Alicandro G, Castaldo C, Montagnani S, Spera R, Di Meglio F, Nurzynska D. 2018. Effects of physical exercise on adiponectin, leptin, and inflammatory markers in childhood obesity: systematic review and meta-analysis. Child Obes. 14(4):207–217.
- Sonestedt E, Roos C, Gullberg B, Ericson U, Wirfalt E, Orho-Melander M. 2009. Fat and carbohydrate intake modify the association between genetic variation in the *FTO* genotype and obesity. Am J Clin Nutr. 90(5): 1418–1425.
- Sonmez A, Bayram F, Barcin C, Ozsan M, Kaya A, Gedik V. 2013. Waist circumference cutoff points to predict obesity, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular risk in Turkish adults. Int J Endocrinol. 2013:767202.
- Speliotes EK, Willer CJ, Berndt SI, Monda KL, Thorleifsson G, Jackson AU, Allen HL, Lindgren CM, Luan J, Mägi R, et al. 2010. Association analyses of 249,796 individuals reveal 18 new loci associated with body mass index. Nat Genet. 42(11):937–948.
- Stojanovic S, Ilic MD, Ilic S, Petrovic D, Djukic S. 2015. The significance of adiponectin as a biomarker in metabolic syndrome and/or coronary artery disease. VSP. 72(9):779–784.
- St-Pierre DH, Faraj M, Karelis AD, Conus F, Henry JF, St-Onge M, Tremblay-Lebeau A, Cianflone K, Rabasa-Lhoret R. 2006. Lifestyle behaviours and components of energy balance as independent predictors of ghrelin and adiponectin in young non-obese women. Diabetes Metab. 32(2):131–139.
- Vimaleswaran KS. 2017. Gene-nutrient interactions on metabolic diseases: findings from the GeNuIne Collaboration. Nutr Bull. 42(1):80–86.

- Vimaleswaran KS, Angquist L, Hansen RD, van der AD, Bouatia-Naji N, Holst C, Tjonneland A, Overvad K, Jakobsen MU, Boeing H, et al. 2012. Association between *FTO* variant and change in body weight and its interaction with dietary factors: the DiOGenes study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 20(8):1669–1674.
- Vimaleswaran KS, Bodhini D, Lakshmipriya N, Ramya K, Anjana RM, Sudha V, Lovegrove JA, Kinra S, Mohan V, Radha V. 2016. Interaction between *FTO* gene variants and lifestyle factors on metabolic traits in an Asian Indian population. Nutr Metab (Lond). 13(1):39.
- Wang D, Wu Z, Zhou J, Zhang X. 2020. Rs9939609 polymorphism of the fat mass and obesity-associated (*FTO*) gene and metabolic syndrome susceptibility in the Chinese population: a meta-analysis. Endocrine. Online ahead of print.
- WHO 2005. Preventing chronic diseases: a vital investment. Geneva: World Health Organization. [Internet]; [cited 2020 July 1]. https://www.who.int/chp/chronic_disease_report/en/.
- WHO. 2011. Waist circumference and waist-hip ratio [Internet]. World Health Organisation Report of a WHO expert consultation. Geneva, 8–11 December 2008; [cited 2020 July 1]. https://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/obesity/WHO_report_waistcircumference_and_waisthip_ratio/en/
- WHO 2016. Turkish healthy nutrition and active life programme 2010–2014 and related initiatives [Internet].

World Health Organisation; [cited 2020 July 2]. https:// www.euro.who.int/en/countries/turkey/publications/turkish-healthy-nutrition-and-active-life-programme-20102014-and-related-initiatives-2016

- WHO. 2018. National household health survey prevalence of noncommunicable disease risk factors in Turkey 2017–2018. [Internet]. World Health Organisation; [cited 2020 July 1]. http://www.euro.who.int/en/countries/turkey/publications/national-household-health-survey-prevalence-of-noncommunicable-disease-risk-factors-in-turkey-2017-2018.
- WHO. 2020. Body mass index-BMI [Internet]. World Health Organisation; [cited 2020 July 2]. http://www. euro.who.int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/nutrition/a-healthy-lifestyle/body-mass-index-bmi].
- Xiang Y, Zhou W, Duan X, Fan Z, Wang S, Liu S, Liu L, Wang F, Yu L, Zhou F, et al. 2019. Metabolic syndrome, and particularly the hypertriglyceridemic-waist phenotype, increases breast cancer risk, and adiponectin is a potential mechanism: a case-control study in Chinese women. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)). 10:905.
- Zhang X, Qi Q, Zhang C, Smith SR, Hu FB, Sacks FM, Bray GA, Qi L. 2012. *FTO* genotype and 2-year change in body composition and fat distribution in response to weight-loss diets: the POUNDS LOST Trial. Diabetes. 61(11):3005–3011.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



A genetic approach to examine the relationship between vitamin B_{12} status and metabolic traits in a South Asian population

S. Surendran¹ · S. Alsulami¹ · R. Lankeshwara² · R. Jayawardena^{3,4} · K. Wetthasinghe⁵ · S. Sarkar^{6,7} · B. Ellahi⁸ · J. A. Lovegrove^{1,9} · D. J. Anthony¹⁰ · Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran^{1,9}

Received: 30 November 2018 / Accepted: 2 May 2019 © The Author(s) 2019

Abstract

Background Observational studies in South Asian populations have suggested an association between vitamin B₁₂ status and metabolic traits; however, the findings have been inconclusive. Hence, the aim of the present study was to use a genetic approach to explore the relationship between metabolic traits and vitamin B₁₂ status in a Sri Lankan population and to investigate whether these relationships were modified by dietary intake.

Methods A total of 109 Sinhalese adults (61 men and 48 women aged 25-50 years) from Colombo City underwent anthropometric and biochemical measurements, dietary intake analysis, and genetic tests. Genetic risk scores (GRS) based on 10 metabolic single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) (metabolic-GRS) and 10 vitamin B₁₂ SNPs (B12-GRS) were constructed.

Results The B12-GRS was significantly associated with serum vitamin B_{12} (p = 0.008) but not with metabolic traits (p > 0.05), whereas the metabolic-GRS had no effect on metabolic traits (p > 0.05) and vitamin B₁₂ concentrations (p > 0.05). An interaction was observed between B12-GRS and protein energy intake (%) on waist circumference (p = 0.002). Interactions were also seen between the metabolic-GRS and carbohydrate energy intake (%) on waist-to-hip ratio (p = 0.015).

Conclusion Our findings suggest that a genetically lowered vitamin B_{12} concentration may have an impact on central obesity in the presence of a dietary influence; however, our study failed to provide evidence for an impact of metabolic-GRS on lowering B₁₂ concentrations. Given that our study has a small sample size, further large studies are required to confirm our findings.

Keywords SNP \cdot Body mass index \cdot Obesity \cdot Metabolic traits \cdot Vitamin B₁₂ pathway \cdot Sinhalese \cdot Sri Lanka \cdot Nutrigenetics

Abbreviations

Ab SN <i>M</i> 7	breviationsPsSingle nucleotide polymorphisms <i>CHFR</i> Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase	CH CU CI	PS1 JBN 0320	Carbamoyl-phosphate synthase 1 Cubulin CD320 molecule
Ele (htt) mat	ctronic supplementary material The online version of this article ps://doi.org/10.1007/s13410-019-00749-8) contains supplementary erial, which is available to authorized users.			
	Karani Santhanakrishnan Vimaleswaran v.karani@reading.ac.uk	6	School Chatha	of Science, University of Greenwich at Medway, m, UK
1	Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition, Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences, University of Reading, PO Box 226, Whiteknights, Reading RG6 6AP, UK	7	Faculty Bourne	of Health and Social Sciences, Bournemouth University, emouth, UK
2	National Hospital of Sri Lanka, Colombo, Sri Lanka	8	Faculty	of Health and Social Care, University of Chester,
3	Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Colombo, Colombo, Sri Lanka	9	Cheste	r, UK
4	Institute of Health and Biomedical Innovation, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia		Univer	sity of Reading, Reading, UK
5	Human Genetics Unit, Faculty of Medicine, University of Colombo, Colombo, Sri Lanka	10	Depart Colom	ment of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, University of bo, Colombo, Sri Lanka

Transcobalamin 2
Citrate lyase beta like
Fucosyltransferase 2
Transcobalamin 1
Fucosyltransferase 6
Methylmalonyl-CoA mutase
Calpain 10
Potassium voltage-gated channel
subfamily J member 11
Transcription factor 7-like 2
Fat mass and obesity-associated
Melanocortin 4 receptor
Body mass index
Standard deviations
Waist circumference
Waist-to-hip ratio

Introduction

In recent years, the incidence of obesity in Sri Lanka has increased markedly [1]. The prevalence of being overweight or obese in Sri Lankan adults is 34.4% (25.2% and 9.2% in 2005 and 2006, respectively), with an upward trend being observed [1, 2]. Obesity increases the risk for certain health conditions, such as insulin resistance, diabetes mellitus, and hypertension [3]. South Asians have been observed to exhibit increased visceral fat and waist circumference (WC), hyperinsulinemia, and insulin resistance; this has been termed the "South Asian phenotype" [4]. Despite a known genetic contribution, the increase in obesity has been largely associated with changes in lifestyle habits [5, 6]. It is imperative that modifiable risk factors for obesity and associated metabolic problems are identified, especially if they can be easily addressed.

Vitamin B_{12} is a micronutrient that has been identified as a modifiable risk factor associated with the progression of metabolic disorders. In humans, vitamin B₁₂ acts as an essential coenzyme involved in DNA synthesis and cellular energy production [7]. Subclinical deficiency of vitamin B_{12} has been linked to higher levels of homocysteine; this may have important consequences in the progression of chronic diseases, by inducing oxidative stress and inflammation [8]. Vitamin B_{12} deficiency has also been linked to many other complications including an increased risk of obesity [9–11], diabetes [12–14], and cardiovascular disease [15]. Currently, one study has investigated the effect of genetically instrumented vitamin B12 concentrations on body mass index (BMI) in individuals with European ancestry; however, there were no associations between the vitamin B₁₂ genetic risk score (GRS) and BMI [16].

Genetic studies have implicated several gene loci in the predisposition to vitamin B_{12} deficiency, but no study has

yet been carried out in the Sri Lankan population [17]. The mechanisms by which obesity and its comorbidities are related to vitamin B_{12} deficiency are poorly understood. Hence, we conducted a gene-based approach to explore the relationship between metabolic traits and vitamin B_{12} status in a Sinhalese cohort and investigated whether these relationships were modified by dietary intake in the Genetics Of Obesity and Diabetes (GOOD) study.

Study participants

The GOOD study is a cross-sectional study that was conducted in the city of Colombo, Sri Lanka, between April and August 2017. Healthy adults between the ages of 25 and 50 years were enrolled into the study. Exclusion criteria were having a previous history of type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, or hypertension, having a BMI of more than 40 kg/m² or being classed morbidly obese by a physician, being blood related to other participants in the study, having any communicable disease, being pregnant or lactating, taking dietary or vitamin supplements, and taking medications that affect lipid metabolism or hypertension (Fig. 1).

Anthropometric measures

Body weight was measured to the nearest 100 g using an electronic scale (Seca 815, Seca GmbH. Co. kg, Germany) and height was measured to the nearest millimeter using a stadiometer (Seca 217, Seca GmbH. Co. kg, Germany). The BMI calculation was based on the body weight (kg) divided by the square of body height (m). Waist circumference and hip circumference were measured using a metal tape (Lufkin W606PM®, Parsippany, NJ, USA). Body fat percentage was estimated using a handheld bioelectrical impedance analysis technique (Omron Body Fat Monitor BF306, Omron, Milton Keynes, UK).

Biochemical analysis

Blood samples (10 ml) were collected by a trained phlebotomist in the morning, after a 12-h overnight fast. Fasting serum insulin and vitamin B_{12} levels were determined using the chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay method on an Architect i1000 analyzer (Abbott Laboratories, IL, USA). Fasting plasma glucose concentrations were measured using the glucose hexokinase method using the Beckman Coulter AU5800 analyzer (Beckman Coulter®, California, USA). Glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) was estimated by highperformance liquid chromatography using the BioRad D10 HPLC analyzer (BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA).



Fig. 1 Flow chart of the subject recruitment process

Dietary intake analysis

Dietary intakes were assessed using a previously validated and published [18] interviewer-administered food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) containing 85 food items. In brief, participants were asked to estimate the usual frequency (number of times per day, week, or month/ never) and the portion sizes of various food items. The recorded data was analyzed with the NutriSurvey 2007 database (EBISpro, Germany) to estimate energy as well as macro- and micronutrient consumption [19].

"The Global Physical Activity Questionnaire" (GPAQ), developed by the World Health Organization (WHO), was used to measure physical activity [20]. Individuals were classified as vigorously active, when they both exercised and engaged in demanding work activities, and moderately active, when the participants either exercised or carried out heavy physical work. The

remaining study participants were classified into the sedentary group.

SNP selection and genotyping

We selected 10 metabolic disease-related single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) (associated with obesity and diabetes) (fat mass and obesity-associated [*FTO*], rs9939609 and rs8050136; melanocortin 4 receptor [*MC4R*], rs17782313 and rs2229616; transcription factor 7-like 2 [*TCF7L2*], rs12255372 and rs7903146; potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily J member 11 [*KCNJ11*], rs5219; calpain 10 [*CAPN10*], rs3792267, rs2975760, and rs5030952) for our analysis based on previously published candidate gene association and genome-wide association (GWA) studies for metabolic disease-related traits [21–29].

The 10 vitamin B_{12} -related SNPs (methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase [*MTHFR*], rs1801133; carbamoyl-phosphate synthase 1 [*CPS1*], rs1047891; cubulin [*CUBN*], rs1801222; CD320 molecule [*CD320*], rs2336573; transcobalamin 2 [*TCN2*], rs1131603; citrate lyase beta like [*CLYBL*], rs41281112; fucosyltransferase 2 [*FUT2*], rs602662; transcobalamin 1 [*TCN1*], rs34324219; fucosyltransferase 6 [*FUT6*], rs778805 and methylmalonyl-CoA mutase [*MUT*], rs1141321) were chosen on the basis of the recent review article by Surendran et al. [17].

Blood samples for the measurement of DNA were transported in dry ice to the UK. Genomic DNA was extracted from a 5-ml whole blood sample from each participant and genotyping was performed at LGC Genomics (http://www. lgcgroup.com/services/genotyping), which employs the competitive allele-specific PCR-KASP® assay.

The Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) p values were computed for the following 20 SNPs. The SNP *FUT2* rs602662 and calpain 10 (*CAP10*) rs3792267 deviated from the HWE; however, these SNPs were not excluded from analysis. The *FUT2* SNP rs602662 previously departed from HWE in a GWA study conducted in India; the authors ruled out that the deviation was not due to a genotyping error and still used this SNP for analysis in their study [30]. In addition, the KASPTM genotyping technology used in our study has been independently assessed to be over 99.8% accurate. Validation of the KASPTM genotyping was conducted at LGC genomics, where the genotyping results were assessed by two project managers separately to confirm that the data was accurate, and this ruled out genotyping artifacts as possible reasons for deviation from HWE. The reasons for deviation from HWE could be due to population or racial grouping substructure (subgrouping), non-random mating, linkage disequilibrium (incomplete mixing of different ancestral population), or chance findings [31].

Statistical analysis

The SPSS statistical package (version 22; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for the statistical analysis. Allele frequencies were estimated by gene counting (Table 1). The normality of variable distribution was verified by the Shapiro-Wilk test, and data not normally distributed were log transformed prior to analysis. We performed an independent *t* test to compare the means of the quantitative variables between men and women. Comparison of the means between the two groups was analyzed by the chi-square test for categorical outcomes.

A schematic representation of the study design is presented in Fig. 2. The unweighted, risk allele GRS method was calculated for each participant as the sum of risk allele counts across each SNP which predicted vitamin B_{12} status or metabolic disease risk. The B12-GRS was generated from the SNPs in

 Table 1
 Genotype distribution of vitamin B₁₂-related SNPs and metabolic disease-related SNPs

Gene	rs number	Major allele	Minor allele	Common Homozygotes (%)	Heterozygotes (%)	Rare Homozygotes (%)	Minor allele frequency	HWE <i>p</i> value
MTHFR	rs1801133	С	Т	89 (81.7)	19 (17.4)	1 (0.9)	0.100	0.990
CPS1	rs1047891	С	А	56 (51.9)	44 (40.7)	8 (7.4)	0.278	0.873
CUBN	rs1801222	С	Т	78 (72.2)	29 (26.9)	1 (0.9)	0.144	0.338
CD320	rs2336573	С	Т	99 (90.8)	10 (9.2)	0 (0)	0.046	0.616
TCN2	rs1131603	Т	С	107 (98.2)	2 (1.8)	0 (0)	0.009	0.923
CLYBL	rs41281112	С	Т	105 (96.3)	4 (3.7)	0 (0)	0.018	0.845
FUT2	rs602662	G	А	60 (55.6)	30 (27.8)	18 (16.7)	0.306	0.000
TCNI	rs34324219	С	А	107 (98.2)	2 (1.8)	0 (0)	0.009	0.923
FUT6	rs778805	С	Т	29 (26.6)	53 (48.6)	27 (24.8)	0.491	0.776
MUT	rs1141321	G	А	28 (25.7)	60 (55.0)	21 (19.3)	0.470	0.271
CAPN10	rs3792267	G	А	79 (72.5)	24 (22.0)	6 (5.5)	0.165	0.035
CAPN10	rs2975760	Т	С	66 (60.6)	38 (34.9)	5 (4.6)	0.220	0.874
CAPN10	rs5030952	С	Т	101 (92.7)	8 (7.3)	0 (0)	0.037	0.691
KCNJ11	rs5219	С	Т	49 (45.0)	45 (41.3)	15 (13.8)	0.344	0.373
TCF7L2	rs12255372	G	Т	57 (52.3)	45 (41.3)	7 (6.4)	0.271	0.633
TCF7L2	rs7903146	С	Т	45 (41.3)	54 (49.5)	10 (9.2)	0.340	0.274
FTO	rs9939609	Т	А	48 (44.0)	47 (43.1)	14 (12.8)	0.344	0.641
MCR	rs17782313	Т	С	48 (44.0)	50 (45.9)	11 (10.1)	0.330	0.700
FTO	rs8050136	С	А	48 (44.0)	47 (43.1)	14 (12.8)	0.340	0.641
MC4R	rs2229616	G	А	99 (91.7)	9 (8.3)	0 (0)	0.042	0.651

MAF minor allele frequency, HWE Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, χ^2 chi-squared value



Fig. 2 Diagram representing the study design. The diagram shows four possible associations and four possible interactions. One-sided arrows with unbroken lines represent genetic associations and one-sided arrows with broken lines represent interactions between a lifestyle factor and GRS on serum vitamin B_{12} /metabolic traits. We tested the association

the genes MTHFR, CPS1, CUBN, CD320, TCN2, CLYBL, FUT2, TCN1, FUT6, and MUT, which have been shown to be associated with vitamin B₁₂ concentrations. Furthermore, another unweighted GRS was created using allele markers previously reported to be associated with metabolic disease traits. The metabolic-GRS was generated from the SNPs in the genes CAP10, KCNJ11, TCF7L2, FTO, and MC4R. A value of 0.1 or 2 was assigned to each SNP, which denotes the number of risk alleles on that SNP. These values were then calculated by adding the number of risk alleles across each SNP. The average number of risk alleles per person for the B12-GRS was 8.69 (SD = 1.70), which ranged from 5 to 15. The sample was stratified, by the median, into a "low genetic risk group," for those with a GRS ≤ 9 risk alleles (n = 79), and into a "high genetic risk group," for those with a GRS ≥ 10 risk alleles (n = 30). For the metabolic-GRS, the average number of risk alleles per person was 7.00 (SD = 2.28), which ranged from 1 to 13. The sample was stratified, into a "low genetic risk group," for those with a GRS ≤ 8 risk alleles (*n* = 88), and into a "high genetic risk group," for those with a GRS ≥ 9 risk alleles (n = 21). Linear regression was used to examine the association of the two GRS scores with the biochemical and anthropometric outcomes (glucose, insulin, HbAC1, vitamin B₁₂, body fat %, BMI, WC, and waist-to-hip ratio (WHR)). The interaction between the two GRS scores and dietary factors on biochemical and anthropometric outcomes was determined by including interaction terms (GRS × diet) in

between the metabolic-GRS and vitamin B_{12} concentrations and metabolic disease-related traits. We then tested the associations between the B12-GRS and vitamin B_{12} status and metabolic disease-related traits. Lastly, we tested whether these genetic associations were modified by lifestyle factors (macronutrient intake and physical activity levels)

the regression model. Models were adjusted for age, sex, BMI, and total energy intake, wherever appropriate.

Correction for multiple testing was applied using Bonferroni correction [adjustment *p* value for association analysis was < 0.00313 [2 GRS × 8 biochemical and anthropometric outcomes (Fasting blood glucose, fasting insulin, glycated hemoglobin, vitamin B₁₂, fat %, BMI, WC, and WHR) = 16 test)] and for interaction < 0.00078 [2 GRS × 8 biochemical and anthropometric × 4 lifestyle factors (dietary carbohydrate energy %, dietary protein energy %, dietary fat energy %, and physical activity levels)) = 64]. Given that there are no studies on GRS and no previously reported effect sizes for the South Asians, we were unable to perform a power calculation.

Results

Characteristics of the participants

In this study, 109 participants (mean age, 38.34 ± 6.92 years; BMI, 24.58 ± 4.12 kg/m²) were included. Table 2 illustrates the main characteristics of the study participants stratified according to sex. No significant difference between men and women was observed in the levels of fasting glucose, insulin, HbAC1, and plasma vitamin B₁₂ (p > 0.05).

Table 2	Anthropometric and biochemical	characteristics of men and worr	nen participants ($n = 109$; men 61, women 48)
---------	--------------------------------	---------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------

	Total (n = 109) Mean \pm SD	Men $(n = 61)$ Mean \pm SD	Women $(n = 48)$ Mean \pm SD	p value*
Age (years)	38.24 ± 6.92	37.34 ± 6.97	39.38 ± 6.77	0.129
Height (cm)	164.97 ± 9.15	170.95 ± 6.18	157.36 ± 6.16	< 0.0001
Weight (kg)	67.07 ± 13.05	71.76 ± 11.81	61.11 ± 12.17	< 0.0001
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.58 ± 4.12	24.51 ± 3.52	24.68 ± 4.80	0.844
Waist circumference (cm)	83.73 ± 17.97	89.83 ± 14.04	75.99 ± 19.52	< 0.0001
Hip circumference (cm)	91.16 ± 17.78	92.27 ± 13.83	89.75 ± 21.87	0.488
WHR	0.92 ± 0.11	0.98 ± 0.08	0.85 ± 0.11	< 0.0001
Fat (%)	27.25 ± 7.37	23.52 ± 5.12	32.00 ± 7.08	< 0.0001
Obesity cases ^a	40.37%	37.70%	43.75%	0.523
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dL)	85.64 ± 12.64	87.41 ± 15.41	83.40 ± 7.40	0.100
Fasting blood insulin (pmol/L)	68.55 ± 49.97	71.77 ± 59.12	64.46 ± 35.28	0.451
Fasting blood HbA1C (mmol/mol)	35.62 ± 5.91	35.20 ± 5.99	36.16 ± 5.84	0.402
Fasting blood B12 (pmol/L)	380.65 ± 132.83	389.80 ± 135.00	369.02 ± 130.52	0.420
Physical activity levels (low %/moderate%/high%)	72.5/19.3/8.3	70.5/19.7/9.8	75.0/18.8/6.3	0.777
Total energy (kcal/day)	2097.92 ± 456.01	2173.68 ± 427.82	2001.65 ± 476.72	0.050
Protein (energy %)	11.29 ± 2.31	11.25 ± 2.41	11.33 ± 2.20	0.853
Fat (energy %)	21.87 ± 5.31	21.64 ± 5.22	22.16 ± 5.45	0.613
Carbohydrate (energy %)	69.62 ± 8.80	69.89 ± 10.29	69.28 ± 6.52	0.721
Dietary fiber (g)	16.78 ± 8.18	17.24 ± 8.46	16.20 ± 7.85	0.513
Polyunsaturated fatty acids (g)	3.32 ± 1.69	3.36 ± 1.66	3.27 ± 1.75	0.779

Data presented as mean \pm SD

BMI body mass index, SD standard deviations, WHR waist-to-hip ratio

*p < 0.05, statistically significant differences in mean values between men/women, unadjusted

^b Obesity cases refer to the percentage of individuals with a BMI of over 25



Overall Passociation= 0.008

Fig. 3 Association between the B12-GRS and serum vitamin B_{12} levels. Vitamin B_{12} decreasing alleles ranged from 5 to 15. Individuals with ≤ 9 or ≥ 10 alleles were grouped to obtain a reasonable number of individuals in each group

Association between B12-GRS and obesity GRS with biochemical and anthropometric measurements

A significant association between B12-GRS and serum vitamin B₁₂ was observed (p = 0.008) (Supplementary Table 1 and Fig. 3). However, this finding was not significant after correction for multiple testing. No associations between the B12-GRS and metabolic traits (p > 0.05) were observed (Supplementary Table 1). Furthermore, no associations between the metabolic-GRS and vitamin B₁₂ or metabolic traits (p > 0.05) were observed (Supplementary Table 2).

Interaction between the B12-GRS and dietary factors on biochemical and anthropometric measurements

An interaction was found between the B12-GRS and protein energy (%) on log transformed WC (p = 0.002). However, further stratification of participants based on their consumption of low, medium, and high dietary protein (energy %) did not show statistically significant associations between the GRS and the outcome in any of the tertiles, which could account for the small sample size (Supplementary Table 3). **Fig. 4** Interaction between the metabolic-GRS and carbohydrate energy intake (%) on waist-to-hip ratio (cm) ($P_{\text{interaction}} = 0.015$). Among those who consumed a high carbohydrate diet, individuals who carried nine or more risk alleles had significantly higher levels of waist-to-hip ratios compared to individuals carrying eight or less risk alleles (p = 0.035)

Overall Pinteraction= 0.015



Tertiles of carbohydrate energy (%)

Interaction between the metabolic-GRS and dietary factors on biochemical and anthropometric measurements

We observed a significant interaction between the metabolic-GRS and carbohydrate energy intake (%) on waist-to-hip ratio ($P_{\text{interaction}} = 0.015$) (Fig. 4 and Table 3). Individuals who carried eight or less risk alleles for metabolic disease had 7.47% lower WHR measurements (cm) in the highest tertile of carbohydrate energy intake (%) (mean \pm SD = 78.00 \pm 7.90%) compared to those with nine or more risk alleles (p = 0.035) (Table 3).

Interactions were also seen between the metabolic-GRS and carbohydrate energy (%) on log fasting insulin concentrations (p = 0.011) and log WC (p = 0.031) and the metabolic-GRS and protein energy (%) on log fasting insulin levels (p = 0.032) and log WC (p = 0.011) (Table 3 and Supplementary Table 3).

Interaction between the B12-GRS and physical activity on biochemical and anthropometric measurements

No statistically significant interactions were observed between the two GRSs (vitamin B_{12} and metabolic) and physical activity on biochemical and anthropometric measurements (Table 3 and Supplementary Table 3). After correction for multiple testing, none of these gene-diet and gene-physical activity interactions remained statistically significant.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to use a genetic approach to explore the relationship between metabolic traits and vitamin B₁₂ status in a South Asian population. Our study confirmed the strength of the association between B12-GRS and B12 concentrations and demonstrated the impact of genetically instrumented B₁₂ concentrations on waist circumference, an indicator of central obesity, through the influence of dietary protein intake. Furthermore, our study has also showed a significant effect of metabolic-GRS on waist-to-hip ratio through the influence of high carbohydrate intake. Given that the total daily intake of protein is low and carbohydrate is high in Sri Lankan adults [32], our findings, if replicated in future studies, might carry significant public health implications in terms of revising the food-based dietary guidelines which could prevent central obesity and the associated CVDrelated outcomes.

In this study, we constructed a GRS consisting of ten vitamin B_{12} decreasing SNPs in genes involved in vitamin B_{12} metabolism [17]. The B12-GRS was associated with vitamin B_{12} levels, suggesting that it would be an ideal instrument for vitamin B_{12} status. Given the lack of association between the B12-GRS and metabolic disease traits in our study, we were unable to provide evidence for linear decreases in vitamin B_{12} concentrations having substantive effects on metabolic disease traits. However, we found a significant interaction between the B12-GRS and protein energy (%) on log WC. Interestingly, individuals who carried nine or less alleles had lower WC when consuming a high protein diet compared to those consuming a low protein diet. Although no statistically significant differences in WC were observed between the
Table 3 Interaction between the B12-GRS and lifestyle factor.	s on anthropometric measurements		
Interaction between the GRS and lifestyle factors on log waist c	sircumference (cm)		
Interaction between B12-GRS and fat energy %	Interaction between B12-GRS and protein energy %	Interaction between B12-GRS and carbohydrate energy %	Interaction between B12-GRS and physical activity levels
$0.002 \pm 0.004 \ (0.727)$	0.037 ± 0.011 (0.002)	$-\ 0.003 \pm 0.003 \ (0.344)$	-0.051 + 0.037 (0.173)
Interaction between metabolic-GRS and fat energy %	Interaction between metabolic-GRS and protein energy %	Interaction between metabolic-GRS and carbohydrate energy %	Interaction between metabolic-GRS and physical activity levels
-0.007 ± 0.006 (0.212)	-0.024 ± 0.009 (0.011)	0.007 ± 0.003 (0.031)	$0.020 \pm 0.044 \ (0.654)$
Interaction between the GRS and dietary factors on waist-to-hip) ratio		
Interaction between B12-GRS and fat energy %	Interaction between B12-GRS and protein energy %	Interaction between B12-GRS and carbohydrate energy %	Interaction between-B12 GRS and physical activity levels
$0.002 \pm 0.004 \ (0.660)$	$0.013 \pm 0.010 \ (0.196)$	$-0.003 \pm 0.002 \ (0.241)$	$0.018\pm0.032\;(0.584)$
Interaction between metabolic-GRS and fat energy $\%$	Interaction between metabolic-GRS and protein energy %	Interaction between metabolic-GRS and carbohydrate energy %	Interaction between metabolic-GRS and physical activity levels
$-0.009 \pm 0.005 \ (0.079)$	$-0.012 \pm 0.008 \ (0.158)$	0.007 ± 0.003 (0.015)	$0.038 \pm 0.039 \ (0.323)$
Interaction between the GRS and lifestyle factors on log BMI			
Interaction between B12-GRS and fat energy %	Interaction between B12-GRS and protein energy %	Interaction between B12-GRS and carbohydrate energy %	Interaction between B12-GRS and physical activity levels
-0.002 ± 0.003 (0.539 ^a)	$0.009\pm0.008~(0.259^{ m a})$	$-0.001 \pm 0.002 \ (0.762^{a})$	$0.015 \pm 0.023 \; (0.513^{\mathrm{a}})$
Interaction between metabolic-GRS and fat energy $\%$	Interaction between metabolic-GRS and protein energy %	Interaction between metabolic-GRS and carbohydrate energy %	Interaction between metabolic-GRS and physical activity levels
-0.004 ± 0.004 (0.245 ^a)	$-\ 0.004 \pm 0.006 \ (0.480^{\rm a})$	$0.002\pm0.002~(0.322^{ m a})$	$-\ 0.005 \pm 0.028 \ (0.851^{\rm a})$

Values are beta coefficients ± standard errors. P values are inserted in brackets. P values were obtained by using a general linear model adjusted for age, sex and BMI Values in bold represent statistical significance (p < 0.05)

 $^{\mathrm{a}}P$ values were obtained by using a general linear model adjusted for age and sex

alleles of the B12-GRS, the impact of the B12-GRS on WC was observed only under the influence of a high protein diet. Further investigations are required to confirm this finding to determine the clinical significance and potential applications as part of weight management interventions.

At present, carbohydrates constitute the majority of the energy intake among South Asian countries such as Sri Lanka ($\sim 71.2\%$) [32]; in contrast, the consumption of carbohydrates is lower in Western countries ($\sim 45\%$) [33]. Furthermore, high carbohydrate intake has been associated with an increased risk of diabetes in a South Indian population [34] and an increase in WC among premenopausal (20-45 years) Sri Lankan women [35]. In the present study, we found a significant interaction between the metabolic-GRS and carbohydrate energy percentage on waist-to-hip ratio, where the individuals carrying more than nine risk alleles had a higher waist-to-hip ratio among those in the highest tertile of carbohydrate energy percentage. There are no previous reports of the risk variants used in our GRS, but Goni et al. [36] found that carbohydrates (total and complex) interacted with a GRS of 16 obesity/lipid metabolism polymorphisms to modify the effect on body fat mass in 711 individuals of Caucasian ancestry. In our study, we only observed interactions of the metabolic-GRS on WC and waist-to-hip ratio, which suggests that effects are likely to be on central obesity as opposed to common obesity.

South Asians have a higher risk of developing obesityrelated non-communicable diseases relative to white Caucasians despite lower BMI levels; this has been termed the "South Asian phenotype." The distinctive features of this phenotype include a higher WC, abdominal adiposity combined with insulin resistance, and a greater predisposition to diabetes [4]. The role of vitamin B_{12} in promoting this adverse phenotype has been suggested by Yajnik et al., who demonstrated that offspring born to mothers with a low vitamin B_{12} and high folate status had a greater risk of developing insulin resistance during childhood [12]. According to Yajnik et al., vitamin B₁₂ deficiency prevents the generation of tetrahydrofolate from 5-methyltetrahydrofolate in the one-carbon metabolism cycle; as a result, homocysteine levels accumulate leading to altered lean tissue deposition and reduced protein synthesis [12]. Furthermore, vitamin B_{12} is involved in the conversion of methylmalonyl-CoA to succinyl-CoA by the enzyme methylmalonyl-CoA mutase (adenosyl-B12 as a cofactor). Subsequently, vitamin B₁₂ deficiency results in elevated methylmalonyl-CoA, inhibiting the mitochondrial enzyme carnitine palmitoyltransferase, which may promote lipogenesis and insulin resistance [12, 37].

No studies to date have investigated interactions between the two GRSs and physical activity on metabolic traits and B_{12} concentrations in Asian Sri Lankans. Although 60% of Sri Lankan adults are reported to be highly physically active [38], no significant interactions were found between the two GRSs and physical activity on metabolic traits, which could be due to a small sample size and measurement bias associated with self-reported physical activity questionnaire. The strengths of our study include the use of a validated food frequency questionnaire [18] to measure macronutrient intake, the comprehensive measurements of lifestyle factors, and the use of GRSs which increased the statistical power of our study [39]. Nevertheless, some limitations need to be acknowledged. The first limitation concerns the relatively small sample size of the study; however, we were still able to identify significant gene-diet interactions. Furthermore, we used Bonferroni correction to correct for multiple testing and this can often lead to larger power, specifically where studies have a small sample size and a small number of disease-associated markers. This is also true for when studies have a large allele frequency difference due to a small sample size [40]. Secondly, information about the type of oil used for frying, the estimation of different dietary fat components (monounsaturated or saturated fatty acids), and vitamin B₁₂ intake was not collected. This could have limited our in-depth analysis of interactions of specific macronutrients and vitamins with the two GRSs. Furthermore, the study was limited to Sinhalese adults in Colombo, and the conclusions may not be applicable to other ethnic groups in Sri Lanka. Finally, none of the genetic associations or gene-lifestyle interactions were statistically significant after correction for multiple testing; however, given that this is the first study using a genetic approach to establish a relationship between vitamin B₁₂ status and metabolic disease outcomes in South Asians, we have taken into consideration the significant findings; hence, further large studies are required to replicate our findings.

In summary, our study suggests that a genetically lowered vitamin B_{12} concentration may have an impact on central obesity in the presence of a dietary influence; however, our study failed to show an impact of the metabolic-GRS on lowering B_{12} concentrations through a dietary influence. Our study also showed a significant effect of the metabolic-GRS on waist-to-hip ratio, another indicator of central obesity, through the influence of a high carbohydrate intake. However, after correction for multiple testing, none of these findings were statistically significant. Hence, further replication studies are highly warranted on large samples to confirm or refute our findings.

Acknowledgments We are grateful to the study participants for their cooperation and participation. We thank Modera Police Station and Rohan Pelpola for their contributions to the recruitment of participants. We also thank Suranga Singhapura, Padmini Dassanayake, Sunethra Wickramarathne, Ransi Perera, Sumathe Thanabalasingam, Umesh Thanabalasingam, Osanda Pelpola, Krishanthi Pelpola, Divyanga Molagoda, Gumesha Thilakarathne, Shinoli Wickramaratne, Nuwansamitha Fernando, Lakmali Fernando, Samitha Hettiarachchi, Bhanuka Pathberiya, Thejana Pathberiya, Kasun Perera, Vinul Perera, Kalum Jayathilake, Yamuna Jayathilaka, Wasantha Kahapalaarachichi, Ashintha Perera, and Neeliya De Saram for their help in data collection. We also thank Dr. Suresh Surendran for the contributions for the preparation of the study. We would like to thank Dr. Seevali Surendran for the Sinhalese language editing.

Author contributions SS and KSV drafted the manuscript; SS performed the statistical analysis; and SS, VKS, DJA, and RL were responsible for the study conception. KW provided guidance to the research; SS and RL conducted data and sample collection; SS, RJ, and SA were involved in the dietary data analysis; SS and SaS were involved in the physical activity data analysis; KSV designed the gene-diet interaction study; and SS, VKS, JAL, and RJ critically reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding We would like to thank the Farnborough College of Technology for contributing travel expenses towards the project. We also acknowledge the support for the GeNuIne Collaboration from the British Nutrition Foundation.

Data availability Data from this project will not be shared because additional results from the study are yet to be published.

Compliance with ethical standards

Ethics approval and consent to participate This study was approved by the Ethical Review Committee of the University of Colombo (EC-17-107) and the University of Reading Research Ethics Committee (17/25). All participants signed informed consent prior to their participation.

Consent for publication Not applicable.

Competing interests All authors declare that there is no conflict of interest associated with their contribution to this manuscript.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

References

- Jayawardena R, Byrne NM, Soares MJ, Katulanda P, Hills AP. The obesity epidemic in Sri Lanka revisited. Asia Pacific Journal of Public Health. 2015;27(2):NP1298–9.
- Katulanda P, Jayawardena MAR, Sheriff MHR, Constantine GR, Matthews DR. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in Sri Lankan adults. Obes Rev. 2010;11(11):751–6.
- 3. Must A, Spadano J, Coakley EH, Field AE, Colditz G, Dietz WH. The disease burden associated with overweight and obesity. Jama. 1999;282(16):1523–9.
- Mohan V, Deepa R. Adipocytokines and the expanding 'Asian Indian phenotype. J Assoc Physicians India. 2006;54:685–6.
- Kolb H, Martin S. Environmental/lifestyle factors in the pathogenesis and prevention of type 2 diabetes. BMC Med. 2017;15(1):131.
- Hruby A, Hu FB. The epidemiology of obesity: a big picture. PharmacoEconomics. 2015;33(7):673–89.
- 7. O'Leary F, Samman S. Vitamin B(12) in health and disease. Nutrients. 2010;2(3):299–316.

- Qureshi GA, et al. Is the deficiency of vitamin B12 related to oxidative stress and neurotoxicity in Parkinson's patients? CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2008;7(1):20–7.
- Pinhas-Hamiel O, Doron-Panush N, Reichman B, Nitzan-Kaluski D, Shalitin S, Geva-Lerner L. Obese children and adolescents: a risk group for low vitamin B12 concentration. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2006;160(9):933–6.
- MacFarlane AJ, Greene-Finestone LS, Shi Y. Vitamin B-12 and homocysteine status in a folate-replete population: results from the Canadian Health Measures Survey. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;94(4):1079–87.
- Baltaci D, et al. Association of vitamin B12 with obesity, overweight, insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome, and body fat composition; primary care-based study. Med Glas (Zenica). 2013;10(2):203–10.
- 12. Yajnik CS, et al. Vitamin B12 and folate concentrations during pregnancy and insulin resistance in the offspring: the Pune Maternal Nutrition Study. Diabetologia. 2008;51(1):29–38.
- Krishnaveni GV, Hill JC, Veena SR, Bhat DS, Wills AK, Karat CLS, et al. Low plasma vitamin B12 in pregnancy is associated with gestational 'diabesity' and later diabetes. Diabetologia. 2009;52(11):2350–8.
- Knight BA, Shields BM, Brook A, Hill A, Bhat DS, Hattersley AT, et al. Lower circulating B12 is associated with higher obesity and insulin resistance during pregnancy in a non-diabetic White British population. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0135268.
- Weikert C, Dierkes J, Hoffmann K, Berger K, Drogan D, Klipstein-Grobusch K, et al. B vitamin plasma levels and the risk of ischemic stroke and transient ischemic attack in a German cohort. Stroke. 2007;38(11):2912–8.
- Allin KH et al. Genetic determinants of serum vitamin B12 and their relation to body mass index. Eur J Epidemiol. 2016;1–10.
- 17. Surendran S, et al. An update on vitamin B12-related gene polymorphisms and B12 status. Genes Nutr. 2018;13:2.
- Jayawardena R, et al. Validity of a food frequency questionnaire to assess nutritional intake among Sri Lankan adults. SpringerPlus. 2016;5:162.
- Willett WC, Howe GR, Kushi LH. Adjustment for total energy intake in epidemiologic studies. Am J Clin Nutr. 1997;65(4 Suppl):1220S–8S discussion 1229S-1231S.
- Armstrong T, Bull F. Development of the World Health Organization Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ). J Public Health. 2006;14(2):66–70.
- 21. Illangasekera YA, et al. Association of FTO and near MC4R variants with obesity measures in urban and rural dwelling Sri Lankans. Obes Res Clin Pract. 2016;10(Suppl 1):S117–s124.
- 22. Ramya K, Radha V, Ghosh S, Majumder PP, Mohan V. Genetic variations in the FTO gene are associated with type 2 diabetes and obesity in south Indians (CURES-79). Diabetes Technol Ther. 2011;13(1):33–42.
- 23. Uma Jyothi K, Jayaraj M, Subburaj KS, Prasad KJ, Kumuda I, Lakshmi V, et al. Association of TCF7L2 gene polymorphisms with T2DM in the population of Hyderabad, India. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e60212.
- 24. Bodhini D, Gaal S, Shatwan I, Ramya K, Ellahi B, Surendran S, et al. Interaction between TCF7L2 polymorphism and dietary fat intake on high density lipoprotein cholesterol. PLoS One. 2017;12(11):e0188382.
- 25. Kommoju UJ, Maruda J, Kadarkarai Samy S, Irgam K, Kotla JP, Reddy BM. Association of IRS1, CAPN10, and PPARG gene polymorphisms with type 2 diabetes mellitus in the high-risk population of Hyderabad, India. J Diabetes. 2014;6(6):564–73.
- Adak S, Sengupta S, Chowdhury S, Bhattacharyya M. Coexistence of risk and protective haplotypes of Calpain 10 gene to type 2 diabetes in the eastern Indian population. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2010;7(1):63–8.

- 27. Loos RJF. The genetic epidemiology of melanocortin 4 receptor variants. Eur J Pharmacol. 2011;660(1):156–64.
- Weedon MN, Schwarz PEH, Horikawa Y, Iwasaki N, Illig T, Holle R, et al. Meta-analysis and a large association study confirm a role for calpain-10 variation in type 2 diabetes susceptibility. Am J Hum Genet. 2003;73(5):1208–12.
- 29. Gloyn AL, Weedon MN, Owen KR, Turner MJ, Knight BA, Hitman G, et al. Large-scale association studies of variants in genes encoding the pancreatic beta-cell KATP channel subunits Kir6.2 (KCNJ11) and SUR1 (ABCC8) confirm that the KCNJ11 E23K variant is associated with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2003;52(2): 568–72.
- Nongmaithem SS, Joglekar CV, Krishnaveni GV, Sahariah SA, Ahmad M, Ramachandran S, et al. GWAS identifies population specific new regulatory variants in FUT6 associated with plasma B12 concentrations in Indians. Hum Mol Genet. 2017;26:2551–64.
- Leonard DGB. Molecular pathology in clinical practice. Springer International Publishing; 2016.
- Jayawardena R, Thennakoon S, Byrne N, Soares M, Katulanda P, Hills A. Energy and nutrient intakes among Sri Lankan adults. Int Arch Med. 2014;7:34.
- Stevens J, Ahn K, Juhaeri, Houston D, Steffan L, Couper D. Dietary fiber intake and glycemic index and incidence of diabetes in African-American and white adults: the ARIC study. Diabetes Care. 2002;25(10):1715–21.
- Mohan V, Radhika G, Sathya RM, Tamil SR, Ganesan A, Sudha V. Dietary carbohydrates, glycaemic load, food groups and newly detected type 2 diabetes among urban Asian Indian population in

Chennai, India (Chennai Urban Rural Epidemiology Study 59). Br J Nutr. 2009;102(10):1498–506.

- Rathnayake KM, Roopasingam T, Dibley MJ. High carbohydrate diet and physical inactivity associated with central obesity among premenopausal housewives in Sri Lanka. BMC Res Notes. 2014;7: 564.
- Goni L, Cuervo M, Milagro FI, Martínez JA. A genetic risk tool for obesity predisposition assessment and personalized nutrition implementation based on macronutrient intake. Genes Nutr. 2015;10(1): 445.
- Ruderman NB, Saha AK, Kraegen EW. Minireview: malonyl CoA, AMP-activated protein kinase, and adiposity. Endocrinology. 2003;144(12):5166–71.
- 38. Katulanda P, Jayawardana R, Ranasinghe P, Rezvi Sheriff MH, Matthews DR. Physical activity patterns and correlates among adults from a developing country: the Sri Lanka Diabetes and Cardiovascular Study. Public Health Nutr. 2013;16(9):1684–92.
- Hüls A, et al. Comparison of weighting approaches for genetic risk scores in gene-environment interaction studies. BMC Genet. 2017;18:115.
- Zou G, Zuo Y. On the sample size requirement in genetic association tests when the proportion of false positives is controlled. Genetics. 2006;172(1):687–91.

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.